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Who we are and what we do

Synthomer at a glance

We make high-performance, highly specialised
chemical products to serve customers all over
the world, and we’re a leading supplier of
sustainable water-based polymer solutions
which help eliminate harmful emissions.

Through our differentiated portfolio, our
wide customer base, and our track record of
outstanding innovation, we’re delivering on
our strategy: driving long-term sustainable
growth organically and through acquisitions.

2021 Highlights

Underlying performance statement

The Groug's performance management uses Undertying performance 1o plan for, control and assess the perfarmance of the Group. Undlerlying parformance
differs from the statutory fFRS performance as it excludes the effect of Special ltems, which are detailed in note 4 to the financial staterments. The Board's view is
that Underlying performance provides additional clarity for the Group's investors and stakehoiders and so it is the prmary focus of the Group's narrative reporting.
Whera appropriate, IFRS performance inclusive of Special ltlems is also described. Referances to ‘unit margin' and ‘'margin’ are ysed in the Gcommentary on
Ungenying performance.

Unit margin (or mergin is calculated on seiling price less variabie raw matedal and logistics costs.

EBITDA is calculatad as operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and Special ftams.

Free Cash Flow is the movement in net dabt bafore financing activities, foreign exchange 2nd tha cash Impact of Special tems, asset disposals and business
combinations.
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Our global reach

North America

£2.3bn

revenue

2020: £1.6bn
6,000+
customers
Su'ccessfully integrated

our OMNOVA acquisition
ahead of schedule

See page 21

EMEA

Asia

4,600+

employees
2020: 4,200+

principal end markets
Launched our Vision

2030 roadmap to a more
sustainable future

See page 18

Our four divisiens:

Performance Elastomers

Delivering water-based Nitrile Butadiene
Rubber latex {NBR) and Styrene Butadians
Rubber latex [SBR) products.

Functional Solutions

Calivering acrylic and vinylic water-based
dispersions.

Industrial Specialities

Delivering speciality chemical additives and
non-water-based chemistry for a broad range
of applications as well as laminates & films.

Acrylate Monomers

Supplying acrylic monomers to our European
Functional Solutions Division and to third-
party customers.

Share of revenue
by end market

A 23.2% Health & Protection
B 116% Carpet, Compounds & Foam
C  6.3%  Paper & Packaging
D 14.3% Coatings

E 84% Construction

F 7.6% Technical Textiles
G 61%  Adhesives

H 20% OQil&Gas

i 8.5% Polymer Additives
J 8.3% Laminates & Films
K 1.7% Coated Fabrics

L  40% Acrylate Monomers

37

production sitgs\
2020: 38

34%

reduction in Scope 1 and 2
GHG emissions since 2019

Announced proposed
$1 billion acquisition
to.form our Adhesive
Technologies division

[N

See page 14
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Who we are and what we do

Our business model

Innovation, sustainability and customer service
are at the heart of our business model, which
draws on our unique teams and assets to deliver
high-performance speciality chemicat products
and create value for all our stakeholders.

Giobal demand...

~r

...for lower-
carbon, more
circular products

...for construction
and urbanisation

...for health and
hygiene products

...for adhesives
and packaging

Facus on consumer
end-use demand

Understanding the
macro trends

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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...shapes our
strategy...

To drive long-term
sustainable growth
organically and
through acquisitions
through six priorties:
= Research and deveiopment

and technical expertise to
exploit new consumer markets

= Driving efficiency and
excellence through opserations

« Capacity utilisation
» [nvestment in capacity
» Bolt-on acquisitions

* Transformational transactions

Erarepreneunal
« people ang culture,
underpinned by our values

 ntograted rick strategy and risk

management processes

Track record of integrating

acquisitions

...for serving
diverse global
markets...

Qver 6,000
customers in:

» Health & Protection
« Carpet, Compounds & Foam
» Paper & Packaging
* Coatings

« Construction

» Technical Taxtiles

* Adhesives

* Gil & Gas

» Polymer Additives
» Laminates & Films
» Coated Fabrics

» Acrylate Monumers

" Strong relationships with

customars in highly
differentiated markels

Global tachnicat
services leams

...through
four divisions
across three
continents...

Performance
Elastomers
Functional
Solutions
Industrial
Specialities
Acryilate
Monomers

Growing
imernational breacith
and reach, with
ingreasingly balanced

. sales across Americas, |
. EMEAandAge

Focus
on execution,
efficiency, and
business excelience

i Strong relationships with
%, raw materials' suppliers !

. and a resilisnt .
supply chain



...and fulfilling
our purpose...

-.creating
innovative and
sustainable
polymer solutions
for the benefit
of customers
and society

Global
leadership
in water-based )
polyrmer solutions :

Vision 2030,

Our
values
Safety, health and
sarwironmert
Accountability
Integrity
Teamwork.

...by making
specialist, high-
performance
products...

QOver 14 product lines
including:

Water-based Nitrile iatex and
Performance Materials products
far the healthcare, carpet, foarm
and paper markets.

Acrylic and vinylic water-based
dispersions for the coatings,

construction, technical textiles,
adhesives and oil & gas markets,

Speciality chemical
additives and non-water-
based chernistry for a
broad range of applications
from polymer additives

and polymer manufacture
10 emerging materials,

Acrylata monomers that
improve the performance
characteristics of polymer
formulations including
latex and sotution
copolymers and cross-
linkable polymer systems.

Highly
. differentiated portfolic -

Improved products with
improved margins

...that add value
for customers...

Responding to
consumer needs
in thousands

of applications

Outstanding global
and divisional
innovation

Focusing on product
sustainability benefits

designed for use
in customer-
specific products o meet
consumer neads

Close technical services

partnerships with customers
- to advise on appfications, .~

"-., sustainability and

...and create
value for all
stakehoiders.

£522.2m

2020: £259.4m
EBITDA

4,632
2020: 4,601 employees
Employees in 24 countr\ies

£243.7m
2020: £211.3m
payraolt

£28.9m
2020: £25.8m
R&D spend

43%
of new products with
sustainability bensfits

£1.6bn
2020: £1.2bn
spend with suppliars

£73.5m
2020: £12.8m
returned to shareholders

£86.4m
2020: £31.4m
corporate tax paid
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Who we aré and what we do

What we make - and who we make it for

Differentiation. Specialisation. Sustainability.

And high performance. We’re able to iead the way
in water-based polymers because of the breadth
and diversity of the end markets we serve, our
strong relationships with more than 6,000
customers, and our commitment to innovate and
deliver the high-performing products they need.

We draw on our unique business strengths...

¢ Global leadershipin ™
water-based polyrmers
i which efiminate the need
for the volatile organic
compounds in solvent-
JRUREELIRER based products

Cutting-edge
i innovation focused on
: consumer nheeds including

specialisation and 4
sustainability

Powerful connections

! tocustomers through  ©
¢ our technical service and !
: research tearmns '

Worldwide reach
through innovation
and manufacturing sites
in Asta, EMEA and
North America

O 6 Synthomer pic
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..to serve over 6,000 customers
in diverse, strategic end markets:

Health &
Protection
23.2% of revenue

Carpet,
Compounds &
Foam

11.6% of revenue

Paper &
Packaging
6.3% of revenue

Coatings
14.3% of revenue

Construction
8.4% of revenue

Technical Textiles

7.6% of revenue

Adhesives
£.1% of revenue

Oil & Gas
2.0% of revenue

Polymer
Additives
8.5% of revenue

Laminates &
Films
6.3% of revenue

Coated Fabrics
1.7% of revanue

Acrylate
Monomers
4.0% of revenua

a

Ve are a world ieader in Acrytonitrile Butadiene Rubber (NBR
latax) for glave-dipping and associated healthcare industries.
Gloves made from our speciality NBR latex ensure a combination
of high tensile strength, good elongation and relaxation.

Cur specialist High-Solid Styrene Butadiense (HS-SBR}), Styrana
Acrylic {S4) and SBR-compounded products provide high-
performance binders for the backing of carpet and artificial turf,
and as gel foam elastomers for floar coverings, footwear and
mattresses.

We are Europe's largest manufacturer of SBR and SA high-
parformance binders for graphic, packaging and speciality paper
coatings. Our products help customers meet stringent regulatory
requirsments and comply with rules on food contact.

We develop speciality binders to mest the performance

and regulatory requirements of the architectural and

industrial coatings market, using acrylic and vimylic copolymer
dispersions that ara low Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs),
low odour and alkylphenol ethoxylate (APEQ) fres.

Qur dry and liguid specialist polymers provide binding or
bonding properties for many construction applications,
including mortar modification, liquid-applied waterproofing
membranes, ceramic tile adhesives, and flooring adhesives.

Our products are used in a broad range of woven and
non-woven applications, including to bind mesh insulation
systems in technical textiles, to provide the binder in distribution
layers in non-woven nappies, and in decorative laminates.

Our spacialist polymers bond dispersions and bind industrial
and consumer adhesives, meeting our customers' stringent
technical and regulatory requirements.

We are a global lsader in speciality polymatric solutions that
promota welibore stability and drilling efficiency in the most
challenging high-temperature, high-pressure and high-
differential pressure operating environments.

‘We make a broad range of specialist polymer solutions,
including suspending agents for PVC manuiacture,
thermosetting polyester resins for powder ¢oatings,

and thermal stabilisers in polyamide engineering plastics.

We produce decorative laminates for residential
and commercial interiors and recreational vehicles,
and performance films for luxury flocring, signage
and industrial applications,

We manufacture high-performance polyurethane and viny! coated
fabrics used in seating and trims in cars, busas, boats and ships,
and in healthcars, hospitality, education and corporate offices.

Cur ranga includes our industry-leading PrefFixx protective finish,

We make acrylic acid and acrylate monomers which improve
the performance characteristics of thousands of polymer
formulations including latex and solution copolymers and
cross-linkable potymer systems.

...ny making speciality products

used in thousands of applications

that consumers use every day:

+ Madical and examination gloves
= industrial and fabric-supported gloves
= Madical devices and balloons

* Carpet

+ Tufted carpets

« \Woven carpets

« Needle felt carpsts

* Graphic paper
* Packaging

= Speciality paper
= Paper additives

* Architectural coatings
* Masonry coatings

* [ntumescent coatings
* Metal coatings

» Mortar modification
» Waterproofing
* Flooring adhesives

* Glass fibre
* Roofing
» Decorative laminates

* PSA packaging tapes
* PSA speciality tapes
* PSAlabels

* Caulks and sealants

= (il and gas cementing
« Drilling fiuid additives

» Elastomeric modifier for

* Automotive carpsts

+ Gel foam elastomer
backings

* Badding foam

* Footwear foam

» Sport surfaces
= Additives for
construction

* Technical fibre
* Footwear
» Hygiene and wipes

» Packaging
specialities

* Release coatings

= Tape saturants

» Tyre cord

thermoplastics and friction
= Reinforcing resing for rubber

compounds

* Luxury flooring
+ Bathroom fittings
+ Kitchen fittings

» Recraational vehicle fittings

» Durable surfaces for
retail and domestic
applications

* Automotive and bus seating

* Marine seating and trim

* Healthcare, hospitality, sducation

and corporate seating

* Compounds and curing pastes

*» Monomers
» Antioxidants

Synthomer plc
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Who we are and what we do

Chair’s statement

Our people have risen to the unique demands
and delivered exceptional performance in 2021 -

the Board expected and planned for this,

and it has allowed us to carefully invest for
future growth, maintaining prudent leverage.

08
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‘In 2021, the Board
focused on the
significant demands of
the business as well as
succession planning,
business excellence
and delivering on the
OMNOVA acquisition.
The acquisition of
Eastman’s Adhesive
Resins business was a
strategic and important
step and we thank
shareholders for their
support.

Caroline Johnstone
Chair

Exceptional performance,

built on robust foundations

Our business ended the year with record
results, and with the foundations in place
for growlh that will enatile us 10 viedle value
into the future. This was made possible by
two things: further delivering our consistent
strategy of long-term sustainable growth
organically antf through acquisitions,
inciuging the $1 billion acquisition of

Eastman’s Adhesive Rasins buginess which is
expected to complete in March 2022; and the

resiience and skilt of aur employeas, who

have continued 1o put our valuas into practice

despite the ongoing challenges of the



COVID-19 pandemic. | would like to thank
them all personally, and also on behalf of the
Board. The safety of employees is our first
priority and the Board oversaw prograss
towards achieving top quartile perfarmance
across all our sites during 2021.

A smooth leadership transition,

and a consistent strategy

In June, we anncunced the appointment of
Michael Willome as our new Group Chief
Executive Officer, after Calum MacLean
announced his intention to step down at the
start of the year.

I'was delighted to wetcome Michasl in
November, following an extensive search
process which identified him as a high-
calibre, proven businass leader with
experience in the global speciality chemicals
industry and a strong track record of driving
growth (see page B4 for details}. Tha smooth
transition singe his appointment has
confirmed that Michael has the right
capabilities to lead Synthomer through the
next phase of its development. He has
already demonstrated his appetite for organic
and inorganic growth, a passion far building
our teams and developing our people, and an
instinctive understanding of the importancs of
sustainability to our future.

This seamless handover was due in no small
part to Calum, and on behalf of the Board

| would like to thank him for his outstanding
leadership over the past seven years, | extend
the same thanks to Stephen Bennett, our
Chief Financial Officer, who in August
announced his intention to stand down,

As we discuss on page 107, we look forward
to welcoming Lily Liu this summer.

Calum and Stephen have helped transiorm
Synthomer into a diversified, differentiated,
global speciality chemicals business, and the
benefits can be clearly seen in the Company’s
performance. They have built a strong
platform for continued success, and leave
behind a highly experienced leadership team.
We wish them both the very best.

Growth that supports our purpose

Cne of the most exciting developments of
the year was October's announcement of our
proposed acquisition of Eastman’s Adhesive
Resing, which will bring clear benefits, as
discussed on page 14, Itis a great example
of Synthomer's growth strategy in action,
and I'd like to comment on twa points.

First, the Company’s ability to defiver

growth. Ths year’s results show that

across the business, our teams have

worked superbly to create organic growth —
through innovation, capacity utilisation, and a
continuous focus on meaeting strong customer
demand. This was despite the challenges
presented by disruptions in the global supply
chain, which were navigated with great skil

by our procurement, operations, and

commercial teams. The results also show that
the integration of OMNOVA - Synthomer’s
largest acquisition at the time — is complete,
wall ahead of schedute and is delivering
highar synergias than originally announced.
The synergies outlined have all been realised,
despita the COVID-19 pandemic making it
difficult for new teams to meet in parson.
This is a tribute to everyone involved,
aspecially colleagues who have joined
Synthomer from OMNOVA, the teams who
made the transaction in the first place, and
the management and finance teams

who oversaw the integration process.

My second point is really a question. What is the
purpose of growth? Synthomer does not seek
growth for its vwn sake. Of course, we want to
kesp creating value for shareholders, But we
also want to embed sustainability into every
aspact of the business, to help Synthomer
play a greater role in creating a fairer, more
sustainable future and respond to the climate
amergency. Growth, with the scale it brings,
makes us more resilient. It enables us to invest
in our people, cur infrastructure, and our assets,
and means we are better able to deliver on our
purpose of creating innovative and sustainable
polymer solutions for the benefit of customers
and socisty. That is why the Board spent a lot
of time on ancther highlight of Synthomer's
year - theJaunch of our Vision 2030 roadmap
to a more sustainable business,

Regulatory fine

*During 2018, the European Commission {the

Commission) initiated an investigation into
practices relating to the purchase of styrane
monomer by several companies, including
Synthomer, operating in the European
Economic Area. The Company has and will
continue to fully co-operate with the
Comrmission during its investigation. Based on
the information avallable and the resutting
assessment of the expacted outcome of the
investigation a pravision of £57.2 rnilion has
been made in relation to this case.

A more diverse, inclusive Synthomer,
underpinned by sound governance

The full details of cur Vision 2030 roadmap

- which includes cur commitment to net zero
as well as expanding on Synthomer's
longstanding work on safety, health and
environment (SHE) ~- can be found in our
Sustainability report on pages 42 10 68,

We have, for tha first time, fully integrated this
into our Annual Report so that stakeholders
can undarstand how sustainability is
inextricably linked to our financial
performance.

Aleng with the rest of the Board, |
wholeheartedly endorse Vision 2030.

It is @ huge step forward, strengthening

the business and helping Synthomer meet
the rising expeclations of stakeholders over
the next decade. The Board has been fully
involved in the developmant of Vision 2030

and will be regularly revisiting and challenging
the targets, and where we can be bolder
and go faster, in a balanced way.

At the same time, we know that launching
Vision 2030 is not an end in itself. We have mone
to do in rany areas — Ingluding one particularly
close to my heart, which is making our cultura
more diverse, inclusive, and suppartive of the
employees who drive our success, with further
equality of career development opportunities.
We have made prograss in many areas — and
there is a clear appetita from everyone in the
business to enhance our ability to plan and
develop people's caneers to ensure

their engagement and success, and our
business growth.

Like every other aspect of our strategy, }
Vision 2030 must be underpinned by sound
governance - and | tatk more about this in my
introduction to the Governance report, on
page 80, where | also thank Dr Just Jansz for
his valued servite to the Board, and welcome
Roberto Gualdoni, who joined Synthomer as
an Independent Non-Executive Director in
July.

Dividend of 21.3 pence

The Board has recommended a final ordinary
dividend of 21.3 pence {2020: 8.6 pance) per
share, consistent with our dividend poficy, this
exceptional increasae reflecting the unique
year of profitability.

Cargline Johnstone
Chair

3 March 2022

Looking ahead/
priorities for 2022

* Oversee the completion of our
acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive
Resins to create our new Adhesive
Technologies division

» Ensure that Adhasive Technologies is
effectively integrated into Synthomer,
and synergies are being captured

s Continue to focus on nitriles capacity
expansion and investment

» Qversee our leadership team transition
and succession planning

* Further drive our Vision 2030
sustainability agenda and oversee
progress on Task Force on Climate-
relatad Financial Disclosures (TCFD)

« Continue to engage with investors and
all stakeholders
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Who we ara and what we do

)

Chief Executive
Officer’s review

Exceptional results, built on a platform
of underlying growth - and with great
opportunities ahead.

‘When | look beyond the
.| most obvious figures,

| see a more important
narrative. That’s a story
of consistent growth
built on the core assets
of this business.’

Michael Willome

Eﬁﬁcuﬁve Officer

-' O Synthomer plic
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Building on an outstanding year
to consistently deliver growth

and value

Synthomer has delivered record results

this year. But in a way, those results don't

tell the full story of our Company. When ! look
beyond the most obvious figures, | see a more
important narrative. That’s a story of consistent
growth built on the core assets of this business.
Today Synthomer enjoys leadership positions
in a wide range of attractive, global markets,
based cn a broad porticlio of differentiated
speciality products. We have proven axpertise
in acquiring and integrating new businesses.

Furthermore, our powerful sustainability
credentials, including our leadership in
water-based polymers in our dispersions
business and our sustainability innovations in
areas such as Nitrile latex for medical gloves,
or lowar carbon footprint products in our
Functionat Solutions division mean that we
are well positioned in this vitally important
arsa. Cur platform for future growth is strong.

The exciting thing for me is that thera is more
we can do in all these areas. The unique
conditions of the past two years, and
particularly those affecting our Performance
Elastomers division, may not come back for a
long time - but our Uhderlying position means
we will have the opportunity to strengthen our
business further in the future. Our innovative,

sustainable products perform a vital role in
people’s lives — and aur strategy of investing
in organic and inorganic growth in attractive
end markets has consistently created valua
for all our stakeholders over several years,
and given us a platform to continue to deliver
in the years ahead,

Excellent EBITDA performance in alt
divisions, creating a platform for the future
All our divisions have achieved racord EBITDA
growth in 2021 as described in our divisional
repors on pages 26 to 37. The strongest growth
came from Performance Elastemers, which
grew EBITDA by 135.9%, mainly as a result of
the unprecedented, and one-off, demand for
Nitrile latex caused by the COVID-19 pandemic
in 2020 and 2021 - though other areas of the
division alsg grew their profitability. At the same
time, Functional Sclutions grew by 49.8%,
and Industrial Specialities by 18.9%.

Acrylate Monomers has returned to profitability
with £35.3 million EBITDA. Cverall, Group
EBITDA grew by 109.8% to £522.2 miillion
and resulted in an EBITDA margin of 22.4%

of net sales (2020: 15.8%).

. This outstanding performance meant we

further strengthened our balance sheet.

We successfully deleveraged to 0.3x EBITDA,
through strong Free Cash Flow and the equity
placing, creating the conditions to pursus
further inorganic and organic growth
opportunities, and add further value.

The most significant strategic event in
2021 was our acquisition of the Eastman’s
Adhssiva Resins business, which on
compiletion wil create our new Adhasive
Technologies division.

This Is a highly complementary opportunity
with a strong focus on attractive end markets
such as packaging, hygians, building and
construction, and high-performance tyre
additives. &t will enable us to further develop,
manufacture and sell tackifying resins and
additives for adhesive preducts and,

as we describe on page 14, it will expand
our portfolio and our geographical reach,
aspscially in the US, one of our focus markets.

People and teams making the difference
Everything we have achieved this year is

the result of the agility, dedication and
commitment of Synthomer psople, all ovar,
the'world.

It is one thing to invest in attractive markets
and technologies, as the business has done
consistently over the years ~ but that does not
produce strong performance on its own.,

That is down to people going the extra distance,
time and again, despite challenges such

as the COVID-18 pandemic, or significant raw
matarial and energy price increases, or supply
chain disruption, or unprecedented demand.
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Robust investment case in line with global megatrends

Globally Growing
differentiated proportion of
chemical speciality
company chemicals

Resilient
demand

Strong organic
and inorganic
growth drivers

Sustainable and
responsible
operator

Attractive
financial metrics

Accelerating

— —urbanisation— - —

Demographic and
— ~socialchange

Climate ¢

sustaina

_ Shifting_ economic__
power
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Who we are and what we do

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

I hava mef outatanding people and teams
everywhere | have been — and | look forward
10 working with them on future opportunities
based on the success achisved so far.

As a speciality chemicals player with 37
production sites worldwidea, our first priprity
is 10 continue our journegy towards becoming
a top quartile work gnvironment in terrms of
personal and process safety. We are on the
right track, but we still have further to go

16 ensure that our safety performance is
consistent across the business, site by site.

Safety remains both a core value and a
strategic priority for Synthomer, and we
discuss our performance in detail on
pages 54 to 57.

tweould also like to meantion another
priority, ‘people development’. We will
spend significant time and effort on this
area, creating an excellient environment
for all stages of people's professional life,
starting with our well-estabfished and
highly successiul graguate programme,
our talent development initiative for more
experienced empioyees, and senior
feadership development. Our aim is to
create a culture which fosters trust, open
and fast communication between people,
units and regions, and strong performance
for our customers,

I would also highlight our need for more
diversity of all Kinds in our Company.

As recent nominations to our Executive
Commites show, we have alreatly made
first steps on a journey that clearly builds
value for the business, and we will conlinue
it in 2022 and beyongd.

Maintaining our strategic focus

Qnce again, our results demonstrate how
critical it is to have leadership positions in our
markets. They have also shown how valuable
it is to have a growing global foctprint, which
is why we continue to address opportunities
in the US, South East Asia and China, as well
as Europe.

Above all, wa need to make sure we are
always ‘market-origntated” - which means
always thinking about the end consumers
who will ultimately benefit from our products,
What do they nsed from the buildings they live
or wark in, or the surface coatings sofutions
we ali need in daily iife, or the health and
hygiene products that serve them, or the
functional textiles, and automotive products
that surround them?

We make speciaised chemical products for

our customers, who sell them o consumers

— 80 undersianding the consumer means we
can serve our customers betlar.

Synthomer pic
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SyNovus™ Plus ~ sustainable innovation in action

Qur specialised SyNowus™ nitrile products,
widlely used in latex glove manufacture, have
playad an important part this year in the
success of our Performance Elastomers
division - and of Synthomaer overall.

In 2021, teamns at our Asia Innovation
Ceantre in Malaysia worked on making
the SyNovus™ range even more attractive
1o owr customers ~ and more sustainabla
- through developments in content and
manifacture. They created SyNovus™
Plus, a new nitrile product that we will
launch in 2022,

High-performing. Recyclable. And with
a lower carbon footprint.

SyNovus™ Plus provides the same
high-performance barrier protection as
conventional nitrile latex. but has several
critical differences —~ including the potential
for gloves made using SyNovus™ Plus to be
recycled into other products after they are
warn for applications such as food handling

and hygiene {all gioves used for medical
applications have to be incinerated].

The way we make SyNovus™ Plus also
enables our customers 1o réduce the
carbon footprint of their gioves. Our Life
Cycle Assessment has demonstrated that
customers need less nitrile latex and can be
rmore snergy efficient in their manutacturing
because SyNovus™ Plus can be used in
alow-energy cure process.

And by eliminating the use of rubber
accelerators, which can leave residues
that cause reactions to people with latex
allergies, gloves made with SyNovus™ Plus
can ba used by more professionals and
consumears in our customears' markets.

We believe SyNaovus™ Plus hag the potential
1o transform our approach to NBR latex
— and shows that sustainable innovation
can be good for customers, consumers,
and our business.

J




Wae are also striving for innovation excellence,
always driven by consumer and customer
demand illustrated by our new, patented
SyNovus™ Plus Nitrile latex for gloves
combining exacting consumer requirements
and sustainability.

Innovation continues to be a core pillar

of our growth strategy, helping us secure
differentiated market positions and generate
arded valuc for our customers. This year, the
full integration of OMNGWVA has significantly
strengthened qur innovation pipeling, and our
netwerk of four global innovation centres of
excellence supported by local application and
technical service centras is a kay strategic
asset, as we describe on page 38.

Inspired by our purpose, and committed
to Vision 2030

The demand for more 'sustainable products’
has never baen so great.

Here, too, we are in a strong position for future
growth. Qur expertise in water-based palymers,
which hava a lower environmental impact than
solvent-based alternatives, makes us leaders
in many fisfds of specialised chemical products.
This year, we were awarded the London Stock
Exchange’s Green Economy Mark, given to
companies that derive more than 50% of their
revenues from sustainable solutions. We ara
closing the coal-fired power station at Sokolov
{Czech Repubilic), which ends our use of

coal for power generation across Synthomer,
and we moved to electricity from renswable
sources in Europe and North America. And our
Vision 2030 roadmap, aligned with the UN's
Sustainable Development Goals and reported
onin full for the first time on page 18 of this
Annual Report, sets out our course to make
our business increasingly sustainable. it makes
clear that our ESG priorities, beyond safety,
remain combating climate change, bacoming
more diverse and inclusive, and developing
our supply chain assurance.

We are well-embarked on this journey, but we
know we have much more to do because as
well as being the right thing to do, we know
that consumers, and therefore our customers,
will increasingly demand sustainable products,
and prefer companias that can produce them.

022.2m

EBITDA

+109.8%

Increase in EBITDA vs 2020

Looking ahead

| would like to thank everyone at Synthomer

- and my predecessor, Calum MacLean, whose
leadership over seven years at the company did
s0 much to create the differentiated, global
business we are today — for thair dedication
over the last year.

Exceptional levals of profitability in 2021 have
enabled the Group to make major morganic and
organic investments to significantly strengthen
our platform for future growth. As set aut in the
February trading statement, Nitrile latex margins
have normalised to pre-COVID levels and

the Group does not expect any Nitrile latex
pandemic premium in 2022. Year-to-date, Nitrila
latex demand remains subdued dus to high
inventory levels of medical gloves and reduced
damand due to the easing of the COVID-19
pangdemic. However, trading conditions in Nitrile
latex are expected to normalise by the end of
H1 with market growth returning to 2019 levels
in the second half. All gther divisions have
had an encouraging start to the year, and the
Group expects to make continued strategic,
commercial and operational progress in 2022.
Wa have very limited exposure to Russia and .
Ukraine, with both countries accounting for less
than 1% of Group revenue, and we continue to
carefully monitor the situation and its potential
implications on our business. The acquisition
of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business is
expected to complate in Q1. The Group
cantinues to look for further bolt-on acquisition
opportunities geared towards attractive
end-markets that are valus accretive to
Synthomer’s portfolio. The Board rermains
conficlent that the benefits of recent acquisitions
and disciplined capital allocation focused on
organic growth, inorganic growth and dividends
will underpin growing sustainable profits and
value ¢reation in lhe coming years.

Michael Willome
Chief Executive Officer

3 March 2022
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Who we ate and what we do

Our new platform for growth: Our planned Adhesive Téchnologies division

\ At-a-glance:

What Adhesive Technologies

will add to Synthomer

1. Wei-invested asssts with a global
\eading position in adhesives

2. Around 650 talented employees
worldwide, and a strong managernant
team

3, Six plants with strong SHE standards
and a track record of manufacturing
excellance

4, More access 1o attractive end markets
with resillient growth fundamentals

5. Greater scale and diversity 1o our
portalio, and greater gaographic reach

6. Strong R&D, and opportunities for
further innovation-led growth

7. Afarge and growing portfolio of
sustainable products and alignment
with our Vision 2030 sustainability goals

8. Potential synergiss following integration

9. Compaliing financia! metrics with
accretive unit gross margins

Key product lines for

Adhesive Technologies

Hydrocarbon Resins (HCR)

+ Hydrogenated HCR (H,HCR)

. R = Non-Hydrogenated HCR (Non-H,HCR)
Qur growth strategy in action = Pure Mornormer Resins (PMR)

Non-Hydrocarbon Resins (Nen-HCR)

Building on our success ~ Adhesive Technologies will have a strong . "

h A ) Amorphaus Petyolefing (APO)
Adhesive Technologies :\"c‘?s on attractive end | mar ':f’seff‘;f:‘a:ce » Oleo Chamicals, Rosins and Dispersions
©On 17 December 2021, Synthomer ygiens, backeaing anc :—.%np't " @ {OCRD}

shareholders approved the acquisition of tyre addtives. On completion, it will mean

we can extend and diversify our porticho,
reach more customers in more end markets,
and further expand our geographical reach.

Eastman’s Adhesive Rasins, Subject to
reguiatory approvals and cusiomary closing
conditions, we intend to compiste

the transaction in March 2022, and A plattorm for growth

create a new division for Synthomer: The transaction is in ling with our
Adhesivae Technologies. consarvative capitai alfocation policy,

For details of the Eastman’s Adhasive and has been enabled by the outstanding

parformance of our existing divisions as
weil as our effective integration at GMNOVA,
ahead of schedule. Our frack record and

Resins transaction, plaase see our investor
presentation on Synthomer.com.

Speciality products that broaden our experience of integrating OMNOVA gives

portialio and extend cur reach us confidence that we have the people

itis an exciting moment in our growth story,  and skilis 1o realise synergies through

and a demonstration of our organic and the creation of Adhesive Technologies.

norganic growth strategy in action. In the And with its alignment with our sustainability N N
fargest acquisition in our history, valued at objectives ~ including through a focus on Increasing our reach in
$1bn on a cash/debt fres basis, Synihomer renewable raw matarials, circular economy attractive end markets
will gain a US-based global busingss which approaches, and solvent-free product * Tapes alnd labels
deveiops, manufactures and saeils tackifying  fines - we befieva Adhesive Technologies *P 30539'"9

resins and additives for adhesive products, “wil provide us with a platform for further * Hy_gtqne .
making us a global lsader in the field. sustainable growth. * Building and construction

* Tyres

J = Other, including woodwork,
automotive, windows, rubber,

food and care, and inks

1 4 Synthomer ptc ’
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Who we are and what we do

Synthomer strategy

Our'six-pillar strategy

1 Innovation and technical expertise to exploit new markets

* Anticipate consumer market trends and customer requirements to
deliver improved and differentiated products

+ Focus on development rather than pure rasearch

2 Driving efficiency and excellence through operations
« Operate continuous improvement across operations

= |dentify good practices and share throughout the business
* |mprove commercial, HR, IT and procurement functions

3 Capacity utilisation

* Drive profitability through maximum
utilisation of assets

«» Identify the causes of preduction bottlenecks
and find innovative solutions

4 Investment in capacity
» Seak to add capacity, particularly
in high-growth attractive end markets

5 Bolt-on acquisitions
+ Actively seek opportunistic bolt-on MBA in similar chemistries

™

8 Transformational transactions

+ Not to occur before deleveraging to within the range of our strict capital poficy
» Transformational acquisitions not limited by geography or chRmistry

= Growth, stable EBITDA margins, and innovation ara some of the target criteria

Owur Vision 2030 roadmap sets us on the path 1o net zere
and contains a series of targets across three key areas!

Synthomer plc
Annual Heport 2021 1 5
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Who we are and what we do

Our progress ~ KPls

Measuring the progress

of our strategy

Financial

Strategy

Definition
Operating profit befora depreciation, amortisation
and Special ltems.

Comment

Group EBITOA increased 109.8% 1o £522.2 million, with strong
growth across all four divisions, Performance Elastomers EBITDA
grew by 136.9%. Fungtional Solutions EBITOA grew by 48.8%.
Ingustrial Specialities EBITOA grew by 18.9%. Acrylate Monomers
EBITDA returned to profit, delivering £35.4 million.

Strategy

Definition
Basic Underlying sarnings per share before Special ltems.

Comment

The 160.2% increase in undeslying EPS reflects the strong incraase
in underlying profit before tax, otiset by a slight increase in the
waeighted average number of shares in issye. Figures previous to
2019 have been restated for the Rights Issue which completed in
July 2019,

Strategy

Definition
Undsrlying profit before tax comprising IFRS profit before tax
before charging/crediting Special ltems., )

Camment

Group underlying profit before tax increased 162.6% to
£420.1 million, driven by strong growth in EBITDA across alk
four divisians.

Strategy

Definition

Movement in net debt before financing activities, foreign exchangs
and the cash impact of Special kems, asset disposals and
business combinations,

Comment

Free Cash Flow was driven by the rise in EBITDA and reflected the
incraase in activity levels and raw material prices which drove a first
half 2021 net outflow, which was partly offset through working
capital ranagement in the second half of the year when raw
material prices remained high,

Capital sxpendiluig way E82.2 milion 2020 £53.8 million) as the
Company focused on organic growth projects, business system
platforms and site sustenance expenditure.

Underlying performance statemeant

The Group's performance managemant uses Underying performanca to plan for, control and agsess the performance of the Group. Underlying performance ditfers
from the statutory IFRS performance as it excludes the effect of Special lems, which are detatiad in note 4. The Board's view is that Underlying performance
provides additional clarity for the Group's invastors and stakeholders and 5o 1t is the primary focus of the Group's narrative reporting. Where appropriste, IFRS
pariormance inclusive of Special tems is alse described. Referances to *unit margin' and 'margin’ are used in the commentary on Underlying perormance.

Unit margin [or margin) |8 calculated on seling price less variable raw material and logistics costs.

EBITDA is caiculated as operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and Special items.

Free Cash Flow is the movement in net debt betore financing activities, foreign exchange and the cashimpact of Special hems, asset disposals

and business combinations.

1 6 Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021



Non-financial

Strategy ,

Definition

Racordable injury rate for accidents involving more than first aid
treatment, expressed as accidents per 100,000 hours worked by
employees and all contractors.

Comment

Our Group recordable injury case rate (RCR) reduced to 0.31,
largely due to improved performance at former OMMNOVA sites,
which saw RCR fall from 0.64 in 2020 to 0.47 in 2021, The Group
recorded 34 injuries in 2021, versus 37 in 2020. We reported no
cases of disease caused by occupational factors and there were
no accidents that resulted in fatality or permanent disability.

Strategy

Definition

Volume of our products sold in thousands of tonnes (ktes).

The volume is based on wet volumes - i.e. the volumas including
water content,

Comment

The growth in our volumas was driven by the full-year benefits of
our integration of OMNCVA (compared to months in 2020) and the
Increase in activity in Functional Solutions and Industrial Specialities
markets, This is offset by lower Performance Elastomers volumes,
which reflect the rationalisation of our SBR business and lower
nitriles volumes in H2 2021 caused by restrictions in output in
Malaysia and lower levels of demand.

Strategy

Definition

Metered Energy (GJ) {including gas, electricity, steam and fuel oil)
used at each of our plants divided by the number of tonnes of
product made. The energy excludes transport of goods to and
from site and the movement of the associated vehicles on site,
but internal transport on site is included.

Comment
COVID-18 continued to disrupt supply chains leading to inefficient
operations. Key energy efficiency processes were also delayed.

Strategy

Definition
Percentage of sales volume in the year that can be attributed to
new and patented products launched in the past five years.

Comment

Our strong performance in 2021 reflects our greater scale in
innovation following the integration of OMNOVA, and the full
opening of our new Asia Innovation Centre, demonstrating our
continued investment in innovation.

Synthomer pic
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Who wa are and what we do

Qur progress — KPls continued

in July 2021, we set out our Vision 2030 roadmap as our starting point for
realising our commitment to sustainability and to reaching net zero by 2050.

it includes targets for each of the three key areas of sustainability: products, .
operations and people, aligned with the seven UN’s Sustainable Development
Goals most material to our business. Here we set out our first year of progress
against these targets. We will continuously review the targets to ensure that
they remain appropriately challenging. For more details, see pages 42 to 68.

\

1. Products

2. Operations

3. People

The UN's Sustainable Development Goals {SDGs) most relevant to our Vision 2030 goals

Qur targets are underpinned by a series of short-term objectives and are aiigned with ths UN's SOGs that are most materiaf to our business.

J

I3
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Synthomaer specialist polymers
are used to bond and bind
industrial and consumer adhesives
for a wide range of applications.
Packaging and speciality tapes, paper
and filmic labels, contact adhesives and
can sealings all rely on our superior
products which deliver solutions to
our custorers’ technical and L

Review
of the year
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Review of tha year

Group financials

CFO’s introduction to
the Financial review

2021 has been a year of strong performance
by all our divisions and a truly exceptional
performance in our Nitriles business delivering
a record EBITDA of £522.2 million.

‘EBITDA grew in each

of our divisions. Qur
investment in organic
growth, and our
successful integration

| of OMNOVA, has created
a powerful platform for
future growth.’

g:gphen Bennett

)

2 O Synthomaer pic
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Volume

+2.0%.

2021: 1,671.5ktes 2020: 1,638.2ktes
2019: 1,465.7kies

EBITDA

+109.8%

2021; £522.2m 2020: £259.4m 2019: £177.9m
Underlying PBT

+162.6%

2021: £420.1m 2020: £160.0m 2019: £116.2m
IFRS PBT

+1,298.5%

2021; £283.9m 2020: £20.3m 2019: £100.5m
Underlying EPS

+160.2%

2021: 75.2p 2020: 28.9p 2019: 25.3p
IFRS EPS

+0,800%

2021: 48.3p 2020: 0.7p 2019: 21.6p
Free Cash Flow

29.8%

2021; 217.6m 2020: £167.6m 201%: £92.8m’

A proven strategy, good
execution and a strengthened
balance sheet

QOur performance this year is a tribute to the hard
work of evaryone at Synthomer, who put in an
extraordinary effort to meet the needs of our
customers. t also refiacts the success of our
strategy, as our invastment in organic growth,
and our suoccessful integration of OMNOVA,
created a powerful platform for our performance.

Strong performance from all divisions
despite global supply chain disruption
EBITDA graw in each of our divisions.
Performance Elastomers EBITDA growth of
136.9% to £320.7 milion reflected mora than
the strong demand for hygiene products, with
improved demand and margins in Performance
Materials also making an important contribution.
Functional Solutions EBITDA grew by 49.8%, to

£139.2 millon reflecting our stronger global reach
and increased market diversity following the
integration of OMNCOVA, factors which also saw
Industrial Specialities EBITDA grow by 18.9% to
£47.8 milion. Acrylate Monomers EBITDA grew
to £35.3 million, from a small loss in 2020.

The growth across the business took place
against a backdrop of squeezed supply chains
- and is tribute 1o the work of our procurement
and customer service teams, who kept
mesting our customaers' needs.

Growth in gross margin per tonne
reflacts increasing specialisation

This long-tertn growth refiects tha fact that
our differentiated portfolio contains many
speacialised, high-perforrmance products,

This year, extraordinary demand for Nitrila lalex
products during the COVID-19 pandernic meant
that our Nitrile business in particutar performed
exceptionally and, even as this demand :
softened, in line with cur expectations, our
specialised portfolio will continue to benedit
from the underlying market growth trend

that existed beiore the pandemic.

One of the most pleasing aspects of our
performance has been the consistent growth
in our gross margin per tonne over reécent
years, a trend which continued in FY21 and
not just attributable to the impact from the
Nitrite latex business.

Rapid integration of OMNOVA

realises $42 million in synergies

Despite the pandemic, we completed the
integration of OMNOVA ahead of schedule.
The synergies we identified in our acquisition
investment case have also been realised faster
than budgeted, and have created greater value,
with $42 million realised in tha first 18 months
of integration. This has strengthened the
business, and built the acquisition and
integration skills of our teams.

Free Cash Flow up 29.8% to £217.6 million
Strong cash generation and the £203.1 mitlion
equity placing ahead of our acquisition of
Eastrnan's Adhesive Resing business has helped
drive a rapid reduction of our net debt 10
£114.2 milfion leading 1o leverage of 0.3x EBITDA.
This strengthened balance sheét underpinned
our proposed acquisition of Eastman’s Adhesive

Resins business, which was approved by our
shareholdars on 17 Decamber 2021, and which

supports our overzll strategy for organic and

inorganic investment. We expect the acquisition

to complete in March 2022,

Reduced pension liabilities

As a result of more favourable market conditions
and several years of work, including a detafled
review of our pension investmeant strategy,
our pension liability has decreased to

£122.4 million from £221.4 million at

31 December 2020. Strong asset retums,
cash contributions of £27.0 million and actuarial
gains of £51.2 million hava all contributed.

Dividend of 21.3 pence

The Board has recommended a final ordinary
dividend of 21.3 pence (2020: 8.6 pence) per
share, this exceptional increase reflecting the
unique ysar of profitability.

Taken with the 2021 interim ordinary
dividend of 8.7 pence (2020: 3.0 pence)
per share, the total ordinary dividend is
30,0 pence (2020: 11.6 pence).

Thae total dividend for the year is in line with
the Group’s dividend paolicy with the dividend
represanting 40% of the Underlying earnings
per share. The final dividend per share is subject
to sharehalder approval at the Annual General
Meeting cn 28 April 2022 and will be payable
on 5 July 2022 to those shareholders registered
at the close of business on 6 June 2022,

Looking ahead

The exceptional performance in 2021 has
enabled the Group to deleverage quickly and
has paved the way for the $1 bilion acquisition
of Eastran’s Adhesive Resins business, the
largest acquisition in the Group's history.

The acquisition In the attractive adhesives
market provides further differentiation and
diversification to the Group.

Coupled with our continued organic growth
investment programme, particularly in Nitriles,
the Group has created a powerful and mutt-
{aceted platform to underpin future growth.

Stephen Bennett
CFO

3 March 2022
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Review of the year

Group financials continued

Financial review

Special ftems

2021 2020

£m im

Amaortisation of acquired intangibles (36.2) 30.9)
Restrusturing and site closure costs (29.7) 42.5)
Acquisition casts and related gains {(11.9) {14.8}
. Sale of bugsiness (74) (6.6}
Reguilatory fine (57.2) -
Impairment charge - {36.5)
Tota! impact on operating profit (142.4) {131.2)
Fair value gain/{loss) on unhedged interest rate derivatives 6.2 {3.6)
Loss on extinguishment of financing facitities - 4.9)
Total impact on profit before tax {136.2) (139.7}
Taxation Special items 8.8 {4.9)
Taxation on Special ltems 1.8 205
Total impact on profit for the year {115.9) 124.%)

The following items of income and expense have besn reported as Special tems:

* Amortisation of acquired intangibles
incraased in 2021, reftecting the first
full year charge since the acquisition of
OMNOVA Solutions Inc on 1 April 2020,
The fair values of the intangible assets
arising on the acquisition of OMNOVA
amounting to £330.1 milfion are being
amortised cver a period of 9-11 yaars

Presentation of
financial results

The Group has consistently ysed two
significant Alternative Performance
Measures {APMs) since its adoption
of International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS} in 2005:

* Underlying performance, which
axcludes Special ttems from IFRS profit
measures

* EBITOA, which excludes Special ftems,
amertisation and depreciation from IFRS
operating profit.

The Board's view is that Underlying
performance provides additional clarity
for the Group’s investors and so it is the
primary focus of the Group's narrative
reporting. Further information and the
reconciligtion to the iFRS measures

are included in note 5 of the

financial statemants,

Synthomer pic
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mainly dependent on the characteristics of

the customer relationships.

Restructuring and site closure costs

in 2021 comprise:

— A £13.2 milion charge in relation to the
substantially completed integration of the
OMNOVA acquisition nat of a £1.2 rmition
pension curtailment credit in relation 1o
the French business,

— A £11.6 million charge to demolish and
rationalise assets at a small number of
sites, to Hring them into line with our ESG
sirategy; and

- A turther £4.9 million for the completion
of the rationalisation of the Group's
European Performance
Materials network.

Restructuring and site closure casts in 2020

comprised £19.5 milion tor integration of

OMNOVA, £20.9 miliion for the

raticnalisation of the Group's European

Performance Materials network and

£2.1 million to rationalise the Acrylate

Monomers' site.

« Acquisition costs and refated gains are

for the acquisition of Eastman’s Adhesive
Resins business and comprise £15.0 million
of costs, malnly professional adviser fees,
offset by a £3.1 million gain on a foreign
exchange derivative entarad into in October
2021 1o hedge the acquisition price.
Acquisition costs in 2020 related to the
acquisition of OMNOVA.

* Sale of business mainly comprised a further

£7.1 miliion ioss on the onerous contract for
the disposal of Synthomer's Eurcpean Tyre
Cord business as production is relocated to
Caoijing {China) to enable the Marl 3 asset
{Garmany) to be tully closed. This is
incremental to the charga taken in 2020.

* During 2018, the European Caommission

initiated an investigation into practices
relating to the purchase of Styrene
monomer by several companies, including
Synthomer, operating in the European
Economic Area. The Company has and
will continue to fully cooperate with the
Gommission during its investigation.
Based on tha information availabla and
the resulting assessment of the expected
outcome of tha investigation a provision
of £57.2 million has been made in relation
to this case.

* In 2020, a £36.6 milion impairment charge
was hooked relating to four sitas.

* In July 2018 the Group entered into swap
arrangaments to fix Euro interest rates
on the full value of the then €430 million
committed unsecured revolving credit
tacility. The fair value movemeant
of the unhedged interest rate derivatives
refates to the movemant in the mark-to-
market of the swap at 31 December 2021
in excess of the Group's current borrowings.

* Following the Group's successful
refinancing in 2020, capitalised dabt
costs refating to the 2018 refinancing
and the 2019 bridge to bond were written
off, leading to a loss on extinguishment
of £4.9 million.

+ Taxation Special Items comprise the release
of uncertain tax provisions in relation to
higtorical tax issues in France and Malaysia.

« Taxation on Special tems is mainly deferrec
tax credits arising on the amortisation of
acquired intangiblas and restructuring and
site closure costs.



Finance costs

2021 2020

£m [

Net interest payable {26.9) {24.3)
Net interest expense on defined beneflt obligation 2.9) B.n
Interast element of Isase payments {1.5) {1.6}
Underlying finance costs {30.8) {29.6)
Fair value gain/{loss) on unhedged interest derivatives 6.2 {3.6)
Loss on extinguishment of financing facilities - 4.9
Total finance costs {24.6) {38.1}

We have designed our new
sustainability brand Lipolan™ TERRA
to help reduce the carbon footprint
typically associated with making latex
foam.

Quir first product is calted Lipolan™ TERRA
2022F and is mads using processes that
can reduca that footprint by up to 60%.

It also contains 70% total solids, making it
more efficient to transport, which means we
can lower the associated logistics carbon
footprint by up to 5%. This is just the start
though — we're now planning ways in which
to use bio-based and recycled feedstock.

-

Underlying finance costs increased to

£30.8 million {2020: £29.6 million) and
comprise interest on the Group's financing
facilities, intarest rate swaps, amortisation of
associated debt costs and IAS 19 pensions
intarest costs in respact of our definred benefit
pension schemas.

The rise in the net interest payable mainly
reflects the higher interest rate on the
€520 milion, 3.875% senior unsecured loan
notes due 2025 bond issued in June 2020,
refinancing the OMNOVA acquisition finance
bridge, as offset by the lower level of
borrowings in 2021 relative to 2020 as a result
of the strong Free Cash Flow and the equity
placing in anticipation of the acquisition of
Eastman's Adhesive Resins business,

The Group's committed unsecured facilities
comprise the $260 million term loan, the
€520 milkon bond and the €460 million
revolving credit facility, The revolving credit
facility was fully undrawn throughout 2021
and, as a result, the interest rate derivatives
were fully unhedged and the full movemant in
fair value was taken to Special terns.

Taxation :

The Group's effactive tax rate is affected by
the tax chargedcredit of Speclal Items. It is
therafore halpful to consider the Underlying
and Special ltems tax rates separately:

» The effactive tax rate on Underlying profit
before tax for the year decreased to 22.5%
{2020: 23.4%) due to the impact of
COVID-19 on the geographical mix
of profits.

+ The effective tax rate for Special lterns was
15.1% (2020: 11.2%) and was driven by
deferred tax credits on the amortisation of
acauirad intangibles and restructuring and
site closure costs, and a current tax credit
in retation to historical tax issues in France
and Malaysia.

Non-controlling interest

Tha Group continues to hold 70% of
Revertex (Malaysia} Sdn Bhd and its
subsidiaries. These entities form a relatively
minor part of the Group so the impact on
Underlying performance from non-controling
interests is not significant.

Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated based on
the average number of shares in issue during
the year. The weighted average humber of
shares for 2021 increased to 432,290,000
(2020: 424,843,000) following the equity
share placing on 28 October 2021 where
42,485,080 shares were issued raising net
proceeds of £203.% million.

Underlying earnings per share for the year

is 75.2p, up from 28.9p in 2020, reflecting the
exceptional performance in the year. The IFRS
earnings per share is 48.3p {2020: 0.7p).

Synthamer plc 2 3
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Revigw of the year

Group financials continued

Financial review continued

Balance sheet

Nat assets of the Group increasad by
64.5% to £1,033.0 mifion, mainly reflecting
the £210.0 million profit for the year, the
£203.1 million shara issue and actuarial gains
of £66.8 million offset by dividend payments
of £74.0 milion.

Provisions

As a result of the regulatory fine and the
restructuring and site closure costs set
out above, provisions have increased
to £103.2 million (2020: £31.6 million).

The closing balance includes £57.2 milion
for the regulatory fine, £15.8 milion and

£1.0 millon in relation to the rationalisation of
the Group's European Performance Materials
natwork in Man and Oulu regpectively and
£10.6 miflion in relation 10 the onerous
contract arising on the disposal of the
European Tyre Cord business.

In the year, a £5.1 million provision was
recagnised far the closure of OMNCVA's
administrative and R&D site in Villejust
(France) and the site transformation

in Kluang {Malaysia) was completed.

A £11.8 million provision has been made to
demolish and rationalise assets at a small
number of sites, to bring them into line with
our ESG strategy.

Retirement benetfit plans

The Group's principal funded defined benefit
pension schemes are in the UK and the US
and are both closed ta new entrants and
future accrual. The Group also operates an
unfunded defined benefit schema in Germarny
and various other defined contribution
overseas retirement benefit arrangements.

The Group's net retirement obligation
decreased by 44.7% to £122.4 million

at 31 December 2021 (31 December
2020; £221.4 milion) and reflects the market
value of assets and the valuation of liabiities
in accordance with |AS 19, This £88.0 millicn
recluction in the net retirement obligation

is principally attribuiable 1o the conservative
investment strategy, £66.8 mition of actuarial
gains and Group funding contributions

of £27.0 million. The actuarial gain arose
due to a £15.6 miflion return on assets,

a £32.2 million impact from increases in
discount rates, an £11.8 million gain from
exparience adjustments and a £7.2 million
gain on demographic assumptions.

The most racent triennial valuation of the
UK scheme took place at April 2021 and

i pragressing in fine with expectations.
The value of liabilities under this method
differs slightly from [AS 19, but we expect
the finalised vahuation to result in an improved
funding status relative to the 2018 valuation
completed in 2019.
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Cash performance

The Group's primary focus is on managing net debt by maximising Free Cash Flow. The following
tabie summarnises the movement in net dabt and is in the format used by managemant:

202 2020
£m Em
Opening net ([debtcash i 462.2) 20.7
Undarlying operating profit {excluding joint venturas) 4483 188.4
Movement in working capital (82.8) 23.5
Depraciation of property, plant and equipment ) 64.2 64.9
Amortisation of other intangible assets Al 4.9
Sharg-based payments charge 2.1 2.0
Capital expenditure {82.2) . (53.8)
Business cash fiow 356.7 2209
Net interest paid (27.6) (14.0)
Tax paid {86.4) (31.4)
Pension funding (27.0) {18.8)
Dividends received from joint ventures 19 19
Free Cash Flow 2176 1676
Cash impact of restructuring and site clasure costs {17.8} {25.3}
Cash impact of acquisition costs €6 {7.4)
Purchase of business - (587 6}
Sale of businass 17 a1
Proceeds on issue of shares 203.1 -
Repayment of principai portion of leass liabilities 0.7 9.7
Dividends paid {73.5) (12.8)
Dividends paid to non-controlling intergsts ©.5) (3.1)
Foreign exchange and other movemants 3.7 4.7)
Movement in net debt 348.0 482.9)
Closing net debt (114.2) (462.2)

Underlying oparating profit more than doubled
to £448.3 milion due to exceptionally strong
trading but this was offset in part by an
£62.8 million investment in working capital
mainly due to significant rises in raw matetial
costs partially reflecting disruptions in raw
material supply chaing, Working capital as

a percentage of sales - the key performance
measure monitored by the Group — remains at

around 10% in line with historical performance.

Depreciation and amortisation of other
intangibles are i line with the previous year.

Capital expenditure increased to £82,2 million,
recovering from the COVID-19 measures
introduced in 2020 to preserve cash and
liquidity. Our Niirile latex capacity expansion
project in Malaysia Is nearing completion, as
is the project to raplace the coal-fired power
station in Sokolkov (Czech Repubficl. The Group
continues to invest in its Pathway Pregramme
systemns transformation project, the first phase of
which was successfully deployad in May 2021.

Interest paid increased to £27.6 milion
reflacting the first full period of additional
borrowings drawn for the OMNGCVA acquisition
and the successful issue in June 2020 of the
€520 million, 3.875% senior unsecured loan
notes due 2025, for which the first biannual
interest payment was due in January 2021,



Tax paid increased by £55.0 million to
£86.4 million. The Group's overall effective
tax rate reduced slightly, from 23.4% to
22.5%, and the increase in cash payments
is mainly due to higher profitability in 2021,

The cash impact of restructuring and site
closure costs was £17.8 million, which
comprises £6.0 milion of OMNOVA synergy
costs, £10.5 millipn utilisation of restructuring
provisions and £1.3 million of other
restructuring costs in-the year.

The cash impact of acquisition costs was
£6.6 million, arising from the acquisition

of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business.

The 2020 net outflow of £7.4 million related
to the OMNOVA acquisition and comprised
£20.1 million of costs offset by a £12.7 miillion
cash gain on deal-contingent foreign
exchange contracts.

The 2020 cash outflow for the purchase
business related to OMNOVA,

On 28 October 2021, the Group successfully
completed a share placing, raising £203.1 milion,
net of issue costs, again relating to the financing
of the proposed acquisition of Eastman's
Adhesive Resins business.

Dividends paid in the year increased. The final
dividend payment for 2020 was paid in July
2021, whereas the 2019 final dividend was
cancelled in order 1o preserve cash, hiquidity
and balance sheet strength at the onset of the
COMID-18 pandemic in March 2020,

QOur debt is denominated in euros and dollars.

The euro waakened relative to sterling during
2021, lsading to a foreign exchangs gain in
net debt.

Currency

The Group prasents its consolidated financial
statements in sterling and conducts business
in many currencies. As a result, it is subject
to foreign currency risk due to exchange

rate movernents, which affect the Group's
translation of the results and Underlying net
assets of its operations. To manage this risk,
the Group uses foreign currancy borrowings,
forward contracts and currency swaps 1o
hedge non-sterling net assets, which are
predominantly denominated in euros, US
dollars and Malaysian ringgits.

In 2021, the Group experienced an overall
currency headwind with average FX rates
against our three principal currencies
increasing by 3.4% to €1.165, 6.3% to $1.374
and 5.5% to 5.70 ringgits. This resulted

in a net £22.1 million translation headwind
in reported EBITDA.

Givan the globat nature of our customer and
supplier base, the impact of transactional
foreign exchange can be very diflerent from
translational foreign exchange. We are able
1o partially mitigate the transaction impact
by matching supply and administrative cost
currencies with sales currencies.

To reduce volatility which might affect

the Group's cash or income statement,

the Group hedges net currency transaction
aexposures at the point of confirmed order,
using forward foreign exchange contracts.
The Group's policy is, where practicable,
10 hedge all exposures on monetary assets
and liabiltties.

Financing and liquidity

At 31 December 2021, the Group had net
debt of £114.2 million compared to net debt
of £462.2 million at 31 December 2020.
The reduction in net dabt reflects the
strong Free Cash Flow in the year and
the proceeds on the equity share placing.
This cash generation resulted in a
reduction in the Group's leverage, from
1.8x at 31 December 2020 to 0.3x at

31 December 2021, lsaving the Group
well placed to finance the acquisition

of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business.

Ahead of the Eastman’s Adhesive Resins
acquisition, a new commiited unsecured
$300 milion loan facility was emtered into
on 28 October 2021 which will be drawn,
alongside a portion of the ravolving credit
facility on completion. An equity share
placing was also undertaken on 28 October
2021 raising £203.1 million net of issue
costs. These proceeds were swapped into
US dollars on the day of the placing in order
to hedge against the dollar-denominated
acquisition price.

While arranging the new $300 million loan
faciiity the Group took the opportunity to
transition the refarence rates for $260 million
term loan and non-Euro borrowings under
the €460 million rolling credit facility away
from inter-bank interest rate to risk-

free rates.

At 31 December 2021, the Group

had commitied borrowing facilities of
approximately £1,250 million through until
July 2024 with a single financial leverage
ratio covenant of 3.5x for 2022 and 3.25x
for 2023 and 2024.
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Review of the year

Divisional reviews

S

Performance
Elastomers

A year of exceptional

growth - and clear

opportunities for the future,
driven by innovation and
capacity expansion.

26
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‘We've been able to meet

the exceptional demand

of 2020 and early 2021

because of the dedication

of our peopie and our
“investment in innovation |

and increased capacity.

That has created
significant value to
support Synthomer’s
future growth.’

Neil Whitley

F EriOime

Main markets

Health & protection

Carpet, compounds & foam
Paper & packaging

Main product lines

¢ Nitrle Butadiene Latex emulsion (NBR)
* Styrene Butadiens L.atex emulsion (SBR)
s Antioxidants

* Specialty SBR

e Performance Materials

» Elgstomeric Modifisrs

947 pecple in 12 plants in Europe, Middie
East, South East Asia and China, and in two
US plants we share with Functional Solutions.

Our contribution to sustainability
Parformance Elastomers has a strong
track record of innovation, increasingly
driven by consumers' demand for products
with reduced impact on the environment.

In line with the Group's 2030 target of more
than B0% of new progducts having a positive
sustainability impact, the division has

an exciting innovation funnel in both

S8R and NBR which set the standards

tor sustainability. ’

Highlights of our performance

320./m

EBIDA

+136.99%

frt canstant ¢urrency



Constant
2021 2020 % e
Safety (RCR) o.n 0.31 {65)
Volumes (ktes) 8442 896.0 5.8
Revenue (£m) 951.5 660.3 399 46.2
EBI'[DA (Em) 320.7 142.5 126.1 136.9
Operating profit - Underlying parformance (€Em) 294.9 116.8 152.5 166.0
Qperating profit - IFRS (Em) 2869 80.8 2551

This has been a record year
for EBITDA, and for me,

three factors stand out about
our very strong pearformance
across the division.

Dedicated people and strong teamwork
The first is that it was only possible because
of the commitment of our people and teams
to working through challenges — whether
those were the constraints imposed by
COVID-19, which had a particular impact in
Malaysia and on the paople working in our
NBR business, or the disruptions to global
supply chains that affected the whole
industry. Across the division, our teams kept
our manufacturing going throughout, working
safely, and consistently going the extra mile
to meet the needs of our customers, resulting
in strong performances from both our NBR
and SBR businesses.

Clear benefits from long-term
investment

The second is that there was a clear fink
between our consistent investment in organic
growth and capacity utilisation, and our ability
to meet demand, particularly for Nitrile latex
to support the healthcare sector during

the COVID-18 pandemic.,

We know that extraordinary Nitrile latex
demand for glove manufacturing during the
pandemic resultad in exceptional earnings
and cash generation this year, and we
expacted conditions to normalise as supply
and demand becamea more balanced.

That began to happen in H2 2021,

Putting oaide the exceptional demand created
by the pandernic, we intend to continue
invasting in Nitrile latex because we, along
with other industry experts, expsct the
undertying growth in demand for Nitrile

latex experienced pre-pandemic to continue,
given the global trends in tha heatthcare and
hygiene product markets and the fact that
nitrile latex is increasingly substituting PVC
and natural rubber in personal protective
squipment. We have a very strong position

in this market with a high market share,
industry-leading manufacturing technology
and a track record of product innovation.
There are exciting opportunities on the
horizon and we will continue our focus

on progduct, process and application
improvements. We are currently
commissioning our JOBS' expansion

project in Pasir Gudang, Malaysia, creating
60ktes of additional Nitrile latex capacity
which will provide additional products for our
local and growing US customer bases. At the
same time, wa have carried out siting reviews
in Asia to ensure that the required Nitrile latex
capacity Is avaitable in the coming years to
meaet our customers’ continuing growth plans.

Added to this, we have soma of the most
innovative, highly-skilled people in the industry
- and the full opening this year of our Asian
Innovation Centre (AIC) has enhanced

our ability to lead the way on innovations

in products and processes, many of which
will have defined sustainability benefits for
customers and consumers ~ including
SyNovus™ Plus, described in the case

study on page 12.

Divisional
shapshot

Synthomer plc
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Review of the year

Divisional reviews continued

Performance Elastomers continued

Ensuring we have the structure

in place for future success

While resuits this year have been strong,
we nhead to remain focused on staying
competitive in all our rmarkets. This vear, in
line with the findings of our review of our SBR
business, we closed SBR facilities in Oulu,
Finfand, and Mat, Germany, shifting our
production to our other sites, where we have
bean abla to tocus on our strategic move
towards greater capacity utilisation,

Performance review

Safely

Psriormance Elastomers achieved a
recorgabye injury case rate of 0.11 in FY21, and
a process safsty rate of 0.18. The three-year
averaga recordabla injury ¢ase rate of 0.14
ustrates consistant delivery of upper-quartiie
safety performance across all sites, with an
ongoing focus on slips, trips and falls which
now account for most of the small number

of incidents each year. Our majer nitrile project
{JOBE} in Pasir Gudang achieved more than
750,000 hours without a recordable accident.
Significant management attention and
raparting focusas on turther improving
process salety perlormance, including leading
indicatars for parrnit to work and management
af change. We are launching behavioural
safety programmes in 2022 ta drive safety
performance to (ndustry-leading levels.

Synthomer plc
Annuai Report 2021
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Volumes

Performance Elastorners achieved overall
volumes of 844.2kies in FY21, a reguction
on the exceptional voiumes of 896.0ktes in
FY20, and in tine with our FY19 performance
of 849.1ktes. Within this overal figure,
volumaes in our Nitrile [atex business were
lower than in 2020, Nitrils latex performance
was affectad by Emergancy Movement
Controt Orders put in place in Malaysia in
responsé to the pandemic in O3, as wall

as some customer de-stocking in H2 2021
that followed exceptional demand in FY20
and H1 2021_ Our further investrment in Nitrile
latex capacity, including JOBE and our
annpunced plans for significant further
investrment in South East Asia, demonstrate
aur long-tefm cormmitment to the growing
Nitrile latex market.

We closed our Performance Materials facility
in Qulu, Finland, in February 2021, reducing
SBR capacity by BSktes in FY21. Our oldest
SBR plant in Mar! is closing and a range of
products previously made at this plant are
being successtully transferred across

the wider Synthomer network, This will
significantly irmprove the utiisation of the
Performance Elastomers Performance
Matarials assets in Europe.

Revenue

The division achieved revenues of £951.5 milion
in FY21, with particularly strong demand, driven
ty the global COVID-19 pandemic, for Nitrile
fatex for a range of medicat and fndustrial
gioves. Glove prices rose to recard levels and
with dermana for Nitriie latex exceeding supply in
H1, marging rose well above normalised igvels.
As demand reduced during HZ both glove and
Nitrile fatex prices reduced significantly,
returning to historical fevels sinca January 2022,
industry analysts forecast that demand for
Nitritg latex, the preferred material of choice for
medical gloves, will confinue to grow strongly as
glove usage par capita continues to increase
in developing countries. Synthomer also has
a strong product development pipefine arising
from our industry-leading Asia Innovation Centre
in Malaysia, including SyNovus™ Plus, samples
of which were approved by customars in

Q1 2022. :



EBITDA

This was an exceptional year for the divigion,
and we achieved EBITDA of £320.7 million.
This compares to divisional EBITDA of

£142.5 millionin FY20, The underlying margins
within the NBR business were at exceptional
levels as demand for Nitrile latex exceeded
supply and record production rates for medical
glovas continued in H1. Demand for Nitrile
latex started to stow through H2, partly due
to de-stacking, with margins reducing to
muory normal levels since January 2022,

Performance Materials margins improved
following our asset rationalisation programme,
and helped by movement in raw materials
through the year.

Priorities for FY22

ss the portic
itaining our SH=

career ceve'opment io confinue
recruting and retaiming the est talent

Extending our SyNovus™
product range, building

our capacity and reducing
energy use

We are proud of the innovation that goes into
developing hew products for our customers,
especially those that support our - and our
customers’ — sustainability ambitions.

But innovation is equally important when
it comes to our processes, supporting
our strategy by increasing our capacity,
maintaining the high performance of our
speciality products, and making us more
energy afficient.

To support our family of patanted SyNowvus™
products, our new Asian Innovation Centre
in Malaysia launched a process innovation
programme designed to further improve the
way we make the NBR nitrile grades that
are vital to the manufacture of thin latex
examination gloves - a critical product

to us, and 1o the healthcare sector during
the GOVID-19 pandemic.

Harnessing the energy from

chemical reactions

While at all times ensuring that our nitriles
product maintains its high performance in
our customers' applications, our innovation
tearns have adapted our systems to hamess
the heat created by the chemical reactions
that lead to polymerisation, and used that
heat in the product process, reducing our
neead for steam.

In the second year of a three-year programme
that has involved cooperation between our
operations, commercial and technical support
teams in Malaysia, the project has boosted
capacity by a further 10%, while reducing
the energy consumption in use for both
Synthomer and our customers. It has meant
wa cauld increase our supply to customers at
a time of very high demand — and is creating
opportunities to uss the technelogy within
other plants and product lines.

J
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Reviaw of the year

Divisional reviews continued

Functional

Solutions

Building on our growth
platform through innovation
and sustainability.

30
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‘Very strong demand
across all end markets
served by Functicnal
Solutions has led to

robust business growth -

despite substantial
supply chain disruptions
in all regions.’

Rob Tupker
Pr i Fu

Main markets
Coatings
Construction
Technical Textiles
Adnesives

Qil & Gas

Main product applications
= Architeciural paint

* intumescent paint

* Wood and metal ceatings

« Tile and flooring adhesives
+ Speciality tapes

« Sealants

» Waterproofing

» Repair mortar

» Giass fibre scrim

» Non-wovan and woven texties
» Driling additives

+ Cemsnt enhancement

1,807 people in 16 plants in Europe, the USA,
the Middle East, Soutn East Asia and China.
11 technglogy and innovation centres.

Our contribution to sustainability
With a strong focus on its devalopment
pipefine, the division is making goad
prograss towards meeting the Group’'s 2030
target of more than 60% of new products
having a posttive impact on sustainability.
Many of Functional Sofutions’ newly
developad products replace solvent with
water, contributs to engrgy savings for
the customer, reduce the use of materials
of coneern or have a positive impact

on recyclability.

Highlights of our performance

£139.2m

FAITDA

+49.8%

in constant currency



Constant
2021 2020 % %
Safety (RCR) 037 0.39 (5
Volumes (ktes) 655.9 591.2 10.8
Revenue {£m) 900.3 646.7 39.2 43.9
EBITDA (Em) 139.2 95.6 45.6 49.8
Operating profit - Underlying performance (£m) 111 69.1 60.8 63.6
69.8 ati 1244

Qperating profit - IFRS (£m)

Our extensive portfolio of
innovative and sustanable

products are used n diverse
applications by our
customers around the world.

Though consumers will rarely see
Synthemer's name on consumer products,
Functionat Solutions' wide range of products
play a vital role in people’s lives, and with our
leadership positions in sustainabla, water-
based dispersions and our broad customer
base, we have a clear platform for growih.
Qur commitment to innovation, capaciy
expansion and operational excellence ensures
we stay ahead and remain one of the lsaders
in speciality dispersions, and this year helped
drive an outstanding 49.8% growth in
EBITDA. Both top- and bottom-line growth
were delivered despite a succession of
disruptions to raw material supplfes, including
COVID-19-related supplier closures in Asia,
the Texas freeze in February 2021, and force
majeures in Europe.

Harnessing innovation and sustainability
to drive growth )

Wwith more than 80% of our products
consisting of water-based dispersions which
eliminate the VOCs associated with solvents,
Functional Solutions plays a key part in
Synthomer's Vision 2030 ambitions.

Demand from our more than 3,000 customers
across the world for sustainable polymer
solutions is growing, driven in many regions
by regulation as well as customers’ own
sustainability objectives. At the same time,
our innovation teams are working with
customers to develop products that push
the possibilities further — meeting needs for
formaldehyde-frea, biocide-fres or lower-VOC
applications, and developing bicdegradable,
bic-based or industry-compostable products
to support circular economy approaches

to sustainability. Qur 11 technology and

innovation centras ara state-of-the-art
facilities for ail our main technology functions:
polymer synthesis, materials characterisation,
applications technclogy, technical service
and production scale-up.

Synthomer people dedicated to meeting
needs of customers in diverse markets
" An essential elament in tha division's success
this year has besn the commitment of
Synthomer people to meeting customer
needs. This takes many forms - keeping
our plants running through the COVID-19
pandemic, overcocming the disruptions in
global supply chains, maintaining close
partnerships with customers when it comes
to innovation and delivery. There is no doubt
that our strong performance is owed in large
part to our people and teams, and to tha
focus wa have placed on both commercial
and manufacturing excellence programmes
in recent years.

This was especially important in the ¢context
of racovering and rising demand. The year
saw a notable improvement in demand in the
 Coatings, Adhesives, Sealants and Elastorners
{CASE), and Qil & Gas segments, and
products that found their end-application

in consumers’ houses performed very well,
as so many people turned their hand to DIY
in the pandemic. Investment in capacity over
the past few years served us well here, as
our Worms plant ran at increased capacity
and allowed us to deliver differentiated
products across our European network,

part of an overall increase in capacity inour
plant networks in Europe and North America
in particular,

Divisional
snapshot

Synthomer plc
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Review of the year

Divisional reviews continued

Functional Solutions continued

‘This was a record year
for the division, and

we achieved EBITDA of
£139.2m. This compares
to divisional EBITDA of

£95.6m in FY20. Aided by
strong cost contrel and
synergy realisation, afl
regions contributed to

a 46% growtih in EBITDA

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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Delivering on the benetits of OMNOVA
integration

Last year we complatad the integration of
OMNOVA, helping to increase the scale and
geographic divarsity of our division. As well
as delivering cost synergies, the successful
integration of the Functional Solutions’

sales team with that of the fermer OMNCVA
business has opened up significant new sales
oppartunities, many of which were realised
during 2021.

The integration significantly broadened our
global reach as a division, with around a third
of revenue now coming from our Americas
and APAC markets.

It has also expanded our technalogical
capability — so we can continue to innovate
and meet the neads of our diverse
customer base.

There is still work to do to ensura that SHE
pearormance is consistently high across
the dision including the heritage
OMNOVA sites.

Performance review

Satety

Functional Solutions achieved a recordable
injury casa rate of 0.37 in FY21, and a process
safety rate of 0.28.

Both retrics are higher than 2020, reflecting
tha integration of former OMNOVA sites

for a full year. Qur strong focus on safety
transformation Inifiatives at key sites is already
beginning to show success, with all-injury
rates at an ail-time iow for tha division.

For 2022, we will focus on completing
transformation initiatives at all Functional
Solutions' sites as we push for world-class
safaly rates across our who'g site network,

Volumes

Functional Solutions achieved ovaral
volurnes of 655.9ktes in FY21, an increase
on 591.2ktes in FY20, and substantiafly
greater than our FY19 performance

of 487.4kies.

.
This strong overall performance réflects
robust demand in all our main markets as
well as the fact that we have grown as a
division, including through the successful
integration of OMNOVA, which has created
new salas opportunitias as well as increased
our capacity. .

n addition to an extra quarter of volumes
from QMNQOVA, the divisipn benefited from
growth in our CASE businesses in Europe
and USA, offset in part by the impact of
prolonged COVID-19 effects in South East
Asia. Demand was particularly strong in
construction and textiles, The Oil & Gas
business also saw healthy grawth, driven by
Increased driling activity and higher oil prices.

Revenue

The Functional Solutions division achieved
revenues of £800.3 million in FY21, a growih
of 39.2% on FY20. The extra volumes noted
above, both from the OMNOVA integration
and organic growth, contributed to this
increase, along with an improvement

in unit marging in certain segments.,
Another driver for the increase was the
pass-through to customers of substantial
increases in unit raw material costs.



EBITDA

This was a record year for the division,

and we achieved EBITDA of £139.2 million.
This compares to divisional EBITDA

of £95.6 million in FY2(. Aided by strong cost
control and synergy realisation, all regions
contributed to a 45.6% growth in EBITDA.

This excellent result was achieved despite
significant prolonged US disruption from
the ‘Texas freeze’ and multiple force
majeurec affecting vur key raw material
suppliers in Europe. Functional Solutions
delivered record margin growth, with all
our global businesses contributing.
Volume increases, strong margin
management in the face of steeply

rising monomer prices, cross-selling

of our speciality product portfolio

and tha cngoing shift towards a more
differentiated and sustainable product
portfolio all contributed to this improved
margin profile.

Priorities for FY22
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LITEX™ Shileld technology — helping builders keep
the weather out, more sustainably

Energy-efficient housing is the future for
builders and homeowners — and it is an
impartant focus for our sustainable
innavation programmes.

Our LITEX™ Shield XSBR tachnology
supports builders by improving the technical
textilas they need in products such as glass
fibre and roofing felt, materials they use to
protect building interiors from the outsida
ternperature and rain. These materials nesd
4 have mechanical stability, chemical
resistance and water-proofing properties -
all of which the LITEX™ Shield provides.

' But LITEX™ Shigld goes much further

than competitor products, Thanks to

the work of our innovation teams in Marl,
Germany, LITEX™ Shiald tachnology is free
from formaldehyde — a critical competitive
advantage in a market where regulations
are demanding ever-higher standards — and
has low Volatile Crganic Compound (VOC)
cantent. Fast-drying, it helps our customers

increase their productivity and reduce their
energy consumption. And by helping people
insulate their buildings better, it contributes
to a lower energy consumption and carbon
{footprint for consumers, too.

Regular sales of LITEX™ Shield began

in 2020 in Europe — and by 2021, following
our launch in North America, global sales
reached €17 million in revenue.

And in anothor oxamplc of our approach

10 commercialising successhul innovations,
we have applied the formaldehyde-free XSBR
technology that underpins LITEX™ Shield
1o new products. REVACRYL™ Design
creatas low-emission acrylics that are used

in household applications such as decorative
laminates for furniture and glaso fibre
wallcoverings. Sales began in 2020, and by
2021 had expanded to €2 million in revenue.
Both REVACRYL™ Design and LITEX™ Shieid

Awards in 2021,

won categories in our annual Innovation

Synthomar plc
Annugl Report 2021

33

4
g
o
ul
&
3
=
=}

BOUBLLBADE)

SuBWETE)S eI dnoIg

|

s|uewe|e)s pouety Auedwo)

& UORELLIOJUN B \ ‘



Review of the year

Divisional reviews continued

Industrial

Laminates & Films

Specialities o o

= Laminates & Films
= Coated Fabrics

Driven by innovation, - Yy Fobmer -

* Palybutadiene Lithene

delivering excellence * Wil Bt secialy heical

+ Speciality Additives

and g I'OWth M « Powder Coatings

1,192 people in 8 plants in Europe, the USA,
N the Middle East, and South East Asia.

Our contribution to sustainability

The division is assessing a number of
sustainability initiatives, including daveloping
a pilot site for water metering at our
Speciality Vinyl Polymers plant in Harlow
(UK) and reviewing options for improved

¥
The succes sful technology to help reduce waste at our

integration of OMNOVA Speciality Adclitives plant in Ghent, Belgium.
H I addition, there arg a number of active

and excellent oPeratmg RA&D projacts across the division with

performance across our sustainability as a core driver.

highly-specialised = _

pTOdUCt range has Highilights of our performance

delivered strong business
F476m
Ana Perroni Latoe ’

EBITDA

+18.9%

in constant currency

8 4 Synthomer ple
Annugd Neport 2021



Congtant
currency
2021 2020 % %
Safety (RCR)* 0.40 0.36 1
Volumes (ktes) 1155 91.1 268
Revenue {£m) 382.5 264.9 44,4 48.9
EBITDA {Em)} 47.6 41.2 15.5 18.9
Operating profit — Underfying performance (£m) 33.9 29.0 16.9 203

°IS and AM are combined for operational reasons

Commercial and scientific
innovation is at the heart of
our business. Yhai doeas the
end-consumer want? How
can we help our customers
meel that demand in the
many markets they serve?

Can we innovate to create
new and better products

- and how do we make our
operations even safer, more
efficient and more
sustainable, so we can
create further value?

This year's growth in sales, volumes and
EBITDA show that we are succeeding in
finding answers to these questions. The seven
businesses in our division supply specialised
products for niche markets around the wortd

- from their manufacturing sites in Europa, the
US and South East Asia. They have
succeeded in meeting the diverse and
specialist requirernents of our global customer’
base, in the context of a year in which we
have had to address the twin challenges of
COVID-19 and disrupted raw material supply
chains. That is tribute to the commitment and
talent of our 1,192 people - and shows that
wa have solid foundations for future growth.

Qutstanding customer service and
consistent, safe production

Disruption across the industry has meant that
this vear, more than aver, customers wanted
to know that when they picked up the
telephorne to their supplier, there would be
someone there going the extra mile to help
them. Qur customer service, purchasing and
logistics teams have done exactly that.

But of course, they could not meet customer
demand without the dedication of thg pepple
i our operations who have kept our sites

running throughout the pandemic — and who

have done so while delivering our division's
best-aver process safety performance.
Their commitment to safety, backed up by
our-consistent investment in manufacturing
excellence, has seen a 16% reduction in the
recorded case rate since 2019, It means that
we ¢an point to examples such as our
powder coating business in Italy, which has
now gone five years without a recordable
incident, to drive further improvements
across the division.

Manufacturing excellence brings other
benelfits too: our ‘Value Gap' programmae
continugs to delivar debottienecking, cycle
time improvements and additional capacity.
It has improved productivity, increased
utilisation, and helped identify opportunities
{0 minimise our environmertal profile and
reduce emigsions.

Responding to strong consumer and
customer demand across all end
markets

Sales volumes across the division grew

by 26.8% as demand grew in all our main
markets, and particularly in the automotive
and consumer-facing industrial sectors.

Laminates & Films, and Vinyl Polymers have
continued 1o grow significantly, as consumers
seek out high-performing products for the
turniture and floors of their kitchens and
bathrooms, and where our teams are
succeeding through a winning blend of
material performance and aesthetic design.
Our ralationships with major retait customers
are critical herg — and anticipating their needs
and delivering with fast, effective service is
spurring our growth.

The recovery in automotive demand has
benefited our Polybutadiene Lithene and
Powder Coatings businesses, which also
serva the construction, rubber modification
and adhesives sectors.

We continue to see opportunities for all
our businesses, and we have set cut further
investment for growth.

Divisional
shapshot

Priorities for FY22

improved pertormanc
ning SEE |
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Review of the year

Divisional reviews continued
Industrial Specialities continued

Leading innovation, and strengthenead
reach and scale

Tha intagration of OMNGVA has given our
division further diversification, both in terms
of the end markets we serve, and our
geographigal reach. We have really seen
the benefits this year, with cost synergies
being realised and significant new saies
opportunities, particularly in the US.

It has also expanded our innavation
capablities, which remain a key focus
in our ability to meet end consumer and
customer neads.

Performance review

Safety

Industrial Specialitias achieved a recordable
case rate of 0.40in FY21, and a process
njury safety rate of 0.04.

Acrpss owr chemicals plants, we have
cortinued our sustained focus on strengthening
practices and processes, particularly on permit
to work and management of change system
impravemerits. The recoraable injury case rate
across the chemicals plants in FY21 was 0.27,
which is slightly above FY20 but comparable
to top quartile performance in the industry.

The focus for our surfaces plants (Laminates
& Films, and Coated Fabrics) has been on
improving accupational health and safety
performance by simplifying and embedding
tundamental SHE practices, with thres of
four surfaces sites graduating from SHE
'supported site’ status in FY21, and the
remaining site expected to graduate in the
first quarter of FY22. In FY21, the surfaces
sites recorded their lowest-aver recordable
injury case rate of 0.53, although we
recognise there is much more still to

de and are committed to ensuring safety
remains at the heart of everything we

do for all employeas.

Volumes

industriat Specialities achieved overall
volumes of 115.5ktes in FY21, an increase
on our volumes of 91.1ktes in FY20, and
substantially greater than our FY19
performance of 57.3ktes.

Robust demand in all our main markets
drove the strong volurmes, while we have also
grown as a division through the successtul
integration of OMNOVA. Our reliability
programme at Hariow, as weli as smailer
da-bottlanecking projects across other
plants, have also helped us increase capacity.

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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upholstery stain-free

‘Pinking’ is a real problem for boat builders
and owners. It appears as a rad or pink
stain on vinyl marine upholstery caused
by a specific strain of bacteria that thrives
in marine envisonments, There is usually
no alternative but to replace the
upholstery completely.

Thanks to innovation by our Coated Fabrics
technical teams in Columbus, US, and
Rayong, Thailand, we have developed a
new, patent-protected barrier techrglogy

Tidal Wave™ - new technology keeping marine

that stops the bacteria's pink dye from
spreading to the surface of the upholstary.

Our new Tidal Wave™ maring vinyl
upholstery, sold in cur Nautolax® range,
means boat owners can keep thelr cushions
white - and creates savings and compstitive
advantage for our boat-building customers,
Launched in 2018, Tidal Wave™ had its
best-ever year of sales in 2021, and was
racognised in our annual innovation

Awards this year.

_/

Revenue

The division achisved rovenues of £382.5 milion
in FY21, a significant increase on FY20.

The increase in revenue was atiributable

to increased volumes, consistent focus

on product pricing and margin managsment,
and the impact of the OMNOVA integration.

EBITDA

We achieved EBITDA of £47.6 million for
Industrial Specialities in FY21, compared to
divisional EBITDA of £41.2 million in FY20.

Laminates & Films, intagrated from OMNOVA,
continued to grow revenue in FY21 through
strong volumes and further market share
gains, following a very strong year in FY20.
The business cantinues to grow ahead of the
market through substitution of the superior
performance and lowsar cost of laminates and
fims compared 1o traditional wood and stone
materials. The business is well placed to
deliver another year of growth in FY22.

The Coated Fabrics business also integrated
since the acquisition of OMNOVA, benefited
from growth in the Asian automotive and
motorcycle markets. The business experienced
strong volumes during FY21, and delivered
very strong year-on-year growth,

The Vinyl Polymers business had & resilient
year, delivering strong volumas, but was
adversely affected by weaker unit margins
tollowing unprecedented raw material price
increases and a weaker US dollar. With the
recovery of unit marging duning the second
half of the year following sales price
increases, this business is in a good
position to defiver growth in FY22.

The Polybutadiene Lithene business delivered
year-on-year growth through strong volumes,
partly helped by the recavery in the
automotive sector.

William Blythe delivered excellent year-on-
year growth with strong underlying volumes
from existing and new product sales.

Qur Spaciality Additives business, which
supplies speciality coatings, delivered an
exceptionat perfarmance with record volumes
and strong unit margins. The business also
benefited from the cost improvement plan
delivered during FY21.

The Powder Coating business deliverad
strong volumes and unit margins, and
delivered a record EBTTDA year.



Acrylate

Monomers

Conastant
2021 2020 v %
Safety (RCR)" 0.40 .36 1
Volurmes (ktes) 655.9 58.9 6.7)
Revenue (Em) 95.2 52.3 82.0 81.8
EBITDA {Em) 353 (2.4)
Operating profit = Underlying performance (£m) 34.5 {5.6)
Operating profit — IFRS {Em) 29.3 (26.3)

‘IS and AM arg combined for oparational reasons

Our Acrylate Monomers
division opegrates from our
procuction plant at Sokolov
(Czech Repubilic), which we
shars with the Functional

Solutions dispersion

business. We manufacture
and supply monomer
products 1o Functional
Solutions, as well as being a
medium-sized supplier o the
European Acrylates market.

Set up as a division in early 2021, Acrylate
Monomers has made significant progress
on its long-term transformation programme,
which set out 1o return the division to
profitability and establish a strong,
sustainable foundation for future growth.
Our ability to make good progress with the
programma in 2021 reflects the commitment
of our people at Sokalov, who have driven
it through whila maintaining operations,
all in the face of the disruptions caused
by COVID-19, Whilst the exceptional
performance in 2021 is principally driven
by strong unit margins brought about

by disruption in the menomers market,
the transformation project has undoubtedly
benefited the site and has placed it on

a more resilient and sustainable footing.

Ending coal use in Synthomer

A key element of our transformation
programme at Sokolov, was beginning

the closure of the site's coal-fired power
station. This will mark the end of coal use
in Synthomer, contributing to our target to
reduce GHG emissions by 40% by the end
of 2030 (compared to 2018), and reinforcing
our strong commitment to reducing our
carbon footprint. Qur investment at the site
will also reduce our site water requirements
by 23%.

Continuing focus on safety
Improving safety performanca is another
central component of the transformation
of the Sokolov site. We have focused on
strengthening practice and processes
including permit to work, management
of change, and local involvernent and
accountability for driving SHE culture
across the site, :

Wa will continue to invest in improved safety
as part of our Group-wite commitment to
SHE as a core Synthomer value, and of our
Vision 2030 sustainability roadmap.

Performance review

Safety

Acrylate Monomers achieved a recordable
case rate of 0.2 in FY21. This represants

a sigrificant decrease in the recordable injury
case rate from FY20, when it was 0.42.

The division demonstrated significant
improvement in a number of SHE focus areas
ag part of our transformation programmas at
the Sckolov site. The division also graduated
from SHE ‘supported site’ status at the end
of FY21. No process safety events were
recorded in Y21, an improvement on the
F¥20 process safety rate of 0.10.

Volumes

Acrylate Monomers achieved overall volumes
of 55.9ktes in FY21, compared to volumes
of 59.9ktes in FY20. This decrease is partly
attributable to a change in product mix,
supplying greater volumes to our Functional
Solutions dispersions business as well

as the challenging operational and raw

‘material erwironment,

Reveéenue

TFhe division achieved revenues of

£85.2 million in FY21, a significant increase
on FY20. This increase reflects a substantial
rise in sales prices due to strong demand,
and the temporary tightening of supply in
both European and global markets in FY21.
Amongg the events which had an impact

on supply were a number ¢f acrylic monomer
supplier force majeures within Europe, the
US winter storm and the blockage of the

Divisional
snapshot

Suez Canal, which began in March 2021,
This temporary tightening of supply is
expected to normalise over the course

of FY22 as competitors restore levels of
preduction and shipping constraints ease.

EBITDA

The division delivered EBITDA of £35.3 million
inFY21, compared to a small loss of £2.4 million
in FY20. This return to profit was primarily driven
by a substantial increase in unit margins, as

a result of the period of strong demand and
temparary tightening of supply in our markets,
described above.

In addition, Acrylate Monomers has delivered
a number of cost savings in FY21 as part of
our trangformation programme, the full-yaar
benefits of which will be realised during FY22.

Priorities for FY22
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Review of tha vear

Innavation

Innovation:
creating value

for customers,
driving our growth

Highlights in 2021

3 8 Synthomer plc
Annugl Report 2021

‘Our global innovation
network is at the heart of
serving customer needs,
meeting our sustainability

objectives and driving
our growth’.

Marshall Moore

Chigi Tec!

Why we innovate, what we
innovate - and how we do it
Everyone working in innovation at Synthomer
should have two words on their mind, every
day: ‘specialisation’, and 'sustainability’,
Whatever we are going — investigating

riew technology platforms, designing naw
products, researching new applications

- we must focus on what will drive growth

for the business. That comes from customers
choosing our products - and more and more,
specialisation and sustainability are the
criteria they use to make that choice.

Our strategic priorities reflect this. We have
introduced a targst that 60% of new products
should have a detined sustainability benefit
by 2030, and we are aiming 10 ensure that
new and protected products make up at least
20% of aur sales volurme (tha NPP metric),
Thasa are challenging goals - but | am
corvinced we hava the right innovation
procsss, the right people, and the right
spiril (o achieve tham,

Where we focus our
innovation efforts

innovating to support sustainable growth
for Synthomer means adding distinclive,
differentiated value for our customers, while
making our own business mora efficient
and effactive.

New product innovation within our customar-
facing innovation teams means tailoring
solutions based on our cument technoiogies to
meet new customer needs, or in anticipation of
consumer and market trends. To enable more
game-changing inngvations in the future we
have established a new Technology Platform
Innovation tgam focused on investigating new
chemistries designed to maet the changing
needs of the market.

The three pillars of our
Technology Platform’s
innovation approach

®

Sustainability
Supporting Synthomer's Vision 2030 roadmap
through technoiogies and products that:

* Arg based on moré sustainable raw
materials, including bic-basad materials

* Have lower environmental impacts whan
in use

*» Have Jower environmenial impacts at the
end of their lives.

®

Enhanced parformance

Expanding and diversifying Synthomer's
portfolio by investigating rew manarmer and
polymar systems that perform better at:

* Binding, bonding and coating
¢ Improving adhesion, repellency,
or aesthetics
= Material and fermulation efficiency.

®

Formulation and precess efficiency
Developing efficient tachnical approaches
and methodologies that:

s Maks us more efficient

» Get our products to market quicker

* Enhance our product knowlsdge

= Give us a better rsturn on investment,

Across these pillars, we have developed a
naw innovation Excallence Framework 1o heip
keep everyond in our tearms focused on our
ubjsclives. The harnewok glws us dii Six
‘ways of warking' — the principles that guide
how we work evary day.



Global coverage — with direct

links to manufacturing sites
Worldwide, we have 16 innovation sites.
Qur four centres of excellence in the UK,
Germany, Malaysia, and the United States
provide leading research and development,
and capabilities to support product and
procass innovation across all our divisions.
The other 12 are technical centres and pilot
lines located close to our manufacturing
sites that respond to market-specific
customer neetis,

Putting innovation to work in
every aspect of our business
"Each busingss unit within Perfermance
Elastomers, Functional Solutions and
Industrial Speciglities has its own dedicated
innovation team. Our Global Tachnology and
Innovation function oversees our worldwide
innovation network, conducts rasearch on
new technology platforms and provides
centralised support for safety management,
material characterisation, process
development, intellectual property

and regulatory compliance.

AIG (Kulel), Melaysia

Innovation
shapshot

Gur centres of Our market-specific
axcellence: technology centres:
Akron, USA USA: Auburn, Chester,
Harlow, UK Jaannette, Monroa,

Marl, Garmany Roebuck and Stafferd

Rayong, Thailland
Sant'Albano, haly
Shanghsl, Ching
Sintra, Portuga)
Villgjust, Franca
Accrington, UK

@
o
a
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Global Technology and Innovation

_SHE

Cversees occupational safety in our
innovation centres and iabs, and our
Responsible Care Management System.

Intetlectual Property and Knowledge
Management

Protacts our proprietary knowledge

and maximises the value of inventions
through patents.

Material Characterisation
Builds understanding of materials at
a molecular level to enable smarter
product design.

Advanced Process Innovation
Industriglises new innovations and engineers
safer, more effective and efficient ways to
manufacture our products.

Product Stewardship and
Regulatory Compliance

Ensures that the products we sell are
safe and cormpliant, and guides safe
product design.

Platform Technology and External .

. Innovations

innovates new technology platforms that
help us make differentiated products at
scale to meet customer demand.

Sustainability

Qversees our sustainability governance
framewark and sets goals to guide how
we innovate and operate,

Qur new. Innovation
Excellence Framework gives
us six ‘'ways of working’

1. Clearly aligning innovation resources
to the business strategy
2. Fostering creativity within our team
and through collaborations
3. Incorporating process safety and
sustainability into product design
. Investing in people, working in teams
. Delivering excellence in projact and
portfolic management
6. Focusing on delivering results.

[s. 3 -3

Priorities for 2022

= Implement global SHE standards
* Work towards 60% of new products
ainability beneliis
Maintain pace of new product
commercialisation {0 ensure > 20% NPP
Build difierentiated, valug-adding
technologes that creaie prolitable and

sustainable new producis
Implement additicnal elements of our
Innovation Excellence Framework 1o
mprova innovation yield, accelerate
commercialisalion, and develop our
mnovation talent

» Attract, develop and retain innovative,
collaborative scientists and engineers.

Synthomer plc
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Review of the year

Innovation continued

Investing in innovation
in Asia to meet
customer needs

Our Asia Innovation Centre {AIC) in Malaysia
bacame fully operational in April 2021,
The AIC is lgading the way on research and
daevelopment to suppart our Performance
Elastorners and Functional Solutions
business units.

We invested RM35 million in the 6,000m?
facility in the iPark near Senai Airport, Johor
Batiry, as part of our commitment to meet
growing demand from customers for
product devalopment and applications
support. The AIC has accelerated innovation
in key markets such as Healthcare and
Protection (nitrile gloves) through state-of-
the-art R&D reactor capabiiities and
investmant in new Application Technology
including a robotic glove-dipping laboratory.

“*Our new flagship facility
leads our innovation in

novel nitriles and ensures
Synthomer stays at the
forefront of nitrile latex
product development and
applications, It will also create
the right environment to
attract and retain the best
tzlent in the industry.”

Gan Boon Teck

Vice Prasident and General Manager of
Performance Elastomers division in Asia
“This is the first phase

of what we expect to be

an ongoing investment in
innovation in Asia, supporting
all divisions of the company.
As well as expanding our pilot
lab reactor capacity, we are
also investing in a new
robotic dipping arm to

more effectively mimic

our customers’ processes
and accurately predict the
behaviour of our polymers.”

Dr Zhenli Wei
Vica President of innovation for

Performance Elastomers division

J

Innovating sustainably

We see sustainability as one of tha main
drivers of innovation — and praduct and
process innavation as an essential enabler for
making our businass both more sustainable,
and more competitive. Developing mora
sustainable products and processés is a
¢ritical way we can add value for customers
-~ which is why we've set a target of 60%

of new products with defined sustainability
benefits, including:

» Eliminating ingredients of concern
» Reducing energy consumption and
carbaon emissions
* Reducing water consumption
» Reducing waste genaration
* Reducing or eliminating hazards in
our products
= Improving product end-of-life management
« Enabling sustainability banefits in
downstream use.

Synthomer plc
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We'va created new benchmarks lo assess
the impact of our innavation projects against
the goals of Synthomer's Vision 2030
roadmap. We canduct Sustainability Impact
Assessments on all of our product innovation
projects, and we're developing the capability
to conduct life ¢ycle assessments on
candidate products during the innovation
pracess. We've developed new capabifities
o enable the design of biodegradabie
products, and we're axploring how we can
increase our use of bio-based raw materiais.
We already use them in several ot our
products and they could play & big part

in our lower-cavbon future,

At the seme time, by optimising or
redesigning our manufacturing processes,
we can help make our plants safer and more
efficient while reducing greenhouse gas
emissions. For more on our contribution,
see the Sustainability section of this report,
pages 42-68.

Our innovations are
all around you...

-.and you will find examples
throughout this report.

SyNovus'* Plus - sustainable
innevation in action

Lipolan'*TERRA - making latex

foam maore sustainable

Lipoian' TERRA 15 he!ping to reduce the
n {cotprirt

and transporiis

Innovating our processes to deliver
SyNovus™products

LITEX'” Shield XSBR technology ~
supporting construction

Tidal Wave ¥ - helping marine
upholsterers combat 'pinking’

v technclogy helps keep m
cpeh wi-free - see

Suncryl® - bic-based and circular




Synthomer
specialist polymers in
liquid or dry form provide
binding of bonding properties in a
broad range of industrial and
consumcer conatruction applications.
From mortar modification o liguid-
applied waterproofing membranes,
ceramic tile adhesives tc flooring
adhesives, our SBR and acrylic
dispersions deliver excellent
performance across the various
technologies in use in the
construction market.

Business
foundations
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability

A sustainable
agenda for a
growing business

This has been an important
year for Synthomer and our
sustainability agenda.

hitps:/iww ynth 7

carporate-responsibility/
sustainability/?reglon=EUROPE

4 2 Synthomer plc
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‘As a speciality.chemicals .

company we recognise

that we have a role to

play in meeting society's
-expectations for a more
“sustainable future. The

launch of our new Vision

2030 roadmap in 2021 is

an important step. It will
help guide our actions
over the next decade as
we work towards our net
zero ambitions.’

Tim Hughes

r o Corporate Spiment

For many years, our speciality water-based
pclymers have helped replace solvent-based
products that contair harmiul volatie organic
compounds. However, if last year's COP26
event proved anything, it is that society's
expectations of businesses like ours continue
to grow.

As a speciality chemicals company, we
racognise the role wa must play, which is why in
2020 wa announced our commitmeant to reach
net zerg by 2050. We've since launched our
Vision 2030 roadmap as our starting point for
realising that commitment. This roadimap sets
out a series of sustainability targets, aligned with
the UN's Sustainable Development Goals, and
reflects the issues we know matter most to
our staksholders. Many of these targets are
underpinned by short-term objectives, so
that we can track and report progress over
the coming decade.

Taking action - and making pragress
Targats must be backed by action, and

I'm pleased io say we've put a lot of wheels
in motion this year. For example, we've
established a new sustainability governance
structure, introduced new sustainability
champions across key operations and
functions, and launched new scorecards

to assess all new product development

and large-scale capital projacts against
sustainabllity criteria. And so that stakeholders
can batter ungerstand our financiai and
non-financial performance side-by-side,
we've integrated our sustainability reporting
into our Annual Report. To coincide with the
publication of this Annual Report, we will also
publish a data pack on our website, giving our
stakeholders easier, {aster, more fransparent
access to our sustainability data.

Maeanwhile, we've also hit our interim
renewable electricity objective ahead of
schecule, published externally assessed
Scope 3 emissions for the first time, and
established a new diversity and inclusion
steering committes, led by our Chair, Caroling
Johnatone. | am also parliculaly pleaskd

that our commitrment 1o sustainable products
and services was externally recognised with
an LSE Green Economy mark in July 2021.
This is awarded to companies who earn
more than 50% of their revenue from
erwironmantal sclutions.



0153

tonnes of GOze Scope 1 and 2 GHG
emissions per sales production tonne

1%
reduction

vs 2019 baseline

Putting safety first -~ and responding

to COVID-18

Of course, as a chemical manufacturing
business, safety must always be our first
priority and si{s at the centre of our core
values {s&s page 55). We're proud of our
long-term record and knnow we must maintain
our focus as we grow. We anticipate some
short-term fluctuation in our safety, health
and erwironment (SHE) performance when
imegrating new businesses like OMNOVA,
We allow three years from the date of a new
acquisition to help our new businesses 10
meet our SHE standards and align with our
sustainability goals. We are now almost two
years into that process with OMNOCVA and
are starting to see their effarts show in our
results. This is thanks to the excellent

wark our SHE teams have done to help

our new ¢olleagues introduce our tools

and processes.

It's impossible to talk about health and
safety and not mention the angoing COVID-19
pandemic. Demand for our products has
remained high and | would like to thank
everyone for continuing to protect one
another while keeping our sites running
safely. | believe the dedication and care
they've shown are clear expressions of

all our core values in action,

We have continued to adapt to local regulations
throughout the pandemic, including having
fewer people on site and closing labs when
needed. Our custornars have faced similar
challenges. This is likely to have a short-term
impact on our innovation pipeling — but we've
made progress nonetheless. In 2021, we
launched 19 new products, of which 43%
include a defined sustainability bensfit.

We also introduced new innovation awards,
which include a sustainability category.

Going further on diversity and inclusion
We also continued to embed our people
agenda, with a growing focus on key areas
such as diversity and incClusion, career
developmant and employee engagament.

We're particularly pleased that we met our
2021 objective ot 20% of womaen in senior
leadership rotes. In February 2022, Ana
Perrgni Laloe was appointed President,
Industrial Specialities, joining our Executive
Committee. The appointment of Lily Liu

as our Chief Financial Officer will further
accelerate our progress. Once Lily is
officially on board, women will make up
44% of our Board.

Wa have a good gender and ethnic¢ split at

a graduate level. And the global Engender
women's ngtwork had a busy first year.

We also reviewed our recruitment processes
to keep improving representation on our
candidate lists.

Of course, diversity must be backed by

a sense of belonging. I think the speed with
which we complstaed the OMNOVA integration
is an example of our commitment to this, with
many OMNOVA leaders taking up senior
positions in Synthomer.

But we have a lot more to do, and my
Executive Committes colleagues and | are
personally committed to encouraging greater
diversity across Synthomer and to creating an
environment where people see opportunities
to grow their career with us.

Driving dowh emissions

We've done a lot of work over the past

few years to address our Scope 1 and 2
emissions. In 2021, we took a big step
forward when we installed new gas boilers
to allow closure of our only coal-fired

power station. and ensured that 80%

of the electricity we use at our sites came
from certified renewable sources. These are
fantastic achieverments, but our teams remain
busy finding further ways to improve our
snergy efficiency, source long-term
renewable electricity and manage

our water and waste levels,

Meanwhile, we started work this year to
report in ling with the recommendations of
1he Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD). This work focused

On our governance, assessing our climate

risks and developing one scenario analysis.
Dwuring 2022, we will daveiop further scenario
analyses in our key operations and supply
chains to devalop our understanding of our
climate cpportunities and risks.

Wa'rs now building on our TCFD work to
determine science-based targets, due for
completion in the coming year. See page 77
for our TCFD report.

Starting the next decade from

a strong platform

Our tearms have achieved a great deal

this year, including ongoing work to
integrate OMNOVA in the face of COVID-19
travel bans and operational restrictions.
Once our proposed acquisition of Eastman’s
Adhesive Resing is complets, and we create
our new Adhesive Technologies division,
we'll realign our baseline sustainability
metrics. This wil be a big task, but it's also
an opportunity to embed cur sustainability
agenda into our new division from day one.

Working in partnership to build a more
sustainable world

This next decade will be crucial for the world's
ability to limit temperature rises and meet the
commitments set cut under COP26. And,
integrations aside, we will have our own
challenges to address, Many of cur chamical
processes require heat, which we typically
generate with natural gas. And most of our
raw matarials are made from fossil fuels.
Indeed, more than 80% of our Scope 3
emissions come from our supply chain.

So, while we continue to invest in our own
sites and processes, we know that we can't
solve all these challenges on our own, We'ra
going to need to forge new partnerships to
change the way we use energy and find more
sustainable ways to select our raw matarials.

We're already working with our customers

to create innovative new products with better
sustainability credentials, Now, we want to
increase the number of suppliers we work
with who can provide the most sustainable
products and services, $o0 that we can help
drive down emissions across the whole
supply chain.

Through our speciality chemicals, we ¢an and
do make a meaningful contribution 1o society.
Qur growing stature gives us the chance to
play an even greater role in helping the world
tread a more sustainable, fairer path. We've
done a lot of work over the past couple of
years to put strong foundations in place.
There will be challenges as we move

through this next decade, but there are

also opportunities, | know thal our people

will rise to both.

Synthomer plc
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainabiliity continued

Our approach to

sustainability

We want to embed
sustainability into every
aspect of our business, to
help us play a greater role
in creating a fairet, more

Vision 2030: our roadmap to a more
sustainable future

We have developed our Vision 2030 roadmap to help guide our decisiong aver the naxt
decada and set us on the path 1o net zaro. it containg a series of targets across our three

\

. key areas:
sustainable future and respond ~
to the climate emergency.
Our commitment to net zero 1. Products

We made a public commitment in 2020 to
reach net 2ero by 2080, in ine with tha Paris
Agreament. To achisve this, we ars:

= {Jsing our innovatioh skiils to develop new
products made with lower-carbon raw
materials and more efficient manufacturing

Wa will continug 10 increase the number of products we maka that
have sustainabiiity benefits, and saurce more raw materials with
stppliers who have a sustainability rating and who share our sthical
standards.

» At least 60% of new products with enhanced sustainability benefits
» 80% procurement spend with suppliers with a sustainability rating.

pracesses

Ending coal use at our operations (See page
59 in our Operations section for more .
information on how wa achigved this

in 2021)

Starting work to define new scisnce-
based largets

Using new sustainability scorecards to
assess our innovation programmes and
capital expenditure

Establishing internal life cycle assessments
10 assess the viability and resource needs
of our products

Establishing parinerships with suppliers

to drive down emissions across our

supply chain

2. Operations

.

While aiming for zerc harm, we will achieve top guartile performance
for personal and process satety. We will also drive down emissions
and minimise our broader environmental impact:

+ Recordable injury case rate of no more than .20 per 100,000
hours for employees and contractors

* Process safety event rate of no more than 0.10 per 100,000 hours

« 40% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emissions
intensity (v 2019} .

» 10% reduction in Scope 3 emissions intensity (vs 2019)

» 80% of our electricity from renewable sources, plus improving
energy efficiency in all our operations

» Manage and minimise waler consumption, and introduce water
management plans in water-sireased areas and at the sites where
we use most water.

Addressing end-of-life product
management across our markets
Working to incorporate a carbon price into
our capital plahning.

*

3. People

And, as wea grow and acquire new
businesses, this approach is part of how
we look 10 integrate them into Synthomer.
We introduce our tools and processes info
new acquisitions 10 help them mest our
sustainability objectives, which we expect
thern to do within three years of acquisition.

We will became a more diverse and inclusive company, fing new
ways o listen to our employees, and increase our support
for lacal communities:

» 50% gender diversity in leadership, management and professional
new hires

» 70% participation in our employee engagerent surveys at global
and country levels

= Provide volunteer support and financia! contributions i excess
of £1 million a year for local education, public heatth, diversity and
erwironmental projects.

in considering our approach, we concentrate
on the issues where we can have the most
impact and that are most material to our
stakehalders. This year, we reorganised our
priorities, moving from our six pillars to three
Key areas:

1. Progucts
2. Operations
3. People

The UN's SDGs most relevant to our Vision 2030 goals

Our targets are undarpinned by a serias of short-term abjectives and
are alignad with the UN’s Sustainabla Davelopment Goals (SDGs) that
are most material to our businass. We outiing thase ohjactives and
describe our approach to each of our material issues across pages
48 ta 68, Over time, and where appropriate, we will look to update
and add new short-term objectives as we move towards 2030,

/
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Governing our sustainability approach

How we oversee progress .

Over the past three years, we have evolved our governance structure {o ensure
sustainability is discussed at the highest lavels of the company, and to help further embed
sustainability into every aspeact of our business.

Board of Directors

Responsibilities
Qversees our Group-level sustainability agenda.
Actions
Reviews sustainability topics at Board meetings, with particular
focus on our most material issues.

Executive Committee Steering Group

Responsibilities
Our CEQ is responsible for delivering our sustainability agenda
and meeting policy commitments on behalf of the Board, and leads
the Executive Committee Steering Group.

Approves all sustainability-related strategic planning, including on climate-related issues.
Actions
Reviews sustainability topics monthly/quarterty. «

J

Sustainability Steering Committee

. Responsibilities
This cross-functional group of senior leaders defines our sustainability targets and roadmap.
Coordinates sustainability activitias across the business.
Reports directly to the Executive Committee Steering Group.
Actions
Ouwr Sustainability Director hosts quarterly meetings of the committee to moniter progress
across our business.

\

Sustainability Delivery Board

Responsibilities
This Board consists of our Group-wide network of sustainability champions who manage

cross-functional sustainability projects and programmes.

Actlons
Our Sustainability Director hosts monthly meetings with this Board to discuss
project progress.

Membership of indust?y associations
We work closely with the main sector groups in
our industry, including the Chemical Industries
Association (CIA) in the UK, the European
Polymer Dispersion and Latex Association
{EPDLA} in the EU, the American Chemistry
Council {ACC) in the USA, and the Malaysian
Rubber Glove Manufacturers Association
(MARGMA) and Malaysian Rubber Products
Manufacturars Association (MRPMA)

in Malaysia. In many cases, this work includes
taking a seat on the sustainability committees
and actively participating in sustainability
workshops within these groups.

‘Our commitment to
sustainability can be seen
at all levels of Synthomer
- from engagement with
our Board and Executive
Committee, to our frontline
employees. Finding ways
to help our business and
the products we make
creates a positive impact
on the world around us.
And our team of dedicated
sustainability specialiets
is growing across our
“global business, too.’

Susana Carvalho
Group Sustainability Director

Synthomer pic
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued
Approach to sustainability continued

\

Our iality 1t

We ass5ess our material issues svery two
years tg ensura we report on those that
matter most to our stakeholders.

We carried out our latast assessment in April
2021, speaking to a range of stakeholders,
including customers, amployess, shareholders
and legislators. During this process we:

* Incorporated ‘Quality” into ‘Customer
satisfaction and engagement’ and added
three new topics

* Focused on 'Communication and training’,
to ensure clear understanding of our
procedures, targets and achievements
during our integration with OMNQVA

+ Introduced ‘Digitalisation’ ta reflect new
opportunities to use digital technology
to reduce our carbon footprint

= Incorporated product life cycle
into a new "Circular economy’ topic.

We sent an online sustainability survey

to 400 people from our main stakeholder
groups. We received feedback from 37%,
which confirmed that these topics remain
material. Qur Sustainability Steering
Committee reviewed concarns and
suggestions raised by the survey to identify
potential areas for action. While wa have
made no significant changes, we will give
greater attention to "Community engagement’
and ‘Circular economy’.

Understanding our climate-related risks
and opportunities

Climate-related risks have always been
embeddad in the principal risks of our Group
risk framework. During the last quarter of 2021,
we expanded the framework to consider

a broader scope of climate-related risks as a
result of the work carried out to report against
TCFD. This helps us better understand what
impact the climate emergency might have on
our business and ensure we remain resiient
1o climate change. See owr Risk report on
pages B9 1o 76.

In 2021, we met our objective, set outin our
Sustainability Report 2020, to begin reporting
against TCFD. This will help us assess any
future impact on our business arising from
technology changes and the financial impact
of carbon pricing. Sea pages 77 to 80 for our
TCFD report.

4 6 Synthomar pic
Annual Report 2021

Materiafity assessment

Products
1 Sustainable procurement page 51
2 Technology and innovation page 48
3 Manulacturing excaellence page 54
4 Product safety page 50
5 Customer satisfaction and engagement page 50
6 Circular gconomy page 48
Qperations
7 Occupational health and satety pages 54 and 55
8 Process safety page 56
9 Energy management and reguction page 59
10 Water st dship page B0
11 Greenhouse gas emissions reduction page 60
12 Waste generation and minimisation page 61
People
13 Ethics and integrity page 66
14 Communication and training pagas 65 and 66
15 Employee conditions page 63
16 Diversity and inclusion pages 63 and 64
17 Talent deveglopment page 65
18 Community engagement pages 67 and 68
Strategy and governance
19 Sustainable growth pages 26 to 40
20 Risk management pages 69 to 76
21 Digitalisation page 66
22 Responsible and invelved management from pages 83 to 129
23 Stakeholder involvernent and engagement pages 96 and 97

24 Compliance

pages 83to 129




External benchmarking and accreditation

We cbtain independent assurance of our sustainability practices and performance —

and benchmark ourseives against our peers so we can better understand our progress and
opportunities for improvemeant. We do this through voluntary participation in several external
prograrmmes {such as CDP) and by reviewing our ratings on several recognised indices
such as ISS ESG.

We engage with, and are assessed by, key sustainability ratings organisations:

We have reported cur climate change performance to CDP since
2013 and water management performance since 2015. In 2021,
wae retained our B- score in both categories.

CDP - D to A (maximum)

We submit annual data to the EcoVadis platform and use its
assessment to identify ways to improve. In 2021, we improved
our score from 58 to 63 and retained our silver status. We also
use the platform to understand the sustainability rating of existing
and future suppliers.

EcoVadis - scale 0-100, medals, bronze to platinum

We have been a member of this organisation since 2004. In 2021,
our overall score was 3.6. We remain committad to our membership
and alm to improve our overall rating as we grow.

FTSE4AGood - scaleQto &

ISS Corporate Solutions uses a data-driven scoring system and
screening analysis to evaluate our sustainability agenda. Our 2021
overall score was C-, This is the same as our 2020 scors and
continues to place us well above average in our peer graup,

IS8 - D- to B- {maximum for our industry sector)

MSCI measuras our resilience to long-term, financially relevant
sustainability risks. In 2021, we scored an 'A". This reflects our growing
commitment to continuously improve our sustainability practices.

MSCI - CCC to AAA {maximum)

We were recognised with a London Stock Exchange Green Economy
mark in July 2021. This is awarded to companies who earn more
than 50% of their revenue from environmental solutions. Itis
designed to recognise both green technology companies and
businesses across all industries that are making a significant
contribution to the transition o a rmore sustainable,

low-carbon eccnomy.

Our approach )
to reporting and
assurance

In past years, we have published a
separate Sustainability Report — the
most recent being that for the fiscal year
2020, publishad in July 2021. Given the
importance of sustainability issues, and
their relevancs to our overall business
performance, this year we decided to
incorporate our Sustainability Report
into the Annuat Report, with supporting
technical information published as data
downloads on our website,

This Annual Report, together with those
downioads, mest the requirements of the
Global Reporting Initiative (GRY). We have
prepared them to comply with GRI's "core’
option, and the topics we cover are those
wae and our stakeholders have identified as
the most material. The details of specific
GRI disclosures can be found in the annex
on pages 184 and 185.

Synthomer plc 47
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Business foundations

.Synthomer and sustainability continued

Products

Delivering products that meet
the ever-changing needs of
our customers and the markets
they serve is essential for

the success of our business.
it has always been our goal
to make them using efficient
rmanufacturing processes
and in ways that ensure

they are safe for people

and the environment.

Now more than ever we strive o design
products and processes that are less energy
intensive, ganerate fewer carbon emissions,
use fewer resources, eliminate substances
of concern, and support a more circular
economy, And we want to source the raw
materials that we use to make thase products
from more sustainable sources. It is what
our customers are asking for, and our

other stakeholders expect. Incraasingly,
sustainability will become the benchmark

by which we assess every aspect of our
product pipsling and supply chain.

‘We made good progress
in our innovation pipeline
in 2021, despite ongoing
challenges related to
COVID-12 and global
supply chain problems.
For example, we're

making new products to

replace additives that

contain voiatile organic
-compounds;’————

Marshall Moore

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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Innovating
sustainable
products

As a leading supplier of water-based
polymers, wa have aways been proud

of our abitity to make praducts that have
sustainability benefits built into them,

Our speciality chemical products provide
essential building blocks to support modermn
life. For decades, we have made most

of them in a way that uses water rather than
solvents in their manufacturing and in their
eng-use. This helbs keep harmful volatile
organic compounds (VOCs) out of the
atmosphere. It is testament to the talent in our
innovation tearn that we continue to find ways
to adapt our existing portfolic while designing
new praducts with even greater benefits.

Product sustainability performance in 2021
1n July 2021, we received the London Stock
Exchange's Green Economy Mark, which
acknowledges the fact that more than 50%
of our revenues coms from envircnmental
salutions. We are proud of this recognition, but
we know there is plenty more to do. It is our aim
to deliver an ever-mora sustainablg porticlio,
50 wea have set a product sustainabiliy target
as part of our Vision 2030 roadmap.

We made good progress in our innovation
pipeling in 2021, launching 19 new products,
of which 43% included a defined sustainability
benefit. We also intraduced new innovation
awards, including a sugtainability catagory.
Saa pags 33 1ar mare informatich on our Shield
XSBR technology, which won this award in 2021

by reducing exposure t¢ substances of concarn,

Qur central innovation team also introduced
a sustainability scorecard 10 assess new
product ideas, and is developing in-house
capabilities to conduct life cycle assessmants
on existing and new products. This will help
us improve the way we report on the profile
of our praducts and allow us to deveiop new
products with reduced carbon emissions.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

ith

Our short-term objectives

ol 20%
hat ¢ o low-

carbon sources

Setting a new haseline to track

our progress

Innovation is ona of our five core values and
is an sszantial part of our plans to achieve
our 2030 targets. To irack our progress over
the next decade, we need to understand our
baseling. 5o wa used cur new sustainability
scorecard to assess all our existing products
and our development pipeline.

This exercise showed that across our
business, 57% of all the new products in
our pipeline today will defiver a net positive
sustainability benefit. Of those, 50% will
improve carbon emissions or have a positive
impact on the environment, 35% wil] raduce
the uae of hazardous ingredients, and 15%
will help create a more circular economy.
Many of theae products will offer more

than one sustainability benefit.



We know we will need to move at

rapid pace tc meet our 2030 target.
Ongoing COVID-19 restrictions and global
supply chain problems affected scheduling
of the scale-up of new products in our plants
and the ability of our customers 1o evaluate
them during 2021, resulting in a slower pace
of commercialisation that will carry into 2022,

But thase delays have not halted progress
altogather. We have a strong base on which
to build, and our integration with OMNOVA
has increased our capacity to design new
products by 50%.

Innovative products for a more
sustainable future

We continued to progress our innovation
pipeline in 2021, designing and making
products that replace ingredients of concern,
have a lower carbon footprint, and help
support a more circular economy.

_For example, we continued developing new
products for water-based paints that remove
the need for certain additives. While these
additives help paint spread across a surface,
they typically produce VOCs. Replacing those
additives therofore means we can prevent even
more VOCs from entering the atmosphare.

We are also making products that help
support a more circular economy, such as
our new SyNovus™ Plus product line, which
is helping to recycle rubber gloves into new
applications, including soles for safety shoes.
See page 12 for a case study.

In addition, our central innovation group
carrisd out inftiai research in 2021 to evaluate
a broad range of low-carbon-impact raw
materials. This led to a shortlist of raw
material candidates with potential for further
development. Our divisional innovation teams
are now exploring technically and
commercially viable opportunities.

Intraducing our new product
sustainability scorecard

In 2021, we rolled out a new sustainability
scorecard to assess our innovation pipeline
against nine sustainability criteria (see box).
The scorecard is designad to give us a qualitative
indication of the net impact that a product may
have on our overall sustainability performance.
Products are scored on a scale from -5 to +5
(with +5 indicating a highly positive impact) in
each area. Projects that have a negative
sustainability impact score are re-assessed
to identify approaches to improve the score.

As well as helping us set the baseline for aur
2030 target, we are now using the scoracard
to identify opportunities to improve the
sustainabllity credentials of existing and new
products, compare them against alternatives,
and share their benefits with our customers.
We have also introduced a similar scorecard to
help our sites assess the potential environmental
impact of large-scale capital projects (see page
42 for mere information on this scorecard).

Our sustainability scorecard criteria

We now assess all the products in our innovation pipeline under four key areas:

Raw materials
reguatory concern)

Eliminating 'ingredients of concern’ {listed as high hazard or of

Using raw materials from lower-carbon sources

sustainability goals.

Manufacturing Ability to reduce energy consumption
processes -
Ability to reduce water consumption
Ability to reduce waste in our manufacturing processes
Product safety and  Product hazard classification (whether a product contains regulated
support for circufar  hazardous ingredients)
aconomy - -
End-of-life management {s.g. longer product life cycle, better recycling
or biodegradable properties)
Benefit to supply Customers able to eliminate ingradients of concern or lower their
chain and product hazard classification
customers

Helping customers use less energy or water, lower carbon emissions
or waste, support the circular economy, or otherwise mest their

Developing in-house life cycle assessment
Wa run our major product lines and strategic
new products through external life cycle
assessment to help us understand their
sustainability benefits and identify areas

for improvement. In 2020, for example, the
European Polymer Dispersion and Latex
Association's cradie-to-grave life cycle
assessment showed that our key emulsion
polymers {typically used toc make a wide
range of products, including coatings,
adhesives, construction and non-wovens})
perform better than the benchmark in all
categorigs. Bureau Veritas has also carried

out a cradle-to-grave life cycle assessmant
on our SyNovus™ Plus products.

These extarnal assessments are useful,

but the cost and time needed make them
impractical for evaluating each product of
interest. We have begun a project to develop
new in-houss life cycle assessments, starting
with a handful of our biggest-selling products.
These assessments willimprove our own
ungerstanding so we can report against

our products' sustainability credentials on

an ongoing basis and continue 1o develop
new products with even greater benefits.

49
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Busingss foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Products continued

Product safety

The majority of our products are not classified
as hazardous, in accordance with the Globally
Harmonised System of Classification and
Labeliing, as they do net have any components
or additives that require labelling at the
concentration in which we use them. However,
a small proportion of what we sell contains
hazardous materials, including acrylic
manormers, We provide customers with
up-to-date, fegaily cornpliant safety data
shaeets for all products in all the markets
where we operate. In 2021, we had no
reported incidents of non-compliance
regarding our product safety information,
labelling or marketing.

Less than 2% of our products contain
substances of high concern at a concentration
higher than 0.1%, Wherever possible, we look
for ways to avoid using them at all. For example,
in 2021 we completed the reformulation of our
sustainable coated fabric product line typically
used in healthcare, otfice and hospitality
furniture, to eliminate ingredients that we know
ragulators are increasingly concerned about.
To maintain owr focus in this area, efiminating
ingredients of concern is one of the nine
criteria in our product innovation
sustainability scorecard.

Our statement on substances of very high concarn
can be found at www.synthomer.comt

Following the UK's transition out of

the European Union, Synthomer UK has
completed the grandfathering of its existing EU
REACH registrations into the UK programme.
We submitied more than 500 downstream user
import notifications to the UK Health and Safety
Executive before its 28 October 2021 deadiine.
The products that we make and/or import intc
the UK now comply with UK REACH.

We also candycted a due diligence exarcise
1o ensure the products we make in the UK
comply with EU REACH, This process
confirmed that all the ingredients in these
products are either sourced directly

fram the European Economic Area

or are registered by Synthomer's

Only Representative,

Al legal requirerments regarding provision of
safety information have bean complied with,
and we have had no reported incidents of
non-compliance regarding product safety
information, labeling or marketing.

Customer satisfaction

Our innovation and manutacturing technology
teams and sales teams work closely with our
customers to understand the technical and
sustainability challenges they face in their own
manufacturing processes. This helps us keep
improving the products we maks for tham.
For example, we worked with a USA label
manutacturer to develop grades for ciear
filmic labels for use in the USA. We also
helped them expand their business into
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“Qur Suncry® HP 114 water-based polymer
contains more than 56% bio-based raw
matarials, making it a lantastic exampls of
how we can replace chemicals made from
fossil fuels with lower-carbon options.
Suncry® HP 114 is used in water-based
releasa coatings on paper o plastic
packaging tape {to create a non-adhesive
surface that means the tape can be easily
pulled free) and replaces traditional
solvent-based release coatings. In other
applications, it can be used to replace
release coatings that traditionaily Gontain
silicene. This makes the final product,
such as a seft-wound adhesive labal,

Bio-based and circular: Suncryl® HP-114

more recyclable. In certain applications like
paper tape, it can even be ra-pulped and
reusad in new paper products. So, it has
real potential to help support a more circular
economy. Wa're so excited about that
potential that we're now explering its use in
other applications, like variable information
print labals, which can be customised

on dernand for fast food orders or
warghouse shipments.”

Dr Carta McBain
Vice President of Innovation
for Functional Solutions

Europe, svaluating a new coating lina and
transferring our technology from the USA
to our Sokolov site in the Czech Republic,

We track customer complaints as a

measure of our reputation and success

in the market. in 2021, we defined a new
‘customer camplaint rate’ baseling, te include
our legacy OMNOVA sites within our Group
and divisional performance metrics.

While the COVID-19 pandemic and

global supply chain difficulties continued

to challenge our manufacturing teams, we
significantty improved our customer complaint
performance (number of complaints per
1,000 deliveries). We achieved this thanks

o several improvement programmes, including
adopting new hygiene best practice guidance
and parforming specific process confirmations
{or critical-to-quality steps at some of our sites.
As a result, our global complaint rate in 2021
wasg 4.1, This is more than 30% lower when
compared to 2020.

Wo also assess our manufacturing
eflectiveness via a 'right-first-time’ rate

and scored 97.4% in 2021, This represents
the percentage of products that are made to
their correct specification in the first instance.
Hare, too, we set new dasefines in 2021 to
include our legacy OMNQVA sites in our
performance metrics.

We introduced several measures to

improve performance at some of our sites.
For example, we rofled out our ‘probiem grade
methcdology” to all our new sites. This helps
sites tix the root causes of recurrent product
or process quality issues.

We also established a ‘site-supported’

model for sites that need specific help,

This increased support from our cantral
functions that helps sites understand the root
causes of specific issues and provides more
frequent monitoring of site performanca and
progress against agreed corrective actions.
This model has helped improve one site’s
right-first-time percentage by 10%, and an
overall Group-level improvernent of 0.4%.



Sustainable
procurement

We are part of a global, highly
complex supply chain. We rely
on our suppliers to provide
high-quality raw materials,
goods and services, such

as petrochemical monomers
(including styrene, butadiene,
butyl acrylate and acrylonitrileg),
additives, packaging,
machinery parts, gas and
electricity to run our plants
and ensure our products

meet the standards our
customers expect.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

end with

QOur short-term objectives
2022

* Audit v

y supplers’ sites

IMProv

2025

Qur specialist procurement teams around the
world work with thousands of suppliers, and
in 2021 we spent approximately £1.5 billion
with third parties.

In order to move thase supplies, as well

as our products, around the world, we have
to buy a range of logistics services across

all forms of transport, including shipping,

rail and road. As well as the large. bulk
shipments, we also buy and sall many raw
materials and products at diffarent guantities,
including what is known as intermadiate bulk,
or in drums and small packaging.

Qur factories rely on machinery to operate
safely and we need spare parts and site
services to keep them in good working order.
As a large, multinational business we also
need to buy corporate sarvices such as
travel, IT, financial and, where necessary,

we appoint specialist partners to help us.

Our progress in 2021

This year, we have achieved our commitment
to buy renewable electricity through 2
combination of having rengwable sources

in new supply contracts, on-site or off-site
power purchase agreements (PPAs),

and through the purchase of certificates.

As a result, 30% of all the electricity our
manufacturing sites and offices use comes
from renewable sources, marking a significant
step forward in driving down our operational
greenhouse gas emnissions (GHG).

See page 59 in Operations for more
information on why we expect to seg some
fluctuation in ur renewable electricity
statistics over the next dacades,

We also set important new siistainable
procurement targets and short-term objectives
as part of our Vision 2030 roadimap.

For the purposes of disclosure and reporting,
we gather our Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions
data together in cur Operations section

on page 60. We provide more detailed
information on the work our procurement
team did in 2021 to achieve 90% of our

sites being supplied by renewable electricity
on page 60.

Tracking supplier sustainability ratings
with new tools

In the past two years, we have taken steps to
strengthen our focus on sustainability within
our procurement processes, including our
sustainable procurement policy, launched
in 2620, and our cenflict minerals policy.

This year, we invested in a sustainability rating
platform to help us identify sustainability risk in
our supply chain and we have started to track
and report how much of our procurement
spend is covered by a sustainability rating.

We have also revised our supplier risk
assassment rocesses to includa snstainahility
risk s0 that we can use the platform in the most
effective way. Wa began using tha platform in

2021, and now have 26% of our spend covered
by a rating — some way ahead of our 2022
objective. This Is the first time we have

been able to assess our spend in this way.

The platform also gives us an important
new tool to assess potential suppliers
during a competitive tender process and
review our existing suppliers against externally
recagnised sustainability criteria.

In future, we plan to use the sustainabllity ratings
platform to help influence and encourage our
important suppliers to identify areas to improve
their performance and sustainability rating.

It will also halp us identify suppliers who do
not meet our minimum requirements.

In the same way, our customers are using
similar ratings platforms to assess us and we
are currently looking for opportunities to keep
improving our businass.

Addressing the carbon footprint

of our raw materials

One of the most significant ways in which
we can address the climate change impact
of our products is through the raw materials
that we use to make them. But this is also
one of our toughest challenges, since many
of these are derived from oil and natural gas.
As a result, more than 90% of all our GHG
emissions come from our upstream supply
chain. However, we are looking for ways

to identity and source more sustainable

raw materials.

For example, our inngvation and procurement
teams are working together to identify and
source alternative raw materials that have a
luwe carbon foolprint. These could be madie
from renewable sources, such ac wood
waste, be manufactured in a more energy
efficlent way, be sourced closer to our
factories or contain recycled content.

We can introduce some of these raw
materials without significant investment.

One of the first steps we can take is to track
the amount of raw materials with a lower
impact in our supply chain using accounting
principles and external auditing. For exarnple,
if we buy 10% of a raw material with a lower
carbon footprint, we can state that 10%
content in our products. This is often referred
o as a 'mass balance® approach.

This is becoming an area of increasing
innovation, with growing interest from our
customers and society in general, and it is
something that our teams are working on
closely with our suppliers and customers.

One example of using this mass balance
approach is the opportunity to by a certain
amount of butadione made from recycled
or bio-based sources, instead of virgin,
fossil-fuel-based sources. We plan to use
this hitadiane to manufacture cur HSSBR
peolymers, to make foam for bedding.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Products continued

Thig process is monitored and cartitied

by the international Sustainability and Carbon
Coertification for Biomass and Bioenergy,
under its 1ISCC PLUS programme. 4

Once in full production, our customers will be
able to declare a lower carbon footprint for
their own products, using the same or simiiar
certification pragramma.

It will take some years for alternative lower-
carbon raw materials to become available

at the required scale and cost to transform our
supply chains. And it is likely that govermments
will introduce further legislation, taxation and
incentives to drive future innovation and
growih, for example carbon pricing.

Updating our poticies to set clear
expectations

We witl only work with suppfiers who act
in accordance with our new Suppiier Code
of Conduct or wha have their own codes
and policies with equivalent standards.
Qur suppliers must also make sure that
their subsidiaries and sub-contractors

do the same.

Our Supplier Cada of Conduct sets out our
minimum acceptable standards on issues
such as conflicts of interest, bribery and
doing business in $anctioned countries.

Woe recognise that our position in ocur supply
chains means that we have the opportunity
and responsibility to work in partnership with
suppliers, pears and custorners to create a
more sustainable supply chain. And as we
continue to grow, we will use our giobai scale
and increased influence to make an even
greater impact and reduce risk further.

As wall as our Supplier Code of Conduct, we
have also published a sustainabie procurament
paficy, which we developed after completing
our last mateniafity assessment. Tha poficy
brings together our expectations and targets in
important sustainabifity areas that are directly
reigvant to our suppliers, such as safety, heaith
and envitonmental management, diversity
and inclusion, and guality management.

it also sets out a series of objectives, such

as communicating the policy {o our
procurement team and stakeholders,

which we have achieved.
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In Octaber 2021, our procurement leadership
team took part in a dedicated sustainable
procurement workshop to reassess the palicy
and st new performance measures that will
help us realise our Vision 2030 targets.

Read our full sustainable procurerment policy online
at https:/iwww,synth com/fil !/
files/

Leias/Enalish/

panylgroup_p g
Synthomer_Procurement_Strateqy.pdf

Understanding the risks and
opportunities in our supply chain

As Synthomer continues to grow in a
dynamic environment, we nesd 1o stay
alert 1o changes in the nisks and opportunities
in owr supply chain. Every year, we carry
out due diligence to manage the risks rejated
1o bribery and corruplion when working with
third partiss.

In 2020, we asked external agvisers to carry
out an independent assessment of oyr most
material sustainability risks. The assessment
identified carbon emissions and energy

use, waste generation, and fogistics (e.q.
road transport, rail and shipping) as our top
three material sustainability risks. Our existing
measurss and tools systematically identify,
control and mitigate these risks. For example,
wae have processes in place to ensure we
have alternative suppfiers or substitute
materials should we face any issues with
existing orders. When a supply risk occurs
we identily it as an incident and manage our
responses appropriatety. We then apply any
lessons learned from the incident to help
reduce the risk of it occurring again. We have
integrated the assessment’s findings into
our existing risk governance processes by
incorporsting our largest waste and logistics
suppliers into our sustainability ratings.

Wa alse started using a sustainability
risk-scanning tool in 2021 that helps us
identify existing supply chain risks using
criteria such as geography and industry type.
This 100! helps ws spot broader sustainability
risks in owr supply chain, such as exposure to
bribary and corruption and human rights risk.

We want to continue to improve cur risk
assessment process and ars exploring

ways to create stronger connections betwaen
cur Group and loca! site risk assessments.
This will allow us to better understand the
supply chain risks we face at a tocal level, and
our central procurement team is now working
closely with our sites on this issue.

Taking a lsad on sustainability issués

in our supply chain creates competitive
advantage. Like us, our customers are
loaking for suppliers who are committed

ta sustainability, That is why our innovation,
manutacturing and procurement taams are
focusing on arsas wherg we can increase
our praduct sustainability ardd energy
efficiertcy, and tower our carbor faotpririt,
The improvements we ang making in the way
wa coliact and analyse our sustainability data
and use that information to make dacisions
will heip us demonstrate progress and build
our raputation.

Upholding human rights in our

supply chain

We betieve everyone has the right to be treated
with dignity and we raspact and recognise
human rights for all as outiined in the
International Bill of Human Rights. We are aiso
commitied to acting in a way that meets tha UN
Guiding Principles on Business and Human
Rights. Qur Group-wida diversity, human rights
and equal opportunity palicy is aligned with
the UN's Sustainable Developmant Goal 8.

Wa wark in parts of the world where the
risk of human rights abuses s higher than
others. These risks are atso higher in certain
sactors, such as road transport fogistics,
construction and temporary site work.



We do not tolerate modern slavery

and human trafficking in any part of our
business or supply chain, as outlined in our
2021 Modern Slavery statement. We expect
our suppliers to comply with all domestic
employment legislation. They should alsc
follow the Internaticnal Labour Organization
{(ILC) conventions and protocols and the
United Nations” Universal Declaration of
Human Rights that are relevant {o their
activities. These include:

* Not using forced or stave labour, or
any other form of involuntary labour

+ Complying with all child labour laws,
and beyond that, not employing anyone
under the age of 15

= Not allowing any activity that restricts
free mavement,

In 2020, we reolled out an updated due
diligence process to a small number of our
suppliers in China. In future, all new suppliers
in China will have to complete this due
diligance in order to work with us.

As part of our ongoing work to standardise
the way we qualify new suppliers, we moved
our North America processes onto our global
qualification platform in 2021. This platform
contains a standard set of qualification and
due diligence questions plus supporting
evidance that the procurement team can
use to review and qualify suppliers. In all,

31 sites now use the platform, and we have
plans for the remaining seven to join within
the next two years.

Read our Modern Slavery statement online at

https://www.synthomer.com/flleadmin/files/
company/group_policles/English/Modern%20

Slavery%20Statement%%202020.pdf

_The.steps.we-are
taking wiil make
sustainability part of
everything we do in the
procurement function,
This is transforming
the way we do business

and will help to lower

the carbon impact

of our supply chain
-on.the planet.

_Dr Steve Blackburn

Vice President. Group Procuremen:

Our commitment to avoid using

conflict minerals

Our conflict minerals policy commits us

to avoiding the use of confiict minerals in

all our activities. This is refevant for gold,

tin, tantalum and tungsten, known as 3TG
minerals, which can be mined in parts of the
world where armed conflict and human rights
abuses are known to take place.

We continually assess our 3TG minerals.
This includes tin, which we use in one of
our manufacturing processes and is also
present in other materials that we use,
such as catalysts,

Our policy also outlines our expectations of
our suppliers, which includes conducting their
own due diligence to vertfy the origin of their
materials and provide certification under
recognised initiatives.

Read our full canflict minerals policy online at:
https://www.synthomer.com/fileadmin/files/
company/group_policies/English/Conflict%20
Minerals%20Policy%20Statement%20
Dec%202019.pdf
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Business foundations

Synthome? and sustainability continued

Operations

We strive to make our
products in ways that keep
our employees, contractors
and communities safe.

Qur uitimate goal is to have
Zero accidents and no adverse
impact on the heaith of our
employees or the people
who five near our sites. it is
also our goal to minimise the
environmental burden of our
activities and to reduce the
consumption of resources.

As the world responds (o the climate
emergency, it is more urgant than aver
that we play our part and address the
environmental impact of our operations.
So, while we continue {0 use our innovation
skills to make ever more sustainable
praducts, we are also optimising our
manufaciuring processes to lowsr our
carbon, water and waste {ootprint.

Wa took an important step in 2020 when we
announced our commitment to reach net zero
by 205Q, in ling with the Paris Agreement.
Now, our Vision 2030 rcadmayp, launched in
2021, sets out the path we will take to turn
that commitment into a reafity. The rcadmap
is made of a series of targets and short-term
objectives, and our SHE-specific targets can
be found in their relevant sections.

Embedding SHE at every level

of the business

At Synthomer, everyone is responsible for
SHE and we want everycone who works with
us to feal abla to speak up if they see unsafe
or harmful pehaviour. All our sites must atign
their processes and policies with our
Group-wide Safety, Health and Environment
Management System {SHEMS).

Our Prusidant, Operations 18 responsible for
internal SHE performance ang managerment
at an executive committea level. He is
supported by a Global SHE Director and

a small global team, as well as a SHE
network that includes heads for each
division: This network also supports site
leaders and local SHE teams.
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Working with suppliers to meet operational \
SHE standards

Wa expect our suppliers to work in a way that compties with our Group SHE policy and
requirements, as set out in our sustainable procurement policy. This includes making sure
suppliers have effective health, safsty and environment management systems in place that
are appropriate to the nature and scale of their business. We are also starting to gather data
that will help us consider the carbon footprint of suppliers’ praducts and procésses wihan
making cur procurement decisions,

Read our Wil sustainable pracurement policy online at hitps://www.sy
lici plish/Synth _Procurement_Strategy.pdf

comitileadmin/flias/

pany’group_p

See page 51 for more information on working with suppliers.

/

Our SHE management systems N

Wa certify our management systems against several externally recognised standards

and initiatives:

» IS0 14001: today, all our operating sites are either covered by the Group’s 1ISO 14001
certification or bave site-specific certificates in place.

+ IS0 50001 Energy Management System: our UK, German, Czech and Le Havre,
France sites are accredited to this standard. We continue to apply the lessons we have
learned from this structured appreach to other sites around the world.

= [50 45001: two of our sites in Raly and one in the Czech Republic comply with this
standard to mest legal requirements.  \

= 1SO 9001: 93% of our sites are covered by the Group's ISC 9001 certification.

Our SHE management systems, including those aspects linked to 1SO 9001 and ISO 14001,
cover common areas found within ISO 45001, Given that our internal audit processes ook
at all aspects of SHE management and the confidence we have in these processes, we do
not intend to certify the Group to the ISO 45001 standard.

We align our management systems with the global chemical industry's voluntary
Responsible Carg® programme to drive continuous improvement in safe chemicals
managernert, ln addition, seven sites in the US are conforming to the requiraments of
the American Chemistry Council's RCMS®. We are also a long-term signatory of the UK
Chemical Industries Association’s (CLA) sustainable development guiding principles. )




Health and
safety

Keeping our people and contractors safe is
our highest pricrity. It is enshrined in our core
SHE value that states ‘we always have time
to work safely’. And it is the most mature
aspect of all our sustainability activities:

our global employee survey tells us that
employees understand our safety messages
and their responsibilities {see page 65 for
more on employee engagement). We have
incorporated occupational health and
process safety targets within our

Vision 2030 roadmap.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

Recordable accident case rate
00 hours for eirployees

Our short-term objectives
2022

* Arecordable inury ¢
« Apr

Continuing to support our employees
threugh COVID-19

Throughout 2021 we adapted to living with
COVID-19, managing occupational health
hy eantiniting to oparate in ine with local
guidelines. In countries where employees
could return to our offices, we putin
additional measures, such as ong-way
systarns at our sites, temperature screening,
limits on the number of people in common
areas and more frequent cleaning of common
contact points, such as deor handles.

At our operational sites, wa continued to
carry cut COVID-19 risk assessments and
routine testing.

This was particularly important in Malaysia,
where infection rates rose quickly across
the country and at our sites. We intraduced
weekly PCR testing at all our sites and
distributed face masks to all employees
every Friday for use outside work.

We also provided extra disinfection

and hygiene products on site, and every
two weeks handed out products 1o take
home. As a result, our COVID-19 infection
numbers in Malaysia fell steadily throughout
the vear.

Later in tha year, we participated in

the government'’s national vaccination
programme, and 100% of our Malaysia
employees were fully immunised. This allowed
us to increase employee capacity at our sites,
in line with ongoing national rules.

Occupational safety

We want our employses to go home safely at
the end of every day. White we have reduced
the number and severity of injuries over

recent yeare, wt must continue to improve
1o reach our ultimate aim of 'zero’.

In 2021, our recordable injury case rate (RCR)
fell to 0.31, This is largely due to improved
performance at our former OMNQOVA sitas,
which saw RCR fall from 0.64 in 2020 to 0.47.
In all, wa recorded 34 injuries in 2021, versus
37 in 2020.

During the year, we reported no cases

of disease caused by occupational factars
and there were no accidents resulting in
fatality or permanent disability.

Our occupational safety performance
Recordabla accident case rate
Accidents per 100,000 hours

Wha trank nur recordable accident casa rate
(RCRI} for injuries that need more than first aid
treatment, Qur figuroo includa employess and
contractors working at our sites, as weli as
short-stay visitors, such as truck drivers and
cleaners. While our metrics are in line with the
USA OSHA standard, we report our RCR per
100,000 working hours, instead of the OSHA
standard of 200,000. This is for historical
reasons linked to UK HSE reporting metrics.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Operations continued

“Integrating a new business under normal
circumstances involves a lot of time and
care. it's not just about introducing new
policies and processes, although that is an
important part of the procass. We also want
10 help our new colleagues understand why
our standards are so important to us so that
we ¢an create a drumbeat of safety and a
consistent culture across our sites, so that
everyone is working towards our 2030
target for top-quartile performance.

This work has been even more challenging
during our integration with OMNOVA, since
it has taken place in the middis of the
COVID-18 pandemic. Crdinarily, our teams

Integrating a new business during a pandemic

would be working on site with our new
colleagues to help embed our SHE culture.
Throughout the yaar, the corporate team
deliverad hundrads of hours of virtual
training and support to sites globally, and in
November we held a global ‘virtual' SHE
conferencae with well over 150 attendess to
ghare good practice and improvement goals
for 2022. 1t has been a challenge for
everyone, but | think we've achieved a huge
amount under very difficult Gircumstances.”

Phil Wrigley
Presigent, Operations and SHE

/

Process safety

it is essential that we keep our equipment and
plants in good working order 10 help prevent
process safety related incidents. Wa also
strive to prevent the unexpecied release of
dangerous chemicals in our manufacturing
processes. To that end, we carry out routing
inspections and maintenance at all our sites
that help us spot warning signs so we can
address problems before they occur.

Qur process salety event rate (PSER)

rose to 0.16 in 2021 (versus 0.10 in 2020).

In our legacy Synthomer businesses, our
PSER rose to 0.13 (2020: 0.17) and at our
former OMNOVA sites we saw a rate of 0.23.

All of our reportable PSEs this year were
releasas which we contained on site. None of
them caused injury, damage or snvironmental
harm. One-third of our PSES occurred at one
site in the USA. In 2022, we will introduce a
transformation project to help the site rapidly
improve its performance.
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Synthomer monitors, reports and investigates
all spills, ranking any loss against the
asscciated hazard of the material involved,
as well as quantity spilled, where the spil
occurs and its actual impact.

Preventing and managing the loss of any
material (hazardous or ctherwise) is an
important part of our SHE approach, which
is why we include it in our key performance
indicators. We analyse the root causes, such
as human factors or typas of machanical
tailure, to identity appropriate site, business
or Group-level actions to reduce the potential
for recurrence.

In 2021, we recorded 23 spills in our top
two tiers (covering repornable PSEg, high-
secoring koss of containment and reportable
environmental losses). None of these
spills hag an impact on the environment.

Throughout 2021, we used our procass safety
confirmation routines to help assure ourselves
that employees who carry out critical
operations have the correct knowledge and
untierstanding of what they should be doing
and how to respond to abnormal situations,
Wa ran Group process safety training courses
at our legacy OMNOVA sites in the USA and
Portugal, to explain the fundamentals of cur
process safety standard, principles and
golden rules. We also worked with site teams
to identify the barriers they have in place to
pravent, control and mitigate identified
potential major aceident scenarios.

We also carried out a review of our data
relating to flammable losses of containment
and tracked what are known as ‘weak signal’
PSEs, including reports of mischarge, high
pressure, loss of cooling and faited rgactions.
Thase signals indicate weaknesses in our
barriers that could lead to a significant PSE.

After analysing mischarge events in 2021
within one business division, we deveioped

a self-assessment questionnaire tool.

This is now being used by all our sites 10
Identify possible weaknesses in engineering,
organisational ot procedural contrals that
increase the risk of mischarge and action plans
are being developed to close these gaps.

Our 2021 pracess safety performance
Process safety event rate
Events par 100,000 hours

We racord, rate and track our PSES using a four-tier
scoring system. Tiers 1 and 2 (with tier 1 being core
severaj meet the International Councit of Chemical
Agsociations’ ((CCA) definition of a ‘reportable PSE".

Tracking and auditing SHE performance
We collect, analyse and report on industry-
recognised leading and lagging indicators,
such as recordable injurigs, reportable
process safety events and near misses.

We record all incidents in our Group-wide
accident and incident management system
database. And we track our near migses on
a monthly basis. This is a standard measure
in our industry and ons we use to identity
occupational and process safety issues
before they become significant events

50 that we can continue to improve our
processes and barriers.

Whila COVID-19 made it difficutt to carry out
in-person site audits, we wera abla to cary
out remota auditing at eight sites, using digital
collabaoration tools to work with sites and
review their systems and documentation.
Towards the end of 2021, we raintroduced
face-to-face audits at three of our sites.



Sharing lessons learned across
Synthomer

Qur 2021 global employee survey continued
10 demonstrate that our safety messages
are well understood across the business.
(See page 65 in our People section for
more on our 2021 Your Voice survey).

Sharing knowledge, tools and processes

is an essential part of how we make sure

we continuously improve in safety, That includes
crealing an apcn culture in which uw einpluyees
feel able to discuss data and progress.

In 2021, we introduced new measures to help
our leaders and operational teams learn from
one another. We introduced new regional
process safsty networks which meet on a
monthly basis to discuss performance and
exchange good practices. Additionally, we
have rolled out our 'Yellow Book’ of common
Injuries across all our sites and continue to
share root causes of high-profile incidents
intarnally, as wall as lessens learned from
major industry incidents.

Other regular knowladge-sharing activities
include ‘code red" calls for site leadership
teams which take place after any significant
incident or series of related events, and our
annual global health and safety conference.

W also look for opportunities to share good
practice with our industry peers. For example,
we shared sorme of the tools we have developed
to manage the COVID-19 pandemic, such as
on-site lateral flow testing programmes, with =
Chemical Industry Association membaers via
their weekly COVID-19 operational calls,

Maintaining our focus as we grow

As wa grow and integrate new businesses,
wa want to ensure that we continue to embed
consistent, high-quality safety standards and
processes across the Company. But this
takes time, and wa expect our metrics to
fluctuate over the next few years as we carry
out this work. White our Vision 2030 targats
represent top-quartile industry performancs,
they also reflect this expectation,

We have seen this most racently during

the OMNOVA integration. While our 2021 SHE
incident rates are higher than expectations,
wa hava reduced the gap, thanks to our SHE
experts and lagacy OMNOVA colleagues.
Vogsther, they have fast-tracked gap analysis
and action plans and introduced a new
dashboard, which wa will complete in 2022,
to track progress against nine core safety
elements, including competence, legal
compliance, employee engagement and
process safsety. We also carried out sile
leadership competency assurance for
two-thirds of our naw leaders to ensura they -~
have the knowledge and understanding of the
major hazard risks and required contrals to
keep our plants safe while we keep improving
our performance. We will assess the rest

of our new site leaders during 2022,

systems and behaviours

us stay vigilant:

Actlon Qur expectations

Managing health and safety with strong

Safe operations rely on clear processes and systems, and responsible behaviours.
Everyone at Synthomer is accountable for keeping themselves and others safe — from

our leaders to aur site operators - and anyone can lead by example, regardless of seniority.
The combination of our SHEMS, safety leadership training and employee engagement help

What wa did in 2021

1. A strong SHEMS
policies against SHEMS.

non-conformance.

Every site must align their standards and

We conduct Group SHEMS audits over
a three-year cycle and expect sites to
self-assess against changes and report

Carried out 11 Group
SHE audits, 8 remotely
due to travel restrictions
and 3 in person. Two
SHE audits were carried
out on our behalfin
China by a third party.

2. Great leaders
who are
accountabls for
people,
equipment and
the environment

open to change,

Qur leaders must commit to our targets,
demonstrate key safety behaviours and be

To increase our focus on
safety we carried out
competence assurance
for two-thirds of our new
site leaders.

adopt key bahaviours.

3. Employee Everyone is$ accountable for safety at
engagement Synthorner and we expect our employees to
and training identify and address spacific risks and

Employees must follow our 10 SHE
principles and our golden rules.

Site lsaders must host quarterly safety
committee meetings with employees to
discuss local safety issues.

We introduced two new
shopfloor engagement
tools at our sites:

Workplace engagement
checklist to identify and
acidress specific on-site
occupational health
hazards.

Embedded process
safety confirmation
routinas to provide
assurance that
procedural and
organisational barriers
against major accident
hazards remained robust.

We are particularly pleased with progress at one
of our sites in Partugal, which had the worst
occupational safety performance anywhere

in Synthomer, with eight recordable injuries

in 2020 alone. As well as the dashbeard and
training, we estabiished a dedicated SHE
transformation team, deploying on-site
resources to help develop and introduce 90-day
targeted improvement plans. Thase plans cover
all aspects of occupational and process safety,
and included implementing new systems for
permit to work and management of changa,
carrying out process hazard assessments
and reviewing risk assessments. The team
also strengthened existing workplace
engagement activities and introduced

new ones. As a result, the site experienced
one recordable injury in 2021

We are now using the lessons we have
learned frorm Portugal and our broader
integration work to create a more structured
safety programme to help new and existing
sites that require specialist support. This will
be important in the coming months as we
integrate the Eastman's Adhesive Resins
acquisition and begin the process of
embedding all our SHE standards and
processes into our newest sites.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Operations continued

Environment

2021 environment
highlights

¢ Installed new gas boilers to allow
closure of tha coal-fired power station

» 90% of total electricity used at our sites
is now renewable

» Total CO» equivalent emissions
decreased by 34% vs 2019

Syntht;mot plc
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Our progress
against 2030 targets

40% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 GHG
emissions intensity (vs 2018)

10% reduction in Scope 3
emissions intensity (vs 2019)
Externally assessed Scope 3
amissions data for 2021 was not
availabig at time of publication, but
our data pack can be downloaded via
our website. For baseline Scope 3
emissions data, please see our 2020
Sustainability Report, which can also
be accessed on our website.

Our short-term cobjectives 2022 _

Our water-hased polymers help keep harmful
volatile organic compounds (VOCs) out of the
atmosphare. However, the raw materials and
manufacturing processss we use to make
them can have a negative impact on the
environment — with more than 90% of all

our emissions coming from our supply chain.

We rely on monomers to make our products.
These moleculas are traditionally made from
fossil fuels, which regquires a significant amount
of energy in the convarsion process. As the

- energy still mainly comes from non-renewable

SOUrces, our monomars carry associated
carbon gmissions along the value chain,

We also use a lot of water in our products
and processes and require energy to transport
our products around the world.

We must find ways to address all these areas
if we are to realise our net zero ambitions.

it is alsa good business: our cusiomers are
increasingly interested in the sustainability
benefits of our products.

More information on how wa are improving
the sustainabie benefits of our products can
be found on pages 48-53,

Defining our ambitions

This year, we set new environmenta! targets in
areas where wa can make the biggest Impact,
which includes water as well as carbon.
These targets are part of our Vision 2030
roadmap and are supportad by short-term
obijectives to heip us track our prograss
{details can be found in the relavant sections).
In 2022, we will also complete the work to
determine new science-based targets in line
with the objectives wa set ourselves in aur
2020 Sustainabitity Report.

We laid a lot of groundwork in 2021 ta
improve how we track and repart our
environmental data, as well as continuing
to develop projects that help tackie our
shvironmental footprint. For exampie wa:

* Met our objective 1o introduce a new
sustainability scorecard to heip sites
assess the potential environmental
impact of large-seale capital projects

¢ Launched a new environmental dashboard
to provide morg accurate, frequent
environmantal data at Group, divisional
and site levels

* Began assessing options 10 davelop our
own internal product lifa cycle assessment
{LCA) programme.



Introducing our project

sustainability scorecard

Following on from the successful roll out of our
product sustainability scorecard (see page 49},
we have introduced a similar scorecard to
assess capital projects. We will now review new
projects against six criteria, including energy.
emissions and water, scoring each criteria -5 to
+5 (+5 representing the biggest positiva impact).
Projects with higher scores will be considered
more favourably during our screening and
approval processes. In 2022, we will also look
at incorporating a carbon price into this
pracess to help align our projects with our
Vision 2030 targets and net zero ambition.

Updating our reported environmental data
This year, we are raporting metered electricity
instead of primary electricity. ~

We have amended our 2019 baseline values

to reflect changss in cur Company. In the first
quarter of 2021, we sold one site, stopped
production at a second and closed an office.
Wa have removed associated data from our
caloulations to provide a more accurate
comparison. We have also made some minor
modifications due to reporting mistakes during
2019 and 2020, The impact is limited (between
1-3% depending on the KPI),

Our energy use and carbon footprint
Our absolute and specific energy
consumption rose this year by 4.7% and
2.4% respectively versus our 2020 numbers,
While cur energy performanca is not yat
where we would ke to be, we have, however,
made excellent progress in reducing our
GHG emissions, At the end of the year,

we completed the installation of new highly
efficient gas boilers at our plant in Sokolov,
Czach Republic. Gommissioning began

in Decemnber 2021 with full operation

in February 2022, ailowing us 1o close

our coal-fired power station. This eliminates
coal as an energy source from all our global
operations and will significantly reduce

our Scope 1 emissions in 2022,

Our second milestone saw a dramatic fall
in our Scope 2 emissions - testament to
the work from our procurement teams to
buy certified renewable electricity. We now
have 90% of renewable electricity usage

in our sites. This is wall ahead of our
short-term 2022 target to reach 50%.

The incraase in both absoluts and spacific
energy consumption compared with the
pravious year is relatad in part fo changes
in product mix, with increased production
of some higher-energy-intensive products.
Severa! of these products have downstream
sustainability benefits for our customers.
Maanwhile, our laminates and filrms sites

" saw increased demand, which led to higher
energy consumption, and on the Group-wide
intansity metric, a poorer performance.

Other factors also affected our 2021
performance, including higher than average
dernand for our products in some countries.
Keeping our plants full can typically lead to
greater energy efficiency. However, the need
1o maximise procuction at one of our sites
meant we had to introduce more intensive
cooling, and, therefore, higher relative energy
use, to reduce cycle times in our reactars.
Meanwhilg, our operations were affected

by ongoing COVID-18 restrictions in countries
such as Malaysia and Vietnam and the
Texas power crisis in February 2021,

which led to supply chain difficulties

and stop/start operations.

As well as our project to install new gas
boilers at our plant in Sckolov, we expect
saveral other projects to help reduce our
energy use by at least 3% during 2022,
We are also planning to carry out detailed

“energy diagnostic work and develop site-level

decarbonisation roadmaps, both of which
will help us identify further opportunities
for improvement,

In future, we will expect our suppliers to
provide us with carbon metrics associated
with their products so that we can report
on the carbon footprint we are passing on
to our customers.

See pages 51-53 in our Products section
for more information on the work our
procurement teams are doing to help us
address Scope 3 emissions and support
a more sustainable supply chain.

While we no longer include VOCs in our GHG
calculations, we do continue to monitor them.
We aggregate our number on a Group basis
and convert them to a carbon dioxide
equivalent {CO;e), using a factor of 11 -a
figure used by UK CIA member companies
since 2005. COze emissions associated with
VOCs in 2021 were 6,548 tonnes (18%
increase vs 2020).

Wa callact data on the release of refrigerant
gases and aggregale these to create a Group
total. We convert each reported release into
a COze value using the relevant DEFRA GHG
factor for the refrigerant in guestion, These
are included as Scope 1 emissions. In 2021,
they accounted for 1,805 tornes, a 7%
increase versus 2020 and 30% reduction
versus our 2019 baseline,

Total metered energy use
Gigajoules {GJ) per sales production tonne

must get
achieve those targets.’

Guy Scudder

GJftonne

Sustainability Mana

to work to

See annex on pages 182-183 for our
UK-specific energy use data.

Metered energy use by division

Synthomer plc
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‘This year has been about
setting ourselves new
environmental targets
and laying important
foundations. Now we
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

Operations continued

~

Scope 1 and 2 emissions (hybrid approach}
TJonnes CO; equivalent released per sales
production tonne (includes COz from energy
genaration and use), and refrigerant losses.

Scope 1 and 2 emissions by division
tonnas CO»a/per sales production tonne

.Scope 1 anxd 2 - location-based and market-
based - GHG emissions have been verified
by a third party.

See page 183 for information on our reporting
methodology.

Scope 3 emissions

in 2021, we worked with a third-party
spacialist {0 establish our Scope 3 emissions
for the whole Group. This involved analysing 15
categories that contribute to these emissions.
Given the diversity in application and end
markets for our products, we do not have
sufficiant visibility of the emissions associated
with processing our praducts and their
end-of-fife treatment.

Preliminary data from this assessment
indicates that, overall, in 2021, our Scope 3
emissions wera up to 10%* lower versus our
2019 haseline. This is largely due 10 reduced
carbon intensity in the mix of monomers we
used during the year.

Scope 3 emissions account for more than 90%
of Synthomer’s total emigsions and of those,
more than 90% come from the goods and
services we buy. Which means that upstream
categories are most relevant to our business.
OCur innovation and procurement teams are
actively looking for alternatives that could help
rapidly reduce our Scope 3 emissions.

Read our full Scope 3 emissions report in our
online data pack.

* The actual percantage will be subject to change
when presented in the data pack.

Changing our approach to energy

to address future emissions

Renewabile energy attribute certiticates
(EACS) are traded on the open markeat and
help companies like curs prove that our
electricity is made from renewable sources,
While buying certificates in this way is a
wali-establshed process, it is just one of the

Synthomer plc
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ways in which we are increasing the amount
of renewable electricity at our sites. We have
also set up new supply contracts and on- and
off-site power purchase agreements {(PPAS),
with solar panels instalied at several of our
sites around the world and a long-sianding
PPA at our site in Stallingborough, UK.

EACs are a signiticant part of our short-to
madium-term energy plans but, as a traded
commodiy, their price may rise and it may
beacome more difficull o buy them in future
as more companies enter the market.
Fluctuations in the EAC markeat mean that
while we hit our 2030 target this year, we
anticipate seeing this figure rise and fafl
petwesn now and 2030. That is why, in the
longer term, PPAs will becomg increasingly
important to our energy management
approach. But they will take time to set up.

Replacing natural gas is harder, since we
need it to generate the heat required to
power some of our chemical processes.
‘We do have an advantage, since our
processes run at relatively modest
temperatures. Here, too, we have the
option in future to switch to renewable
elactricity. Soms options, such as electric
boilers, could involve significant capital
invastment, however.

In the meantime, we are exploring possible
options that could halp us capture and use
more of the excess heat that is a by-product in

‘our axcthermic reaction processes, and setting

up projects 10 improve our energy efficiency.
For example, at our largest sita in Malaysia,
projects are underway to optimise the way
we use our chillers through improved data
monitering and process control, with the aim
of making them 5-10% more energy efficient.

Wae also have an cpportunity to become
much more energy efficient as we grow.
Integration allows us to imprave production
processas or upgrade equipment at new sites,
whila introducing our standard tools, policies
anct processes to ambed Synthomer's cutture
of manutacturing excellence. All our existing
sites in the USA have signed up to the
Department of Energy's "Better Climate’
pledge to reduce emissions and improve
energy efficiency by 25% over the next

10 years.

Water

We rieed a significant amount of water to make
our polymars, which help aveid more harmiul
salvents entering the atmosphere. We also use

" a lot of water in our manufacturing processes,

such as cooling and steam generation,
Given our considerable reliance on water,
we have a particular responsibility to use
1his natural resource carefully,

Qur progress
against 2030 targets

ia
consuy
Intrody
valer-stres
on sItes

We agreed a new Group-wide water
policy with our Sustainability Cormmittee,
which was approved by our Board

in Decermbar 2021,

Qur water policy can be found onling at
htips:/ieew h /
corporata-r

ibility/g p Helaal

To address present and future challenges, we
carried out third-party-assisted assessments
at two of our seven sites located in water-
stressed areas. These assessments explored
the potential to introduce more extensive
water and automated metering and
infrastructure monitoring, as well as

options to assess the sites against the
Alliance for Water Stewardship framework,

We will continue this work throughout 2022,
exploring options at some of our other key sites,
as well as developing upgrade proposals and
assessing water balances and opportunities
to reduce and reuse watsr.

Qur water performance in 2021

Qverall, we saw an 8.6% increase

inv total water withdrawal at our sites.
Qveralt production rose 2.2%, which led

to a 6.2% increase In specific water use

in 2021 versus 2020, and 8.6% versus our
2018 baseline. Our water withdrawal statistics
rose in 2021, with our most significant
increases cocurring because of specific
avents at some of our Synthomer sites.

For exampla, in France and the UK, we saw
rises at two of our sites due to the impact
of low rainfall on our reserves and the need
to ensure we had water available for water
treatment and effiuent dilution. We saw

our most significant increase at one of our
German sites, which is currently using river
watar for ‘onecg-through’ cocling. A 13% rise
in production combined with relatively warm
temperatures meant tha site had to increasa
its water withdrawal by 25% to met its
cocling nesds. The site has now setup a
praject 1o assess altternative, more efficient
options for cooling.



At our legacy OMNOVA sites, a combination
of higher production {compared with 2020)
meant that our absclute volume increased.
However, some sites saw a doubla-digit
improvament in their specific water use, Asa
whole, these sites saw a 4.9% improvernent
in water withdrawal compared to 2020.

We estimate that leaks in our water lines
accounted for 10-15% of our net additional
watsr withdrawal this year. As part of our
commitment to our new water policy, we
are lpoking to improve tha'way we monitor
sites and establish more effective leak
managament programmes. Tagethar, this
should hefp reduce the risk of leaks as well
as minimising their impact in future.,

Total water withdrawal
m? per sales production tonne

Water withdrawal and consumption
by division
m?® per sales production tonne

Waste

Qur sites lock for ways to reduce waste at
source. For example, our site in Le Havre,
France, reduced material out of specification

by more than 350 tonnes compared to 2020,

Sites also look for opportunities to support
a maore circular economy, by recycling and
recovering waste where possible or finding
potential buyars for waste streams. We are
also developing several projects 1o identify
ways in which we might reduce and treat
the three most significant hazardous waste
streams within our Industrial Specialities
division, which account for more than
ons-third of our Group total.

Our waste performance in 2021

We made changes to our 2019 baseline and
our 2020 numbers to remove waste figures
from sites that have been closed and sold in
the first quarter of 2021, This resulted in a
reduction of about 1.1%. Our 2019 basalina
and 2020 data also reflect corrections to
reported data. This includes one significant
waste stream in China, which we previously
reported as waste but was, in fact, recycled
at our site. This reduced our waste figure

by a further 1.7%.

Cur total waste in 2021 was higher than 2020,
due, in part, to a 2.2% increase in production
across tha Group. We saw a particular rise in
total hazardous waste because of two one-off
gveants - the disposal of old contaminated soil
and raw materials, and the disposal of used
solvent from one of our sites after wa were
unable to identify a secondary buyer. We also
saw an increase at one of our sites in the USA
after we identified gaps in our historical waste
tracking ameounting to B50 tonnes total waste
and 500 tonnes of additional landfil waste.

With more robust measuremant, tracking and
analysis of our data now in place, we do not
expect to identify errors of this kind in future.

Qverall, the outiook against our 2013 baseline
remains positive, with total waste around 15%
lower on an absolute and per tonne intensity
basis. Meanwhile, waste to landfill is down
17% per tonne ahead of our 2022 objective
of 12%. This overall trend refiects product
quality improverments at a number of sites,

as well as greater re-use of by-products that
we would previously have disposed, and
projects to reduce solid waste generated

by our waslewater treatment plants.

Total waste
Kg per sales production tonne

Our short-term
objective to reduce
waste:

reciuction of waste to lanctil per
praduced tonne

Waste disposal to landfill
Kg waste per sales production tonns

Total waste and waste to landfill by
division
Kg per sales produced tonne
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Busingss foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

People

Our success relies on

our talented employees.

We will need plenty more

of their skills and experience
as we continue o grow,
integrating new businesses
like OMNOVA and Eastman's
Adhesive Resins.

These acquisitions are changing Synthomer's’
scope and scale. Indeed, once the transaction
with Eastman is complete, 25% of all our sales
will be based in the USA and our global
workiorce will be three times larger than

it was jus! six years ago.

M we are to take full aavantage of our new
scope and scals, weé need 10 ensure we have
a consistent culture across the Company -

People at a glance

4,632

amployees
1.21%

. O
turnover

13.2%

new hires

0/%

under collective bargaining agreerments

o0

nurnber of yaars the Synthomer Foundation
has supported local communities
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one with a clear set of shared values; where
every employee feels engaged, empoweted
and valued, and sees opportunities ta
develop their career, We are focused on
building a diverse takant pipeline, developing
leadership skills, creating efficient and
effsctive organisational structures and
processes, and creating a winning cutture.
This wili take time, and to suppart our work
we have incorporated two of cur employee
targets into our Vision 2030 roadmap.

At the same time, we want to take 2

more stralegic approach to our community
engagement, applying lessons lsarned from
our Synthorner Foundation to the way in
which we provide funding and support for
Jocal community activities, Hers, too, we
have set a community-based target as part
of Vision 2030.

*Our goal is to establish
an inclusive culture where
our people feel valued,
engaged, empowered and
able to use their strengths
to help Synthomer to
thrive. Our core values are

our guiding compass: they
describe what we aspire

to as a company and what
is expected of each of us.’

Matt Freeland

roup HR Drreclor

Qur values

Safety, heafth and environment
- we always have time 1o work Safsly

In 2020, we launched aur five core values, dasigned to suppart our purpose

Integrity
— we act with integrity and show respect

Innovation
- We welcome change and new ideas

Accountability
- we deliver on our promises

Teamwork
- wa arg stronger as one team

To help teams get to know the care values, we have rolled out a structured workshop and
discussion guirde across Symhomer. And our values are now embedded in our annugl J

performance cycla, with all employees expected 0 assess their work against them.




Our
employees

Thig was another busy year for our
employees. Demand for our products was
high, especially in heafthcare. And once
again, our teams worked tiretessly to protect
themselves and each cther, and keep our
sites running safely throughout the COVID-19 .
pandemic {see page 55 for more on our
COVID-19 safety and health measuras).

Neverthaless, we continued to make progress
against our longer-term employes agenda,
including the ongoing rofl-out of our divarsity
and inclusion vision and action plan, and the
launch of our second Your Voice global
employee survey.

We also introduced new tools and processas
to create a more structured approach 1o
caraer development - focusing particularly
on early careers, functional career paths, and
lgadarship skills to help develop our leaders
of the future. And to ensure we have robust
succession plans in place at all levels of the
business, we continued to develop our global
talent toclkit and raview process,

Supporting employee wellbeing

during the pandemic b
COVID-19 has challenged everyone's physical
and mental health over the past two years.
Whether working from home or on site at one
of our plants, our employees have had to
juggle everything from farnily care to health
worries to feelings of isolation. We are
aware that all these issues can have
repercyssions on individual performance.

To continue supporting our employees’ mental
heatth in 2021, we set up a number of country-
specific programmaes, including a new
well-being hub for UK employeas located

on our Syntranet. The hub provides
information on Company-led programmes and
resources, including our Employee Assistance
Programms, as well as advice on issues

like resilience, healthy shift working

and asking for help.

Also in the UK, we ran a well-being calendar
of monthly activities to highlight issues such
as fighting tatigue, persenal fithess and
hydration. In Malaysia, we marked mental
heaith month with a sarias of talks to help
employees identify ways to deal with stress,
anxiety and burnout in the workplace.
Almost 100 employees attended the
sessions. We also offered employegs who
came into contact with the virug access to
coungelling to talk to professionals about
the challenges they faced, and get medical
advice and emotional support. ’

Our core employee objectives

1. Build a sustainable, diverse talent pipeline

Continuously improve our development programmes and ensure we have the righl people
with the right skills in the right job at the right time.

2. Strengthen leadership capability at all levels

Help our leaders become role models, coach and devalop their teams and lead the way
in successfully driving our business strategy.

3. Drive organisational effectiveness
Strengthen our ability to manage business transformation in an agile way.

to help Synthomer thrive.

4, Establish a winning workplace culture

Whare our people feel valued, engaged and empowered to use their strengths

We have learned a graat deal throughout

the past two years and are now developing

a long-term supportive workplace programme
fo take us beyond the pandemic, This includes
assessing employee data and employee
feedback on their needs and expeactations,
examining our current resourcas and
identifying gaps, and benchmarking

qur approach against our competitors,

Building a diverse, inclusive workplace
Building a more diverse and inclusive business
is key 10 our growth ambitions and our ability
to attract and retain the best people. In 2020,
we launched our diversity and inclusion vision,
and this year incorporated our gender target

as part of our Vision 2030 roadmap. This year

has been about raising awareness to help
employees understand why it matters ar]d
the role they have to play.

We had an early opportunity to do this in
March 2021 with a series of events around
the world to mark International Women's Day.
In June, we celebrated Pride month and have
since set up a new LGBT employee group.
And in December, wa marked International
Day of Persons with Disability, publishing
new guidance on our Syntranet to help
employsss support their disabled colleagues,
and sharing two new videos from managers
living with disabilities.

In November, our executive sponsor for
diversity and inclusion, Rob Tupker, and
Group HR Director, Matt Freeland, launched
a new global awareness campaign, hosting

a series of calls with our top 100 leaders to
discuss their role in supporting our visicn.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

r v
dership, managerm:
1al roles.

_Qur.short-term objectives:
2022
* 259 temalz senior leaders

2025
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

People continued

Engender: our first
employee group

“I'm proud to be part of Synthomer’s first
employes group. We set up ENGENDER
- our women's network — to create a safe
enviroriment for discussion on issues that
wommen face in the workplace and to help
support one another through our careers.
We'ra delighted with the support received
In organising a number of events on topics
such as imposter syndrome, and voice
and power for women in business. Wa ara
equally happy to have some men join our
sesgions, too.

Our first year was very busy, with regional
groups starting activities in the US and
Asia, catering for local discussions and
face-1o-face networking opportunities.

COne of our highlights was having Carpline
and Holly, Synthomer's Chair and one of
our fermale Non-Executives respectively,
attend one of our panel sessions. It was
a fantastic opportunity for our network

to hear about their career stories first
hand. We hope more peaple will sign

up and help us spread the word."

Ana Perroni Laloe

Prasident, Industrial Specialittes J

Our diversity and inclusion vision
We value the difference evaryone brings
to work and are committed to creating a
diverse and inclusive workplace, where
people are supported 1o maka their best
cantribution in creating a vibrant and
successful business.

6 4 Synthomer ple
Annual Report 2021

‘We know that diverse
thinking and inclusive
cultures create
tremendous business
value. It powers innovation
and performance and

it will drive Synthomer'’s
success in the future.’

Caroline Johnstone

As part of the campaign we also shared

additional tools and matsrials on topics such
as unconscious bias and self-awareness via
a Syntranet hub to help leaders support their

work to share our diversity and inclugion vision.

Meanwhile, we have started using a new
diversity and in¢lusion dashboard to track
progress, spot gaps and improve succession
planning. And we have established a new
diversity and inclusion governance structure
to ensure we stay on course and embed
accountability for diversity and inclusion
across all levels of the business. The structure
includes a steering committee comprising
Synthomer's Chair of the Board, diversity
and inclusion Executive Committee sponsor
and-Group HR Director, as well as a regional
network of diversity and inclusion champions.

Looking ahead, our plans for 2022 include
new interviewing skills and inclusive
recruitment training for hiring managers,
inclusive ieadership training and a new
ambassador programme designed to create
oppoertunities for employess te share their
personal diversity and inclusion stories.
Our Board and Executiva Committes will be
involved and will regularly review progress.

Our diversity and inclusion
performance in 2021

We are pleased that we met cur 2021
objective of 20% of women in senior
leadership roles, finishing the year at 20.4%.
I all, we saw a 5% rise in the numbaer of
women in senior lsadership versus 2020.
We aiso appointed Lily Liu as our new Chief
Financial Officer who will join Synthomer no
later than 1 July 2022. Once Lily is officially
on board, women will make up 44% of our
Board. In February 2022, we also appointed
Ana Perroni Laloe as President, Industrial
Specialities and she has now joined our
Exscutive Committee. We also met tha
expectations laid out in the Parker Report,
by having at least one Board member from
an athnically diverse background.

Ed

Gender diversity

Fermale 976
Male 3,656
Total 4,632
Gender diversity

Famale 3
Male 6
Total 9
Gender diversity

Female 10
Male 39
Total 49



Employee engagement

Listening to our employees helps us
understand what is working well and tells
us where we have more to do. But we need
to hear from everyone, so, as part of our
Vigion 2030 roadmap, wa set a 70% target
for participation in cur global Your Vioice
survey. We introduced our first survey in 2019.
With 83% taking part, it revealed areas of
strength, such as our commitment to safety,
and areas for improvement, such as
communication and knowledge sharing.

Goad communication has become even

more important over the past two years

with the pandemic keeping many people

at home, and restricting our numbers on site.
To help people feel connected and ensure
they understand our priorities, we launched

new quarterly (virtual) global townhalls

during 2021 hosted by senior leaders,

Around 1,000 employees attended each
townhall. We ensured employees could ask
questions before and during the calls and
submit those questions anonymously if

they wished, Employees were keen to hear
more on a number of issues, including our
sustainability agenda, diversity and inclusion
plans, and flexible working. While our leaders
answered guestions during ihe calls, we also
intend to feed some of these topics into future
communications to continue raising awareness,

We also relaunched our intemal Syntranet
site, creating one global site for all our
employeas. It containg news and key
information on important areas such as
our strategy, Code of Conduct and policies
1o help ensure everyone has access to a
consistent set of messages and guidslines.

What we heard from employees in 2021
Our secend Your Voice survey ran in
December 2021. We were vary pleased

that we exceacded our 2030 target at a global
level, with an overall response rate of 73%
from our employees, This was achieved by
an extensive multi-channel communication
campaign deliverad across the business,
which included manager briefings, messaging
via our Syntranet and poster campaigns.
Not all countrigs achisved a 70% response
rate and that will remain a focus for future
surveys. The survey included some new
questions on topics such as our core
values, to help us learn how well employees
understand them.

. Wa saw a risa in positive responsas

in many areas, including diversity and
inclusion; {12%), career progression (9%)

and communication (7%). We also continued

1o see'strong results in health and safety, .
ethics, and valuas. Al these results reflect the
work we have done in the past few years to
raise awareness on these important issues.

Our employees told us that they want to hear
more about the Your Voice results and what
wa plan 1o do in response to their feedback.
To this end, we are working with leaders in
our divisions and fungtions to provide relevant
data so that they ¢an share and discuss
spacific topics with their teams.

As part of our Board employee voica
activities, one of cur Non-Executive Directors,
Alexander Catto, met groups of employees
personally in the UK and by videp conference
in Germany and the USA throughout the year.
Discussions and feedback covered a range of
topics such as Company strategy, leadership,
COVID-19, fiexible working, diversity and
communication issues.

We look for other opportunities to hear from
our employees. For example, we ran a survey
in March and December 2021 asking our UK
employees what they thought of our support
for them during the pandemic. Most feedback
was positive: 5% said they had attended one
of our resilience workshops, and more than
half said they would do something different
based on what they had learned. However, a
minerity 10ld us that they want us to do more
on flexible working. This is something we ara
assessing as part of our supportive
workplace programme,

Career development and training

Wa have a good record of attracting new
talent. Faimess in progression and promotion
is essential, so at a corporate level we are
introducing new digital tools and processes,
inctuding a new global HR information
system. We also continued our global talent
review in 2021. Ag part of that review, we
introduced a new "{alent toolkit’ to help our
leaders and managers assess gapsand
opportunities in areas such 'gs succession
planning and parsonal development plans.
We want to do mora to help retain a larger
percantage of our graduates and address
Your Voice feedback, which tells us
employees want t0 see more opportunities

in career planning and devclopment. We are
currently focusing on three key areas to help
our people make progress: early careers,
functional excellence and leadership.

Our progress
against 2030 targets

Early careers: helping graduates flourish
at Synthomer

Since 2018 we have expanded and improved
our graduate recruitment programme, looking
at everything from when we recruit to how
we make an offer. In that time, we have hired
around 50 new graduates, largely in Europe
and Asia, with a 50:50 gender split and

a variety of ethnic backgrounds.

We have also created a blended development
plan, providing graduates with a combination
of mentoring programmes, and on-the-job
and workshop-style training in areas such

as networking, managing others and
business acumen. -

Functional excellence; consistent
pathways for all

Qur Group HR team is also working with

our funclions to develop new ‘excellence’
frameworks that set out clear career
pathways through each of the functions

and the standard of skills we expect, A new
Functional Excellence Steering Committae is
coordinating this work across the Company.
Qur manufacturing and commercial functions
were the first to launch their frameworks in
2021. Our commercial function appointed a
dedicated excellence director and ran its first
training sessions on contract management
via a new academy.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

People continued

Leadership: training the leaders

of tomorrow

Because we are growing so quickly and
integrating new acquisitions, different
leadership styles, approaches, and even
languiage, can become part of daily business
life. This can makea it difficult for newer leaders
to know what is expected of them. To address
this, in 2018 we introduced six leadership
attributes, including inspiring vision and
purpose, setting standards and dealing

with ambiguity, to provide @ common
language and consistent behaviours for

all leaders at every level of our business,
Alongside our core values, we are alsa

using our leadership attributes as a way

of assessing potential new recruits.

Embracing digital
resources to
support leadership
development

"We believe in continuous conversations
as a key driver for employee engagement.
In that spirit, we expect our leaders to
become coachaes for ongoing staff
developrnent, providing regular feedback
opportunities to their teams. We have
launched a new leadership development
portal, which contains a wealth of useful
rasourcas and tools. The next generation
of Synthomer leaders will particularly
benefit from our ‘first-time leader'
roadmap, which provides practical
guidance on coaching others.

QOur learning and developrment team
held a series of global brisfing calls to help
leaders at all levels start using the portal.”

Christaph Bartels
Diractor Talent Development

Synthomer plc
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Ethics and compliance

We published our current Code of Conduct
in 2018, It is available in 14 languages, both
online and in print. We plan to review and
refresh the Coda later in 2022 and launch
an updated version in 2023,

QOur 2021 Your Voice survaey showed that 87%
of employees understand how the Code
applies 16 their job, while 81% know how to
report suspected unethical and/or unlawful
business practices.

We promote our Ethics Helpline across

the business, including through our Code.

In 2021, we launched a new ‘protaction from
retaliation’ policy to continue encouraging

an open and transparent culture within
Synthomer. We also updated the investigation
process that supports our helpline to ensure
clear lines of responsibility and that reports
are followad up in an appropriate manner.

Continuing to provide

compliance training

During 2021, we continued to develop our
e-learning offer, which included the launch
of refreshed modules on anti-bribery and
corruption and anti-competitive practices.
Our Learning Management System helps
us track training completion and escalate
instances when required fraining is not
completed in a timely manner. In 2022,
we plan to introduce new e-learning modules
for our Code of Conduct and GDPR/data
protection, which will replace our existing
face-to-face and online training.

Our short-term ethics
_and compliance
objectives:

Our anti-bribery, corruption and competition |
law policies are imporiant parts of our Code
and the scenario-based workshops and
e-learning that we run as part of our Code

of Conduct training. We will continue to
support employess who are mare exposed
to competition law risk with additional,
specific e-lsaming modules and
face-to-face/online workshops.

In 2021, we launched a short campaign to
remind smploysas of our policy on gifts and
hospitality as set out in our Code. As part of
this, we rolled out revised standard-form gifts
and hospitality registers,

We also published new internal guidance

an how to respond to, and manage,
unannounced ingpections from ragulators
{so-called 'dawn raids’}, which will be supported
by a phased roll-out of training, starting in 2022.
And we ran our first campaign on the United
Nations Anti-Corruption Day, which included
an article on our Syntranet and on social media.

Making changes to support our
compliance programme

We appointed a Global Compliance
Manager in 2021 to help us navigate the
changing regulatary landscape as we

grow. The manager will lead our Group

legal and compliance team's compliance
work. Their initial focus in 2022 will be to
enhance our risk assessment and third-party
due diligence processes.

In December 2021, we established a new
compliance brand called 'Syntegrity’, which’
ailigns with our value of integrity. We are now
using the brand to support our comgliance
initiatives. This includes a new guarterly
compliance blog for all senior leaders that
will airm to communicate new compliance
initiatives, remind employses about existing
policies and requirements and share lessons
learned from receant raported cases. The blog
will also provide compliance topics for
discussion at téam meetings.

See page 51-53 for more information on how
we work with our suppliers to ensure high
ethical standards, including respecting human
rights.



Our
communities

We want the local communities who live
near our sites to see us as a geod neighbour.
While we have always looked for ways to
support local projects, our acquisition of
OMNOVA has given us the opportunity

to reassess our approach to

community engagement.

Since 1961, the Synthomer Foundation
(formerty the OMNOVA Feundation) has acted
as an independent endowment, providing
essential funding for tocal cormmunity
projects, primarily in Ohio, USA. Qver the
years, the Foundation has broadened its
remit to support projects across the USA.

“Our progress™
against 2030 targets

* Provide volunieer s i and financial

~oundation’s performance
that

Inthe 60 years since it was first created, the
Foundation has changed hands - and name
- several times, but its mission remains the
same: to support non-profit organisations
who provide programmes and services that
aenhance the quality of life for those in need.
At least 50% of annual funding is dedicated
1o education initiatives, with the rest
supporting arts, civic, health and human
service organisations.

Since acquiring OMNOVA, the Foundation has
sparked a lot of interest from our employees in -
other parts of the world who want to be more
involved in their local communities. With more
than 40 sites and sales offices across the
globe today ~ and more to come as we
continue to grow - Synthorner has an
oppertunity, therefore, to draw on the
Foundation's experiance to expand our
community engagement.

And we want to take a more strategic
approach to reflect our growth ambitions.
So, we have set a community targst as part
of our Vision 2030 roadmap. .

Supporting communities — growing our
network in 2021

To help us take a maore strategic approach,
we used the Foundation's governance
structure to set up a new Synthomer-wide
global volunteering network in February 2021.
That network Includes a community
champlon at each site, as well as threa
regional coordinators who meset quarterly

to discuss project proposals. Funding is

approved by our exscutive sponsor after

a proposal from our Sustainability Director.
In this first year, the coordination group
identified site-level champinns and aligned
activities around our priority themes,
daveloping the tools to support the network
of volunteers and capture their activities with
neighbouring communities.

In 2022, the network will prioritise local projects
that support education. For exampls, in Vietnam
we are collaborating with several partners,
including the Ministry of Labour and Vietnam
Bank for Secial Palicies, to help poor and
disabled children continue their education.

In Portugal, some of our employees are running
'lessons’ at local schools to help children leam
more about our businass. And in the UK, we
took part in British Science Week, hosting
workshops for schoolchildren to help inspire
an interast in chamistry from an early age.
Synthomer Foundation will continue

to support more than 10 universities and
colleges such as the University of Akron

and the University of Wisconsin.

Synthomer Foundation support in 2021
Of the £930.000 that the Synthomer
Foundation gave in 2021, 56% of the funds
went to education programmes. The rast was
split between projects that support arts

and culture, civic activities, and health

and human sarvices.

‘Sixty years is an amazing,
notable achievement;
and we look forward

to continuing this great
legacy of supporting

our communities for
many years to come.’

Theresa Carter
Syntnomer Foundation President

Ona of the Foundation’s largest single
donations went 1o the American Institute
of Chemical Engineers, which will receive
around £70,000 over tha next four years,
This money will help two students attend a
Historically Black College or University and
participate in a leadership development
programme.

Qur annual highlight: Synthomer
Cares week

This year, wa ran our first Synthomer
Cares week in May 2021, basedona
concept first developed by our OMNOVA
colleagues. During the week, employees
around the world get involved in activities
to raise funds, support local communities
and feel connectad to one another.

In the USA, for exampla, smployees in

Ohio helped sort donated clothes and pick
up litter for a homeless shelter, while in South
Carnlina, pmployees donated pergonal care
items 10 a women's shelter. And employees
in Pennsylvania donated just under 230kg

of foad 1o a local food bank.

In Malaysia, 43 employees took part in

a charity run during Synthomer Cares

week to raise money for COVID-19 care kits
for 20 less fortunate families. Suppeort for the
runners was so positive that in the end they
raised enough 1o buy kits for 30 familios.
The top five runners were also given

a donation to share with the charity

of their choice.

Employees in'Italy and Portugal maintained
that sense of connection later in the year,
during a two-week exercise challenge.
Individuals recorded the time they spent
running, walking or cycling via an app which
Synthomer then converted into donations.
Participating employees could then choose
which social organisation would receive the
funds. The winning team was given a 25%
bonus to donate to their organisation. in all, -
the two teams completed 1,093 hours of
exercise and travelled a total of five million
steps, raising £1,560 in the process.
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Business foundations

Synthomer and sustainability continued

People continued

assential funds.
Location

A snapshot of community activities at our sites

Whita the COVID-19 pandemic meant we were unable to run community activities in somea countries, such as Vietnam and China, many of
our community teams around the world have continued te support local projects and organisations, while our employees have helped raise

Activity

UK

In December 2021, the operational team donated Christmas presents to a local school.

Germany ~ Mar!

In Novermnber 2021, our site team provided voluntesr support to help cleaning and rebuilding
houses following devastating floods across Getmany earlier In the year.

Czech Republic - Sokolov

Members of the operational team participated in Open Doors Days 10 help students understand
maore abaut our work at Sokolov. This included an on-site session for careers counsellors and
chemistry teachers.

/

France Three sites each donated €1,000 to Fondation da France to help families and schooclchildran
particularly affected by the pandemic.
Portugal We continued to play a role on the board of Grace, a non-profit association that promotes

social responsibility and sustainability within companies. We also participated in working
groups for the Partuguese Charter for Civersity and inclusion, including helping 1o develop
a social responsihifity good practice guide.

Malaysia - Pasir Gudang

Employees auctioned their skills, such as baking and painting, 1o their colleagues to raise
maongy for Calvary Homes, an organisation that helps people who have besn abused and
abandoned by their families or face sericus disadvantages. Tagether with matched funding
from Synthomer, they raised £1,000.

Malaysia - Kuala Lumpur

Our community tearn ran activities to raise awareness about food waste and to support The
Lost Foud Project. As well as a talk from the organisation's chief exscutive, employses took
part in a challenge to reduce their own food waste. With matched funding from Synthomer,
they also helped raise just over £1,000 for the project.

USA ~ Akron and Mogadore

38% of the employses from these two sites have joined the initiative 'Candy gram fundraiser’,
raising mora than $300 and providing 266 meals to pecple in need arcund the site.

USA ~ Auburn Our eoleagues in Auburn held 2n internal ‘com hole’ throwing tournament to raise funds for
Haven Heroes, a Iocal organisation that supports educational sucecess in primary schooichildren.
USA - Beachwood A colleague through the Employee Community Leadership Award raised funds for Pink Ribbon

Girls who provide a range of support for breast and gynaecalogical cancer patients and their
families. In total we donated $500.

Building our volunteer )
network in Asia

“In 2021, we took our first steps
\ to making our comrmunities network
presence in Asfa more prominent.
There is still so much 10 do, but we
have put some strong foundations
in place to continue on our journey
of giving and contributing to the
conmmurities wha live near our sites.
Qur pusition as a market lsader in Asia
allows us to be closely engagad with
the communities, especially at the sites
in Malaysia. | am gratafuf (o evedryons
who has helped us get this far, but this
is only the beginning and we will aim
to go further in futural®

Emidiyana Ahmad
Talgnt Develapment Executive and Asia

CSR coordinator )
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Business foundations

Risk management

Risk report
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be achieved by taking an appropriate level
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of risk in accordance with our risk appetite.
How we manage risk o
We use leading risk management tachnigques 1 é
which help us make good decisions about B
business opportunities while protecting H
our sites, systems, employees and other g
key stakeholders. 2
Principal risk Trand §
2
Volatility and - see page
competition 72
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Change - seepage ' ’ I
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g
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a Synthomer site 74
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8 Safety, health S see page
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The heatmap illustrates the retative positioning of our principat risks. This is based on the
. residual {net) ratings after taking into account any mitigating controls in place. The heatmap §
g Security M see page | yystrates our principal risk positioning based on the three dimensions we use to assess our =
of supply 75 | risks: the likelihood of the risk materialising; its potantial impact; and its velocity — the time g
between the risk crystallising and the impact being felt. Pages 72 to 76 provide more detail on Eai
Ethics and see page | our principal risks, activities undertaken in 2021 and planned for 2022, and the risk moverment E]
10 | regulatory - 76 | inthe .
year.
compliance
11 i Financial risks - see pagg
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Business foundations

Risk management continued
Risk report continued

Risk management framework

Top-down

Principal nsks

\/
/\

Bottom-up
Risk assessment

Divisional and tunctiona)

Beard of Directors

Sets the risk culture and risk appetite. Has overall rasponsibility Tor
reviewing and approving the principal risks.

Audit Committee

Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure. Reviews principal
and emerging risks ang the effectiveness of risk managemant and
internal control processes. Provides challenge to Executive
Management where appropriate.

Executive Committee

Reports on principal and emerging rigks to the Audit Committee
and Board, Conducts top-down risk identification and review.
Ensures risk management policy is implemanted and embedded in
tha busingss, and appropriate rasponses are taken 1o manage risks.

Division and functional risk owners

Responsible for risk identification, management and controls within
their division and function. identity and assess risks, determine and
monitor risk responses and ensure operating effectiveness of key
controls and progress of actions to manage risk.

Risk and Assurance

*» Establishes the risk
rmanagement framework

* Provides guidance and
challenge to divisional and
functional risk owners

* Aggregates risk information
and assists managemant in
identifying principal risks

Risk governance and oversight
Synthomer plc Board

The Board has overall responsibility for
ensuring that risk is effectively managed
across the Group and for creating the
framework for the Group's risk rmanagerment
to operate effectively, The Board continues
to set the risk culture and the risk appetite it
is prepared o accept to achieve the Group's
objectives, and the wider risk tolerance within
which it empowers the Executive Committee
to manage the business. in 2021, the Board
compieted a review and refrash of its appetite
by mapping its principal risks against a sliding
scale from ‘'risk-averse' to ‘risk-neutral’, to
‘risk-taking’. This is now embadded in our rigk
management framework.

Audit Commitiee

Cn behail of the Board. tha Audit Committea
raviews and assesses the sffectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control
processes and monitors the Group’s risk
exposure. In 2021, tha Audit Committag
continped its programme of deep dives

into our risk management process, giving
management the opportunity 1o explain
directly to tha Audit Committee the

assessed risks, associated controls in

place, and any further planned mitigating
actions. The Audit Committes camied

aut deep dive risk reviews for each of the
Group’s divisions. Specialist functional risk
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reviews were also undertaken, these included
IT & Cyber Security, Innovation & Intellectual
Property, Plant Control Systems, Business
Continuity Planning, and Pensions. The Audit
Committes also reviews summaries of the
work undertaken by the Internal Audit team,
which operates a risk-based audit plan.

The risk management systam, Audit
Committee daep dives, and associated
assurance work are designed 1o ensure
that risk is managed within Synthomer's
risk appetite, rather than to eliminate risk
completely, and the Audit Committee and
other assurance reviews provide reasonable
agsurarce in line with good practice.

Executive Committee

The Executive Commities is responsible for the
identification and managemant of our strategic,
operational, compliance and financial risks
using the risk management framework, and
for ensuring rish managemnent policy is
implemented and embedded in the business.

Division and functional risk owners
We have a structured risk managsment
framewaork operated at division and
Group functional level, We use & standard
methodology to guantify risk, with a risk
assessment matrix to ensure risks are
assessed consistently.

Assess
and
evaluale

identify

Risk management methodology

Monitor
EGL
report

Determine
response




Our risk management methodology was
revigwad and refreshed this year. The risk matrix
previously considered two risk dimensions:
the likelihood of the risk materialising, and its
potential impact. In 2021, we updated the
matrix to includs a third dimension: risk velocity.
Risk velocity considers the time between the
risk crystallising and the impact being felt.

Divisions and functional departments conduct
thair own bottom-up assessment of risks and
record them in a risk register using the
Group's standard risk managament
methodalogy. They assess risks at both an
inherent (gross) lavel and a residual {net} level,
taking into account the mitigating controls in
place. Risk owners also identify any additional
activities that could further mitigate the risk in
line with our risk appetite, accepting that
some level of risk-taking is necessary.

Three lines of defence - assurance
Synthomer operates a ‘three lines of defence’
assurance madel. As our first line of defence,
our aparational management and employees
have a rasponsibilty to manage day-to-day
risk in their own areas, guided by Group policies,
procedures and control frameworks. Our second
line of defence includes our Group Risk function,
who develop and manage the risk managemeant
framework and engage with managementto
identify, agree and update risk information.

it also includes other comptliance and assurance
funetions, for example Group Safety, Health
and Environment (SHE), Regulatory Affairs
and iSO audits, who review the effectiveness
of mitigating actions and controls.

Our Internal Audit team provides our third line
of defence, providing independent assurance
on internal controls and risk managament
processes. External assurance is provided
by our statutory auditors, in respect of the
financial statements, and also by an exiernal
specialist in respect of ISC standards.

Assessment of principal risks

Risks affect us in many ways. Across our
business, we identify the likelihcod, potential
impact and velocity of risks through our format
twice-yearly risk assessment submissions by
divisions and Group functions. Management is
also empowared and actively manages and
reacts to risks as part of normal day-to-day
decision making. We use the Group's risk
methodology to assess the risks in all significant
projects, including change programmes and
the integration of acquisitions. These reviews,
together with our three lines of defence model,
enable us to establish effective controls to
manage these uncertainties,

Qur key risks

We categorise our risks, taking into account
tha effectiveness of mitigating actions and
controls, in the following areas:

» Strategic risks that could prevent us
from achieving our sirategic cbjectives.

» Operational risks which, if not successfully
managed, waould threaten our viability.
These relate to our ability to operate
a sustainabte and safe business.

= Compliance risks where a breach of
regulations or laws could lead to fines from
regulators, and reputational risk that may
affect our standing in the imvestor and wider
community in a disproportionate manner to
the size of the event leading to such damage.

» Financial risks relating to the funding and
fiscal security of the Group,

Ouring 2021, the Executive Committee and
the Board carried out a robust assessment of
Synthomer's principal risks and uncertainties.
Following this review, we can confirm there
are no changes proposed to our pringipal
risks.

The table on pages 72 to 76 provides more
dstail on our principal risks identified at the end
of 2021. Qur Board and management consider
that these pose the greatest threats to our
business and they score highest an our tisk
assessment matrix. They fall into categories
that relate closaly to our business model.

Not all isks facing Synthomer are listed and
the risks are not listed in any order of priority.

The nature of risk changes over time with

new risks emerging and the impact of

others changing. Our risk management

and assurance pregramme can only provide
reasonable, not absclute, assurance that key
risks are managed to an acceptable level, and
therefore cannot provide absolute assurance
against misstaternent or 10ss.

Emerging risks

In addition to known risks, we identify

and analyse emerging risks and the need

for rmitigation as part of our existing risk
management processes. Emerging risks are
events that present uncertainty. They may
potentially aftect us in the longer term, but we
do not currently have sufficient information to
understand and assess the likelihood, impact
or velocity of the risk, or to define an
appropriate risk response. We continue to
embed emerging risks in our risk programme
to ensure they are appropriately considered
and monitored. It 56rme cases, emerging
risks are superseaded by cthers or cease to be
relévant as the environment in which we
operate evolves and changes. We continue

{0 review and identify new emerging risk
trends to evaluate the impact and effect

they would have, including any changes

1o our principal rigks.

Ciirnate change
A ess chmate change risk as an

cainple
te riskg
concluded
manag
N 2xistng anng

nitoring
lui t
be considered a principal nsk 10 the future.

COVID-19

At the time of writing, the COVID-19 pandemic
continues to impact the global economic,
social and political landscape. We will
continue to remain agile in.managing the
risks that this presents.

‘We have reviewed the impact of the pandemic
on our principal risks to identify naw
opportunities or material changes to exisling
principal rigks. As with our asse$sment
of climate risks, our review concluded that
COVID-19 would be more appropriately
managed by including its impact within existing
principal risks rather than defining a separate
COVID-19 risk. We also took this approach
in 2020. We will keep this risk under review.
Synthomer plc
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Buginess foundations

Risk management continued

Risk report continued

Principal risks and uncertainties
This table shows the most significant rigks
that affect our business. There are cther,
lower-level risks that can have an impact

on the Group's performance: these are

also actively managed through our risk
management framework.
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Strategic risks

Volatility and competition in chemicals
and polymers market

The markets we cperate in are inherently
volatite due to global macroaconomic and
political uncertainty, and we expect this
volatility 10 continue in 2022, Such volatility
may affect our raw material costs, volumes
and marging, potentially adversely affecting
the results of the Group. The introduction of
a carbon tax could further affect margins.

The Group could lose market share to other
producers of speciality chemicals if we fall
to remain competitive,

Innovation and intellectual property
The Group could lose market share to other
producers of speciality chemicals if we fail
¢ innovate new products that meet market
needs and stakeholder expectations with
raspeact to ditferantiatad parformance

or sustainability. Shareholder valus is

also dependent on our ability to icentify

and protect our own intellectual property
and ensure we do not braach third parties’
intellectual property rights, which could lead
to reputational damage and additional costs.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Chanée inrisk No change

Change in risk No change

2021 response

2021 response

* The Group continued to maintain a largely
differentiated portfolic of products serving a
wide range of diverse global end markets.
The successful integration of OMNOVA
significantly increased our presence in key
North American and China markets.

* Segment performance at business unit level
is closely monitored and we take corrective
actions as necessary to mitigate the risk as
far as reasonably practicable.

* We continued to review costs in our key
sites to ensure we can price our products
competitivaly, -

= We enhanced our entreprenaurial,
customer-focused approach to innovation
by implementing a Group-wide portfolio
management procass focused on
alignment to business strategy, value
delivery, and sustainability goals.

The global pandemic and supply chain
disruptions posed a challenge to the launch of
naw products, in the face of this challenge, cur
teams leamed new ways of working rarnotely
and in hybrid work snvironmeants which has
strengthened collaboration between gur
innovation centres arcund the world.

A new central team was formed with the
charter to investigate new product chemistries
focused on climate change, sustainability,
slep-change performance enhancemnent, and
inherently safer and more efficient processes.
We implemented new policies and enhanced
procedures to ensure new innovations and
trade-secret knowledge is protected and
readily accassible for future innovation.

2022 plans

2022 plans

* New product development and our

acquisition strategy will continue to

further diversity the Group's risk, including:

— The completion of the acquisition of
Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business,
which will further add to our differentiated
portfolic of products and glcbal
end markets

— The roll out of SyNovus™ Pius will
enhance our competitive advantage
in the NBR market,

+ We will implament new elements of our
Innovation Excellence Framework which
establishes best practices for opportunity
identification, employee development,
inteliectual property and knowledge
rnanagemaent, teamwaork, product
stewardship and laboratory safety.

Wa will increase our focus on new
processes with the formation of an
Agdvanced Process Innovation team
which will investigate step changes

in process efiicisncy and sustainability.
Through these initiatives, we aim to
increase the success rate of innovation
programmes, accelerate the time to
market, and deliver new levels of product
performance alongside sustainability
improvernents in both products

and processes.



Strategic risks

Mergers and acquisitions (M&A) -

The Group's strategic plan continues to
include significant M&A to further grow,
differentiate and diversify our business.
There is a risk that we fail to identify and
secure any targets or identify the wrong
targets, pay too high a prics, fail to integrate
acquired assets and drive planned synergies,
or encounter performance, funding, cash
flow, or climate-related and environmental
Issues and potentially unknown liabilities.

Change programmes
Poor execution of change programmes,
including capacity expansion projects,

‘the delivery of streamlined and efficient

standardised processes through our Pathway
programme, tha rollout of our shared service
centres, and our ESG programmes, could
affect our ability to deliver our strategy.

Peopte and talent retention

People are a key asset for Synthomer

in driving our Company strategy to grow
and enabling us tc operate in our diverse
markets while complying with regulations
and corporate respansibility, tf we are unable
to attract, retain and build our people
resources, this could adversely affect tha
delivery of the Group's strategic priorities.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Change In risk No chahge

Change in risk No change

Change in risk No change

2021 response

2021 response

2021 response

* Wa successfully compieted the central
integration activities related to the OMNOVA
transaction in Q2 2021, delivering synergies
ahead of plan and properly incorporating
'the Synthomer Way' into processes

and culture,

In October 2021, we announced the
proposed acquisition of Eastman's
Adhesivas Resins business and have begun
working through the carveout separation

to facilitate a close in Q1 2022. ntegration
planning for this acquisiticn is underway.

« Continued commitment to our Project
Excellence methodology and robust capitai
appraisal process have delivered a well-
controlled portfolio of capital investments.

» We hava begun the migraticn of local entity
transactional finance activities into
centralised shared services and are
developing our business partnering
talent to meet business needs.

* We have successfully deployed our
Pathway global template processes and
systemns at our wave 1 sites in 2021,

* Wa have developed a méchanism to
monitor progress against our ESG agenda
and goals.

* Wa deployed a standardised global tafent
management process, and held talent and
succession reviews at division, function,
Executive Committee and Board lavel.

We implemented Workday as a new

global HR Infermation System including
recryitment, learning, and talent
management modules with enhanced
employee data reporting and analysis
capablfity,

We rolled out our Your Voice emplayee survey.
We launched an internal communication
improvement plan and recagnition scheme
to drive increased employee engagement.
Our long-term incentive plan was extended
to former OMNOVA employaes.

A single global Linkedin contract was
implementad with enhanced career page,
functionality and recruitment tools, and a
globalised talent acquisition process.

2022 plans

2022 plans

2022 plans

* The Group's M&A activity and the
completion of tha Eastman‘s Adhesives
Resins acquisition and subsequent
integration will continue to be closely
scrutinised by the Board.

= External advice will continue to be used to
help identify targets, prepare bids, conduct
due diligence, and assess progress against
integration plans and synergies.

e We will complete our NBR capacity
increase expansion in Q1 2022 in Malaysia
and continue to develop our plans for
further NER expansion in South East Asia
and other tarritories.

» We will complete the migration of all local
entity transactional finance activities to
centralised shared services.

+ We will roll cut our Pathway solution 1o
further sltes according to our deployment
strategy.

* As part of our ESG agenda, we will develop
science-based targets and track delivery
against published goals.

* Wa will launch a standamdised global
performance management process 1o improve
the consistency and quality of performance
management, coaching and development.

* Work will continue on functional excellence
with a specific ongoing focus on
commaercial excellence,

+ Wa will deploy the 2022 Diversity
and Inclusion (D&I} global action plan
with a range of initiatives and workstreams
designed o increase D&l and therefore
our ability to attract and retain talent.

* Wae will use the results of the 2021 Your
Voice survey to develop and deliver an
action plan.
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Business foundations

Risk management continued

Risk report continued

Operational risks

Loss or failure of a Synthomer site

Risk events, including natural disasters {physical
chronic or acute clmate change or
environmental factors), pandemics {including
COViD-1G), safety incidents, failure of key
suppliers or the supply chain, sabotage and
cyber-attack, would have an ativerse impact on
operations and business unit profitabitity.

There Is a risk that our response does not
ensure the site is able to return to its operational
capacity inthe planned time frame and that we
sutfer losses and reputational famage.

IT security

An [T security breach that has an adverse
impact on our systerns, including Enterprise
Resource Planning [ERP), SHE databases,
commuications and industria! control
systems, may affect our ongoing opsrations
and resuit in a ioss of intetfectual praperty
or requiatory fines which might undermine
our competitive position and cause
raputational dasnage.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Change in risk No change

Change in risk No change

2021 response

2021 response

+ Wa have continued to use our crisis
management procedures and COVID-19
response protocols to operate consistently
across our 37 manufacturing sites
throughout 2021, despite the ongeing
pandenic.

* Wa have continued to enhance our IT
secwity defences, including:

~ End of Life/unsupported haraware

replacemant

- Mutti-factor authentication with increased
security standards

- USB mass storage device controls
embedded to prevent data loss \

- Upgraded password standards

- Anti phishing/fraud awareness campaign
enhancing user awarengss and response
to phishing and social enginesring attacks

- Enhanced back-up and recovety
standards across the Group

— SAP disaster recovary 18sting programms
executed

- Firewall roll-out programme completed

- integration and standardisation of IT
security across the enlarged Graup.

2022 plans

2022 plans

* Wa expect 1o continue our COVID-19
protocols into 2022. i

+ Crisis management procedures are
maintained throughout our operating
network and we will implgment them on day
one of our Eastman’s Adhssive Resins
acquisition.

= Continue to enhance business continuity
pians.

Synthomaer ple
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« We will continue to enhance our security
dafences through further security
investment and the ongoing implementation
of the Group security risk reduction plan.
Planned activities include:

- Further enharicements to privileged
account management (PAM)

~ Training programme to increase
awareness of upgraded Group
Acceptable Use Policy

~ Enhanced reporting against IT security
key risk indicators

~ Additional crisis responss plan scenario
simulation and testing

— Rolling out our BMARC anti-fraud email
too! to authenticate email trafiic.




Operational risks

Safety, Health and Environment {SHE)
Our industry is inherantly dangerous, involving
the transport, storage and manufacture of
hazardous chemicals. There is a risk that a
significant accident or enviranmental incident
leads to injury to staff or locat communities,
reputational damage, fines and loss of
permissions to openale

Security of supply of raw materials
goods and services .
A disruption in the supply of key raw materials
or services to a manufacturing site could
potentially affect our ability to make and deliver
products to customaers, leading to interruption
in supply, lost revenna and damage to our
reputation as a reliable supply partner.
Potential factors which could contribute fo
such an impact include market shortages, |
short-terrn and/or long-term physical
climate-related disruption of upstraarn supply
chains, or disruption due o global events.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Change in risk No change

Change in risk Increase

2021 response

2021 response

+ We have continued to develop a central
safety audit function dedicated to SHE
issuas and provided support, advica and
monitoring of all global sites.

Three additional specialist resources have
been recruited into the central team to
support the organisation's growth,

« Wa have completed nine SHE audits in
2021 using a mixed model cf site visits and
ramote review due to COVID-19 restrictions.

* The OMNOVA sits integration has
progressed throughout the year with the
majority completing the integration process
and moving towards normal eperation,

¢ SHE improvement plans have been completad
with all 280 major actions completed.

= The Group has continued to imnprove its
SHE performance with a 11% reduction
in injuries.

2022 plans

* We have specific 2022 SHE improvement
plans for the Group, for each business, and
for all sites and labs.

= As part of an updated SHE strategy, we will

implement a further detailed approach to

operational safaty with increased focus
and transparancy of major risk controls

at key sites.

We will launch an annual Site Health Check

process to assess key SHE performance

and processes at each site. This will be
linked to a new Group Site Recognition

Award to sncourage world-class

achievement.

We will deliver a SHE integration of our new

Adhesives Technologies division, with

planned actions to delivar a top quartile

SHE performance within thres years.

* Qur pragramme to diversify our supply base
and reduce supply chain risk has enabled
us to respond to the challenges presented
by very high demand for many of our key
raw materials and supply chain disruption,
and meant we could frequently approve
and access alternative sources when
required, An active risk-based approach to
diversifying our supply base remains a
strategic priority for our procurement team,
We have standardised and strengthened
our supply risk tools for our important raw
materials, prioritised based on EBIT impact
. at site level. In addition, we have integrated
the findings of a sustainability materiality
assessment, to ensure that we now include
impacts such as climate change, and
adopted the use of a full supply base
scanning too! for sustainability risk,
We completed awarensss training on our
sustainable procurement policy and
strategy within the procurement team.
= We have started to use a sustainability
ratings tool to assess our high sustainability
risk suppliers.

2022 plans

* We will use our risk assessment tools to
continue the programme to diversify our
supply base and reduce supply chain risk,
We will increase our focus on, and approval
of, alternative sources of raw materials.

* Continuous review and improvement of the
risk assessment process and adoption of
the sustainability risk ratings tool.

» Develop a strategy for supplier audit and
assessment, and considar the adoption of
any industry pregrammes and best practices.

* Focus on Vision 2030 goal of ensuring 80%
of procurgment has a sustainabifity rating.
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Business foundations
Risk management continued
Risk report continued

Ethics and regulatory compliance risks

Financial risks

Ethics and regulatory compliance

A tailure to prevent anti-competitive practices, parsonal data breaches. bribery, 1ax evasion,
product regulatory violations, other regulatory breaches or unethical behaviour could lgad to
substantial penatties, withdrawal of oparating ficences and reputationat damages that could
adversely affect the Graup's ability t6 pursue its strategy.

A failure to proactively address ESG goals, mandatas and regutations may result in future
penalties, loss of competitiveness and reduced shareholder valye.

Finangial risks

As a UK-registered Group with a diverse
presence across the warld, we continue to
be exposed to financial volatitity from foreign
exchange risks, credit markets, and also
funding risks relating to our defined benefit
pension plans. These risks could significantly
affect the resuits of the Group. They hava
been heightened by global economic
uncertainty resulting from COVID-19 and
may be further affected by the potential
introduction of a carbon tax.

Link to strategy

Link to strategy

Change in risk

No change

cﬁange in risk No ¢hange

2021 response

2021 response

= We have continued to enhance our ethics and regulatory compliance through:

— Starting to implement the action plan agreed in response 1o the 2021 intarnal audit of
Synthamer's compliance framawork, including the appointment of a Global Compliance
manager.

— Further publicising our Ethics Helpline, refreshing the procedure for conducting corporate
investigations and updating the process to refiect EU Whistleblowing Directive changes.

— Pubfishing a new Protection from Retaliation Poiicy,

- Completing the integration of OMNOVA into the Synthomer compliance framework.

— Corporate support for UN Anti-Carruption Day - including a news article on our intranet
and social media activity.

- Developing our compliance key risk indicators.

- Launching our new compliance e-learning content and face-to-face training, and aur
escalation policy for managing non-completion.

- The creation and communication of our new Dawn Raid Policy on how to respond
to an unannounced inspection from a regulalor.

- Continued development of our approach to modern slavery compliance.

-~ The craation of new gift and hospitality registars, and communicating these to our
business areas.

~ Enhancing our global capability in product stewardship and regulatory compliance ty
integrating a giobal team with stronger regional presence which inclides new dedicated
resources on regulatory intelfigence, trade compliance and toxicology.

~ Establishing an ESG Governance framework, setting our Visior 2030 goals and 2022
targets, increasing external communications on our achiaverments, and implementing
a project sustainability assessment tool to guide priorties.

2022 plans

* The Group hedges significant foreign
exchange exposure, borrowing a proportion
of its funding in Qverseas currencies 1o
hedge net assets held in those currencies.
The Group swapped the procesds of the
£203m share placing into US dollars on the
day of the placing in anticipation of the
acquisition of the Eastman’s Adhesive
Resins business in Q1 2022,

The implementation of global and regional
Pansion and Benefits Governance
Committees to enhance pension risk
oversight and management.

2022 plans

* Deliver a compliance plan, including continued implementation of the 2021 audit
recommandations.

= Develop a compliance brang to support continuous communications and awaraness of
compliance areas.

* Implement our compliance integration plan for newly acquired businasses.

* Enhance our risk assessment processes, incorporating third-party due diligence.

* Migrate our compliance training to a now learning management systam, and ¢reate new
compliance training offerings including GDPR and Code of Conduct training.

» Commence the reviaw and retresh of our Code of Conduct.

* Beport against TCFD in 2021 and develop science-based targets.

* Ingrease our focus on product and process innovaticns that defiver sustainability benefits.

* Further strangthen product regulatory governance through quantitative performance
management of regulatory work processes.

Synthomer plc
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* Currency risks will continue to be hedged in
lina with Group poticy.

» Qur global pensions team will continua 10
monitor pension risks through active
scheme management, including the
implementation of investment strategies
irt fine with the maturity of each of aur
pension schemes.

+ The Group's funding arrangements will
continue to be reviewed in light of market
congditions and tenure of existing financing
facilities.



TCFD report

Climate change, with its many associated
environmental impacts, is one of the
biggest and most urgent challenges
facing the world today. It poses risks for
all of us, and Synthomer is no different in

that respect.

But where we are difterent is in the
opportunities it presents us as a speciality
chemicals company, a producer of water-
based polymers, whose benchmark for
new products is thelr sustainability

(see pages 48).

The naw requirement to raport against

the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures {TCFD) this year has been a
catalyst for further action. It made us think

in a more collective, joined-up and holistic
way about what climate change and

the transition to a low-carbon world may
bring for Synthomer, and to accelerate

the development of a Group-wide approach

1o integrating climate thinking into our
business at every level in the short, medium
and long term. To this end, in April 2021,

we engaged a specialist adviser to anatyse
our currant pasition against the requirements
of TCFD and 10 work with us to develop

and implement a plan, including qualitative
and quantitative scenarios, that would ensure
we are taking climate change properly into
account in cur planning and cperations.

With this being our first report against
TCFD, we felt it would be most useful for
stakeholders to include it as a standalone
saction within our Annual Report. To aveid
unnecassary repetition, however, we have
summarised our approach and progress
under each of the four categories of
TGFD here — governance, strategy, risk
management, and metrics and targets —
with cross-references to more details
elsewhare in the report as appropriate.

In summary

Overall, we are pleasad with the work we
have done, and how it has contributed

to our understanding of climate risk and
opportunities, and that it has enablad us

to report our compliance against all 11
requirements of TCFD. The enhancements
to governance and risk management we
have made give us cenfidence that we are in
a goed position to embed an understanding
of climate change in our decision making,
both at Group level and across the business.

The qualitative and quantitative scenario
analysis we have carried out so far, modelled
on one of our product lines from one of our
Europearn Functional Solutions sites, has
given us useful insights into the potential
impacts — both positive and negative - we
may see from the transition to a low-carbon
economy, and the reality of living in a warmer
world. However, wa have more to do, by'
modelling further product lines in cther
geographies, to ensure the scenario analysis
is thorough and robust enough to be
representative of Synthomer as a whole.

On metrics and targets, we are already in a
good position with our existing environmental
reporting, and with our 2030 environmental
targets {including applying for thelr verification
as science-based, dus in 2022). Wa are also
looking at possibilities for building on these
targets to help us manage climate risk and
opportunity as the world evolves.

In the coming year, we have four priorities
for developing our understanding of climate
risk and opportunity which we will report
on in 2022:

* Review our 2030 GHG targets and apply
for them to be confirmed as science-based;

= Extend our quantitative scenario analysis
beyond Europs to include products from
sites in Asia and the USA;

» Develop our cimate-related metrics and
targets, including setting an internal carbon
price to stress test the resilience of key
product lines and investmant projects;

* Develop decarbonisation plans for our
key sites and longer-term renawable
anergy arrangements 10 reduce our
climate-related risks.

What really matters, though, is what all this
means in practice for devefoping the products
the world needs for a low-carbon, circular
economy - and, indeed, creating the
anvironment that will enable such an
aconomy to evolve. Thers is no Immediate
technological solution that will switch the
world over from a fossil fusl economy.

Moving to renewable energy through the
supply chain is one of the big transitions

that must occur. Decarbonising industriat
processes and products is another challenge.
And thase can only be achieved by working
in a collaborative way with consumers,
custemers and suppliers, with technical
partners, with the wider industry, and with
policy makers. This partnership approach will
be the real focus for us in the coming years.
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Busingss foundations

TCFD report continued

Governance

— Principle 1: Describe
the Board’s oversight
of climate-related risks
and opportunities -

— Principle 2: Describe
management’s role in
assessing and managing
climate-related risks
and opportunities

Climate change has been a key focus for the
Board, which has been actively invotved in
considering the business approach to
climate-related opportunities and roles during
the year. Nonetheless, the 2021 review
reveated opportunities for improving
governance at axecutive level, so during the
year we determined that the CEO would be
responsible for ctimata change on behalf of
the Board. We also established an Executive
Sustainability Steering Commiittes, chaired by
the CED, which now meets quarterly (as of
January 2022) and is attencied by the full
Exgcutive Committee and the Group
Sustainability Divector. Each of our Vision 2030
sustainability goals is owned and sponsored
by an executive member who is responsible
for ensuring we have the night plans in place
to deliver within the timeframe. Overall, the
Committes will anable the CEO to carry out his
rasponsibility on behalf of the Board by:

-

* Ensuring that our plans for climate change
are aligned across the Group, and are
properly resourced and coordinated.

» Ensuring that our climate-reglated metrics
and targets are managed effactively.

For more on gevernance, ses our
Governance report, pages §4-129,

Including climate-related targets

in remuneration

We have refiected the importance of making
progress on climate-related targets in our
Executive Committes's remuneration. As of
2020, 10% of executives’ annual Performance
Share Plan award has been based on the
reduction of Scope 1 and Scope 2 carbon
dioxide equivalent emissions.

For more on remuneration, 2ee our
Remunaeration repert, pages 112-128.°

Next steps

To improve our governance still further, we are
looking at developing new roles throughout the
business dedicated to assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities.
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Strategy

— Principle 3: Describe
the climate-related risks
and cpportunities the
organisation has identified
over the short, medium
and long term

— Principle 4: Describe the
impact of climate-related
- risks and opportunities
on the Company’s
businesses, strategy,
and financial planning

- Principle 5: Describe
the resilience of the
Company's strategy, taking
into consideration different
climate-related scenarios,
including a 2°C or lower
scenario

Our strategy for a robust, resilient growth
business has baen built on how we can
differentiate our products through their impact
on the environment, Over the years, through
our water-based polymers, wa have helped
customers avoid the use of censiderable
amounts of carbon and solvents, and our
2030 targets include that at least 60% of new
products launched each year must have
enhanced sustainability benefits, and that
80% of procurement spend must have a
sustainability rating. During that time, we
have alsc focused on manufacturing and
operational efficiency, namely minimising
resources for maximumn output.

In the past year, the world has become
incraasingly aware of the risks posad by
climate change, with more frequent severg
weather events affecting more parts of the
world. And, in the run-up to COP28 in
Novemnber 2021, we have sean greater
urgancy to address those risks. This also
presents us with opportunities, because
people are increasingly kooking for products
that will help to mitigate the negative impacts
of climate change — namely those like ours with
lower carbon emissions that eliminate the use
of solvants and encourage a Circular economy.

For more on our business strategy,
see page 15.

Determining our climate-related risks
and opportunities under 1.5°C, 2°C

and 3°C scenarios

Reporting against TCFD has given us the
impetus to quantify the opportunities and risks
presented by climate change, such that we
can usa real data to help us focus our strategy.

To undarstand the potential opportunities
and impacts of physical climate risks and
the transition to a low-carbon economy,

our specialist adviser carried out quafitative
and quantitative analyses for three different
climate scenarios: a rise in temperature of
1.5°C, 2°C and 3°C over short- {to 2025),
medium- {to 2035) and long-term {to 2050)
horizons. in determining financial materiality,
we used the same approach as we do for ali
financial risks - the likelihood of the hazard
occurring and the nature and magnitude of its
impact on tha businegss.

To parform their analysis, our adviser looked
at the impact of these scenarios on one
product line - styrene acrylic water-based
emulsicn, a Functional Solutions product
made in our Worms, Germany plant.

We chose this product with the aim of
covaring as many variables as possible.

The product uses two of cur top raw
materials, styrene and butyl acrylate; it is
used in many applications from coatings to
industrial textiles to construction; and it travels
by water and by road.

We recognise that the results from this single
product are not sufficient to enable us to
extrapolate the financial impact of the various
climate scenarios on the Group as a whole.
Indeed, doing $0 would no doubt be
misleading. We will therefore be expanding
the scenarios beyond Europe to include a
wider range of products from the USA and
Asia, Nonetheless, the results from this year's
work are a useful indication of the risks and
opportunities we should consider.

Potential physical and transition risks
The physical risks identifieg by the study were
determined as being more frequent extrerne
weather events such as floods or droughts
which could affect our plants' ability to
operate efficiently, and which could increase
costs from our Supply chain. The transition
risks ware determined as being the potential
of global or regional carbon taxes, and market
and erwironmental policy changes.

Both types of risk were present in all
temmperature scenarios and wnder all
timeframes, but their relative severity and
impact on our business, and our resilience,
is Fikely to vary between timeirames, as
discussed below.



Potential opportunities

The opportunitias for Synthomer, under all
temperature scenarios and timeframes, were
determined as:

« Growth in demand for products and services
that will service a low-carbon or circular
economy in various markets and regions

¢ Cost savings and markat growth through the
early adoption of low-carbon technologies,
for example using rengwable snargy or
switching to renewable raw materials

* Qur network of sites across the world
makes us a more reliable supplier: it is seen
as a competitive advantage, meaning wa
are more resilient to physical operational
risks, since we can service customars from
a varigty of plants.

The potential impact of these opportunities on
the strategy and performance of the business
is discussed below.

Results by temperature scenario

To summarise: in both the 1.5°C and 2°C
futures, the biggest risks come from the
transition to a low-carbon, circutar economy,
but this transition also presents significant
opportunities for Synthomer. Under a 3°C
future, while the opportunities remain, the
physical risks are much more severs,
primarily the impacts on our sites of

drought and flooding.

+ i we saa globally coordinated carbon pricing,
we may achieve a 1.5°C future: in this
scenario, Synthomer could face higher prices
from transition costs. However, demand for
low-carbon and “circular’ products could
increase, leading to new, low-carbon market
opportunities, while governmeant purchasing
agreements could put pressure on consumers
in our end markets to decarbonise, leading
to greater demand for our products.
Without globally coordinated carbon pricing,
a 1.5°C future becomaes far less likely, and,
under a 2°C futurg, Synthomer could face
different operating costs in different markets,
for example, high carbon costs in the EU,
and a patchwork of regulations across USA
states. This kind of lack 'of coordination
drives market volatility, so it could also result
in erratic changes in costs in the supply
chain. All of Synthomer's operational sites
would be more vulnerable to the physical
risks of climate change under this than
under the 1.5°C scenario.

Should a 3+°C future become a reality, due
to the greater physical risks, our river-based
sites could flood regularly, while our coastal
locations in Asia and North America could
be affected by storm surges, and it could
be difficult to find alternatives givan that

a significant number of sites would be
affected simultangously, Overall, markets
could become severaly unstable given the
likelihood of social and economic upheaval
resulting from widespread, severa weather

evants, with a corresponding impact on our
customers, our supply chain and our costs.

‘Business resllience: consldering the

impact of climate-related risks and
opportunities over all timeframes

In the short to medium term {to 2025 and
2035), transition risks, particularty global or
regional carbon taxes, are most likely to affect
us. The physical risks of climate change, while
already starting to occur in tho form of more
frequent extrema weather in more parts of the
world, are likely to increase and therefore
become mors costly over the medium to

long term (2035 and 2050).

More specifically, in the short term {to 2025),
under a 1.5°C temparature rise scanario, from
our analysis we estimate that around 75%

of the impact of the risks from climate change
will come from transitioning to a low-carbon,
circular economy {notably higher costs),

with just 25% coming from physical risks
{more extreme waather events affecting our
operations). In that context however, in the
event that there is global coordination of
carbon pricing and environmental taxes then
it is likely that we would be able to pass most
climate-related cost through to our custorners.
At the same time, with increasing awarsness
of climate-related issues, wo expect to see
growing demand from our customers and their
consumers for products like ours which ofter
lower carbon or circutarity benefits, Both of
these give a considerable measure of
resilience to our business.

Itis difficult to lock beyond 2025 with any
degree of certainty, bacause much depends
on the political will to act now in accordance
with the conclusions reached at COP26, to
bring in the measures such as coordinated
carbon taxation and environmental regulation
that would enable the world to constrain the
temperature increase. Should these measures
occw, in the short term Synthomer would
face higher carbon pricing as noted above,
but should be able to pass the costs on;
howsever such measures should mean a
1.5°C temperature rise remains possible

and therefore the physical risks to Synthomer
in the medium to long term would decreass.

Should these measures not oceur, 6r ocour
too stowly, then a 2°C or even 3+°C
temperaturg rise bacomes increasingly likety,
and with it an increase in physical risks over
the medium to longer term. Wa are, however,
in a relatively strong position to withstand the
Impact of these risks, because our network of
manufacturing sites across the world is wider,
meaning we can supply customers from an
alternative site if one is affected by extreme
weather. Moreover, our strategy is to broaden
our footprint in speciality chemicals through
organic and acquisitive growth, which means
that in the future, our network is likely to be
wider still, thus rendering us more resilient
10 climate change.

Next steps
To embed climate thinking more deeply in our
business strategy, In the coming year we will:

s Davelop a plan for how scenario analysis
will feed into our annual strategy-setting
pProcess

* Extend our quantitative scenario analysis
to include products from sites in Asia and
the USA.

Risk management

— Principle 6: Describe the

Company's processes for
identifying and assessing
climate-related risks

- Principle 7: Describe the
Company's processes
for managing climate-
related risks

— Principle 8: Describe how
processes for identifying,
assessing, and managing
climate-related risks

are integrated into

the Company’s overall

risk management
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Our philosophy, approach and pr
rolating to risk management are set out
in our Risk repart on pages 68-76.

Given the wide-ranging potential impacts of
climate change, during 2021 we considered
all our principal risks in that context, and
revised them where necessary to take into
account the physical and transition risks of
climate change. We also established in our
analysis the tireframe over which we expect
these risks to occur. The principal risks that
now include the impact of climate change are
as follows - for more details see pages 72-76:

» Volatility and competition in chernicals and
polymers market

» Innovation and intellectual property

* Mergers and acquisitions

* Change pregrammes

« { oss or failure of Synthomer site

* Security of supply of raw materials goods
and services

e Ethics and regulatory compliance

* Financial.

From 2022, we will review the risks associated
with climate change every six months as part
of our regular risk management process.

Next steps _

In the coming year, we will continue fo
develop our understanding of climate-related
risks and their potential impact on our
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Busingss foundations

TCFD report continued

financial performance. Aside from the further
scenario analysis described above under
Stratagy, we will develop our understanding
of potentiat financial impact of the physical
and transition risks and opportunities of
climate changse.
Metrics and targets
— Principle 9: Disclose
the metrics used by
the Company to assess
climate-related risks
and opportunities in line
with its strategy and risk
management processes

— Principle 10: Disclose
Scope 1, Scope 2, and,
if appropriate, Scope 3,
greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions, and the
related risks

- Principle 11: Describe
the targets used by the
Company to manage
climate-related risks
and opportunities and
performance against targets

The metrics we use io assess climate-refated
risks and opportunities are:

= The proportion of new products we
make that have sustainability benefils
(see page 48)

= Proportion of raw material procurement

spend covered by a sustainability rating and

improvement plan {see page 51}

* Energy consumption and usage of
renewable energy (see page 58)

* (3HG emissions, including Scopses 1 and 2
and related risks (see page 58); for Scope 3
emissions, {see page 58)

« Water usage (see page 61)

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021

80

Qur vision 2030 sustainability metrics and
targets, which we aim to have certified as
science-based during 2022, have a strong
focus on climate. We have published our
ambition to reach net zero by 2050, andg
our 2030 targets towards this airm include:

« At least 60% of new products with
enhanced sustainability benefits
(see page 48)

» BO% procurement spend with suppliers
with a sustainability rating {see page 51}

* 40% reduction in Scopes 1 and 2 GHG
emissions intensity, vs 2019 (see page 56)

» 10% reduction in Scope 3 GHG emissions
intensity, vs 2019 (see page 58)

» B0% of electricity from renewable sources,
plus improving energy efficiency in all our
operations {see page 58)

« Manage and minimise water consumption,
and introduce water management plans in
water-stressed areas and at the sites where
we use most water (see page 60).

Achieving our Scope 1 and 2 emission
targets is factored into Executive Committee
annual Performance Share Plan awards, as
described in the remuneration section above.
For more on our sustainabllity metrics and

targets, including performance, see the
Sustainability section on pages 42-68.

Next steps

We are looking into defining further
metrics and targets, aligned with TCFD's
recommendations of October 2021, that
would help ug better measure climata risk
and our resilience to it. This will include
seiting an internal carbon price to stress
test the resilience of key product lines.




Viability statement

In accordance with the requirements of the UK
Carporate Governance Code {'the Code'), the
Directors have assessed the viability of the
Group over a five-year period to December
2026, being the period covered by the Group’s
approved strategic plan. This ptan is updated
annually, in a process led by the Exacutive
Committee with input from the respective

. businesses and functions. It includes analysis
of product and profit performance, cash
flow, investment programimes and returns
to sharehalders. The plan js hresented to
the Board each year as a part of its annual
strategic review.

The Directors consider fiva years to be an
appropriate time horizon for the strategic plan,
being the period over which the Group actively
focuses on its long-term product development
and capital expenditure investments. A period
above five years is considered by the Diractors
to be too long, given the uncertainties that
exist beyond this time frame,

In making their assessment, the Directors
have considered the diverse activities and
product otfering of the Group in terms of
geographies, chemistry and end markets.
The Directors have also considered the
Group's current strong financial position,
including tha existing and future committed
financing facilities, which have been assumed
to be refinanced at maturity,

A sensitivity analysis has been undertakan,
focusing on the impact of the principal risks
(detailed above on pages 72-76) over the
five-year pariod and the availability and likely
effectiveness of mitigating actions. The risks
have been assessed for thair potential impact
on the Group's busingss model, future trading
and funding structure,

The sensitivity analysls has considered a
number of sevaere but plausible scenarios,
linked to the risks considered 1o have the
most significant financial impact. In all cases,
the impact was considered on both liquidity
and the borrowing covenant.

The scenarios included:

* Trading downturns as a result of increasad
competition or lack of demand

* Delays in project delivery

¢ Failure to successfully commerciatise
new products

« The temporary loss of a major
manufacturing site

» Significant foreign exchange rate
appreciation against sterling.

None of these scenarios individually, or
when combined, threaten the Group, and
the combined impact of these scenarios

has been evaluated as the most severe stress
scenario. No mitigating actions have baen
included for any of the scenarios and, should
it naed to, the Group could take action quickly

to significantly reduce costs and cash outflows .

as demonstrated during the course of the
COVID-19 pandemic in 2020.

While this sensitivity analysis did not consider all
of the risks that the Group may face, the Directors
consicler that it is reasonable in the circumstances
of the inherent uncertainty involved.

Based on.the analysis, the Directors have
a reasonable expectation that the Group will
be able to continue in cperation and meet its
liabilities as they fall dug over the five-year
period of thelr assessment. v
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Business foundations

Non-financial disclosures and section 172 statement

Non-financial information statement
The table below summarises where key elements of our governance reporting {including non-financial matters as required by the Nen-Financial
Reporting Directive} can be found, some of which are integrated into ather sections of our Annual Report.

Reporting requirement Ral polictes and da that povern our approach Where 10 read moreg in this report
Environmenta! matters * Code of Conduct + Risk assessment page 69 to 71
* Group SHE Policy * Health and safety page 56
* Sustainable Procurement Policy and Strategy * Sustainabie procurement page 51
* Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) * TCFD report pages 77-80

Employees

Our values
Code of Conduct
Group SHE Policy

Qur valugs page 62
Gender pay gap page 113
Section 172 page 97
Health and safety page 55

Social matters

» Responsible Care Principles
* Synthomer Cares

Saction 172 page 97
Qur communities page 67

Respact for Human Rights

Code of Conduct :

Modern Slavery Act Statement

Conflict Minerals Policy Statement
Sustainable Procurement Policy and Strategy

Upholding human rights page 52
Ethics and compliance page 66
Sustainable procurement page 51

Anti-corruption and
anti-bribery

Code of Conduct
Ethics Helpfine
Cora values

Ethics and compliance page 66
Qur valves page 62

Our business model

How it finks to strategy and delivers value to stakeholders

Qur business model page 15

Principa! risks and
uncertainties

Risk assessment

Managing risk page 68 to 76

Non-finanglal KPls

Relevant key performance indicators

Key performance indicators page 17

Section 172(1) statement and

stakeholder engagement

We value our engagement with all our
stakeholders, including our key stakeholders:

customars, employees, communities,

suppliers, shareholders, and governments and
authorities. Our section 172(1) statement is on
pages 96-97. It describes how the Directors
have had regard to stakeholders’ interests and
other matters when discharging Directors’
duties set out in section 172 of the Companies
Act 2006. It includes examples of how
stakeholders’ interests were considered during
principal decisions taken during the year.
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The Strategic Report was approved by
order of the Board.

R Atkinson
Campany Secretary
3 March 2022



overnance

Synthomer offers an
extensive range of binders ’
specifically developed to mest the
performance and regulatory ¢
requiremants of the architectural and
industrial coatings markel. Our acrylic and
vinylic copolymer dispersions are low
VOU, low odour and APEQ fres to meet
the increasingly dermanding
environmental standards without
compromising application
properties or durability.
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Corporate Governance

Our Board of Directors

Caroline A Johnstone
Chair

Nationality: British

Michael Willome
Chief Executive Officer

[

Nationality: Swiss

Stephen G Bennett
Chigf Financial Officer

]

Mationality: British

Position and date of appointment

Chair of the Board and tha Nomination and
Disclosure Committees. Caroling joined the
Board in March 2015 and was appointed Chair
in December 2020 having previously bean Chair
of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Momination and Remuneration Committees.

Key appointments

Caroline js a Non-Executive Director and chair
of the employee engagemaent committee of
Spirax-Sarco Engineering plc, and a Non-
Executive Director and chair of the audit
comemittes of Shepherd Building Group
Limited, a private company which owns
Portakabin Limited. She has an honorary role
on the board of the University of Manchester.

Skills and experience

Caraline has nearly 40 years' experience

of working with large global organisations

in the chemicals sector and other industries.
Her experience includes delivering vatue from
MA&As, turnaround, culture change and cost
optimisation. She was a partner in and sat
on the board of the Assurance practice of
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) with
responsibility for all people matters.
Caroline is a chartered accountant

drid a member of the Institute ot

Chartered Accountants of Scotland.
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Position and date of appointment
Chief Executive Officer since Novernber 2021;
member of the Disclosure Committee.

Key appointments

Michael is a Non-Executive Director of
Glaston Oy (Nasdagq Helsinki) and sits on
subsidiary boards of the Indutrade Group.

Skills and experience

Michael is an established public market CEC
with a track record of driving performance
through strong operational managament and
stratagic actions, including M&A. He was
previously CEQ of Conzzeta AG, Zurich,
(now Bystronic AG), a global industrial
company listed on the SIX Swiss exchange.
Prior to Conzzeta, Michael spent 18 years
with Clariant, leading fts global Inclustrial &
Consumer Specialities division from 2010

ta 2015, This followed 13 years in leadership
roles in Asia Pacific, based in Hong Kong,
Canada and Turkey.

Position and date of appointment
Chief Financial Officer since May 2015;
member of the Disclosure Committee.

Key appointments
No external appointments,

Skills and experience

Stephen was previously at INEOS where he
had been chief financial officer at Petroineos
Refining since 2006. Stephen was also CFO
of INEQOS Upstream Limited, a start-up oil
and gas exploration business, and of INEOS
Oleling and Polymers South and INEQS
Phenol. He joined Coopars & Lybrand in
1986 and is a qualified chartered accountant.
He was at Full Circle Industries plc as
company secratary and group controler
before maving to PricewaterhouseCoopers
{PwC)in 1997 as a Director in

transaction services.



Board committee key

Audit Committee
Raemuneration Committee
Nomination Committee

ID] pisclosure Gommittes

M committes Chair

The Hon. Alexander G Catto
Non-Executive Director

Nationality: British

Brendan WD Connolly
Sanior Independent Director

ARND

Nationality: British

Cynthia S Dubin
Independant Non-Executive Director

ARIKN

Nationality: American and BriFish

Paosition and date of appointment
Non-Executiva Director since 1981,
Member of Nomination Committee and
designated Non-Executive Director to lead
workforce engagement.

Key appointments

Alexander is managing director of CairnSea
Investments Limited, a private investment
company, and a Non-Executive Director of
several early stage companias that'have been
backed by CairnSea.

Skills and experience

Prior to the establishment of CairnSea,
Alexander was a Director of Morgan Grenfell
& Co and then Lazard Brothers & Co.

Position and date of appointment
Independeant Non-Exegutive Diractor since
January 2014; Chair of the Remuneration
Committee; member of the Audit, Disclosure
and Nomination Committees. Senior
Indepandent Director since April 2015,

Key appointments

Brendan is a Non-Executive Director of
Victrex PLC, Pepco Group NV and Applus,
and two private equity backed companies,
one of which he chairs.

Skills and experience

Brendan has over 30 years® experience in the
oil and gas industry. Until June 2013 Brendan
was a senior executive at Intertek Group ple
and had previously been chisf executive
officer of Moody Internaticnal (which was
acquirad by Intertek in 2011). Prior to Moody,
he was managing director of Atos Origin UK,
and spent more than 25 years of his career
with Schlumberger in senior international
roles over thrge continants. Brendan has
previous experience as chairman

of the remuneration committee

of a UK-listed company.

Position and date of appointment .
Independent Non-Executive Director since
July 2020; Chair of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committees.

Key appointments

Cynthia is a Non-Executive Director of the
Competition and Markets Authority, where
she is chair of the audit, risk and assurance
committes, an independent Non-Executive
Director and member of the audit committee
of Hurco Companies inc, an independent
Non-Executive Director, and member of the
audit and risk committee of ICE Futures
Europe, a subsidiary of Intercontinental
Exchange, and an independent Non-
Executive Director, chair of the audit
committas and a member of the
compensation committee of Franchise
Group, Inc.

Skills and experience

Cynthia has served in senior finance and
business roles in the power, oll, gas and
broader clean enargy technology sector,
having started her career in the banking
industry in New York specialising in agvising
and lending to large enargy projects hefare
relocating to London in 1982,
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Corporate Gavernance

Our Board of Directors continued

Roberto Gualdoni
Indapendent Non-Executive Director

ARN

Nationality: German and ltalian

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian
Non-Executive Diractor

N

Nationality: Mataysian

Holly A Van Deursen
Independeant Non-Executive Director

AERN

Nationality: American

Position and date of appointment
Independent Non-Executive Director since
July 2021; member of the Audit,
Asmunaration and Nomination Committees.

Key appointments

Roberto is chair of CABB Group and
a member of the board of directors of
Aerogel Corporation.

Skills and experience

Raoberto has over 25 years’ chemical secior
experience at BASF where he held senior
operational roles covering international sales,
marketing, procurement and M&A and served
an a number of joint venture boards. His final
role at BASF was as prasident of its Styrenics
business, which was carved out as part

of a joint venture as Styrolution, and which
Roberto led as chief exacutive for three years
until 2014. Roberto has previous board-level
sxperionce in Saudi Arabia, Finland

and Belgium.
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Position and date of appointment
Non-Executive Director since 2002; first
joined the Board in 1993 and stood down
in 2000 to become an Alternate Direclor.
Member of Nomination Committee.

Key appointments

Hau Hian is a Director of Kuala Lumpur
Kepong Bhd and is the president of the Perak
Chinese Matarnity Association, He also
servas as a Director of Yayasan De La Salie.

Skills and experience

Hau Hian is the Managing Director of Batu
Kawan Bhd, a listed Malaysian investments
holding company, with interests in plantations
and chemicals manufacturing. He has
experience in organisational transformations,
acquisitions, chemical and manufaciuring
operations and sustainability issues.

Position and date of appointment
Independent Non-Executive Director since
Septembar 2018; member of the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneratiort Committaes.

Key appointments

Holly is a Non-Executive Director of Kimball
Electronics Inc, whare she chairs the
Compensation & Governancs Committea.
Bhe serves as a Non-Executive Director of
Albermata Corporation and as a member of
the Executive Compensation and Capital
Investment Committees.

Skills and experience

Until 2005, Holly was group vice president,
Petrochemicals, at BP. She has worked in the
global chemical industry for over 25 years and
hetd senior positions across North America,
Europe and Asia. In addition, Holly has since
2006 held Non-Exacutive Director roles for
global companies headquartered in the USA
and spent 12 years on the board of a
Norwagian-listed company.



Board committee key

[A] Augit Committes

(R Remuneration Committes
[E Nomination Committee
(Dl pisclosure Committee

M Committse Chair

Richard Atkinson
Chief Counsel and Company Secretary

Position and date of appointment
Company Secretary since 1988; Group Chief
Counsel.

Key appointments
No external appeintments.

Other Executive responsibilities
Member of the Executive Committes
Sustainability Staering Group; deputy chair
of the boards of the Group’s Middle Eastern
joint venture companies; trustee of the UK
pension scheme.

Skills and experience

Richard qualified as a solicitor in 1988 and
worked in private practice as a corporate and
banking lawyar before moving into industry as
an in-house lawyer working in the USA and
UK. He has extensive M&A experience and
led on the legal aspects of all the Group's
acquisitions over the last 20 years. He has a

faw degree from the University of Birmingham.

Our two non-Independent Board members
The Board recognises the unusual nature of having two non-Independent members.
This is a voluntary arrangement that has been in place for 40 years.

Dato’ Lee Hau Hian is the Board's representative for our largest shareholder, Kuala Lumpur
Kepong Bhd {21.3%) which provided financial support for our recent acquisitions, via share
placing and a rights issue with his extensive leadership experignce in chemical
manutacturing. He ofters the Board and Executive Committee invaluable insights when
making business decisions as well as a perspectiva on the Malaysian and southeast Asian
business landscape.

Ths Hon. Alexander Catto is a member of Synthomer's founding family. Today, the Catto
farnily owns a 5% shareholding. Some of our investors continue Yo vote against Alexander's
Board mambarship, but we belicve he provides desp knowledge of Synthomer's past and &
unique long-term shareholder perspactive. His background in invastment banking and time
on other boards also give him extensive business, finance, investor engagement and

governance experience,
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Corporate Governance

Our Executive Committee

Bipgraphies for Michael Willome,
Stephen Bennett and Richard Atkinson
can be found on pages B4 and B7.

Rob Tupker
President,
Funietional Solutions and Europe

Nationality: Dutch

Neil Whitley
President,
Performance Eiastomers Asia

Nationality: British

Ana Perroni Laloe
President,
industrial Speciaiities

Nationality: Brazilian

Position and date of appointment
President, Functional Solutions and Europe
since September 2018.

Other Executive respansibilities
Executive sponsor of Diversity and Inclusion
Leadership Commities, Member of Executive
Committee Sustainability Steering Group, and
Pathway programmie Steering Committee.

Skills and experience

Rob was previously with Honeywaell, where

he held a variety of senior business leadership
positions in the performance materiats and
home and building technotogies divisions,
Prior to Honeywell, he workead with Siid-
Chemie {now Clariant) and Unilever's/ICl's
{now Givaudan's} flavour and fragrance
division. Rob worked and lived for sevan
years in Asia Pacific, five years in the USA
and 20 years across Europe. He has a
chesmical engineering degree from Eindhoven
Technical University, an MSc from MIT and
an MBA from INSEAD.
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Position and date of appointment
President, Performance Elastomers Asia
since January 2021. President, Global HR
since 2015.

Other Executive responsibilities

HR, member of the Executive Committes
Sustainabitily Steering Group and the
Pathway programme Steering Committee.

Skills and experience

Since joining Synthorner in 2015, Neil has

had responsibility for the Industrial Specialities
and Acrylate Monomers divisions and led

the integration of the OMNOVA acquisition.
Neil was previpusly with Johnson Matihay
where he was a member of their executive
managemant committee and division tirector
of the process technologies catalyst and
chemicals refining divisions. Prior to Johnson
Matthey, Neil worked in business, finance and
HR roles at ICL. He is an economics graduate
from Leeds University and an alumnus of
INSEAD's Advanced Leadership Programme.

Position and date of appointment
Prasident, Industrial Specialities since
February 2022,

Other Executive responsibilities
Ana Is the driving force in the team that
founded and have been leading our
ENGENDER wornen'’s network,

Skills and experience

Ana joined Synthomer in March 2018 as
Global Business Development Manager in
our IS Division. She holds a BSc in Chemical
Engineering from IMT in Sao Paulo.

She started her career at Ciba Specialty
Chemicals in Brazil, followed by commercial
roles in the UK, Brazil again and Switzerland.
She then took a career break and founded
and ran a amall business as she started

a family before joining Synthomer. )



Board committee key
Audit Committee

[R] Remuneration Committee
(M} Nomination Committee
[B] pisctosure Committee

B Committes Chair

Marshall Moore
Chisf Technology Officer and President,
Americas

Nationality: American

Philip Wrigley
President,
Operations and SHE.

Nationality: British

Tim Hughes
President,
Corporate Development

Nationality: British

" Position and date of appointment
Chief Technology Officer and President,
Americas since April 2020,

Other Executive responsibilities
Chairman of the Synthomer Foundation
Board of Trustees and a member of the
Executive Commitiee Sustainability Steering
Group.

Skills and experience

Marshall was praviously chief technology
officer and senior vice president of oparations
with OMNOVA Sclutions. He has 35 years
of experience in polymers and speciality
chernicals, working with Borden Chernicals,
GE Plastics and Chemtura, prior to joining
OMNOVA in 2015. Assignmants have
included leadership positions in technology

ang innovation, quality assurance and process -

excellence, operations, government affairs
and advocacy, marketing, and information
technology. He holds a degree in chemistry
and is a certified Six Sigma Black Belt.

Position and date of appointment
President Oparations and SHE since
May 2021.

Other Executive responsibilities
Member of the Executive Committee
Sustainability Steering Group.

Skills and experience -

Phil joined Synthomer in March 2019 and
was previously Vice President, Operations
for Functional Solutions, Prior to Synthomer,
Phir worked in the chemical industry for
more than 30 years across speciality and
commodity sectors for Venator, Huntsman,
Rio Tinto Alcan, Rehm and Haas, Hickson
and Welch and ICI. He has significant
experience of global operational and

SHE improvement programmes. He is the
operational lead for due diligence, integration
and synergy delivery for several large
acquisitions at Synthomer. Phitis also a
chartered engineer and member of LMech.E,

Position and date of appointment
President, Corporate Development since
2018. Tim joined Synthomer in June 2009
and becama a member of the Executive
Committee in 2013.

Other Executive responsibilities
Member of the Executive Committee
Sustainability Steering Group.

Skills and experience

Tim was previously group managing director,
Urethane Technologies, Chemtura Inc having
previously led the Urethane Spaciality
Chemicals joint venture between Chemtura
and Croda plc since 1998. Prior to Chemtura,
Tim spent 14 years with Courtaulds plc in
business leadership and marketing roles in
the speciality chemicals and fibres divisions.

Daring his career at Synthormer ha has been

rasponsible for the Industrial Specialities
division and the Americas, Middle East
and Africa region.
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Corporate Governance

Introduction to corporate governance

Introduction from the Chair

Overseeing ambition,
supporting growth

The Executive changes saw us welcoming
Michael Willorme as our new Group Chief
Executive Officar and Lily Liu, who will join

us by July 2022, as our new Chief Finance
Cfficer. We describe the search processes
that led to their recruitment — along with that
of our new Independent Non-Executive
Director, Roberto Gualdoni — on page 107.
Here, ! would like ta repsat the Board's warm
welcome to them, and to say how pleased we
are to have found peopls whose skills,
mindsets and personalities will add huge
value and diversity to Synthomer.

Scrutinising decisions

and moniloring progress

As well as guiding strategic recruitment,

in 2021 the Board oversaw two significant
decisions that will shape the future of our
business for years to come. The first, in the
Board priority area of environment, society
and governance (ESG), was the davelopment
and launch of Synthomar's Visicn 2030
sustainabilty roadmap. The Board engaged

Even for a business as dynamic as in detaled discussions of the appropriate
targets for Vision 2030, taking a long-term

Synthomer, 2021 was notable as a year view of the interests of the business and its

« - - itity to deli . W

in which the Board oversaw Executive o361 5 arove. e T version e

and Board appOintments, major Strategic gives us a clear direction to steer in the

decade ahead. We will continue to review

activity and monitored significant progress | Synthomers ESG targets and challange

the Executive team to ensure they remain

against our key priorities. as stretching as possible. For more detai

an Vision 2030, see page 18.

The second significant decision concerned
our proposed acquisition of Eastman's
Adnesive Resins businass. This very
significant transaction - the largest in our
history — was the subject of detailed Board
oversight, planning and discussion over
much of 2021,

9 O Synthomer plc
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As well as discussions with Synthomer teams,
we sought expert inputs on market dynamics,
prospects and pricing, the acquisition process,
and the likely transition. We considered the
impact of the acquisition on our full range of
stakehotders through a detailed section 172
process, concluding that the transaction
served all their interests — and strengthened
our ability to offer a broader portfolio of
products with sustainability benefits.

We also continued to ensure that Synthomer's
approach to risk evolved with the changing
cireuwmstances we face. As part of this eftort,
led by our Group Internal Audit and Risk
Cirector and following discussion with
extarnal consultants, we made important
adaptations to our risk management
framawork. We rg-assessed our Board
appetite for our significant business and
strategic risks. In addition, the Board will

now consider the speed at which a risk might
oceur, as well as its prabability and impact.
For more details, see our Audit Committes
report on page 98.

In a year of growth and high performance,
the Board was also closely involved in a wide
range of major projects, receiving regular
updates on ongoing programmes such as
Synthomer's capacity expansion in nitriles,
the OMNOVA, integration, the new Asian
Inncvation Centre in Malaysia, and the
business process and system transformation
Pathway programme. =

Continuous improvement for the Board
We continued to act on, and benefit from,

the learnings of cur external 2020 Board
gvaluation. As the Board continuas to evolve
to serve the business, we focused on our
priorities in the crucial areas of succession
planning and diversity and inclusion.

Having compared our skills with those

of other leading compantes in 2020, we
concluded that we have a strong blend

of skills and experience, but wanted to add
to our industry, innovation and European
experience — and this guided us in our NED
recruitment in 2021. Recently, we undsrtook
a deeper review of skills and experience of
the Board moving into 2022 and this guided
our succession planning. We have very strong
international representation, for instance, and
will look to deepen our UK public company
experience in future recruitment.

We also made prograss in our drive to have

a more diverse and inclusive leadership tearm;
setting a goal of 50% gender diversity In new
hires to senior roles by 2030. We got off to

a good start by reaching our first milestone

- 20% of women in such positions — by the
end of 2021, More detaiis on our succession
planning are on page 108.

1 am also developing the Board agenda with
the help of my Board colleagues. We have
included thematic deep dives for the Board

-to strengthen focus on strategic priorties.

We had sustainability as a Board meeting
standing item in 2021, to driva our prograss
in this area, During the year, we expanded the
opportunities for strategic discussion, debate
and expert input at Board meetings ~ for
example, by hearing from external specialists
an our ESG priorities while we considered
Vision 2030. This is something we want to

do more of. We also intend to increase our
engagement with stakeholders, now that
COVID-19 restrictions are lifting. § am
particutarly keen to heighten our engagement
with emplovees at former OMNOVA sites,
which have been difficult to visit during

the pandemic.

Following our 2020 external evaluation ot
the Board and Committees, this year we
conducted an internal review. The feadback
suggests that we have made good progress
on all our 2021 priorities.

Having had two cfosed Annual General
Meetings due to COVID-18, t am particularty
locking forward to meeting more sharehclders
than | was able to during 2021 at our coming
AGM. We aspire towards making our AGMSs
more inclusive by adopting virtual attendance
mechanisms. However, for the time being,
wae will monitor how market practice develops
and this coming meeting will be solely
physical. Wa will continue to invite questions’
to be submitted in advance of the meeting.

Caroline Johnstone
Chair of the Board

3 March 2022 *

Changes to our
governance reporting

We have changed the way in which we
report on governance this year to make
the information more accessibla. The main
body of the report (see ‘The Board's year’)

sets out key activities that our Board

mermbers have undertaken during 2021,

Wa have also developed a new, separate

compliance section, set out on pages

109-110, which describes how wa have
complied with UK Corporate Governance
Code (2018 varsion), with emphasis on

how we have applied its principles.

| hope that | will meet shareholders at the
AGM and | am always happy to hear from
and speak with shareholders at any time.

uode: oifeens
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Corporata Govarnance y
Introduction to corporate governance continued

'

Our governance structure .
The governance structure is designed to ensure that the Board focus is on strategy, moritoring peérformance and ensuring appropridte risk
appetite, risk rmanagemant and controls.

Board
= Responasible for Synthomer's long-term success and setting the Group's purpose, valugs and culture, and strategic direction
* Qverseges Group strategy and risk assessment
* Rasponsible for corporate governance and ovearall financial performance

The Company Secretary providas advice to the Board and its Committaes and supports the Chair in all govarnance matters.

A2
Audit Nomination Remuneration Disclosure
Committee Committee Committee Committee
* Monitors integrity of financial ~ » Reviews size, skills, diversity,  » Sets, reviews and * Monitors compliance with
statements experignca and Board recommends remuneration disciosure controls and
» Qversees internal controls composition policy for the Chair, procedures for material
and risk managemeant = Leads process to appoint Executive Directors, and information
process new Diractors ang senior Exacutive Committee + Responsible for identifying
* Manages relationship with management succassion » Ensures the Remuneration inside information
external auditor, including planning Policy is properly
recormmendations to Board e QOvarsees development implementad
and shareholders on of a Board and » Reviaws the design and
appointment and senior management approvas targets of
reappointment succession pipeline performance-reiated
* Keeps non-executive and pay schemes
executiva leadarship needs + Reviews worldarce
under raview remuneration and
* QOversees the Board related polices
evaluation processes
Read more on page 98 Read more on page 106 Read mora on page 112
S

Executive Committee
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Company President, President, Presidant, President, President, Chief
Financial Secretary Performance | Functional industriat Corporate Cparations Technology
Officer and Chief Elastormers/ Solutions/ Specialities Cevelopment Officer/
Counsel Prasident President, . President,
Asia and Europe Americas
Global HR

In 2018, Synthomer formed a cross-functional Sustainability Committee comprising representatives from all the key functions and businesses,
as well as divisional presidents. The Committee meets quarterly and is chaired by the Group Sustainability Director who reports directly to the
Executive Committee. This ansures Synthomer's sustainability agenda is aligned with Group strategy and helps to embed sustainability issues
within our businesses.

Seae page 42 for more information on owr approach to sustainability including sustainabilty governance.
Sae page 111, Compliance with the Code, for more information on the division of respongibilities.

9 2 Synthomer plc
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Board and Committee meeting attendance

[7:]
The table below outlines all Board and Committae meeting attendance. Whan a Director is unable to attand, their views are sought in agvance g
and incorporated into discussions. &
Non-Executive Diractors must disclose to the Board other significant commitments before their appointment. Any proposed new significant -E
commitments require Board approval bafore thay are accepted. +
Board MNomination Audit R ation D _—
Total number of scheduled meetings 20 10 6 5 5 o
[+
Members Attendsd Attended Attendsd Attended Artended @
=2
Caroline Johnstone 20 10 3 5 2
Calum MacLean - stepped down in November 2021 18 (18) 44
Michael Willome - joined Synthomer in November 2021 2 (2) 1(1)
Stephen Bennatt 19 5 ©
Brendan Connglty 19 10 6 5 5 §
- L3
Lee Hau Hian - joined the Nomination Committee in . ]
March 2021 19 8(8) E
&
Alexander Catto - joinedt the Nomination Committee in g
March 2021 20 88 g
w
Holly Van Deursen - joined the Nomination Committea
in March 2021 20 81(8) 6 5
Cynthia Dubin 18 10 6 S
Roberto Gualdoni - ioined Synthomer in Juty 2021 7(N 3(3) 33 3(3)
Just Jansz - joined the Nomination Committee in L
March 2021, stepped down in Seplember 2021 13 (13) 7(7) 33 4 (4)
o
For Directors whao only served for part of the year, the numbers in brackets indicate how many mestings they were gligible to attend. 8
B
2
=
:
£
5
' :
g’.
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Corporate Governance
The Board’s year

This has been an exceptional year for Synthomer with a heavier
than usual workload for the Board. Due to CCVID-19, the majority
of its 20 meetings were held online. In December 2021, the
Board held its first full face-to-face meeting, with only one Non-
Executive Director attending virtually due to illness. In light of
changing work practices, the Board will now hold two of its
scheduled meetings virtually from 2022.

As well as the major areas highlighted below, we established
longer-term succession planning for key roles and were therefore
well prepared when our Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Stephen
Bennett, announced his decision to step down in August 2021.
The Board also approved ongoing site transformation projects,
including closing our only coal-fired power station at our site in
Sokolov, Czech Republic (see page 59 in our Sustainability report
for more information). It also approved the financial plan to
transfer production from our Marl 3 site in Germany, which we
are closing, to our location in Austria.

Transition to a new management team
This year, we carried out an extensive
recruitment process to hire a new Chief
Executive Officer (CEQ), a new Chief Financial
Oftficer (CFO) and a new Independent
Non-Executive Director (NED).

“The induction process
was very thorough and
comprehensive and

helped me to get under
the skin of the business.”
Michael Willome, CEQ

Wa appointed recruitment specialists Egon
Zehnder to help us search for our CEC and
NEL. Meanwhile, we hired Spencer Stuart

to help us recruit a new GFQO. Both agencies
helped us create clear role and candidate
specifications. They were asked to consider
diversity in its widest sense when developing
long- and shortlists of candidates for all roles.

As stated in our Annual Report 2020,

Egon Zehnder led our Board skills review
and an external evaluation of Synthomer's
Board and Committeas in 2020. This work
aside, the Company and its Directors do not
have any connection with Egon Zehnder nor
Spencer Stuart.

CEO: comprehensive selection process
and induction

Wa selected Michael Willorme as our new
CEQ following a cormprehensive search
acrosgs more than 100 companies in a range
of sectors, including speciality chemicals
and other industrial businesses.

Michael joined Synthomer in November

2021 and brings established public market
axperignce and a strong performance track
record, including in M&A. He also has a deep
understanding of speciality chemicals and our
end markats.

Synthomer plc
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We created a comprehensive induction
programime for Michael, which is set out in
our Nomination Committee report on page
108. Datails of Michael's reward package
are set out on page 112 of our Remuneration
Committee report.

CFO: selecting a candidate with a strong
record it growth

To help us identify our new GFO, wa carried
out a thorough search across several key
candidate groups, including sitting CFOs in
other FTSE 250 companies, We announced
Lily Liu's appointment in November 2021,

and she will join the Company no later than
July 2022, For mora information on Lily's
appointment, see page 107 in our Nomination
Committee report and pages 112 to 113 in our
Remuneration Committee report.

NED: bringing wide experience of the
chemical sector and board membership
We appointed Roberto Gualdoni as a new
Non-Exacutive Director to replace Just Jansz,
who retired in 2021 having completed his
nine-year tenure. Roberto has extensive
knowledge of the international chemical
industry and a wealth of board-level
experience. Infarmation about Roberto's
induction can be found in our Nomination
Committee report on page 108,

Eastman’s Adhesive Resins acquisition
We met regularly throughout 2021 to

discuss progress, due diligonee and our own
business core assessment of the proposed
acquigition. The Board worked with both
Calum and Michael 1o ensure we considered
all apportunitiss and risks of the transaction
and that everyone was aligned. We carefully
considared the timing of the proposed
acquisition alengside the senior management
transaction - the whole of the exscutive team
joined the Board discussions and showed,
with their experience, support and planning
for the integration of the acquisition.

Knowing that our new CEO was in place and
supportive, and given the compeliing business
case, we concluded that his acquisition was

in the interests of all stakeholders.

Training and development

We are committed to providing relevant,
ongoing training for our Board members

to help them strengthen thair understanding
of key governance issues. Every year, our
Remuneration Committee asks an external
specialist to provide updates on market
practice, remuneration trends and corporate
governance developments at its August
meeting. That meeting is attended by

the whole Board. In 2021, the Board

also undertook workshops and training

on reporting requirements under the TCFD
and the UK's Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) white
paper Restoring Trust in Audit and Corporate
Governanca. See our Audit Committee report



on page 102 for more infermation on the
actions we have taken as a result of the
white paper. The Board also received
refresher training on Directors’ duties and
responsibilities as part of our Eastman’s
Adhesive Resins acquisition work.

Outcomes of our 2021 internal

Board review

We hold external evaluations of the Board
every three years, with internal reviews in the
intervening years. In 2021, we held an intemal
evaluation, with the main polints for follow up
relating to enhancing our strategy process;
maintaining our culture of leaming lessons from
past experiences; and further development of
our stakeholder engagement and succession
pans. We have a clear action plan for 2022,

Making progress against our 2020

Board evaluation

We implemented actions from our latest
external Board and Committee evaluation in
2020 {(facilitated by Egon Zehnder) reviewing
key areas such as Board processes and
composition, succession planning,
stakeholder relationships and quality -

of discussion.

Key recommendations from

our 2020

wb took in 2021

Strengthen focus oh
Board agenda
priorities

A series of special
topics and deep
dives were agreed as
part of the Board
annual planner.

Enhance learning
opportunities

Wa Increased the
nurnber of extarnally
supported
workshops and
training sessions that
the Board receives.

Further develop
Board dynamics

We increased the
regularity of ocur
Chair's one-to-one
discussions with Qur
Non-Executive
Directors and
Executiva Diractors.

Drive progress in
sustainability

We added
sustainability as a
standing item at
each Board mesting.

‘Board engagement: strengthening
stakeholder connections

Understanding the needs and expectations
of our stakeholders is an important part of
ansuring Synthomer's success. The Board
has a role to play in this and members
make themselves available to stakeholders
throughout the year. Qur Executive Directors
play an important role in engaging with our
shareholdars and report back to the Board
atter results presentations. Qur brokers
provided ingights and feedback from
shareholders throughout the year and

as we announced our acquisition of
Eastman's Adhesive Resing business.

QOur employaes are one of our most important
stakehotder groups. In 2021, the Board
assessed its employes engagement -
approach against FRC guidance.

This demonstrated that we have important
strangths, such as a clearly designated
Non-Executive Director who acts as the
Board's ‘'employsee voice'; and a flexible
structura that allows employses to raise
Issues. It alsoc showad we have more work
to do in some areas, such as in letting
employees know how the Board has

used their feediback to make decisions.

Ways that we take the pulse of our culture
Employee engagesment is one of the key
ways the Board Ffulfils its responsibilities fo
set Synthomer's cultural tone and assess and
monitor adherence to our values. The Board
is particularly aware that it needs to increase
its engagement with employees at former
OMNOVA sites - which has proved difficult
during the pandemic — ang has plans to

do so In 2022, The Board will also engage
with employees transferring from the
Eastman’'s Adhesive Resins acquisition

once it has completed.

During the vear, although COVID-19
restrictions hampered plans for face-to-face
contact, Alexander Catto, cur designated
Non-Executive Director for workforce
engagement, was able to meet employees
at our site in Harfow, in the UK, Holly Van
Deursen, one of our Independent Non-
Executive Directors, is now supporting
Alexandar in his engagement role, During the
year, they joined employees in Germany and
the LISA in virtual meetings. Their findings
were discussed by the Board at our
December meeting.

Board members also took part in other
employee activitias. For example, Caroline
Johnstone and Helly Van Deurgsen engaged
with Synthomer's new Engender women's
network. Brendan Connolly also hosted

two employee sessions on executive
compensation. The Board continued to assess
employee opinions by drawing on such inputs
as employee survay data, the use of our ethics
helpling, progress against environmental
targets, and health and safety data,

See page 97 for more information on Board
engagement, in our section 172 statement,

Strengthening our focus

on sustainability

In 2021, Synthomaer introduced its new
Vision 2030 rcadmap, outlining a series
of sustainability targets in three key areas:
products, operational health, safety and
environment, and people.

The Board held numerous discussions

with the Executive Committes to agree
these targets, which are supported by

a series of short-term objectives to guide
the Company through the next decade.
Those conversations ensured that our new
comraitments provide Synthomer with a
clear direction for the next decade while
recognising that there will be more to

do along the way. We appointed Deloitte

to help us prepare to report on TCFD
requirements. As part of that work, the firm
interviewed all our Non-Executive Dirsctors
to get their views on the subject. Deloitte also
provided progress reports on this work at
several Board meetings throughout the year.
Meanwhile, the Board continues to receive
reports on Synthomer's occupational health
and safety, and process safety performance
for discussion at every Board meeting.

See pages 42-88 in the Strategic report for
more information on our sustainabiiity agenda
and targets.

Risk management and internal control
The Board of Directors has ultimate
responsibility for the Group’s systems of risk
management and internal control and for
reviewing their effectivenass and sets
appropriate policies 1o enswe that the Code
requirements are met. The Group's internal
controls over the financial reporting and
consolidation processes ara designed under
the supervision of the Chief Financial Officer
to provida reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the

" preparation and fair prasentation of the

Group's published financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance
with IFRS.

The Group risk management framework is set
out on pages 70-71, Risks associated with
safely, heaith and the environment are, by the
nature of the Group's business, atways of tha
utmost concern and the sustainahility report
on pages 55-57 reviews thg Group's current
year performance.

The Doard confirms that a iobusl assessment
of the emerging and principal risks facing the
Group has been carried out and that it has
monitored and reviewsd the sffectivenass of
the Group's risk management and internal
control systems in 2021.

Synthomaer plc
Annual Feport 2021

95

adueuIaADn l vode. aBsjeng

SIUBIEIS @IOUEUY ANOIS

siuawaers eruewy Auedwon

UONEULION JBLO ]




Corporate Governance

Stakeholder engagement (s.172 compliance}

Understanding the issues that are
important to our stakeholders is essential
to the way in which we develop and
execute our business strategy. It is also
critical to our long-term success.

Our approach to section 172

Our section 172 stalement describes the
ways in which the Board has carried out its
responsibility to promote the success of the
Company, recognising that the key decisions
it makes today will affect long-term
performance. The statement considers
paragraphs A 10 F of the Companies Act
2006 and includes details on how the
Board has considered and engaged

with stakeholders.

When making decisions, the Board considers
the needs of our different stakehclder groups
as well as the likely consequences that any
action taken might have on Synthomer's
reputation. To help, the Board receives papers
that include a table setting out section 172
information. it uses this information to inform
strategic discussions, including implications far
the resilience of our business and the potential
impact on oUr community and environment,
It is the Chair's responsibility to ensure that
the Board considers section 172 whan
making its decisions.

‘When making decisions, the Board and

its Committees consider the interests

of our employees. Wa primarily engage
with employees via Alexander Catto,

our designated Non-Executive Direclor

for workforce engagement, Howsever, other
Board members met with employees during
2021 to discuss executive pay and diversity
and inclusion. More information about how
we engage with empioyees can be found in
our sustainability report on pages 62-68.

Board members make themselves available
to invastors. in 2021, however, most diract
engagement was carried out by our CEO
and CFC and reported back to the Board.

We recognise that it is not atways possible
to provide a positive outcome for most
stakeholders and that sometimes the Board
has to make decisions based on competing
priorities. The Board regularly assésses the
outcomes of its decisions and is available
1o talk to stakeholders when needed.

This engagement helps the Board better
understand what matters most to our
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stakeholders, as well supporting discussion
on relgvant issues. It also helps the Board
choose the course of action that best leads
to high standards of business conduct and
success for Synthomer in the long term.

Stakeholder engagement in 2021

There were no changas to the Board's
identified key stakeholders, as fisted in the
table oppaosite. in carrying out its duties, the
Board continued to snsure it understands,
and considers, the issues that matter most
to these stakeholder groups, particularly
when making material decisions.

The pandemic continued to have an impact on
the Board's engagement with stakeholders in
2021. For example, the full Board was unable to
carry out site visits and physical meetings with
employees. Instead, members received regular
updates on how employees across the Group
were coping and how Synthomer helped them
manage the cngoing operational, physical and
mental demands associated with running our
plants and businesses under COVID-19-ralatod
constraints. Management provided leedback
on how teams met strong demand from our
customers, particulary those involved inthe
manufacture of nitrle latex gloves. We were,
however, able to go ahead with our twice-yearly
materiality assessment, when we appraise what
sustainabiity issues matter most to our
stakeholders. During the Aprit 2021
assessment, wa spoke 1o a range

of stakehokders, including customers,
employees, sharehokdars and legistators.

Their feedback led us to make a number of
revisions to our approach. For more detafls,

see page 46 of the strategic report.

For the second year running, it was necessary
to hold our AGM as a closed mastling, dua to
the UK Government's COVID-18 regulations
which prevented shareholders from attending
a physical mesting. We did, however,

put measures in place that alowed
shargholders 1o submit guestions

in advance of the meeting.

Principal decisions in 2021

This was a particularly busy year for the Board,
with several changss in Syrthomer’s Executive
Committee, our proposed acguisition of
Eastman’s Adhesiva Resing businass and the
launch of the Company's new Vision 2030
sustainability roadmap and targets. Below we
set out two examples of the Board's principal
decisions in 2021 and how it considered
section 172 matters in the process.

Acquiring Eastman's Adhesive

Resins business

To carry out our acquisition of Eastman's
Adhesive Resing business, we had to raise
additional finance. We canvassed opinion
from key shareholders to ensure we had
their support and determined that it was

in the best interests of the business and
our investors to raise both our borrowing
rastriction from £1.5 biflion to £2 bilion and
additional equity through a £200 million
equity placing. That placing was heavily
oversubscribed. The Board also considerad
the acquired business’s impact on the
ervironment, requesting appropriate
information from Eastman’s managerment.
The acquisition aligns with cur sustainability
roadmap, with many of its products being
used in the making sustainable adhesives.

For our employees the Board was of the
view that the acquisition would bring a
number of career and training advantages
and opportunities.

In December 2021, we put tha borrowing
restriction to a vote at an Extraordinary General
Meeting and received 99.80% approval.

We also put the proposed acquisition to a vote
at the same meeting and received 99.98%
approval. We are very plaased with by the
level of support from investors, including
Kuala Lumpur Kepong Bhg.

Yision 2030

The Board spent several months engaged

in detailed discussions with the Executive
Committee 1o set appropriate targets as part
of the Vision 2030 roadmap. (See page 18 for
more detaiis.) During these discussions, the
Board interrogated and challenged the planned
targets and considgrad the views and
expectations of a range of stakeholders,
ingluding our employees, shareholders,
customers and suppliers. It also took a
leng-term view of the business and its abiity to
daliver on our purpose. The Board reviewed the
short-tarm objectives which were put forward
by the Exscutive Committee to underpin the
delivery of the 2030 targets. They considered
their alignment with matters of most concermn
to our stakeholders and maost material to our
business - carbon and climate change, diversity
and inclusion, and supply chain assurance.



Stakeholder groups

" How the Boaré engaged in 2021

Customers

Wa work with more than 6,000 customers
woridwids, providing the products thay
need to address technical and sustainability
chaltenges in their own manufacturing
processes.

Employees ,

Qur success relies on the talent of our
employees. We want them to feel part of a
culture that values divarsity and inclusion,
fairness and transparency.

Communities
We want the cornmunities who live near our
sites to see us as a good neighbour.

Suppliers
QOur suppliers deliver the raw materials and
services we need to make our products.

We look for ways to work in partnership with,

suppliers to create a more sustainabla
supply chain.

Shareholders

As a public company listed on the London
Stock Exchange and included in the FTSE
250 index, we have a responsibility to deliver
value for our shareholders.

Governments and authorities
As a member of the chemical industry and
scigntific community, it Is important wa
engage on issues such as policy,
caompliance and collaboration.

+ The Executive Committee attended all
scheduled Board meetings with divisional
Prasidents providing additional custormer-
related context when needed. .

Tha Board discussed the exceptional demand
from our nitrile glove customers, including
managing supply and pricing and

considaring the next phase of our

nitrile capacity expansion.

The Board received three presantations on
employes engagement in 2021, including a
proposal for a second Your Voice survey and
initial survey fincings later in the year.

The Beard received a full report on the survey
rasults and follow-up action plans in Gt 2022.
The Beard continued to manitor the impact of
COVID-19 at every Board meeting, receiving
statistics on emplayee infection rates, tasting
regimes, number of employees isolating and
working from home and the subsaquent
impact on operations.

in September, the Board approved a proposal
to adapt the Synthomaer Foundation's
governance modal 1o create a new global
voluntaaring rnetwark, See page 67 of our
sustainability report for more information.

In January and March, the CEO reported to
the Board on tha impact that the end of the
Brexit transition period had on our operations,
including on freight and logistics,

Our Vice President of Frocurement and the
Director of Procurement Excellance presented
their work 1o create a more sustainable supply
chain, including a new global procuremeant
excelience network and sustainable
procurement policy.

The CEQ and CFO provide updates on their
rmaetings with investors, and our President
of Corporate Development shares investor
relations developments at every Board
meeting.

»

Our Chair of the Board corresponded with the
Financial Reporting Council (FRC) 1o answer
guestions about closing our Sokofov
coal-firad plant following the FRC's thematic
review of IAS 37 'Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets'.

*

Since all areas of the business have sean
very strong demand, the Board has steyed
abreast of operational issues, such as plant
capacity and shift planning to mest the
additional demand.

Historically, the Board receives ad hoc
raports on product quality. Howaver, it has
asked for a more formal process of regular,
perodic reporting from 2022,

The Board reviawed plans for 2021
Employee Volce engagenment in April,
althcugh these had to be amended because
of the pandemic. Nonetheless, Alexander
Catto visited employees at our Harlow, UK,
site in Q2 and held two virtual meatings with
Holly Van Deursen for employass in
Germany and the USA In Q4. The Board
recelved faedback on these megtings.

In December 2021,

In future, tha Board will receive regular
raports from the Executive Committee on
progress against our Vision 2030 targets.

In June, the Vice President of Procurement
and the Procurement Diractor for Strategic
Raw Materials presented to the Board on
supply challanges over the past 18 months
caused by exceptional supply and demand
volatility and extremely high demand for our
products. The presentation demonstrated
how the procurement team had overcome
these challenges, using the Group's
expertise and relationships with its
suppliers. Ses page 51 of aur sustainabiity
report for more information on how we work
with suppliers.

Each Boerd pack includes analysts’
forecasts and consensus for financlal
performance, as well s 8 summary of the
externally preparad shareholder analysis
report, This shows our top 20 shareholders
and their mevernents alongside top buyers
and sellers. Analysts' reperts and notes are
shared with the Baard as they are Issued.

The Board indirectly engaged with the
FRC's waiver of the non-audit fee cap via
our auditor, PwC.

The Board received reports on tha changing
regulatory landscape, including the BEIS
consultation, TCFD reporting end corparate
governance, .

The Board receives & report three timeas a
year on legal compliance with operattonal
laws and regulations at our sitoo.

During the year, Synthomer's pravious CED
chaired a committee of the Chemical
Industries Association which engaged with
the Caobinet Office on post-Brexit issues
affecting the UK chemical industry.

Synthomer plc
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Corpaorate Govarnance

Audit Committee report

Audit Committee: an
introduction from the Chair

My first full year as Chair of Synthomer’s
Audit Committee has been a busy one, with
new arrivals, a major acquisition and
developments in the way we track and
manage our risks.

9 8 Synthomer plc
Annua) Report 2021

As a Board member, | have a fundamental
duty to help recruit new members of the
managernent team. And, as Audit Committee
Chair, | was particularly keen to ensure

we recruited a new chief executive who
understands that, done well, risk
management and audit are sssential tools

to help a business make better decisions.

| am pleased we have found that person

in Michael,

A year of progress

| was also personally very pleased that
Synthomer began rolling out the new Pathway
business transformation programme 1o our
first sites in 2021, This has been a big
capital-intensive projact that will help
standardise and digitatise the way we manage
core businass processes, such as inventory
management, invoicing and procurament.

During the year, the Audit Commitise focused
on several key areas, including testing the
finangial robustness of our new acquisition from
Eastman, strengthening our risk management
framework and reviewing aur Internal Audit
junction and environmental reporting
methodology. We also considered more routine,
but important, areas such as responding to
regulatory changes and adjusting our approach
1o Committee meetings to make best use of
everybody's time.

Oversight of our proposed acquisition
The announcement of Synthomer's plans to
acquire Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business
in October 2021 marked a big step forwards
in our growth ambitions. | am pleased with
how well we have worked with our auditor,
PwC, this year. The lavel of diligence
exsrcised on the reporting accountant

work for the Eastman deal, for example,

was exceptional and | am particularly grateful
to our new lead audit pariner, David Beer,
and his team lor their hard work.

The proposed acquisition required PwC to
request the Financial Reporting Council (FRC}
for a second waiver to aliow them to breach
their cap on fees to auditors for non-audit-
related services. While the FRC approved

our request, they made it clear they would
not approve a further waiver request for at
least two years. | am, however, satisfied that
wa did everything possible to avoid making
the reguest and, on page 105, we explain our
feasoning and the steps we're taking to avoid
a recurrence.



Improving our risk and audit processes
External consultants worked with us on
important changes to our risk management
framework. In particular, they helped the
Board and management team understand
good practice when defining risk appetite.
As part of that work we have added a third
dirmension to our risk framework: we now
consider the speed at which a risk might.
occur as well as its probability and impact.

Cur Group internal Audit and Risk Director,
Ginette Grant, has made great progress

in her first full year at Synthomer. As well
as reviewing our risk management strategy,
processes and team structure, Ginette

has been very proactive with the Board.,
interviewing individual members to
understand their audit pricrities for 2022.

Supporting Synthomer's

sustainability agenda to meet
stakeholders' expectations

To reflect the growing significance of
sustainability and the need to track progress
against our Vision 2030 targets, our Internal
Audit tearmn will begin reviewing aspects

of Synthomer's environmental reporting
methodology. We, as a Board, are now
reviewing all our capital aliocation plans
with sustainability in mind.

Responding to regulatory

developments and reviews

Addressing sustainability is just one way

we can meet society’s expectations of us

as a responsible business. We must remain
proactive in other key areas, such as public
trust, which regulators are looking at very
clogely. In 2021 the UK's Department for
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
(BEIS) held a consultation on this subject and,
while final recommendations are due in 2022,
with companies expacted to implement them
in the coming years, the direction of travet! is
clear: businesses like ours must be prepared
for the introduction of some new Sarbanes-
Oxlay-like regulation. We have begun building
a roadmap that will put us in a good position
whatever the outcomes. Synthomer has

a distinct advantage since our acquired
OMNOVA business, being originally an
American campany, has an internal control
environment and processes which were
compliant with Sarbanes-Oxley.

The FRC's May thematic review on interim
reporting was another of this year's regulatory
developments. We moved quickly, mapping
our 2021 half-year results work against the
review and applying the lessons learned to
this Annual Report. -

| started this introduction by saying that
this has been a busy year - it's also been
a rewarding one. As a committee we've
continued to work well, albeit virtually, and
| am pleased with how we adapted some
of our meetings to enable thematic deep
dive sessions with more time for questions
and answaers.

It's been a pleasure to work with
colleagues across Synthomer who bring
diverse thinking, respect and even passion
for risk management and audit to the
table. | would like to thank everyone for
their dedication in such a busy year. | look
forward 1o continuing that work in 2022
and beyond.

Cynthia Dubin
Chair

3 March 2022
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Corporate Governance

Audit Committee: How the committee operates

Audit Committee role

Woe assist the Board’s oversight of our
tinancial systems and raparting, and the
adequacy and effectivaness of our internal
controls and risk management. We also lead
the oversight of both external and internal
audit. Cur full tarms of reference, reviewed
and updated during the year, are available
at www.synthomer.com.

Committee members

The Comimittee comprisad four members
until July 2021 when Roberto Gualdoni joined
the Committee (and the Board) bringing it up
to five members. The Committes reverted

to four members on the resignation of

Just Jansz in September 2021. Roberto
undertook a rigoreus induction on his
appointment, meeting with members of the
Executive Committes, senior members of the
finance team, Group Intarnal Audit and Risk
Dirgctor, and the lead external audit partner,

The Board considers that each mamber is
independsnt within the definition of the Code.
Cur Committee Chair, Cynthia, has recent
and relevant financial experiance in line with
Provision 24 of the Code. She has had a long
carear in finance, including having been GFO
of a premium-listed LSE company and a
member and chair of audit committees at
both Nasdaq- and NYSE-listed companies.
Together, Commitiee mambars have a wida
range of financial, operational and commercial
experience across the chemicals and
enginesring sectors.

The skills and experience of Committee
members are set out on pages 84-87.
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Committee meetings and operation
Other Board members have a standing
invitation to attend our meetings, unless
notified otherwise. We are very pleased that
our CEQ and CFO attend our Committes
meetings, often with the rest of the Board.
Cur programmae of risk reviews and updates
has also allowed us to invite high-potential
and diverse members of the managemant
team to attend. These include senior Group
finance team members, the Group Internal
Audit and Risk Diractor, and PwG, led by
audit partner David Beer.

The Committee mests regularly with PwC
and with the Group Internal Audit and Risk
Director without management present.

Tha Chair also ligises with Brendan Connolly,
the Senior Independent Non-Executive
Dirsctor and Chair of the Remuneration
Committee, to discuss matters such

as setting Executive Director

compensation targets.

Quiside formal mestings, the Chair meets
regularly on a one-to-one basis with the CEQ,
the CFO, Group finance team members, the
Group Internal Audit and Risk Director and
PwC, to deveiop the Committee’s programume
of work and to review progress in actions we
have agreed. This enables us to explors and
understand key issues as they arise and

to ensure we have appropriate inforrnation
prepared for, and sufficient time to address,
kay issues in Committee meetings.

Correspondence with the FRC

In Dacember 2020 the FRC advised us

that Synthamer had been selected for

the thematic review into 1AS 37 ‘Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets'
in the Annua! Report and Accounts for the
year ended 31 Dacember 2020.

Subsequently, in October 2021 the FRC
asked us to explain whether we were obliged
to decommission our coal-fired utility plant

in the Czech Republic and o confirm the
amount was included in provisions for the
expected outflows. Wa clarified that the
rastructuring charge and provision included
the estimated cost to mest the legal obfigation
to decornmission the plant. We explained

that the amount was not material to the Group
but acknowledged, with hindsight, that the
disclosure would have been improved

if it had stated that the restructuring

charge and provision included the
decommisgioning costs.



Activities during the year
To address our core remit in 2021, we:

Integrity of corporate » Reviewed and approved the Group's annual and interim financial statemants, including preliminary rasuits

and financial

announcement

reporting, significant * Raviewad and approved significant accounting policies, estimates and judgements and reported alternative

judgements and
estimates

performance measures
* Reviewed and challenged the assumptions and sansitivities in the scenarics modslled to support the preparation
of the accounts on a going concern basis and in assessing the longer-term viability of the Group
Reviewed the FRC guidance for 2021 covering interim reporting, annual accounts and corporate governance
reporting, along with a summary of the management's approach to implementation
Assessed the processes for assuring the Board that the 2021 Annual Report and Accounts, when taken together,
is fair, balanced and understandable
Regularly reviewed the Group’s material litigation and concluded, in the Fabruary 2022 Committee meeting, that the
provisions are appropriate
Reviewed the UK payment practices report, discussed the underlying data and challenged management on certain
aspects of the report

External audit

Approved the external audit ptan for 2021; discussed the experience and expertise of the key members of the
engageméﬂt team, in the light of a mainly remote audit; and approved the audit fee

Carried out a review of the auditor's reports, including PwC views on significant accounting judgements, estimates
and the internal contro! environment

Reviewed compliance with the FRC's Ethical Standard for auditors and the restrictions on auditors in providing
non-audit services. Approved the provision of certain permissible non-audit services by PwC (for detail, see page 105)
Considered and confirmed PwC’s indspandence (see page 104). Monitored PwC’s work as reporting accountants

on the acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business and the subsequent year-end audit, to ensure there was
no impact on their independence /

Reviewed and assessed the performance of PwC and our lead aucit partner

Considered the need to put the extarnal audit out to tender. After discussion and challenge, we recommended PwC's
reappointment

L ]

L]

Internal audit, risk
management and
internal controls

Reviewed risk processes across the business to identify and mitigate risks

Implemanted changes te our risk management framework, adding an additional dimension of the speed at which
the risk might occur to probability and impact '

Continued our programme of deep dive reviews on the risk management of our global businesses and functions.
Alongside our reviews of Performance Elastomers, Functional Solutions, Industrial Specialities and Acrylate
Monomers, we also considered pensions, tax, Group-wide cyber security, the security and reliability of our industrial
automation and control systems, and strategic sourcing operations

Drafted a detailed delivery plan to build the content of the Audit and Assurance Policy and developed a high-level
assurance map

Received updates at each meeting on ongoing and completed internal audits and actions arising

Considared the results of the 2021 controls assurance internal audits and IT audits, the selff-assessment POCess,
and the adequacy and speed of management's response to matters raised

Reviewed and approved the 2022 internal audit plan and ensured there is sufficient resource to deliver it

Governance

Reviewad the corporate governance reporting and whether, as part of the Annual Report, it was fair, balanced

and understandable

Reviewed the effectivanass of the Group's anti-bribery and anti-fraud procedures

- Discussed the effectiveness of the Group's Code of Conduct and Ethics Helpline

- Received reports on the independent investigations conducted in response to concerns raised under the
whistleblowing policy and reported to the Board that we were satisfied with the outcomes

— Met with Group Internal Audit and Risk Director and the external auditor without managernent on several occasions

- Undertook a Committea effectivenaess review, assessed the results and concluded that the Committee was
operating affactively

~ Reviewed the Cormmittee's terms of refarence to ansura our role and responsibilities are aligned with the Code.
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Corporate Governance

Audit Committee: How the committee operates continued

BEIS consultation paper

The Board received a prasantation from
axternal consultants at its June meeting,
outlining the key topics raisad in the BEIS
consultation paper, Restoring Trust in Audit
and Corporate Governance, and rating each
topic on the impact on the Group and

its urgency.

Executive management assessed how the
Group could best respond to gach topic and
presented its findings to the Committee in
August. A number of projects were initiated,
in line with the likely oulcomes of the
consultation, each with a project lead/owner.
We receive updates on project progress at
sach Committee meating.

The largest project relates to intarnal
controls. This aims 1o ensure that our control
environment is sufficiently robust to be
audit-ready, for any new regulation; and for
Directors to be able continue to attest to its
effectiveness. Our acquisition of OMNQOVA
brought us a business which was Sarbanes.
Oxley {SOX} compliant and had never
reported a material deficiency. The former
Chief Accounting Officer and his deputy, who
have remainad with us, have experience of
SOX implementation and of maintaining and
reporting on a SOX ervironment, Thay will
lead this project,

Synthomer plc
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Going concern and viability statements
To enable the Board and Committes

to assess going concern and viability,
rmanagement sets out its assumptions

and the potential risks to the business and
possibla mitigatinns, together with econonic
and business scenarios. During the year,
there was a particular focus on the impact
of the proposed acquisition of Eastman’s
Adhesive Resing business and the expected
reduction in Performance Elastomers’ 2022
profitability. The process — conducted

by management, and reviewed by the
Committee to support the Board's
statement — included:

+ Raviewing thé Group's sources of funding
and, in particular, testing the levarage
covenant in our financing arrangements
and assessing available headroom

+ Reviewing the short-, medium- and
long-term cash flow forecasts in various
severe but plausible scenarios, as well as
reverse stress testing forecasts.

= Agsessing the Group's current and forecast
activities and factors likely to affect its
future performance and tinancial position.

The Committes discussed the going
concemn and viability statements at the February
2022 Committes meeting and recommsnded
that the Boand provide the statement set out on
page 128 and page 81. respectively.

Fair, balanced and understandable
The work undertaken by management
{and reviewed by the Commitiee) to
support the Board's statemant on our
Annual Report being “fair, balanced and
understandable’ includes:

+ Establishing a working group of

appropriately qualified Group people to

oversee the drafting of the Annual Report

and Accounts. This group met regularty to

ensure that disciosures were appropriate

for all stakehoiders and that drafting was

progressing well

Engaging a corporate communications

and reporting adviser, 10 assist

in drafting, editing and procf-reading

ihe Annual Report

Ensuring that the FRC's Qctober 2021

guidance, atong with other relevant

guidance, were taken into account

The CEQ and CFO contirming that, in

their opinion, the Annual Report was fair,

balanced and understandable

Requesting that cartain key contributors,

for example, Presidants and Finance

Directors of our giobal divisions, sign

a declaration confirming the accuracy

of their information

Arranging for our remuneration

consultants to review the Directors’

Remuneasation report

An audit trail being completed by the

WP, Group Finance for material data

underpinning non-financial information

in the Annual Report

Circulating drafts of the Annual Report

to PwC, the Commiittee and the Board

for review

» Discussing material disclosures at their
February 2022 Committee meeting

The Gommittee discussed the fair, balanced
and understandable statement at their
February 2022 Committee meeting and,

in light of the above, recommended that

the Board provide the statemerit as set out
on page 129.



Significant areas of judgement and estimate

The Committee’s review, challenge and conclusion

Taxation

The Group holds total tax provisions of £23.7 million refating

to matters raised by tax authorities in several jurisdictions.
Significant judgement has to be exercised by managesmant,

with advice from tax advisers, to datermine tax provisions, as the
final tax outcoma is uncertain and may not be known for several
years. The scale of the Group's uncertain tax provisions has
reduced significantly over recent years as various long outstanding
tax matters have been settled, both for and against the Group.

The Group Tax Director presented to the Board and the Committee
during the year. In assessing the year-and judgements for 2021, she
reported on the basis for calculating the effective tax rate of 22.5% and
the reconciliation to the statutory tax rates of the Group. She provided
regular updates on interactions with tax authorities that regulate the
jurisdictions in which we operate, setting out management'’s detailed
rationale and judgement for each current tax liability. The Commitiee
challenged management's judgements to ensure that they were
aligned with our Group tax strategy. The Committee concluded that the
estimates and disclosures were appropriate. PwC presented its findings
on management's judgements, using tax specialists as required, and
provided the Committes with its assessrment of their appropriateness.

Pensions

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes
{predominantly in the UK, USA and Germany) which have significant
liabilities, as outlined in note 26 to the Group financial statements.
Although the UK and USA schemes are closed to new entrants

and to future accrual, the assessment of liabilities of each of the
schemes is sensitive to changes in actuarial assumptions.

QOur Group Pensions and Benefits Director regularly attended the
Committee in 2021 to provide updates on our pension arrangements.
The Group continues to review our pension scheme investment
advisers and investment strategies to ensure we have a lower risk,
liability-driven investment approach, as wall as undertaking a review
of major scheme documentation to ensure it is up to date,

We received a report from management setting out the key assumptions
and rationale in valuing the liabilities of the main plans in the UK, USA and
Germany. The Group uses appropriately quatified external actuarial
advisers to help establish the assumptions used in the valuation of
the Group’s pension liabilities. PwC evaluated the assumptions and
melhodologies used by cur actuariaf advisers and management and
assessed whether their assumptions were appropriate and not materially
differert from external benchmarks for similar schemes.

The Committee reviewed the assumptions and methodology used
by management, including comparisons to those of other companies,
and concurred with the conclusions.

PwC reported that they were satisfied with the assumptions used and
the way the schemeas had been accounted for.
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Other areas of judgement

Alternative performance measyres - Special tems

The Group discloses Special ltems separately, to provide a
clearer indication of underying performance, Special ltems are
either irregular, and therefcre their inclusion in the assessment
of a segment’s performance would distort trends, or are technical
adjustments which ensure the Group's financial statements are
in compliance with IFRS, but do nat reflect the year's operating
performance; or both. An example of the latter is the amortisation
of acquired intangibles, which pringipally relates 1o acquired
customaer relationships. The Group incurs costs, recognised

as an expense in the income staterment, in maintaining these
cuslomer relationships. The Group considers that the
exclusion of the amortisation charge on acquired intangibles

from Underlying performance avoids the potential double-
counting of such costs and therefore excludes it as a Special

Item from Underlying performance.

The Committga regularly challenges management on what is
considerad Special ltems. It reviews in detail every such item which
is excluded or separated from reported Underlying profit and takes
into consideration guidance from the FRC and the external auditors.
The Committes is satisfied that it is helpful to a reader of the financial
statements to repart Underlying profit, together with IFRS profit,
without Spacial tems and that all Special Items reported met with
the Group's definition of such items.

European Commission investigation

During 2018, the European Commigsion {tha Commission) initiated
an investigation into practices relating to the purchase of Styrene
monomer by companies, including Synthomer, operating in the
European Economic Area. The Cornpany has and will continue

to fully cooperate with the Commisgion during its investigation.

In prior years given the ongoing investigation and the inherent
uncertainties associated with it, it was not possible to determine
whether or not a liability existed. Simfarly, given the many variables
in the Commission’s fining framework and accordingly the range of
possible cutcomes, the Directors were not able to reliably estimate
any potential possible liability. Therefore a contingent liability was
disclosed in each set of financial statements. Now based on the
information available and the resulting assessment of the expected
outcome of the investigation a provision of £57.2 million has bean
rnads in relation to this case.

During the course of this ongoing investigation the Committee
received from management regular updates on the facts and
circumstances in relation to this investigation afong with the
associated accounting analysis. PwC reported that they were
satisfied with the judgements and refated disclosures made by
management. The Committee discussed tha mattar and concurred
with the conclusions made.
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Corporate Governance

Audit Committee: How the committee operates continued

Risk management and internal
control environment

Each year, the Board is required to conduct
a review of the effectiveness of the Group's
systems of risk management and internal
control. The Board's statement rélating to this
review is set out on page 95. At its February
2022 meeting, the Committes reviewed
managerment’s assessment of the key
elements of these syatems and confirmed
their overall effectivaness. Their conclusion
drew on the following:

* The internal audit programme completed
during 2021 and progress in implementing
resulting actions

Qur programme of risk reviews and
digcussions with senior managers and other
staff across the Group throughout the year
Ongoing management assurance (via
Committeg papers, Board and Committes
presentations and discussions) to review
the Group's key financial controls 10 ensure
they support our continued growth

The key controls questionnaire, which is
completed and signed by each Group
operating unit each quarter
Representations to the CFO from the
divisions’ financial and commercial
management that the financia! information
reported to the Group has been prepared
in accordance with our accounting policies
and that all relevant information has been
provided for the preparation of the

Group's Annual Report and Accounts.
These representations are made twice
each year in line with our external

reporting timetable,

December 2021

Internal audit and risk

management function

The Group Interrial Audiit and Risk Director has
a direct reporting line 1o the Audit Committee
Chair and provides an independent assassment
of our internal control and risk management
procasses’ effectiveness; highlights key issues;
makes racommendations; and monitors
implemantation of mitigations and
recommendations. We have a dedicated
in-house Internal Audit function, which draws
on specialist regources as required. At each
meeting, the Commitiee reviewed prograss
against the Internal Audit annual plan and
explored areas identified for action. We alsc
reviewed completad audit reports, focusing on
recurring themas, which might require Group
actions, and areas where there was divergence
from self-assessments. Developments in our
internal audit arrangements are set cut in my
introduction on pages 98 to 99.

External audit

We reappointed PwC as our extarnal auditor
in 2616, following a full re-tendar process.
The firm has been the Group’s auditor

since 2012,

The Committea discussed the 2021 audit
process at its December 2021 and February
2022 meetings. During the year, the
Committee Chair was in regular discussion
with PwC's lead audit partner to discuss the
progress of the audit. The Committes mat
PwC without management being present
after the February 2022 Committee masting.
No significant issues were raised.

QOutcome/action taken by the Committee

Auditor independence and
objectivity and auditor-provided
non-audit services

The Committes has a clear policy on the
provision of non-audit services by the
external auditor and has defined the very
limited non-audit services they can provide.
Services can only be provided if approved by
the Committee and they are subject to a cap
of 70% of the average of audit fees for the
preceding thres years. All engagements for
non-audit services with an external audit firm
must be pre-approved by the Committes to
ensure that as many firms as possible would
be independent im an audit tender. Details of
audit and non-audit fees paid to the auditor
in 2021 are set out in note 7 on page 149.

PwC produced a report setting out how
they assessad themselves as independent.
This referred to reporting accountant work
undertaken as part of the acquisition of
Eastman's Adhesive Resins business.

PwGC confirmed that they remained
independert in respect of the 2021 audit.

The Committee concluded that PwC's
independence and objectivity were not
compromised by providing these services
and that, due to their knowledge of the
Group and its financial statements, it was
in Synthamer's interests to engage PwC.
Having considerad the steps taken by
PwC 1o preserve their independence and
the approach to non-audit services set out
above, the Committee concluded that PwC
continues to demonstrate appropriate
independence and objectivity.

PwC's audit risk assessment - set out on
pages 131 to 132

PwC undertook a detailed risk assessment, setting out their view of the significance of key risks
and the potential risk of material mis-staternent. Following discussion, the Cormnmittes agreed
with PwC that climate change, whilst not an area at significant risk, should be considered in the

overali context of their audit opinion.

Materiality level for the audit {page 133}

PwC proposed an audit materiality level of £11.6 miflion, basad on §% of Underlying profit
before tax of the average Underlying profit before tax ior the last three years, rather than just tor
the year ended 31 December 2021. It did 50 on the basis that current year profits ware abova a
‘normal’ recurring level. After dabating this with PwC and Executive Management, the
Committes felt it was an appropriate methodelogy for 2021.

PwC'’s audit plan

We raviewed the audit coverage and agreed scope {set out on page 131 to 134} in detail and
agreed they were appropriate. We asked PwG to perform work on the cut-aver procedures
used in implemanting the Pathway programme and to perform on-site fraud assessment work
in some smaller entities where they are not the statutory avditor. The Committee noted and

approved the continued high level of coverage.

PwC's resources

Wa reviewed and discussed PwC's resources with the firm, particularly the experience and
tenure of their audit partners in our key overseas territories, The Chair and Executive
Management interviewed the proposed audit partner for Mataysia, where the existing partner

had completad their tenure.

Audil fee and terms of engagement

The Committee reviewed PwC's fee proposal in light of the risks identified and proposed scope
and approved the proposed fee of £1.6 million, compared to £1.8 million in 2020,

L
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Outcome/action taken by the Committee

Confirmation of PwC's audit plan

PwC confirmed no material changes to the agresd plan.

Audit findings,
significant issues and other accounting
judgements {pages 132 to 133)

These were discussed with PwC and management - the work of the Committes is set out on
the previous pages.

Management representation letter

The Committes reviewed and approved this.

PwC's independence and objectivity and
quality control procedures

The Committee evaiuated and confirmed PwC’s independence, objectivity and quality control
proceduras. :

Audit quality — how we reviewed PwC's performance

During the year, the Committee evaluated the performance and effectiveness of the external auditor, PwC and our audit partner, David Beer in

the following ways:

External evidence

The Commitiee reviewed the FRC's 2020 Audit Quality Inspaction Report covering its
conclusions from a review of a selection of PwC audits which showed an improvement
year on year. David Beer shared details of actions taken by PwC in response to this report.

Management evidence

At our request, management sought feedback from people across the business who ware
involvad in working on the year end with PwC teams. The feedback was positive to all
guestions asked and indicated that PwC had performed their audit well with particularty
high ratings were for planning and quality of people and service.

Audit Committee evidence

David Beer attended all Committee meetings during the year and was involved as the Group
undertack the acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive Resins business acting in the capacity of
Reporting Accountant. Hg has demonstrated in Committee meetings how he has challenged
management in relation to significant accounting judgements and estimates and also worked
with management to ensure that the relevant guidance from the FRC issued in the year was

incorporated into both the Intarim and Annual Reports.

Reasoning .

The Group was in a bilateral negotiation with
Eastman in relation to its Adhesive Resins
business, in an exceptionally bucyant M&A
market and the timetable set by the seller
was short. As PwC performed similar work
for the Company in respect of the OMNOVA
acquisition in 2019, and in respect of

the issue of a'S144a bond in June 2020,
they have a strong understanding of our
processes, systems and people. However,
wa proactively soughtto engage another
audit firm to undertake this work.-Cther large
and challenger firms were approached but
were conflicted due to other work they carry
out for the Group, or did not have the skills
Or resourcas available to meet cur timetabla.

Use of PWC as reporting accountants for the acquisition of Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business

Steps to avoid a recurrence

As part of the planning for a Group audit
tender in 2025 we are monitoring all non-audit
work given 1o the large and challenger audit
firms. We will seok, as far as is practicable, to
concentrate all work that would impact these
firms' ability to bid for the audit, or provide
other indepandent assurance services, into
as few firms as possible to ensure we have
the biggest salection available from which to
choose. We will select a firm as a potential
partner for future reporting accounting work
that includes those areas of work subject fo
the Ethical Standards fee ¢ap and invast

in making the chosen firm famiiiar with

the Group to allow them to operate

as our reporting agcountant onany *

future acquisition.

How we assured independence

The Committee challenged judgements
made by management and asked PwC

to confirm that they complied with their
commitment to the FRG by having the work
on the 2021 audit reviewed by an internal
technical panel. The Committes also
confirmed with management and PwC that
all fees relating to the reporting accountant
work were paid before the audit opinion on
the 2021 financial statements was signed.
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Corporate Governance

Nomination Committee report

Nomination Committee:

introduction from the Chair ?

This has been a significant year

for Synthomer - and the Nomination
Committee - with a new CEO starting
on 1 November, a new CFO being
appointed shortly afterwards, and

a new Non-Executive member joining
the Board in July.

The Committee — which expanded this year to include all our
Non-Executive Directors — was closely involved with each of
these appointments and in planning inductions for our new
Directors. Committee members have also been involved in
discussions around Synthomer’s gender target and in further
strengthening our succession planning.

1 06 Synthomer plc
‘Annual Report 2021

Succession planning for continued growth
Ensuring that we have future leaders with

the right skills, experience and mindset is

as important as having the right people in
place today, Succession planning continued
to be a strong focus throughout the year for
the Nomination Committee and the wider
Board, as we worked to embed the ongoing |
development of a strong talent pipeling into

the way we operate, .

In lata 2021, we bulilt on the previous year's
independent skilis review - which assessed
our Board's capabilities against other plc
companies to heip identify and address gaps
- by looking at the functional skills the Board
will nead to stay competitive in the future,
The crucial skills identified included
marketing, digitalisation and sustainability.
As part of this process, all Board members
assessed themselves against thasa skills.
We will feed tha inteligence gained, and those
from our Board evaluation, into short-tenn
recruitment and longer-term succession
planning for the Board, as well as emergency
succession planning for the CEO and CFC.

Our succession planning draws not only

on necessary skills but also on our strategy
and diraction, which we discussed at length
in January 2021 in setting the scene for the
2021 CEQ and NED searches, in alliance
with Egon Zehnder, Our ability to move fast
to recruit a new CFO in November 2021,
when Stephen Bannett announced his attention
to step down in August, reflecied the
proactive work we were already doing in
long-term executive succession planning
with search experts Spencer Stuart,

The Board and Nomination Committee's
suscession planning focus extends to
Executive Committee members. Our new CEO
started reviewing the skills and scope of the
Executive team soon after he joined. We are
supporting him as he develops a blueprint to
strengthen and support the current team and
will develop longer-term succession plans for
aach of the Executive roles.

Setting the tone on diversity

and inclusion from the top

Diversity is as fundamental as skill and
experience in a strong leadership team,
Reflecting the society in which wa operate
is hoth the right thing to do and - research
shows — the best thing for business.
Diversity of thought and inclusive cultures
drive innovation and Jead to better business
outcomes. For all thase reasons, in 2021 we
strove to ensure that our current and futurs
leadars ars truly diverse.



The process for appointing our new CEQ and NED.

CEO

CFO

NED

Setting role
requirements

Following Calum’s decision to step
down, the Nomination Commiittee
and the Board worked clossly with
the Senior Independent Director,
HR Prasident and Group HR
Director, and recruitment specialists
Egen Zehnder to develop a clear
role and person specification

for our new CEQ.

We implemented succession
planning for key roles, including the
CFO, earty in 2021 and that allowed
us to accelerate our recruitment
process, working on this occasion
with search company Spencer
Stuart. We wantad someone with
an impressive track record and
exparience of working in a complex,
international business.

Following the retirement of Just
Jansz in 2021, with the completion of
his nine-year tenure, the Nomination
Committee, the Board, our Senior
Independent Director, HR President
and Group HR Director worked with
Egon Zehnder to develop a clear role
and person specification for our new
Non-Executive Director.

Identifying
candidates

In January 2021, the Board
confirmed its strategy of organic
and inorganic growth and that set
a backdrop to the CEQ recruitment,
Egeon Zehnder then interviewad all
members of the Board, and the
Nomination Committee debated
and agreed a detailed candidate
specification, with clear skills,
experience and attributes against
which to assess potential candidates.

Early in 2021, we appointed Spencer
Stuart to develop our succession
planning for key roles, including

the CFO. They developed a role
specification, with input from all
members of tha Board.

Egon Zehnder devetoped long and
shortlists lists of NED candidates.
In doing so, they considered the
broadest definition of divarsity.

Process

A significant number of internal and

‘external candidates were initially,

assessed by Egon Zehnder against
the agreed criteria. They presented
the most suitable ¢candidates through
a process of interview, discussion
and assessments. Five candidates
met with all members of the Board
and, after detailed debate and further
disecussions with tha final two
candidates, the Nomination
Committee unanimously agreed

to recommend Michael Willome.

Spencer Stuart considered over
300 candidates and reduced this

to a shortlist of seven internal and
external candidates who were
assassed by Spencer Stuart against
the required criteria, and then
interviewed by the Chair and
incoming CEQ. Thres candidates
where taken forward for further
assessment by members of the
Nominations Committee and two
final candidates were interviewed
by all members of the Board.

The Nominations Gommittee
reflected and debated the feedback
and unanimously agresd to
recornmend Ly Liu,

Egon Zehnder interviewed and
assessed some 20 candidates and
the Chair met with seven potential
candidates. The most suitable
candidates were then presented

to the Senior independent Director
and then all other members of the
Board. Having reviewed the process
and evaluated the candidates,

the Nominations Gommitlee
unanimously agreed to
recommend Roberto Gualdoni,

Recruitment

After an extensive search process,
we announced Michael Willome’'s
appointrment in July 2021.

In Novernber, we announced that Lily
Liu would be our new CFQ, joining us
no later than July 2022,

Roberto Guaidoni joined the Board
in July 2021 and is a member

of our Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Cormmittees.
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Corporate Governance

Nomination Committee report continued

Board diversity
and tenure at
a glance

1 08 | Synthomar ple
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Setting a new 2030 gender target

In 2021, Synthomer took an important step
by setting a target of 50% gender diversity
in new hires in leadership, management and
professional roles as part of our Vision 2030
roadmap. Agreeing our Vision 2030 tamgets
involved a great deal of discussion between
the Executive Committes and Beard during
the first half of 2021. Diversity is particulariy
important for Nomination Committee
discussions around succassion planning,
and we pushed the Executive Commilise

to set the bar high. it's important to get the
right balance betwaen chalienge and delivery
and | think we achieved that. {(See page 44
in the Strategic report for more informaticn
on the Vision 2030 roadmap.)

Qur target is underpinned by several short-term
objectives, including 20% of women in senior
roles by the end of 2021. | am pleased o see
that we met this objective, finishing the year at
20.4%. In all, we saw a 5% risa in the number
of women in senior leadership versus 2020.
One-third of Board mermbers are now women
and one member is from an ethnically diverse
background, in line with the Hampton-
Alexander and Parker reviews respectively.

Encouraging greater diversity

beyond gender

Nevertheless, Synthomer needs to do

a lot more to address diversity across the
business, including making more prograss
on ethnic diversity. Here, too, we have set

a short-term objective to have 20% of senior
leaders frem ethnically divarse backgrounds
by 2025.

New governance to track our progress on
diversity and inclusion

As Chair of Synthomer's new Diversity and
Inclusion Steering Committee, it was also my
pleasure to host panel sessions, alongside
Holly Van Deursen, organised by Synthomer's
Engender women's nelwark,

For more information on the progress
Synthomer has mada and our plans to
continue focusing on diversity and inclusion,
see pages 652-86 of the Strategic report.

We have the vision, processes and tools in
place. We must now ambed diversity and
inclusion into our everyday thinking.

A comprehensive induction programme

An incjuction programme is an essential part
of a hew Director's first weeks and months at
Synthomer. 1 is a structured way of ensuring
they receive tha information and support they
nesad to take on their new role quickly and
contidently. | know from my own experience
of joining Synthomer and then stepping up  »
as Chair of the Board how helpful this '
process is.

The Committes designed a tailored induction
for Michael that included:

* Working with Calum, the Committee
designed a two-week programme of
introductions to help Michael get up to
spead quickly on our most important
activities

» Meetings with the Exacutive Committee for
briefings on their businesses and functions

» Meetings with external advisers and our top
institutional shareholders to hear their
views on Synthomer

» Aworkshop hosted by a partner from both
KPMG and Herbert Smith Freehills on
Directors’ duties and the UK listing regime.
Roberto also attended this workshop

» First site visits to meet employees in the
UK, Germany and the USA.

While Roberta hasn't yet been abtle to
make any site visits, he plans to do so
in 2022.

Qur priorities for 2022

Qur priorities for the coming financial

year include identifying a suitable successor
for Brendan Connolly when he steps down
as our Senior Independent Director and
Remuneration Committee Chair at our 2023
Annual General Meeting, We will also be
developing emergency succession plans

for our new CEC and CFO and embedding
long-tarm succession planning for their roles
far the futura. As Michael develops his team,
we will also be reviewing the skills, balance
and experiance of the Executive Committes.
Ancther important priority will be establishing
a comprehensive, bespoke induction
programme for Lily, and continuing

10 support Michael's immersion

in the business.

A year of progress

| am pleasad with the progress we've mada
as a Committea this year. We have continued
to work well despite ongoing COVID-19
restrictions. We've had some challenging
conversations along the way, but challenge
is how we help the Company make progress.
I look forward to working alongside our new
Directors as well as my fellow Committea
members to support Synthomer as it grows
in size and ambition.

Caroline Johnstone
Chair of the Nomination Committes

3 March 2022



Corporate Governance

Compliance with the Code

For the year ended 31 December 2021, we ars pleased to report that we have applied the principles and complied with the provisions of the
2018 UK Corparate Governance Code (the Cods). The full Code is available on the FRC's website, www.irc.org.uk.

1. Board leadership and Company purpose

A. Board's role -

1]

B. Purpose and culture

-

C. Resources and controls

D. Stakeholder engagement

E. Workforce engagement

2. Division of responsibilities

F. Role of the Chair

G. Compaosition of the Board

The Board sets the Company’s purpose, values and standards, establishes overall policies and
long-term objectives and approves strategic aims and goals. It is responsible for the Company’s
long-term success, and for how opportunities and risks are assessed in relation to this. The Board
astablishes, communicates and reviews the corporate governance framework under which the
Company cperates. There is a formal schadule of matters reserved for the Board which is reviewed
annually to ensure an appropriate delagation of duties to the CEQ is maintained. An annual Board

' planner is prepared at the start of each year to ensure important and relevant topics are discussed

at Board meetings throughout the year.
For more details about 2021 activity see The Board’s year saction on page 84.

The Board adopted the Company's statement of its purpose in 2020 and worked with management
during 2021 to develop and launch our Vision 2030 roadmap, which will underpin the delivery of our
purpose over the coming decade.

Management have rolied out a programme to embed our new Core Values since their launch in 2020,
with alignment with our cutture being monitored and assessed by the Beard using the tools described
on page 62. The Board was mindful of maintaining the Company's strategic direction in the
appointment process for our new CEQ.

Strategic projects and priorities are considered and monitored at each Board meeting with, as part of
that process, members receiving and considering reports on developments and prograss against
plans and resourcing. Financial and operational performance against budget and KPls is reported at
each Board meeting.

The Board has designated Synthomer’s CEQ responsible for developing and preparing the Group
strategy, business plan and annual budget for recommendation to the Board. The CEQ is also
responsible for all aspacts of day-to-day operationat control and for executing Group strategy.

The CEQ is chair of the Executive Committea {which includes the CFO, the Chief Counsel and
Company Secretary, and operational and functional Group presidents), and meets once a month.
The CFO shares a monthly management report with all Directors, containing business, financial, and
health, safety and anvironmental reviews.

The Board fully consider shareholders' and wider stakeholders’ views when making strategic
decisions. Further information ¢an be found on pages 96 and 97.

Alexander Catto, Non-Executive Director, is the Board's designated employee voice. In this role, he is
supported by Holly Van Dsursen, one of our other NEDs. Other workforce engagement is undertaken
diractly by the Board, such as via our new Engender women's network.

The Chair’s responsibilities include:

+ Leading an effective Board

» Promoting a culture of openness and debate

* Coordinating performance evaluation of the CEC and individual Non-Executive Directors

+ Holding meetings with and without Executive Directors present

» Leading on all aspects of corporate governance

= Setting the agenda and managing meeting timetables and encouraging open and constructive
dialogue and challenge.

The composition of the Board is set out in Qur Board of Directors section on page 84, Half of the
Board, excluding the Chair, are independent NEDs, with that independence being assessed annually.
This ensuras no one perscn or group of interests can dominate Board decision making or debates.

We document the roles of the Board, Board Committees, Chair and CEQ in the Introduction to
corporate govarnance on page 92. We have a clear division of responsibilities betwean the Board andi
Executive leadership, with a list of matters reserved for the Board.

.
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Corporate Governance

Compliance with the Code continued

H. Role of the non-executive
directors

I. Role of the Company
Secretary

J. Appointments to the
Board and succession
planning

K. Skills, experience and
knowledge of the Board

L. Board evaluation

M. Internal and external
audit

N. Fair, balanced and
understandable

0. Risk management
and internal control
framework

5. Remuneration

P. Remuneration policies
and practices

Q. Executive remuneration

R. Remuneration outcomes
and independent judgement

2. Division of responsibilities continued

~

The main responsibilities of our NEDs are to provide constructive challenge and scrutiny, to hold
management and individual Executive Diractors to account against agreed performance objectivas,
and to oversee employee engagement.

In addition, our Senior Independent Director acts as a sounding beard to the Chair; is an alternative
contact for the other Directors and shareholders; lsads an annua! meating procass to evaluate and
feed back on the Chair's performance, and provides constructive challenge, strategic guidance and
spacialist advics.

We assess on appointment whether a candidate has sufficient time to be a NED, with any proposed
significant external appointment requiring the Board's agreement.

Our Company Sacretary’s main remit is to advise the Board on all governance matters and on
important legal and regulatory issues and to ensure it has the necessary policies, processes.
information, time and resources to function effectively and efficiently.

3. Composition, succession and evaluation

Our Nomination Committee is responsible for assessing the composition of the Board, making
recommendations for new appointments, and successicn planning. In making recommendations for
appointments to the Board, the Committee considers tha balance of skills. experience and knowledge
needed to enhance the Board and support the Comparnty in the execution of our strategy. For more
details, see our Nomination Committee report on page 106.

The Nomination Committee ensures the Board has an appropriate mix of skills, axperience and
knowledge, with due regard for the benelits of all types of diversity. This year we built on our 2020
skills review — which assessed our Board's capabilities against other plc companies to help identify
and address gaps - by looking at the functional skills we will need to stay compastitive. All Board
mambers assessed themselves against the crucial skills, which included marketing, digitalisation and
sustainability, We will feed the intelligence gained, and those from our Board evaluation, into short-term
recruitment and longer-tarm succession planning for the Board, along with emergency succession
planning for the CEQ and CFOQ.

Our last external Board evaluation, facilitated by Egon Zehndler, was undertaken during 2020.
An intarnal revisw, fosusing on recommendatlons stemming from the 2020 evaluation, was carried
out in 2021. See page 91 for actions taken.

4. Audit, risk and internal control

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the relationship and independence of the Group's
external auditor, PwC, and for overseeing the independence and eHectiveness of internat audit.

In 2021, the Committee oversaw Synthomer's granted application to the FRC for a second waiver to
breach the cap on fees to auditors for non-audit related services, to progress our plans to buy
Eastman's Adhesive Resins business. For more details see page 98.

The Board considers this 2021 Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable and that it provides
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company's performance, busingss mods! and
strategy. We enabled this by such means as having a dedicated working group overseeing drafting;
ensuring that FRC guidance was observed; requiring key contributors to confirm the accuracy of their
information; and circulating drafts to PwC, Committee chairs and the Board for review.

The Board ssts the company’s risk appstite and annually reviews tha effectiveness of the company's
risk management and internal control systems. A description of the principal risks facing the company
is set out on pages 69-76.

Synthomer aims to reward employaes fairly. Qur Remuneration Policy is designed to promote the
long-term success of the Company while aligning the interests of the Directors and shareholders,
The policy was last approved by investors at our 2020 AGM. A summary of the latest Executiva
Diractor Remuneration Policy can be found on page 114.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting the remuneration for ail Executive Directors
and the Executive Committee. No Director is involved in deciding their own remuneration arrangements
or outcomes.

Details of the work of the Remuneration Committee are set out in the Directors” Remuneration report
on pages 112 to 126.

110 | reen 5o




Division of responsibilities

The table below provides a summary of the main responsibilities of our Board and CEO.

Position:

Responsibliles include:

Chair

» Leading an effgctive Board

* Promating a culture of openness and debate

* Coordinating performance evaluation of the CEC and individual Non-Executive Directors -
* Holding meetings with and without Executive Dirgctors present

+ Leading on all aspects of corporate governance

vodes aibaipng

Chief Executive Officer

« Operational management of the Group

= Developing, preparing and implementing Group strategy, as approved by the Board

* Communicating Group culture and values

* Communicating Group financial parformance to investors alongside the CFO

* Keeping the Board informed on material issues §

Senior Independent Director

+ Being a sounding board to the Chair

* Alternative contact for the other Directors and shareholders

* | sading an annual mesting process to evaluate and feed back on the Chair's performance
* Providing constructive challengs, strategic guidance and specialist advice

Non-Executive Directors

= Coanstructive challange and scrutiny to hold management and individual Executive Directors to account
against agreed performance objectives
* Empicoyee engagament 1

Company Secretary and
Chief Legal Counsel

= Advising the Board on alt governance and compliance matters

» Ensuring the Board has the necessary policies, processes, information, time and rescurces to function
etfectively and afficiontly

* Advising the Board on important legal and regulatory matters
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Corporate Governance

Directors’ remuneration report

Remuneration Committee:
introduction from the Chair

While 2021 was a busy year for the
Remuneration Committee, much of our
attention was focused on two key issues:
agreeing remuneration for our new CEO
and CFO and completing our work

to align Executive Directors’ pensions with
that of the UK workforce.

1 1 2 Synthomer pic
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Agreeing the right packages for our new
CEOQ and CFO

Designing & new Director's ramuneration
package is one of this Committee’s more
important tasks. It involves working closely with
the Group HR Directer to create an offer that
rewards a new recruit's skills and experience
while remaining consistent with the terms of our
Directors’ Remuneration Policy. it must also
reflact the fact that Synthomer is growing, and
will continue to grow, in size and complexity.

CED: higher base salary plus cavering
relocation costs

The package we have designed for
Syntherner's new CEO, Michael Willome, takes
all of this into account. So while it is in ling with
pravious CEQ arrangemaents, it includes a 9%
higher basa salary at £650,000. This figure is
lower than Michas!'s salary was at Bystronic AG
{formerly Conzzeta AG) and takes into account
the larger Group size following the acquisition
of Eastman’s Adhesive Resins business.
Michasel will be eligible for a maximum annuat
bonus of 150% of base salary and a PSP award
of 200% of salary per year. He will also be
required to build a shareholding equal to
220% of his annual basic salary.

Since Michael has moved from Switzerland
to the UK, Synthomer also agreed a monithly
relocation allowance for the naxt four years.

We paid Michasl a one-off payment of
£100,000 for the loss of pension-related
compansation he would have received

had he served out his full notice period at
Bystronic. This amount is no greater than

that he forfeited. He also received a pro-rated
Performance Share Plan (PSP} award for 2021.°
Given that he joined towards the end of the
financial year, Michael did not receive a bonus
in 2021.

In my introduction to last year's report, | said
we intended to align our new CEC’s pension
with the workiorce rate of 7%. And we have
done exactly that with Michael's pension.

Wa will do the same in 2022 for Lily Liu as our
incoming CFO. ~

CFO: higher salary to reflect growing
ambitions

While Lily does not officiaby join us until
the 2022 financial year, we announced her
appointment and remuneration package at
the end of November 2021. As such, Lily
will receive a base salary of £440,000.
This is 16% higher than the previous CFO
salary, in line with Synthomaer's policy and
growing stature, taking into account the



future additional size and complexity of the
organisation and the increasing regulatory
environment. Lily will be eligible for a
maximum annual bonus of 150% of base
salary and a PSP award of 150% of salary
per year, Lily will participate in both plans,

in line with our pelicy. She will be required
to build a shareholding that is equal to 200%
of her annual basic salary. This exceeds the
guidaline for the current CFO of 175% of
salary. For more details see page 122.

Arrangements for Synthomer's
departing CEQ

Of course, new arrivals mean the Committee
also has a role in agresing terms with departing
diractors. While Calum stepped down as CEQ
at the start of November 2021, as he providad
a full handover to Michael, he did not formally
leave Synthomer until January 2022, This meant
he was entitled to an annual bonus for 2021.
We also treated him as a ‘good leaver’ for

the purpose of his remaining share awards.
These awards wil vest at the normal time

and will be pro-rated to 31 December 2021,
Though not subject to post-employment
shareholding, as he resigned prior to the
implementation of the policy Calum will still
hold shares due to past and current bonus
and PSP plans. For more details, see page 123.

Fee increase for Synthomer's Chair

to refloct a more complex landscape
As of 1 January 2022, we increased
Caroline Johnstone's fee to £235,000

a year o reflect the greater tirme the role
reguires, and the fact that both Synthomer
and the external governance landscaps are
becoming more complex. We also found
that Caroline’s fee was below the lower .
market quartile. In future, she will be eligible
for increases in fine with our employees.

Near-maximum bonuses paid in 2021 but
a mixed LTIP outcome

Both the CEOQ and CFO achieved 25% of
maximum bonus oitcomes in 2021 as did the
wider organisation, in an extracrdinary vear
with exceptional results on the back of the
Covid-related lift in Nitrile latex (Performance
BHlastomers) sarving the medical gloves industry.
Even without this uplift to performance, and
normalising the results, the full financial goat
{Adjusted PBT) would have been achieved.
The Committee therelore considered that this
payout level was approptiate. The only shortfall
against targets set was the SHE process safety
metric which was missed by 0.03 while the
recordable injury case rate (RCR) metric was
met, as were the strategic goals. No discretion
has been exercised in relation to incentive
outcomes. For the 2018 PSP, Relative TSR was
at the median level, reflecting the end of year
share price volatility, but EPS growth was fully
achievad. As with tha PBT, on a normalised
basis the EPS would have besn fully

met irrespective of the Nitrile |latex uplift,

The strategic measures were broadly met.

The overall vesting was therefore 64% of the
maximum. The Committee considerad that this
outcome was a fair reflection of performance
and the shareholder experience and therefore
no discretion has been exercised.

The Committes discussed the £57.2 million
provision recognised in respect of the
European Commission Styrene investigation,
The Committee will consider the implications
of the outcome of the investigation once it has
been concluded.

Performance measures for variable
elements of executive pay in 2022

The Committee aims to ensure that executive
remuneration matches Synthomer’s underlying
performance. We set annual bonuses using
three measures — Linderlying profit before tax
{B80%}), safety, health and environment targets
{10%), and strategic personal targets (10%).

Qur 2022 measures will reflect the above and -

those for 2021.

For the 2022 PSP awards, the measures will
be split as follows:

* 30% - relative total shareholder return

*» 30% - earnings per share (EPS) growth

* 20% - cost efficiencies as a result of the
Eastman's Adhesive Resins acquisition

* 20% - strategic, of which half will ba a
sustainahbility measure,

EPS is an important part of our PSP, since

it acts as a performance incentive for our
exacutives and the 80 or so participants in the
PSP. It remains a vseful tool for retaining senior
talent in a currently very competitive market.
In 2021, Synthomer delivered a record EPS
of 75.2p, due 1o an exceptional increase in
margins in its Nitrile latex business servicing
the medical gloves industry. Holding senior
exacutives to that level in 2022 would make the
2022-24 PSP unachievable. For the purpose
of setting targets for the 2022 PSF award the
Committee therefore considered that it was
appropriate to re-base EPS performance for
2021 to remove the impact of the exceptional
margins experienced during the year.

The target growth ranges applied to this
rebased EPS remain unchanged, with 4.5%
per annum growt!'l required for thresheid
vasting and 10% per annum growth raquired
for maximum vesting.

Applying these growth rates to the re-based EPS
for 2021 of 40.9p gives an EPS target for 2024
of 46.7p for threshold performance and 54.4p
for maximum performance. The Committee
considars that these targets are stretching for
a normalised price environment. The intention is
that this rebasing will apply for one year only and
we will retum to our nomal methodology in 2023,

As | reportad last year, we added a new
sustainability measure to the PSP in March
2021, which is a 25% reduction in CO,.
This will continue to be a feature of cur PSP
going forward, with a 40% reduction target
for the 2022 PSP,

¢

Discussing executive pay

with employees

While thera is considerable interest in
remuneration, it is, in my experience, a
misunderstood subject, particularly around
executive liabilities and rasponsibilities.

So, in Decernber 2021, we held two virtual
employee events, open to everyone, to
explain how it works and to ask for paople’s
opinions. | was pleasad to note that many of
the employees who joined the sessions are
awavre that executive pay is publicly available
information and we received no suggestions
on how t¢ do things differently.

Staying on top of key stakeholder issues
To help the Committes stay informad on

the remuneration issues that matter to our
stakeholders, | ask our remuneration adviser
to provide the Committee with training every
August. This year, we focused on the policies
and approaches disliked by institutional
investors, and to consider any new guidance
from investors, the Investment Association
and proxy agencies.

Continuing to address our gender pay gap
We wera pleased to show a reduction in both
our mean and median pay gaps in our 2021
UK gender pay gap report, with our median
pay gap having consistently improved over
the last threa years. We recognise that our
continuing gender pay gaps are primarily
related 1o the lower number of women than
men in our senior leadership population and
we set out how we are addressing this in the
sustatnability section of the strategic report.

Extra Committee meetings and adjusting
to a post-pandemic world

Given the amount of work involved in
arranging pay for two incoming Directors,

the Committee held two extra sessions

in 2021. Meetings remained mainly virtual in
2021 due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

Preparing for changes in 2023

My tenure as Senior Independent Director
and, theretore, Chair of this Committee, will -
and at the 2023 AGM when | will retire from
the Board. | am now working with Caroling

to identity my replacement and ensure we have
a smooth handaver plan in place. And, of
course, we will need to update and share our
new Remuneration Policy in time to put it to

a shareholder vote at the 2023 AGM. | look
forward to sharing more details on both issues
in what will be my final report next year.

My sincere thanks to all involved in the
Remuneration Committea in 2021. It has
indeed been a busy year. !

Brendan Connolly
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

3 March 2022
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Corporate Governance

Directors' remuneration report continued

At a glance

Policy for Executive Directors
The table below surnmaries the poticy
approved by the shareholders at the AGM on
29 Aprit 2020. This is valid untii a new policy is
approved at the 2023 AGM.

Synthomer's full remuneration policy can be
found onling - https:/www.synthomer.com/
fileadmin/files/ir/governance/Synthomer_plc_
Remuneration_Pelicy_2019.pdf

This includes reference to our joiners and
leavers policy, which has been particularly
relevant thig year due to Executive Director
changes.

In setting Executive Director remuneration the
Committes takes account of pay and
conditions throughout the Group to énsure
that arrangements are appropriate in the
context of internal pay ratios.

114 | e repert 2oz

Base salary

Genarally reviewed annually. Following the appointment of the new CEO and CFO for 2022,
Executive Director salaries are as follows:

CEO £650,000 . Incoming CFO £440,000

{no increase in 2022 on 2021 salary of pro-rated (no increase as joining the
£650,000) Company during 2022).

Bonefits

inciudes private heaith insurancs, iife insurance, car altowance and costs related to businass
moves (relocation) or international assignments. The CEO will also recsive a housing
allowance for a four-year period.

Pansion

Cash aliowance of 7% of base salary for new CEC and incoming CFO, which is aligned with
that of the UK workforce.

Annual banus
Maximum up to 150% of base salary. At least 70% assessed against Underlying profit

before tax (80% in 2022}, with up ta 30% assessed against strategic and operational
measures {20% in 2022). Awards in relation to financial performance of:

0% 50% 100%
of maximum far of maximum for target of maximum for out
threshold performance perfarmance.

A proportion of the bonus earned is deferred for two years. For current Executive Directors
this is one third of any bonus.

Parformance Share Plan [PSP)

Shares awarded may not exceed 200% of salary, for 2022 annual maximum awards are
200% of base salary for the CEQ and 150% for the CFQ.

Vesting based’on performance of three years, with at least 80% based on financial
measuras and up to 20% on performance measures linked to the delivery of the business
strategy. No single measure will constitute more than 50% of an annual award, There is a
two-year post-vesting holding period requirement.

For 2022 awards, parformance measures will be:

0% 30% 20% 20%

relative TSR EPS cost efficiencies related to strategic, of which halfis a
the Eastman's Adhesive  sustainability measure
Resins business

Maximum of 25% for each element will vest for threshold performance.

Shareholding requirements
CEOQ 220% and incoming CFO 200% of base salary.

Requirements to be built up over five years,




2021 performance

Annual bonus

Actual performance against the three slements of the annual bonus are set out below. As noted in the Chair's introduction, Michael Willome
was not awarded a bonus during 2021 as he did not start until the beginning of November 2021.

Welghting  Threshold Target Moximum  Actual
Undertying PBT " a0% m £453.0m
SHE {recordable injuries) 10% 0.33 or less Q.31
SHE {process safety) 10% 0.33 or less 0.16
Individual strategic and operational goals 10% See page 117 10%
Total outcome 100% 95%

Performance share plan [PSP) - 2019 award
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Actual performance against the three elements of the annual bonus are set out below. Michas! Willome did not receive a 2019 award as he

did not start until the beginning of November 2021,

Weighting ___ Threshatd Targat Actual
Relative TSR 40% Auuiin guarkio Usnper quartiie 50th percentile
EPS growth 40% T TR} 5.2
Strategic measures 0% See page 118 14.0%
Total cutcome 100% 84.0%
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Corporate Governance

Annual report on
remuneration

Single figure of remuneration for Executive Directors (audited)

Base Total fixed Annusl Long-term Total variable
salary Benefits Pension remuneralion bonus Incenives®* remunaration Total
Year £ £ [ £ £ £ £ £

Exacutive Directors

M Willome' 2021 108,333 31,682 107,583 247,608 - - ~ 247,608
2020 - _ - - - _ - _
CG Maclean? 2021 495627 11,000 114,909 621,536 706,268 703,638 1,408906 2,031.442
2020 558,735 13,200 137,891 709,826 838,103 257,518 1,095,621 1,805,447
SG Bennett 2021 378,052 13,349 75,610 467,011 538,724 381,851 920,575 1,387,586
2020 355,158 13,530 71.032 438,720 532,737 128,711 661,448 1,101,168

Notes:

1. M Witlome joined Synthamer as CEO on 1 November 2021, He received a one-off payment of £100,000 in compensation for the loss of pension-related pay from
his previous emplayer which is no greater than the amount he would have received had he served out his Tull notice period. M Willome also received £52 500 for
services prior 1o his appointrnent as & Directar.

. CG MacLean stepped doewn as a Director on 1 November 2021, His remunaration disclosed here has been pro-rated to reflect this period.

. For 2021 the values refate to awards granted under the 2011 PSP in 2019 which vest on 11 March 2022, Further infarmation about the level of vesting is provided
in this repont. As these awards have not yat vasted they have bean valued based on the avarage shara price for the pariod 1 October 2021 to 31 December 2021
of 466.3p. along with accrued dividends from the date of grant. There was no share prica appreciation that affected the value of the award and so Remuneration
Committee did not exercise discretion in respect of the share price changes.

4. 2018 PSP awards vested ont & March 2021. For the purpose of the 2020 singie figure these awards were valued based on tha average share prica for the pericd
1 Cctober 2020 to 31 December 2020 of 403.8p. Thesa awards have been re-valued based on the share price on the date of vesting of 459.6p. The values
disclosed in the 2020 single figure were: CG MaclLean, £241,326 and 5G Bennett, £120.617. The share price used to value the awards on the date of grant of
8 March 2018 was 488.4p. The share price used to value the PSP for single figure purposes of 459.6p represents a decrease of 28.8p per share. The proportion
of tha PSP value disclosed in the single figure attributable w0 shara price movement was therefore a reduction of 5.9%. The Remuneration Committee did not
exercise discretion In raspect of the share price changes.

(AN

Additional information for single figure remuneration

Benefits
Cor expanses/
berafil Ctherg Total
£ £ T
M witlome' 2,200 29,492 31,692
CG Maclean ’ 11,000 - 11,000
SG Bennett 12,500 849 13,348
Note:

1. Since M Willoma has moved from Switzerland to the UK, he will receive a monthly relocation allowance for the next four years. This aliowance will ba £7,800 per
month for thea first year then £5,000 per month for the following three years, and will be grossed up for tax.

Annual bonus

2021 award

For 2021 the Company operated a cash bonus pian for the Exacutive Diractors related to the achigvemant of Underlying profit before tax targats,

SHE targets and individual strategic and operational goals.

The achievement of the Underlying profit before tax target represented up to B0% of the maximum bonus opportunity achievable of 150% of
annual basic salary for CG MacLean and SG Bennett.

The SHE targets were given a 10% weighting of the maximum achievable, with the balance of 10% relating to individual strategic and operational
goals.

Bonus for the year ended 31 December 2021
Maximum bonus  Total borus as e Total bonus
€

Executive Diractors asa % of salary % of maximum
£G MacLean 150 85 706,268
SG Bennett 150 a5 538,724

2021 saw performance that was ahead of financial targets and meaningful progress and achievements against individual strategic and
operational goals. The recordable injury portion of the SHE target was met but the process safety portion was missed.

This 2021 bonus outcome of 85% of maximum is reflected across the wider organisation. 2021 was an extraordinary year, partly due to the
Covid-related lift in nitriles margins. Even without this uplitt to performancae, the full PBT target would have been achigved. The Committes
tharefore considerad that this payout level was appropriate.
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Further information on the three elements of the bonus is as follows:

1, Underlying profit before tax (80%)
The Underlying profit before tax targets set and achieverent are set out below;

Threghold Targel Maximum Achleved®
Level of award (% of elemeant) 0% 50% 100% 261%
Underlying profil before lax! £165.0m £173.7m £191.1m £453.0m
Nowes:
1. Targets are set by reference 1o the Board-approved internal budget for the Group and measured on a constant curency basis.
2. For the purposes of calculating achieved Undartying profit bafore tax, acjustments were made lor currency.
2. SHE (10%)
Targets with an aggregate weighting of 10% related 1o improvements in recordable injury and process saisty.
Process safety
Racordable Infury {measured as process
(measured as njury rate) salsty event sate)
Target 0.33 or fess 0.13 or less

Level of award

0% for a rate greater than (.33

0% for a rate greater than 0.13

5% for a rate less than 0.33 5% for a rate less than 0.13
Rate achieved . 0.31 0.18
Award outcome 5% 0%

Further details of the definition and measurement of the recordable injury rate and the process safety event rate are given on page 55.

3. Individual strategic and operational goals (10%)

Individual goals and achievernents against them considered by the Remuneration Commrttee with an aggregate weighting of 10% included:

Chlef Exacutive Oticer

Chief Financial Officer

Target 1. Drive development of a five-year NBR investment plan
2. Review profitability at site level and create an action plan

3. Develop and lsad business-wide ESG strategy
1

1. Review and make recommencdlations in respect of the
control environment

2. Roll cut planned implementation phases of the Pathway
programmeg

3. Oversee tax review of the OMNOVA acquisition and NBR
Investment plan

Levsl of award Up to 10%

Up to 10%

uode: afimang

Chlaf Executive Officar

Chief Financial Officer

Performance
against targets

Drive davelopment of a five-year NBR investment plan

+ The CEQ led a team through 2021 which considerad all aspects of
this potentlal investment, including demand and supply, location
comparatives and options and timing. The team reportad to the
Board regularly through 2021, which had datailed discussions
on various aspects of the potential investment and agreed further
work to be underteken, The CEQ gulded the team and advised
the board on the strategic aspects and persenally led some
specific aspects of the thinking as well as leading discussions
with potential partners and investors.

Reviaw profitability at a site level and create an action plan

* In 2021, thers were a number of projects where the CEQ oversaw
substantial progress in planning for transformation, including the
closure of Mad 3 {and transformation of the Marl site generally), the
1. Havre site transfoermation, the Sckelov site transformation (and
closure of the site’s coal-fired power station) and Culu site closure,
A strong team was guided and lad in addnessing the various aspects
and considerations - tha complexity of product and site interactions
was particylady important to address. The team presented to the
Board on several occasions and addressed the Board's questions
and suggestions, leading to approval of the proposals.

Develop and lead business-wida ESG strategy

+ The business had undertaken a lot of work “under the radar” ahead
of 2021, and Calum led the team in developing Vision 2030 and
debaling and propoesing Key targets in the main ESG prioritios
for Synthomer. He empowered the team to develop the plan and
showed leadership in debating scme quite new areas of focus for the
busingss. Mis invastor communications instilled & leve! of confidence
in Synthomer's sustainability position fn water based polymers.

Review and made recommendations in raspect of the

control environment

* The GFQ led his team in reflacting on the changing environment,
the growth in the scals of the Group as well as the potential
changas which might arlse from the 2021 audit and assurance
BEIS consultation. As well as Board training sessions in April
and June 2021, the GFC and the team engaged KPMG to advise
on implementing an Audit and Assurance Poticy and developing
a plan for putting in place an Assurance Map. He also engaged
Daloitte to advise on climate change and TCFD reporting.
His team then developed plans to ready the controls environment
for any Sarbanes Oxley type audit requirements laveraging tha
skills of members of the former OMNOVA Finance team. A clear
assessment of impact and urgency of actions was produced.

Roll out planned implementation phases of the

Pathway programme

+ The Pathway programme was realignad in 2020, during the
pandemic and the GFO has avarseen the team as they worked
through to the successful go-live of the first sites in 2021,
The business is now moving forward with the next phase.

Oversee tax review of the OMNOVA acquisition and NBR

investment plan

+ The CFO oversaw significant progress was made in tax matters
and investment in tax resources during 2021, The Board received
reguiar updates on the potantial tax implications of the proposed
NBR invastment.

Award oytcome 10%

10%

Synthomer plc
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Additional information for single figure remuneration (audited)

Long-term incentives - Performance share pian

The awards made on 11 March 2019 for CG MacLean and for SG Bannett under the PSP were subjact to a relative tatal shareholder retum (TSR}
performance condition, an absolute Underlying earnings per share performance condition and a strategic measures condition, as follows:

Relative TSR condltion E€PS condition*

Company relative TSR EPS for the 2021 financial yaar Percentage of award that vests Performance achieved
perfarmance against the FTSE

250 Index (exciuding investment

trusts and financial services

companies) ovar, a three-year

period ended

31 Recomber 2021

Uppeér quartile 41.0p or mora 40% EPS of 75.2p gives full 40%
Between median and upper Between 35.2p and 41.0p On a straight-line basis between vasting of the award.

quartile ) 10% and 40% TSR performance at the 50th
Median 3520 10% percentile gives vesting of 10.0%
Below median Less than 35.2p 0% of award.

Note:

1. The targets have been agdjusted 1o take account of the bonws factor of 1.0713 for the rights issue in 2019 and additional OMNOVA eamings from 1 April 2020,
A further 20% of the award was subject to three equally weighted strategic measures:
* Parcentage of Group safes {by voluma) in the 2021 financial year derived from new products launched in the (ast five years and patented

products. ‘
New product percentage’ Percantage of award that vests ) Percentage achioved
< 15% 0% 24% pives full vesting of 6.6% of award.
15% - 20% 1.65% - 8.6%
> 20% B6.6%
Note:

1. Excluding voluma attributable to Monomers, where thera is no scope for new praoduct development.
* Cumulative Underlying profit before tax {PBT) added through acquisitions for the three years endad 31 December 2021.

Cumulative PET added through acquisitions Percantage cf award that vasts Pargeniage achieved

< £30.0m 0% £38.4m gives vesting of 3.2% of award.
£30.0m - £60.0m 1.65% - 6.6%

> £86.5m 6.6%

* Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) target tracks thrae growth projects commissionad in 2019 that were expected to impact the Group in the
2021 financial year. The three projects selected were JOBS in Malaysia, Worms in Germany and Roebuck in the USA. An overall ROIC
thresheld was set at 18.3%, based on the weighted average of the three individual project targets. Given the greater importance of the larger
projects, the ROIC part of the award was weighted at 50% for JOBS, 25% for Worms and 25% for Rosbuck. The award started to vest for each
individual project at 80% of the anticipated ROIC, based con the original investment cases that ware brought before the Board at the time the
projects were appraved. The overall ROIC on these projacts was 57.0% which exceed the threshoid of 18.3%. Of the individual projects, JOBS
and Roebuck reached the vesting threshold attaining 523.3% and 85.9% of their targets. This led to §1.7% vesting of the ROIC portion and
therefore 4.2% of the overall award.

In aggregate, 64.0% of the 2019 award vestad, and the Committee did not exercise any discretion with the leve! of vesting.
The 2019 award will vest for CG MacLean and SG Bennett in March 2022 as follows:

Estimated value

No. ofsharesin - No. of shares No, ¢f shares  of shares that

originat award" ihal lapse? that vest vest

CG MaclLean 235,069 94,097 140,972  £703,638
SG Bennett ’ 118,536 43,033 76,503 £381,851

Note:
1. Number of shares in origina! award were adjusted to take account of the bonus factor of 1.0713 for the rights issua in July 2019.
2. CG MacLean left Synthomer on 13 January 2022 triggering a ime-apportioned lapse of 14,800 shares.

Overall, the Committee considers that the Remuneration Palicy has operated as it intended dunng 2021 and that the pay cutcomes are aligned
with the exparience of shareholders and other stakeholders.
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Pension entitlements (audited)

’

Both Executive Directors receive a cash allowance in lieu of pension contributions as outlined above. No additional benefit is receivable in the

avent of a Director retiring early.

Singta figure of remuneration for Non-Executive Directors {audited)

uodes aierens

Commities
membership Committee
Non-Exggutiva Directors Base fse foa Chair tea Total
CA Johnstone 2021 188,500 - - 189,500
2020 46,367 15,000 4,783 66,150
The Hon. AG Catto 2021 43,500 - - 43,500
2020 41,571 - - 41,571
BWD Connolly! 2021 48,500 15,000 5,000 68,500
2020 45,731 15,000 5,000 65,731
Cynthia Dubin 2021 43,500 15,000 5,000 63,500
2020 18,965 6,835 217 26,117
RC Gualdoni? 2021 20,815 7177 - 27.992
‘ 2020 - - - -
Or JJC Jansz® 2021 32,625 11,250 - 43,875
' 2020 40,742 15,000 - 55,742
Dato’ Lee Hau Hian 2021 43,500 - - 43,500
2020 41,849 - - 41,849
HA Van Deursen 2021 43,500 15,000 - 58,500
2020 40,742 15,000 - 55,742
Notes:
1. Base fee Includes an amount of £5.000 per annum for role as Senior Independent Diractor.
2. Appointed to the Board on B July 2021, ’
3. Resigned on 29 September 2021,
Directors’ shareholding and share interests {audited)
Vasted unlm:‘:'le::
Interests in unexercizsed interasts In Unvested Intarests in
Company parformance shares and  performance Share options Share shares at
shares related opticns vested options related options exercised hip 3N D b
Mo b 31D b 31D b Ao b during requirements 2021
Directorg 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 (% ofsalary)! (% of salary}
M Willomea - - - 198,285 - 220% 0%
' CG MaclLear® 1,060,347 - 1,000,347 512,087 96,031 n/a n/a
3G Bennett 195,817 - 195,817 426,467 36,660 175% 209%
The Hon. AG Catto 1,649,239
7,072,441°
BWD Connolly 6,000
CS Dubin ' -
RC Guatdoni 20,000
Dato' Lee Hau Hian 148,453
CA, Johnstone 24131
Dr J J C Jansz* ! 12,500
HA Van Deursen 11,000 )

Notes:
* Non-beneficial interast,

-

. Unvested performance related options comprise: (i) the awards made under the PSP in 2019, which were adjusted to take account of the bonus factor of 1.0713

for the rights issue in 2019 and (i) the awards made under tha PSF in 2020 and 2021. Detalls of the parformance conditions attaching to the 2019 awards are set

out on page 118; 2020 and 2021 awards ara sat out below.

o

. Until this requirement is met, no sales of shares that vest under long-term incentive plans are permitied other than to satisfy tax liabilities that arise on the exercise

of share awards under such plans. The Commiitea considers that unfettered unexercised vasted nil-cost awards are economically equivalent to shares and as
such that they should count {on a net of tax basis) toward compliance with tha share ownership guidelines.

. 3. The figirres for CG MacLean reflect his shareholding and time pro-rated share interests on 1 November 2021, the date that he stepped down as a Director.
4. The figure for JJC Jansz reftect his shareholding on 29 September 2021, the date that he steppad down as a Diractor,

There have been no changes in the interasts of the Directors in shares between 31 December 2021 and 3 March 2022.
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration corfinued

2020 award {audited)
The awards made on 12 March 2020 to CG MacLean and SG Bennett were as follows:

Percentage
vesting at
Number of 1hreshold Perlormance
Scheme Basis of award shares Face value parformanca period end date
CG MaclLean PSP - nil-cost options 150% of salary 321,524  £B27,348 25% 3i12/2022
SG Bennstt PSP - nil-cost options 120% of salary 163,500  £420,718 25% 31/12/2022

The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 257.32p per share, the average share price on the five dealing days prior to
the date of grant.

Further awards were made on 6 May 2020 to CG Maclean and SG Bennett, following the approval of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy at the
AGM held on 29 April 2020, as follows:

Percentage
vesting at
Numnber of threshold Performance
Schame Basls of award sheres Face value poriormanes  period end date
CG MacLean PSP - nil-cost options 25% of salary 49,780 £137.89 25% 31/12/2022
SG Bennett PSP - nit-cost options 15% of salary 18,985 £52,588 25% 31/12/2022 ‘

The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 277p per share, the average share price on the five dealing days prior to the
date of grant. B >

Therefore, the total awards tor GG MacLean and SG Bennett in 2020 was:

Fercentage
vesting at
Nurnber ol threshold Performance
Schemea Bagis of award sharés Foce valug performance period end date
CG Maclean = PSP - nil-cost options " 175% of salary 371,304  £9865,237 25% 31122022
8G Bennett PSP — nil-cost options 135% of salary 182,485  £473,308 25% 31/12/2022

1. CG MacLean left Synthomer on 13 January 2022 triggering a time-apportioned lapse of 150,005 shares leaving a balance of 221,299 shares.

The 2020 awards under the PSP are subjsct to the following performance conditions:
Relative TSR condition EPS condltion' Synergies delivered from the OMNOVA acquisitton

Company-relative TSR perf against
the FTSE 250 Index (excluding ivestment
trusts and knanclal services companies) over

three-year period ending 31 Dacember 2022 EPS lor the 2022 financlal year Synergy defivary run rate by 31/12/2022 Percentage of award that will vest
Upper guartile 33.8p or more $29.6m or more 30%

Between 29.0p Between $25.0m On a straight-line basis between
Betwesn median and upper quartile and 33.8p and $29.6m 7.5% and 30%
Median 29.0p $25.0m 7.5%
Bglow median Less than 29.0p Less than $25.0m 0%

1. The targets were adjusted to take account of the additional OMNGVA earnings from 1 April 2020.

A further 10% of the award is subjact to a strategic measure relating 1o a 10% reduction of carbon dioxide equivalant emissions over the
performance period, excluding additional amissions from the acquired OMNOVA business.

5\
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2021 awards (audited)

The awards made on 11 March 2021 to CG MacLean and SG Bsnnett were as follows: §
Percentage §~
vasting al
Number of itweshold  Performance g
Scheme Basis of award shares' Face value performance period end date g
CG Maclean PSP - nil-cost options 200% of salary 261,039 £1,189,476 25% 31/12/2023
SG Bennett PSP - nil-cost aptions 150% of salary 124,446 £567,063 25% 31/12/2023
1. CG Maclean left Synthomer on 13 January 2022 triggering a tirs-apportioned iapse of 190,540 shares leaving a balance of 70,499 shares.
The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 455.67p per share, the average share price on the five dealing days prior to g
the date of grant. - 3
-]
The award made on 8 Novernber 2021 to M Willome was as follows: §
Percentage
vesling at
Numbear of hwashoic Parformance
Schame Basls of award shares Face valva performance perlod end date
M Willome PSP - nil-cost options 200% of salary 198,295 £1,011,106 25% 31/12/2023
The face value of the awards was calculated using a share price of 509.9p per share, the average share price on the five dealing days prior to the g
date of grant. This award was time-apportiened from M Willome's starting date. g
=3
Relative TSR candition EPS candition g
Company-relative TSR performance against  EPS for the 2023 financial year Parcentage of award that will vest &
the FTSE 250 Index {excluding investment §
trusts and financial services companies) over 2
three-year period ending 31 December 2023
Upper quartile 38.5p or more 40%
Between median and upper quartile Between 33.0p and 38.5 pence On a straight-tine basis betwaen 10% and 40%
Madian 33.0p . 10%
Below median . Less than 33.0p 0%
A further 20% of the award is subject to strategic measures comprising: a 15% reduction of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions compared to
the 2019 baseline and greater than 15% of 2023 sales volume to come from new products launched in the five years to December 2023.
g
E
z
-
g
8
&
9
&
L]
3
3

\
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Annual Report on Remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2021
Cperation of the Executive Director Remuneration Policy for 2022
The current policy has been in force since 29 Aprit 2020. The specific remuneration arrangernents tor 2022 are described below.

Base salary

A salary increase was awarded with effect from 1 January 2022 of 3.0% for the current Chief Financial Officer in line
with that for the average of the UK workforce. The Chief Executive Officer did not receive a salary increase for 2022.
2022 salaries are as follows: ’

* M Willome: £650,000

* SG Bennett; £389,394
» L Liv: £440,000

Pension and
benefits

Pension contributions for new directors are aligned with that of the UK workiorce. Executives raceive a cash allowance in
lieu of pensian contributions, car allowance and private health insurance, Since M Willome has moved from Switzerland to
the UK, the Company also agreed a monthly relocation allowance for the next four years. This allowance will be £7,800 per
month for the first year then £5,000 per month for the following three yaars, and will be grossed up for tax.

2022 cash allowances in lieu of pension contributions are:

« M Willome: 7% of salary
s 5G Bennett: 20% of salary
* L Liu: 7% of saiary

Annual bonus

For 2022, perforrnance under the annual bonus will be measurad on the following basis:

= 80% subject to performance against Underlying prefit before tax targets

* 10% subject to performance measures against key SHE targets

* 10% subject to parformance against individual strategic and operational goals

* Targets and objectives for 2022 are, by their financial and commercial nature, considered by the Board to be unsuitable
for disclosure in advance. However, the Committee will pravide information on targets and objectives retrospactively,

2022 maximum award opportunity:

= M Willore: 150% of salary
* SG Banneft: 150% of salary
= | Liu: 150% of salary

Performancs For awards to be made in 2022, performance will be measurad as follows:
share plan * 30% based on relative TSR performance versus FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts and financial
services companies):
= 25% of this element will vast for median performance
- 100% vesting for upper-quartiie performance
- Vesting on a straight-fine basis between these points
~ 30% based on Underlying EPS growth:
- 26% of this elerment will vest for EPS growth of 4.5% per annum
- 100% vesting for EPS growth of 10% per annum
= Vesting on a straight-ine basis betwean these points
- This target range was set following considaration of the ong-term stratagy and the outiook for the markets in which
we operate
- 2021 EPS has been rebased for target setting purposes, to take account of the exceptional margins in Nitrile latex.
See page 115.
* 20% based on cost efficiencies as a rasult of the Eastman's Adhesive Resins business
+ 20% based on strategic targets, of which half will be a sustainability measure linked to a reduction in CO; emissions
of up to 40% from the 2019 baseline and half will be linked to the introduction of new and protected products.
2022 maximum award opportunity:
* M Willome: 20Q% of salary R
* SG Bennett: 150% of salary
* L Liu: 150% of salary
Shareholding The Chief Executive Officer and the current Chief F\inancial Officer are expected to build interests in shares of at least 220%
guidelines during and 175% of salary respectively. L Liv will be expected to build interests in shares of at lsast 200% of salary.
employmant
Chair and Non- The fees to be paid in 2022 to the Chair and the Non-Executive Directors were réviewed in December 2021 and as a result:

Executive Directors

* The Chair's fea was increased from £183,500 to £235,000 per annum with effgct from 1 January 2027 to reflect the
greater time commitment that the role requires and its increased complaxity.

» Tha fees for Non-Executiva Directors ware increasad in ling with tha average pay increase for tha Group's UK workforce
with effect from 1 January 2022.
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Payments to past directors {audited)

While CG MacLean stepped down as CEO at the start of November 2021, his agreed formal leaving date was 13 January 2022, meaning he
was entitled to an annual bonus for 2021, The bonus payment will be paid entirely in cash on the normal borus payment date and will be subject
to the Rermuneration Committee’s right under the Rules to apply malus and clawback provisions. He will not be eligible to receive any bonus in
respact of the financial year ending 31 December 2022.

The Remuneration Committee determined that, taking into account the circumstances of the departure, the transition between the lsadership
of the Company and CG MacLean's contribution to the business during his tenure, he would be treated as a ‘good leaver’ for the purpose of his
unvested awards under the Performance share plan. In ling with the approved policy, the awards will be reduced on a time-apportionsd basis,
which will be calculated to 31 December 2021. Awards will be subject to the relevant performance conditions which will be measured at the
normal time.

Pro-rated maximum number of shares

Award date Number of sharas sublect to eward which could vast Vasting date

2019 235,089 220,269 11 March 2022
2020 - 371,304 221,299 12 March 2023
2021 ) 261,039 70,499 11 March 2024

Any dividend equivalants accrued in respect of these awards would be paid in cash following vesting and will be pro-rated in line with the level
of vesting of the relevant PSP award, Any shares acquired on the exercise of the awards will be subject to the Remuneration Committee's right
under the PSP to apply clawback provisions.

Details of the vesting of the award made to CG MacLean in 2019 together with all other remuneration paid to CG MacLean in 2021 are contained’
in this report.

The Synthomer post-employment shareholding guidelinas which came into effect in April 2021 have not been applied as CG MaclLean gave
notice of termination before they were introduced. He is, however, contractually bound to hold Synthomer's shares post-employment as follows:

Shares Earliag! date shares can be sold
6,31 shares deferred from 2019 bonus paid in March 2020 26 March 2022

17,316 shares from vesting of 2017 PSP award in May 2020 4 May 2022

31,979 shares deferrad from 2020 bonus paid in March 2021 26 March 2023

56,031 shares from vesting of 2018 PSP award in March 2021 8 March 2023

Payments for loss of office'(audited)
No payments for foss of office were made during the year.
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Corporate Governance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

Performance graph and table
The graph and table below aliow comparison of the TSR of the Company and the Ghief Executive Officer remuneration outcamas over the last

1Q years,
TSR chart
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- Synthomer plc

=a FTSE 250 (exciuding investment trusts)

The graph above compares the TSR performance of the Company with that of the FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts). This is considered to
be the most appropriate index against which to make a comparison and was ¢chosen because it represents a broad equity market index of which

the Company is a constituent.

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Chief Executive
Officer total singla
figure of remuneration
(E£'000) 1,487 923 967 1,246 1,218 2,516 1,807 893 1,805 2,279
Bonus (% of
maximum awarded) 27.0 0.0 57.3 96.7 100.0 100.0 76.5 20.0 100.0 95.0
PSP (% of maximum
vesting) 100.0 50.0 0.0 n/a n/a 96.3 86.2 100 31.8 £4.0

The Chief Exacutive Officer total single figure of rermuneration includes salary, benefits and pension contributions paid in the year, together with
bonuses and long-term incentive awards which vested based on performance in the year.

The 2021 single figure comprises the figure kor CG MacLean, which covers the period to 31 QOctober and the figure for M Willome, which covers
the pariod from 1 November ta 31 December 2021.

Chief Executive Officer to all empioyee pay ratio
The following table provides pay ratio data in respect of the Chief Executive Officer's total remuneration compared to the 25th, median and 75th

parcentile employee.

25th percentile 75th percentlls
Financial year Mathod pay retlo  Madian pay ratio pay ratio
2021 Option B 54:1 44:1 31:1
2020 Qption B 37:1 28:1 22:1
2019 . Option B 28:1 231 161

The employeas usad for tha purposés of compiling the table above were identified on a full-time equivalent basis at the pay period during which
5 April 2021 fell. Option B, which invotves identifying the employees at the 25th, 50th and 756th percentile from our gender pay gap report, was
chosen as the calculation methodology.

Option B is considered to be the most simple and accurate way of identifying the relevant employees. Using this methodology we were able fo
identify specific employess to maks the required comparisons.

The ratic has increased for 2021 chiefly due to 1hé increase in the PSP outcoma.

Synthgmer pic
Annual Report 2021
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The definition of pay used included the following: }

» Annual salary

» Car allowances

& All other cash allowances

« Al bornuses and incentive scharme payments for services delivered in the year

* Private madical insurance value N
The following table provides salary and total remuneration information in respect of the employees at each quartile.
25th percentile 75ih perceniile
Financial year Element of pay employee Median amployes employes
2021 Salary 36,394 43,425 57,756
Total remuneration 42,277 52,342 72,622

Qur Chief Executive QOfficer pay is made up of a higher proportion of incantive pay than that of the majority of our employees. This is likely to
introduce more variability in the Chief Executive Officer total compensation.

The Board have confirmed that the ratios are consistent with the Company's wider policies on empioyee pay, reward and progression.

Percentage change in remuneration of the Directors

The table below sets out the increase in salary, bensfits and annual bonus of the Directors compared with a sslected group of employees.

The parent company, Synthomer plc, does not have any direct employeas so a comparator group of employees of the Group's main UK trading
subsidiary has been used, comprising 463 employees. The Directors consider that this employee population is the most relevant for comparison
purposes, taking into account geographical location and remuneration structure.

2021 ) 2020

yodel aifiejens

Banefiis % Beneiits %
Salary and fea % increase/ Annualbonus %  Salary and fee % increase/ Annual bonus %
increase (decresse) increase Increase [decreasa) Incraase
M Willome! n/a n/a nfa n/a n/a n‘a
CG Mactean 25 - 1.1 1.3 - 507.8
S5G Bennett . 25 [1.3) 1.1 13 (24.1) - 6607
CA Johnstone 25 n‘a n/a n/a na
The Hon. AG Catto 5.6 n/a nfa 09 n/a n/a
BWD Connolly 54 n‘a nfa 1.1 na n‘a
C Dubin 3.1 n/a nfa n/a n/a nfa
RC Gualdoni' ) n/a na n/a n/a n‘a n/a
Dr JJC Jansz 3.6 n/a nfa 1.3 n/a n/a
Dato' Lee Hau Hian 28 na nfa 1.6 n/a n‘a
HA Van Deursen 3.6 n/a n/a 1.3 n/a n/a
Average change for employees 2.6 3.2 36.5 1.4 {4.4) 622.7

Note:
1. M Willome and R Gualdoni were appointed to the Board in 2021,

Relative importance of spend on pay
The table below shows the refative importance of the Group’s all ernployee remuneration expense compared with returns to shareholders by way
of dividends.

2021 2020

£m £m % change
Dividends paid 73.5 12.8 4742
Total employee remuneration 2437 2113 153

Dividends are the dividends paid in the year. The final 2019 dividend was cancelled at the onset of COVID-19 in March 2020. Total emplaymeni
remuneration Is the consolidated salary and bonus cost for all Group employees.
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Corporate Gavernance

Annual Report on Remuneration continued

/

External appointments

Exscutive Directors are permitted to accept external appointments with the prior approval of the Board, provided that there is no adverse impact
on their role and duties to the Company. Any fees arising from such appointments may be retained by the Executive Directors where the
appointment is unrelated to the Group's business.

M Willome has been a non-executive director of Glaston Oyj {Nasdaq Hslsinki) since May 2020 and received a Board membership fee of EUR
38,000 in 2021. M Willome has sat an European subsidiary boards of indutrade AB since 2013 and raceived a board membership fee of CHF
30,000 in 2021. -

SG Bennett does not currently hold any external appointments,

Remuneration Committee

Remuneration Committes membership since 1 .January 2021:
Brendan Connolly (Chair)

Cynthia Dubin

Roberto Gualdoni {from 8 July 2021}

Just Jansz {to 28 September 2021)

Holty A Van Deursen

Attendance at Committee meetings is set out on page 93.

Key duties of the Commitiee

During 2021 the Committes was responsible for determining, in agreerment with the Board, the Company’s policy on exacutive remuneration
and the specific remuneration for the Chair and each of the Executive Directors, including pension rights, within the terms of the agreed poficy.
The Committee was also responsibla for the specific remuneration of the Executive Gommittee and for reviewing remuneration elsewhers

in the Group.

Advisers - .
The Chief Executive Officer, Company Secratary and Group HR Director are invited to attend Committee meetings to contribute to the
Committee in its deliberations, However, no individual is involved in discussions, or is part of any decisions, relating to their own remunaration.

The Committee received independant advice from Deloitte LL.P {Deloitte) which was appointed as the Committes’s independent remuneration
adviser in April 2013.

Curing the year, Daloitte provided advice on governance and market trends and other reruneration matters that matariaily assisted the
Committee. The fees paid to Deloitte in respect of this work were charged on a time and expenses basis and totalled £13,000 for advice in 2021,
The Committee is comfortable that the Deloitte engagement team that provides remunaeration advice to the Committee do not have connections
with the Company or its Directors that may impair their independence. The Committee reviewed the potential for conflicts of interest and judged that
there were appropriate safeguards against such conflicts. Deloitte also provided tax services to part of the Group and advice on implementation
of TCFD to the Board in the year. The Committee was satisfied that this did not compromise the independence of the advice received.

Deloitte is a founding member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to its Code of Conduct, Deloitte was appointed directly by
the Committes, and the Committea is satisfied that the advice received was objéective and independent.

Statement of voting at the AGM
The table below sets out the results of the votes on the Directors’ remuneration at the 2021 AGM (Annual Report on Remuneration) and the 2020
AGM (Directors’ Remuneration Policy).

Voles lor Voles against V\Sles withhald

Number 9% of vole Numbar % of vota Number
2021 Annual Report on Remuneration 341,442,799 9653 12,278.209 347 28,045
2020 Directors’ Remuneration Policy 322,152,827 91.98 28,080,122 8.02 28,501
By order of the Board
R Atkinson
Company Secretary - \-f S
03 March 2022

\
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Corporate Governance

Directors’ report

The Directors submit their Annual Report and
the audited consolidated financial statemants
for the year ended 31 December 2021. None
of the matters required to be disclosed by
Listing Rula 9.8.4R apply to the Company,
excapt for the following:

* The amount of capitalised interest -
see Financial statements note 2

e Details of long-term incentive programmes
- see Directors’ Remuneration report on
pages 112-126

* Shareholder waiver of dividends -
see Financial statements note 31,

The Directors’ report is covered on pages
126-128 as well as in the following sections of
the Annual Report:

Location In Annual
Hem Repont

Staternent of Directors' Page 129
responsibilities
Financial risk management Financial
statements -
nete 22
Prasent Board Pages 84-87
membership
Corporate Governance Pages 80-97
report
Stratagic report {including Inside
principal activities) front cover
. to page 82
Maragement of risk and Pages 69-81
viability staterent
Employee engagement Pages 62-66
Directors' remuneration Pages 112-126
report
Share capital Financial
staternants ~
note 27

Greenhouse gas emissions Pages 182-183

Sustainability report Pages 42-68

Results and dividends

The profit attributable to shareholders for

the year was £208.7 million. An intexim
dividend of 87 pence per share was paid

an 4 November 2021. The total dividend paid
for the year was £73.5 miillion. Tha Directors
recommend a final ordinary dividend of 21.3
pence per share payable on 5 July 2022 to
those shareholders ragistered at the close

of business on 6 June 2022. A dividend
reinvestment plan is available to shareholders
and this alternative will continue to be offarad
unitil further notice.

Acquisitions and disposals

On 7 April 2021 the Company completed the
sale of Synthomer Thailand Limited to Rimrise
FZE. On 28 October 2021 the Company agreed
1o acquire Eastman's Adhesive Resins business
for $1 biltion.

Directors
All the Directors will retire and seek alaction
or re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

None of the Directors sesking re-election

has a service contract except Michael
Willome and Stephen Beninett, who both have
a service contract that contains a 12-month
notice period. Stephen Bennett gave notice of
terrnination on 4 August 2021 and has agreed
a termination date with the Company of

4 November 2022,

Director indemnity provisions

Under the Company’s Articles of Association,
the Directors of the Company have the benefit
of a qualifying third-party indemnity provision.
This means the Company indemnifies them
against certain liabilities, as permitted by
Sections 232 and 234 of the Companies Act
2006, and against costs incurred by them in
relation to any liability for which they are
indemnified. The Company has purchased
and maintains insurance against Directors’
and officers' liabilities in relation to

the Company.

Share capital and control

On 28 October 2021 the Company
completed a placing of 42,485,080

new ordinary shares of 10 pence each.
This represented approximately 10% of the
Company's issued share capital immediately
before the placing and was connected to
the financing of the acquisition of Eastman’s
Adhesive Resins business, which was
announced that day, During 2021 no shares
were purchased. A total of 99,927 shares
were purchased on the open market on
behalf of the shareholders who elected to
participate in the dividend reinvestrment plan.

The Company's Articles of Association set
out the rights and obligations attached to
the Company’s ordinary shares, being the
only class of issued share capital, alongside
the powers of the Company's Directors.
Copies can be obtained from Companies
House or downlcaded from the Company’s
website: www.synthomer.com. There are
no restrictions on the voting rights attached
to the Company’s ordinary shares or on

the transfer of securities in the Company.
No person holds securities in the Company
that carry special rights with regard to the
control of the Company. The Company is not
aware of any agreements between holders
of securitios that may result in restrictions on
the transfer of securities or on voting rights.
Unless expressly specified to the ¢contrary
in the Company's Articles of Association,
those Articles of Association may be
amended by special resolution of the
Company's shareholders.

Other than in relation to its borrowings,
which become repayable on a takeover
unless certain conditions are satisfied,

the Company is not party to any significant
agreements that would come into effect,
alter or terminate upon a change of control
prompted by a takeover bid. The Company
does not have agreements with any
Director or employee that would provide
compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting from a takeover.

All of the Company's share programmes
contain provisions relating to a change of
control. Qutstanding options and awards
would normally vest and bacomae exercisable
on a change of control, subject to the
satisfaction of any performance canditions

at that time,
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Corporate Governance

Directors' report continued

Major shareholdings

z

Other than the sharehoidings disclosed as Directors' interasts in the Diractors’ remuneration
report as at 18 February 2022, the Company had been notified under Section 5 of the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules of the UK Listing Authority of the following significant

haldings of vating rights in its ordinary shares:

Percantage of

Ordinary shares  ordinary shares in

[numben Issue Natyre of holding
Kuala Lumpur Kepong Bhd 99,745,012 21.34 Direct intarest
Jupiter Fund Management plc 24,985,862 534 Indirsct interest
Amariprisa Financial inc 21,103,757 4.52 Direct and indirect interest
Aegon Asset Management UK PLC 12,425,941 266 Direct and indirect interest

Employment policies and employee
involvement

The Group gives every consideration

to job applications from disabled peopfe.
Employees who become disabled are
given every opportunity 1o continua working
for Synthomer under normal terms and
conditions with appropriate training, career
daveiopment and promotion wharever
possible. The Group seeks to achieve
equal opportunities in employment
through recruitment and training policies.

The Group encourages employee involvement
in its affairs. The Company regularly engages
with amplovaes to make them aware of the
financial and aconomic factors affecting
Group performance, Parformance-related
borius programmes aee in operation
throughout the Group. Alexander Catto

is the designated Non-Executive Director
responsible for gathering the views of the
workforce. Further information on the Board's
workforce engagement methods can be
found on pages 95 to 97. The Group's
approach to diversity and inclusion is
explained on pages 42 and 63-65.

Authority to purchase own shares

The Company has a general authority to
make market purchases of not more than
42,485,096 of the Company's ordinary
shares, in accordance with the terms of the
special resolution passed at the 2021 AGM.
This expires at the conclusion of the 2022
AGM. A rasolution will be tabled at the 2022
AGM to renew this authority for an amount
rapresenting approximately 10% of the
Company's issued share capital as at

2 March 2022.

Political donations
No poiitical donatians weare made in the year.

UK pension funds

The trustees have reviewed the independent
invastment management of the assets ot
the Company’s UK pension schemes and
assured themseltves of the security and
controls in place. In particular, 1t is the
trustees’ policy not to invest in Synthomer pic
shares nor lend money to the Company.

Synthomer plc
Annual Repert 2021
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Subsidiaries

All the Group's subsidiaries, joint ventures
and related undertakings are listed on pages
179-180.

Statement as to disclosure of

-information to auditor

Each Director of the Company confirms
that, to the best of their knowladgs, the
Company’s auditor is aware of all relevant
audit information. Each Director also confirms
that he or she has taken all necessary staps
as a Director to make themselves aware of
any refevant audit information and to establish
that the information has been shared with
the Company’s auditor. For these purposes,
relevant audit information means information
needed by the Company’s auditor in
connaction with preparing its report on
pages 131-136. This confirmation is given
and should be interpreted in accordance
with section 418 of the Companies Act 2006,

Going concern

The Directors have acknowledged the latest
guidance on going concern and in reaching
their conclusions have taken into ascount
factors that include:

= A $260 million term loan and a €460 million
revolving credit facility with five-year terms
ending on 3 July 2024

* A €520 million bond due 2025

* The ngw committed $300 rillion term
loan facility entered into on 28 Cctober
2021 in connection with the financing
of the acquisition of Eastman's Adhesive
Resins business.

Atter making enguiries and taking account
of reasonably possible changes in trading
parformancae, the Directors are satisfied
that, at the time of approving the financial
staternents, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements of both the Group
and the Company.

Cautionary statement

The purposa of this report is to provide
information to the members of the Company.
It contains certain forward-looking statements
with respect to the operations, performance
and financial cangition of the Group. By their
nature, these statements involve ungertainty,
since future events and circumstances

can cause results and developments o
differ materially from those anticipated.

The forward-looking statements reflact
knowledge and information available at

the date of preparation of this repart and
the Company is under no obligation to
update these forward-looking statements.
Nothing in this report should be construed
as a profit forecast,

Independent auditors
A rasolution to appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the

| Company's auditor will be proposed at the

next AGM.

Annual Genera) Meeting

The AGM will be held at the offices of the
Company at 45 Pall Mall, London SW1Y 5JG
on 28 April 2022 at 11.00 am.

By order gf the Bgard

Richard Atkinson
Company Secretary

3 March 2022



Corporate Governance

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare
financial statements for each financiak year.
Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group financial statements in accordance
with UK-adopted intarnational accounting
standards and the Company financial
statements in accordance with UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (UK Accounting
Standards, comprising FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework, and applicabla law).
The Group has also prepared tha financial
staternents in accordance with IFRSs adapted
pursuant to Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 -
as it applies in the European Union.

Under company law the Directors must

not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and
1air view of the state of affairs of the Group
and Company and of the profit or loss of
the Group and Company for that period.

In preparing the financial statemants,

the Directors are required to:

= Salact suitable accounting policias and
then apply them consistently
+ State whether applicable UK-adopted
IFRSs and IFRSs adopted pursuvant to
Regulation (£C) No 1606/2002 as it appliss
in the European Union have been followed
for the Group financial statements and UK
accounting standards, comprising FRS 101
have been followed for the Company
financial statements, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements
Make judgements and accounting estimates
that are reasonable and prudent and
Prepare the financial statements on the
going concern basis unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group
and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and
Company and hence for taking reasonable
staps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The Direclors are also rasponsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
suffictent to show and explain the Group and
Company's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group and Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial
statements and the Directors’ remuneration
report comply with the Companies Act 2008,

The Directors are responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the Company's
website. Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legisiation in
other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations

Tha Directors consider that the Annual
Report and Accounts, taken as a whole,
is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group and
Company's position and performance,
businass model and strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names and
functions are listed in the Directors’ report
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

» the Group financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with
UK-adoptad international accounting
standards IFRSs as adapted pursuant to
Reagulation (EC} No 1606/2002 as it applies
in the European Union;

* thg Company financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with
UK accounting standards, comprising
FRS 101 give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities and financial position
of the Company; and
the Directors’ report includes a fair review
of the development and performance of
the business and the position of the Group
and Gompany, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that
it faces.

By order of the Board

M Willome
Chief Executive Officar

$G Bennett
Chief Financial Qfficer

Synthomer plc
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Our specialist high
- solid SBR and 8A and SBR
compoundad praducts provide
high perfarrmance binders for the
backing of carpet and artificial turf and
as gel foam elastomers for floor
coverings, footwear and mattresses.
In all types of carpet {from wovens to
automnotive) and artificial turf we provide
compounded products with technical
sarvice and support to optimise
the performance of the
floor covering.



Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report

to the members of Synthomear plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

In our opinion; !

+ Synthomer Plc’s Group financial staternents and Company financial
staterments {the "financial staternents”) give a true and fair view

of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at

31 December 2021 and of tha Group's profit and cash flows for
the year then ended;

the Group financial statements have been proparly prepared in
accordance with UK-adoptad Infernational Accounting Standards;
the Company financial statements have been property prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 "Reduced Disclosure Framswork”, and applicable law); and
the financial statemeants have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

We have audited the financial statements, included within the

Annual Report, which comprise: the Consolidated balance sheet

and Company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;
the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the Consolidated cash flow statement, the
Consolidated and Company statements of changes in aquity, and
Recenciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to movement
in net debt for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial
statements, which include a description of the significant

accounting policies, .

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accardance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK} ("ISAs {UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under ISAs (UK} are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

Independence

We remained indspendent of the Group in accordance with the ethical
requiramants that are relevant 1o our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as applicable

to fisted public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requiremants.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical Standard were not provided.
In August 2021, we applied to the FRC for a one-year waiver in respect
of the UK non-audit services fee cap for our audit of Synthomer Pic's
financial period ending 31 December 2021. The waiver was in respect
of fees relating to private reporting in relation to the Eastman's
Adhesive Resins business acquisition and followed a similar waiver
request in 2020. The application was approved as the exceptional
circumstances test was met, with mitigations put in place by us and
the Company to manage the risks to auditor independence.

Other than those disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements, we have provided no non-audit services to the Company
in the peried under audit. : t

Our audit approach

Context

In planning and executing our audit we have considered the Group's
climate risk assessment process (as described in the Sustainability
report and TCFD report). This, together with discussions with our own
climate change specialists, provided us with a good understanding
of the potential impact of climate change on the financial statements.

Management consider that the impact of climate change does not give

rise to a material financial statement impact. We used our knowledge
of the Group to evaluate managament’s assessment. The Group is
targsting net zero carbon emissions by 2050, ang with Vision 2030
they are working on their pathway towards this. The Group has started
to guantify some of the impacts that may arise on this pathway and
we have discussed with management and the Audit Committee that
the estimated financial impacts of climate change will need to ba
frequently reassessed and our expectation that climate change
disclosures will continue to evelve as greater understanding of the
actual and potential impacts on the Group’s future operations are
obtained. We considered how ¢limate change risks would impact the
assumptions made in the forecasts prepared by management used in
their impairment analyses and going concern. We also considered the
consistency of the disclosuras in-relation to climate change made in
the other information within the Annual Report with the financial
statements and our knowledge from our audit.

Qverview

Audit scope

¢ Audit procedures provide coverage of 84% of revenue and 93% of
underlying operating profit.

s Audit scope ¢overs B countries, performing procedures over 14
componants,

» Financially significant compoenents in the USA, Germany and
Malaysia.

Key audit matters

* Uncertain Tax Provisions (Group)

* Valuation of defined benefit pension liabilities and level 3 assets
{Group)

* Presentation and quantum of Special ltems (Group}

* Recoverability of investment in, and amounts owed by, Group
undertakings {Company)

Materiality

* Overall Group materiality: £11,605,000 (2020: £7,900,000) based
on approximately 5% of three-year average of underlying profit
before taxation {2020: underlying profit before taxation).

s QOverali Company materiality: £10,444,500 (2020: £18,660,000)
based on 1% of total asssets capped at 90% of Group materiality.

* Pariormance materiality: £8,703,000 (2020: £5,925,000) (Group)
and £7,830,000 (2020: £2,250,000) {Company}.

The scope of our audit -~
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiafity and assessed
the risks of material misstaternant in the financial statements.

An;‘:."é';;:',féé’éfl 131

vodss oifejens

(2]
=]
&
o
a
=
o
o
T
H
e

SIBLEIRIS [RIoueL Auedwos)

VORRUNCIVL 100




Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued !

to the membaers of Synthomer plc

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors' professional
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and include the most significant
assessed nisks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud)
identifiad by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect

Presentation of special tems is & new key audit matter this year.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and OMNOVA acquisition
accounting, which were key audit matters last yaar, are na longer
included because of the ability of the Group to continue to genarate
profits and operate despite disruption related to the COVID-19
pandemic, and the aceounting related to the OMNCVA acquisition
being finalised in the prior year, Ctherwise, the key audit matters below

on: the gverall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit;
and directing the afforts of the engagement team. Thase matters, and
any commernts wa make on the resufts of our procedures thereon,
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financia! statements
as a whole, and in farming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide

are consistent with last year,

a separate opinion on these matters,

This is not a complate list of all risks identified by our audit.

Koy audit matter

How our sudit addrassed the key audit matier

Uncertain Tax Provisions (Group)

The Group has a wide geographical footprint
and is subject to a range of tax laws in a
number of different tax jurisdictions. As set
out in Note 10, the Group has a number

af uncertain tax provisions totaling £23.7m
(2020: £45.9m) as at 31 December 2021,

By nature, uncertain tax positions require a
significant element of judgement to determine
an appropriate provision, As such, we have
assassed that a significant risk exists in relation
to valuation and presentation and disclosura
asseartions to ensure that provisions made
are appropriate.

In orger to assess the valuation and appropriatensss of presgntation and disclosure we:

* Engaged our tax specialists {including transfer pricing specialists) to assess the level

of provision held against various tax exposures was malerially appropriate. In our
assessment we had regard to the nature of individual exposures, including their origin,
and any developments in the year to assess the rationale for their continued validity

at the current year end. .

Inspected corraspondence with tax authotities and the Group's tax advisors to evaluate
valvation and completeness of provisions,

Challsnged judgements made by management by assessing individual provisions against
our expectations of potential exposures, having ragard to the facts of sach case.

s Considered the adequacy of disclosure in the annual report.

No significant issues arose from this work to suggest that the judgements made, amounts
provided or disclosures were inappropriate. ’

Vailuation of defined benefit pension liabilities
and level 3 assets (Group)

As set out in nota 26, the Group had £122.4m
{2020: £221.4m) net liabilities as at

31 December 2021 in refation to defined
benefit pension schemes. These primarily
repregsent the Yule Catto Group retirement
benefits scheme in the UK, the OMNOVA
Solutions Consclidated Pension Plan in the US
and an unfunded scheme in Germany, which
account for £4.8m, £27.7m, and £74.7m
respectively of the net pension deficit.

The Group uses third party actuaries to
calculate the pension liabilities. The valuation of
thaese liabilities is based on a number of
assumptions and the calculation is highly
sensitive to small changes in the assumptions.
For instance, changes in inflation, mortality
tables and discount rate can have a significant
impact on the valuation of the liability recorded.

The pension asset aiso contains fevel 3 and
other complex assets {complex PiVs where
assets arg rnot traded on Recognised
Investment Exchanges (RIE)) totalling £266m
as at 31 December 2021 {31 December

2020: £320m), which are complex in natura to
value and therefors we deem there to be a risk
with respect to the valuation of these assets.

(.

In order to assess the identified risks we:

We reviewed external actuarial reports of the UK and German schemes v;rhich set out

the calculations and assumptions underpinning the year end pension scheme liabllities
valuation and our US component team reviewed an external actuarial report for the

US scheme .

Wa (and PwC US) held discussiong with the external actuaries and were satistied that the
scope of their work was such that we could usa this work to provide avidence for the
purpose of our audit.

We assessed the competency and objectivity of the external actuaries commissioned by
the Group lo perform tha year and calculations by considering their technical expertise
and independence from the Group.

We used our own specialist actuarial team to evaluate the key assumptions used in sach
of the three schemes by comparing these assumptions to our expectations for similar
schemes as at the year end.

With raspect to the level 3 and other mora complex assets, we tested values through a
combination of the following procedures: reviewed audited accounts of pooled investment
vehicles; reviewed internal controls reports of the service provider responsible for the
valuation of the fund, including obtaining bridging letters where the ¢ontrol report does
not gover the current financial period of Synthomer pic; obtained fund transactions close !
1o tha year end (where available), and obtalned third party confirmation from the

investment managers.

We also considered the appropriateness of the disclo_gures within the financial statements i

We found management’s assumptions t© be within an acceptable range. We identified no
concems over their competency or objactivity.

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Presantation and quantum of Special ltems
(Group)

The Group presents two measures of
performance in tha income statement;
statutory and underlying, the latter after
adjusting for certain items of income or
expenses as management believes these
measures provide additional usefut information
on the underlying trands, parformance and
position of the Group.

The determination of which items of income
or expense are classified as Special items
is subject to judgement and therefore

users of the financial statements could be
misled it amounts are not classified or
calculated appropriately,

Description of the amounts presented as
Special itemns are included in note 4 to the
financial statements.

We considered the appropriateness of amounts classifiad as Special tems. To do this
we considered;

» The Group's accounting policy on special tems; and Pronouncements by the Financial
Reporting Council on this matter.

» Wa challenged management on the appropriateness of the classification of such Special
items, being mindful that classification should be even-handed between gains and losses,
the basis tha classification should be clearly disclosed and a clear reconciliation to
statutory measures provided and appliad consistently one year 10 the next.

* We challenged managament on the quantum of the elements of the Special iterns, and
the estimatss underpinning some of them, including discussions with the Group's legal
advisors where appropriate.

Qur work highlighted certain items that management had classified as special itemns which
were judgemental. Having considered the nature and quantum of these items, overall we are
satisfled that the presentation of special tems in the financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 is appropriate.

Recaverability of investment in, and amounts
owed by, Group undertakings (Company)

As disclosed in Note 3 of the Parent Company
financial statements, the Company held an
investment in subsidiaries of £536.7m .
(2020: £370.5) and amounts owed by Group
ungertakings of £1,275m {2020: £1443.4m)

at 31 December 2021,

The assessment of tha recoverability of these
assets required the application of management
judgemaent, particularty in determining whether
any impairment indicators have arisen that
trigger the need for a formal impairment
assessment and in assessing whether the
carrying value of each investment and amounts
owed by Group undertakings are recoverable.

As changes to these judgements and estimates
could have a material impact on the Company
financial statements, we consider this to be

a key audit matter.

QOur procedures included the following:

» Evaluating management’s assessment of whether any indicators of impairment existed.

* Assessing the recoverable value by reference 1o the net assets of the undarlying
subsidiaries and amounts owed by Group undertakings with referenice to the Director’'s
intentions for the settlement of Group-wide intercompany balances.

+ Veritying that the recoverable values of the investment was consistent with the recoverable
value of the CGU testad for goodwill impairment purposes, leveraging the audit work
undertaken as part of the Group audit.

Based on the procedures performed, we noted no material issuas from our work,

How we tailored the audit scope

Where work was performed by component auditors, we determined

SUBLIBADE) ‘ ‘ yodes afeleig

We tailored the scope of our audit to ansure that we performed
enough work to be able to give an opinien on the financial statements
as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the
Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry
in which they operate.”

[}

As set out in note 5§ 'Segmental analysis’, the Group reports its results
as four segments: 'Pariormance Elastomers’, 'Functional Solutions',
‘Industrial Specialities” and ‘Acrylate Monomers’. The Group financial
statements are a consalidation of reporting units, being holding
companies, intermediate holding companies and operating
companies, across 24 countries, Three countries, being the USA,

‘Garmany and Malaysia, account for the majority of the Group's results.

We accordingly focused our work on three of the reporting units in
these countries, which were subject to audits of their complete
financial information. In addition, to increase our coverage of the
Group's revenue and underlying profit bafors tax we performed full
scope audit procedures at an additional eleven reporting units located
in the UK, ltaly, Germany, Malaysia, the Czech Republic, Austria and
France. These components accounted for 84% of the Group's
revenue, 93% of the Group's underlying operating profit.

the level of involvement we needed to have in the audit work at those
reporting units 10 be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate
audit evidence had been chtained as a basis for our opinion on the
Group financial statements as a whole. During the audit, senior
members of the Group team held a number of meetings with the audit
teams from key reporting units in the UK, Germany, Malaysia and the
USA, and reviewed the work performed by these teams over those
araas of higher audit risk.

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality.
Wa set certain quantitative thrasholds for materiality. These, together
with qualfitative considerations, helped us determine the scope of our
audit and tha nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on
individual financial statement line itams and disclosures and in
evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in
aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
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Group financial statements

Independent auditors’ report continued

to the members of Synthomer pic

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Financial statements - Group

Overall materiality £11,605,000 (2020: £7,900,000).

£10,444,500 (2020 £18,660,000).

approximately 5% of three-year averags of undenying profit  Based on 1% of total assets capped at 80% of Group

How we determined it

before taxation (2020: underlying profit before taxation).

materiality.

Rationale for
benchmark applied

performance,

Underlying profit before 1axation, being profit before tax
adjusted for special items, is a key metri¢ for investors and  shareholders in assassing the performance of the Company,
is used by the Board in measuring the Group's financial

Total assets is the primary measure used by the

andis a generally accapted benchmark. The valug is

For each componant in the scapa of our Group audit, we allocated

a materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. The range
of materiality allocated across components was between £1,300,000
to £10,708,500. Certain compoenents were audited to a local statutory
audit materiality that was also less than our overall Group materiality.

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low
level the probability that the aggregate of uncorracted and undetected
misstatements exceeds overall materiality, Specifically, we use
performance maleriality in determining the scope of our audit and
the nature and extent of aur testing of account balances, classes
of transactions and disclosures, for example in determining sample
sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% (2020: 75%} of overall
materiality, amounting to £8,703,000 [2020: £5,925,000) for the
Group financial staternents and £7,830,000 (2020: £2,250,000) for
the Company financial statements.

In determining the perfermance materiality, we considared a number of
factors - the history of misstatements, risk assessment and aggregation
risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount
at the upper end of our normal range was appropriate.

We agreed with the Audit Committes that we would report to
thermn misstatements identified duting cur audit above £580,000
(Group audit) (2020: £395,000) and £522,000 {Company audit)
{2020: £395,000) as well as misstatermnents below thosae amounts
that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the members' assessment of the Group’s and the
Campany’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting included:

Wa reviewed the Directors’ model supporting their going congern
assumption. We discussed with managasment the assumptions
applied in the going concern review s we could understand and
challenge the rationals for those assumptions, using our knowledge
of the business, We tested the model's mathematical accuracy
and considered the reasonableness of the revenue and cost
assumptions made and the availabfe headroom throughout

a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval

of the financial staterments,

* We reviewed management's sensitivity scenarios including their
severe but playsible downside. We cansidered polantial mitigating
actions available to the Group that are achievable and within
management’s control. We then assessed the availability of
liquid resources under the different scenarios and the associated
covanant tests applicable; and ’

* Woe also assessed additiona) downside sensitivities and considered

the impact on covenants and liquidity headroom.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individuatly
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the
Company's ability to continue as a geing concern for a period of at
least twelve mortths from when the financial statements are authorised
for issue.
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capped at 90% of the Group overall materiality.

In auditing the financial statemants, we hava concluded that the
members' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
praparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted,
this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Group's and the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

In refation to the members' reporting on how they have applied the
UK Corporate Governance Code, wa have nothing material to add or
draw attention to in relation to the members' statament in the financial
statements about whethear the members considered it appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Qur rasponsibilities and the responsibilities of the membars with
respect to gaing concern are described in the relevant sections
of this report,

Reporting an other information

The cther information comprises all of tha information in the Annual
Report other than the financial statemants and gur auditors’ repornt
thereon. The members are responsible for the other information,
which includes reporting based on the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures {TCFD) recommendations. Our opinion on

the financial statements does not cover the other information and,
accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of
assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the cther information and, in doing so.
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent

with the financial staternants ar our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated, If we identify an
apparent material inconsistency or material misstaternent, we are
required to perform procedures 1o conclude whether there is a
material misstaternent of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of tha othar information. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatemant of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report based on thase responsibifities.

With respect o the Strategic report and Directors” Repont, we also
considerad whather the disclosures required by the UK Companies
Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the
Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and
matters as describad below.

Strategic report and Directors’ Report

in our opinicn, tased on the work undartaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors’
Report for the year ended 31 December 2021 is consistent with
the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance
with applicable legal requirements.



In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and thelr environment abtained in the course of the audit,
we did net identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report
and Directors’ Report.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Annual Report on Remunaration to
be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006. .

Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules require us to review the membars’ statements in
relation to going concearn, longer-term viability and that part of the
corporate govemance statement relating to the Company's compliance
with the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for
our review. Our additional regponsibilities with respect to the corperate
governance statement as gther information are described in the
Reporting on othar information saction of this report.

Based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we have
concluded that each of the fallowing elernents of the corporate
governance statemeant is materially consistent with the financial |
statements and cur knowledge obtained during the audit, and we
have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

The members' confirmation that they have carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks;

The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those principal
risks, what procedures are in place to identify emerging risks and
an explanation of how these are being managed or mitigated;

The members' staterment in the financial statements about whether
they considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing them, and their identification of any matariai
uncertainties to the Group's and Company's ability to continue to do
so over a perlod of at least twelva months from the date of approval
of the financial statements;

The members’ explanation as to their assessment of the Group's
and Company's prospects, the period this assessment covers and
why the period is appropriate; and

The members’ statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectation that the Company will be abie to continue in oparation
and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of its
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention

to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Qur raview of the directors' statement regarding the longer-term
viability of the Group was substantially less in scope than an audit
and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the directors’
procass supporting thek statement; chaecking that the statement

is in alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code; and considering whether the statement is
consistent with the financial statements and our knowledge and
understanding of the Group and Company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit.

In addition, based on the work undertaken as part of our audit, we
have concluded that each ¢f the following elements of the corporate
governance statement is materially consistent with the financial
statements and our knowledga obtained during the audit:

* Tha members' statement that they consider the Annual Report,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and
provides the information necessary for the members 1o assess the
Group's and Company's position, performance, business model ¢
and strategy:

Tha section of the Annual Report that describes the review of
effactiveness of risk management and internal control systems; and
The section of the Annual Report describing the work of the

Audit Committee.

We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report
when the members' statement relating to the Company’s compliance
with the Cocdle does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant
provision of the Code specified under the Listing Rules for review by
the auditors.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the members for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statemant of Directors’ responsibilities,
the members are responsibla for the preparation of the financial -
staterments in accordance with the applicable framework and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The members

are also responsible for such internal control as they determineg

is necessary 16 enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statemenis, the members arg rasponsible
for assessing the Group's and the Company's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concemn and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
members either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic atternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the

financial statements

Our chjactives are to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial stalements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors'
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will aways detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influsnce the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements,

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilitiss, outiined above, 1o detect material migstatements
in respect of iregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud,
is detailed below. ;

Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified that
the principal risks of nan-compliance with laws and reguiations related
to breaches of environmental, health and safety and compaetition
regulations, tax legislation and equivalent local laws and regulations
applicable to significant component teams, and we considered the extent
to which non-compfiance might have a material effect on the financial
statements. Wa also considered those laws and regulations that have
a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act
20086. We evaluated managemant's incentives and opportunities for
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements {including the risk
of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks ware
related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase revenue and
management bias in accounting estimates. The Group engagement team
shared this risk assessment with the componant auditors so that they
could include appropriate audit procedures in responsa to such risks
in their work. Audit procedures performed by the Group engagement
team and/or component auditors included: ’

« Discussions with management and internal audit, including
consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations and fraud;

» Evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent and
detect irragularities;
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Group financial statements

independent auditors’ report continued

to the members of Synthomer pke

Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management
in their significant accounting estimates, in particular in relation to
provisions for uncertain tax positions, the European Commission
provision and the valuation of defined benefit schema liabilities.
Where we considered appropriate, we held discussions with the
Group's legal advisors,

Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal
entries posted with unusual account combinations {for axample
cradit to reveriue with a debit entry to an unexpacted account) or
journals posted by senior management.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures describyed above.
Wae are tess likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations that are not closely related to svents and
transactions reflected in the financiat statements. Also, the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk
of not detecting cne resulting from error, as fraud may involve
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or imentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

Qur audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain
transactions and balances, possibly using data auditing techniques.

- However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of iterms

for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will often
seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk
characteristics. In cther cases, we will use audit sampling to enable
us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample
is selected,

A further description of our respansibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is located on the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibliities. This description forms part of our auditors'
report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for
the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2008 and for no other purpose. We do
not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any
other purpose or 1o any other person 1o whom this report is shown or
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
pricr consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2008 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2008 we are required to report to you if, in
our opinion:

we have not abtained all the information and explanations we
require for our audit; or

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company,
or returns adequata for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us; or

certain disclosures of members’ ramuneration specified by law are
not mads; or

the Company financial statements and the part of the Annual Report
on Remuneration to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have no axceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee, we were
appointed by the members on 12 July 2012 to audit the financial
statemaents for the year ended 31 Decernbar 2012 and subsequent
financial periodgs. The period of total uninterrupted engagement

is 10 years, covering the years ended 31 December 2012 to

31 December 2021.

Synthomer plc
Annal Report 2021
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Other matter

As required by the Financial Conduct Authority Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rule 4.1.14R, these financial statements form part of the
ESEF-prepared annual financial report filed on the National Storage
Machanism of the Financial Conduct Authority in accordance with

the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (ESEF RTS'), This auditors'
report provides no assurance over whether the annual financial report
has bean prepared using the single electronic format specified in the
ESEF RTS.

David Beer {Senior Statutory Auditor)

{for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accournitants and Slatutory Auditors
Watford

8 March 2022



Group financial statements

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 Decembor 2021

2021 2020 0
Undertying Spacial Undertying Spacial 1
parformance itams IFRS parformance ftems IFRS 8‘
Note £m £m £m £m tm £m g
3
Revenus 5 123205 - 23205 1,644.2 - 16442 |7
Company and subsidiaries operating profit before Special Items 448.3 - 448.3 188.4 - 1884
Amortisation of acquired intangibles ' 4 - ” (362 {36.2) - (30.9) 8309y —
Restructuring and site closure costs 4 - {29.7) {29.7) - (42.5) (42.5) o
Acquisition costs and related gains 4 - {11.9) (11.9) - (14.8) (14.6)
Sals of business 4 - 7.4) 74 - (6.6) {6.6) é
Regulatory fine 4 - 57.2) 57.2) - - - 2
Impairment charge 4 - - - - (36.6)
Company and subsidiaries 448.3 (142.4) 305.9 188.4 {131.2
Share of joint ventures 18 2.6 - 26 1.2 -
Operating profit/{loss) 6 450.8 (142.4) 308.5 189.6 {131.2)
Interest pavable Q {27.9) - (27.9) {25.5) - Q
Interest receivable 9 1.0 - 1.0 1.2 - H
Fair value gainfloss) on unhedged interest rate derivatives 4 - 6.2 6.2 - -(3.8) B
Loss on extinguishment of financing facilities 4 - - - - 4.9 Ef
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligations 8 (2.4) - 2.4) 3.7 - 5—
Interast element of leasa payments 9 (1.5) - {1.5) (1.6) - g
Finance costs {30.8) 6.2 {24.85) {29.6) (8.5} %
Profit/{loss) before taxation 4201 {136.2) 283.9 160.0 (138.7) z
Taxation 10 {64.5) 20.6 {73.9) {37.4) 15.6
Profit/{loss) for the year 325.6 {115.6) 210.0 122.6 (124.1)
Profit/{loss) attributable to non-controlling interasts 0.4 0.9 13 {0.3) 4.3
Profit/{loss) attributable to equity holdlers of the parent 325.2 {116.5) 208.7 122.9 (119.8)
3256 {115.6) 2100 1226 (124.1)
Earnings per share
- Basic 13 75.2p (26.9)p 48.3p 28.9p (28.2)p ofp
— Diluted 13 T4.9p [26.B)p 48.1p 28.8p [28.1)p Q.7p Q
i — 3
B
2
s
3
g
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-
3
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Gruu\p financiai statements

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year anded 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Equity Non- Equity Nor-
holders ot controlling holders of controfling
the parent interests Total the parent interaots Total
Nole £m £m £m £m Cm Bm
Profit/{loss) for the year 208.7 13 2100 3.1 4.6 1.8)
Actuarial gains/{losses) 26 65.8 - 66.8 {7.6) - {7.6)
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive incoms 10 {118} - {11.8) 3.5 - 3.5
Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 55.0 - 55.0 {4.1) - {4.1)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 27 28 {0.2) 2.6 (37.5) 0.3) 37.8)
Exchange diffarences recycleg on sale of business 27 0.3 - 03 - - -
Fair value gain/loss) on hedged interest derivatives 27 34 - 3.4 0.8) - 0.8
Gains on net investment hedges taken to equity 27 33 - 3.3 15.9 - 189
Total items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss 9.8 (0.2} 9.6 (22.4) 0.3 (22.7)
Other compreh ive in Hexp ) for the year 64.8 {0.2) 84.6 (26.5) 0.3} {26.8)
Total comprehensive income/lexpense) for the year 2735 1.1 2748 (23.4) 4.9) (28.3)
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the yaar ended 31 December 2021
Hadging
Capital and Total equity Non-
Share Share dempti R of controlling Total
capital pramium reserve reserve sarnings ths parent interests equity
. Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2021 42.5 421.1 0.9 {41.9) 192.4 615.0 13.9 828.1
Profit tor the year - - - - 208.7 208.7 1.3 210.0
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 9.8 55.0 64.8 {0.2) 64.6
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 9.8 263.7 2735 - 1.1 274.6
Dividends 12 - - - - (73.5) (73.5) {0.5) [74.0}
Issue of sharas 27 4.2 1989 - - - 2031 - 203.1
Share-based payments - - - - 1.2 1.2 - 1.2
At 31 December 2021 46.7 820.0 0.9 {32.1) 383.8 1,019.3 13.7  1,033.0
Hedging
Caphal and Total equity Non-
Share Share redemption  iranslation Retalned  holdings of  controling Totst
capltal premium resarve raserve earnfngs the param interests equity
Nets £m tm £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2020 42.5 421.1 0.9 (19.5) 204.4 649.4 211 670.5
Profit/{loss) for the year - - - - 34 34 {4.6) - (1.5)
Other comprehenisive expanse for the year - - - (22.4) (4.1} {26.5) 0.3} (26.8)
Total comprehensive expense for the year - - - (22.4) (1.0) {23.4) 4.9) (28.3)
Dividends 12 - - - - {12.8) (12.8) 3.1 (15.9)
Share-based payments - — - - 18 1.8 - 1.8
At 31 December 2020 42.5 421.1 0.9 41.9) 192.4 §15.0 1341 628.1
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Group financial statements

Consolidated balance sheet

as al 31 Dacember 2021 :

2021 2020

Nota £m £m
Non-current assets
Goodwill 14 4570 493.4
Acquired intangible assets. 15 297.6 3410
Other intangible assets 16 48.4 3686
Property, plant and equipment 17 508.3 521.8
Defarred tax agsets 1" 29.2 23.8
Investment In joint ventures 18 74 6.6
Total non-current assets 1,375.9 1,423.2
Current assets
Inventories 19 253.7 170.3
Trade and other receivables 20 3128 262.4
Cash and cash gquivalents 21 505.3 2M.8
Derivative financial instruments 22 3.2 1.4
Total current assets 1,075.0 635.9
Total assets 2,450.9 2,059.1
Current liabiltties
Borrowings 21 - (20.1)
Trade and other payables 24 1414.2) (334.1)
Lease liabilities 23 {8.8) (10.6)
Current tax liabilities 10 (45.2) (58.5)
Provisions for other liabilities and chargas 25 {85.3) 25.7)
Derivative financial instruments 22 {10.1) {19.4)
Total current liabilities . {563.5) {468.4)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 {619.5) (643.9)
Trade and other payables 24 (2.3) BN
Lease liahilities 23 {34.7) {44.4)
Deferrad tax liabilities 11 _57.9 43.3)
Retirement bensfit obligations 26 {122.4) (221.4)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 25 {18.0) i5.9)
Total non-current liabilities . {854.4) {962.6)
Total liabilities (1,417.9) {(1,431.0)
Net assets 1,033.0 628.1
Equity
Share capital 27 46.7 425
Share premium 27 620.0 421.1
Capital redernption reserve 09 0.9
Hedging and translation reserve 27 {32.1) 41.9)
Retained eamings 27 383.8 192.4
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 1,019.3 615.0
Non-controlling interests 13.7 131
Total equity 1,033.0 628.1

The financial statements on pages 137 to 172 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 3 March 2022. They are

signed on its bghalfby:

M AN

Willome S G Benn
Director Director

Synthomer pic

Annual Report 2021
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Group financial statements

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 2020
Nota £m £m £m £rm
Operating
Cash generated from operations 28 387.5 232.2
interest received 1.0 .12
Interast paid {27.1) {13.6}
Interest element of lease payments (1.5) {1.6)
Net interest paid {27.6} {14.0)
UK corporation tax paid - -
Qverseas corporate fax paid {86.4) (31.4)
Total tax paid (86.4) {31.4)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 273.5 186.8
Investing
Dividends raceived from joint ventures 18 19 18
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets {82.2) {53.8)
Purchage of business - @314.0)
Proceeds from sale of businass 1.7 0.1
Net cash outflow from investing activities (78.6) {365.8)
Financing
Dividends paid . 12 (73.5) (12.8)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests {0.5) (3.1)
Proceads on issue of shares toev 203.% -
Settlernent of equity-settlad share-based paymeants {0.9} 0.2)
Repayment of principat portion of lease liabilities {9.7) 9.7
Repayment of borrowings - 718.3)
Repayment of borrowings on acquisition - [273.6)
Proceads of borrowings - 1,280.9
Net cash inflow from financing activities 118.5 273.2
Increase in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts during the year 313.4 94.2
Cash, cash equivaients and bank overdrafts at 1 January 21 191.3 103.6
Fareign exchange and other movements 21 0.6 (6.5)
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 31 December 21 505.3 191.3
Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to movement
in net debt
for tha year ended 31 December 2021
2021 2020
Note £m tm
Net cash inflow from operatiné' activities 2738 186.8
Add back: dividends receivad from joint ventures 18 19 19
Less: net ¢capital expenditure {82.2) (53.8)
Less: purchase of businass ~ (587.6)
Add back: proceeds from sale of business 1.7 0.1
194.9 (452.6)
Ordinary dividends paid 12 {73.5) (12.8}
Issue of shares 27 2031 -
Dividends paid to non-contraliing interests 0.9) (3.1)
Sattlament of equity-settled share-based payments {0.9} 0.2}
Repayment for principal portion of lease liabilities 9.7} 9.7
Foreign exchangs and other movements 21 34.6 (4.5)
Decrease/(increase) in net debt 348.0 (482.9)

140 | Sniareron 2021 \



Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

31 December 2021

1 General information

Synthomer plc (the ‘Company’) is a public limited company
incorpeorated and domiciled in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act. The address of tha registered office is given on
page 188. The Company is listed on the London Stock Exchange.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the 'Group') and the nature of the Group's operations are set out
in ihe Strategic Report.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared In pounds starling,
the funchonal currency of the Company. Foreign operations are
included in accordance with the policies set out in note 2.

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

Thers are no standards or interpretations that are not yet etfective
and that would be expected to have a material impact on the entity
in the current or future reporting periods and on foresesable

future transactions.

2 Significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

On 31 December 2020, IFRS as adopted by the European Union
at that date was brought into UK faw and became UK-adopted
International Accounting Standards, with future changes being
subject to endorsement by the UK Endorsement Board, The Company
transitioned to UK-adopted International Accounting Standards in its
consolidated financial statements on 1 January 2021. This change
caonstitutes a change in accounting framework. Howaver, there is
no impact on recognition, measurement or disclosure in the period
reported as a result of the change in framework.

These consolidated financial staternents have been prepared in
accordancs with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards
and with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as applicable
to companies reporting under those standards.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for the revaluation of financial instruments that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies below.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Going concemrn

The Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through
its bank facilities. The current economic conditions continue to create
yncertainty. particularly over the level of demand for the Group's
products. The Group's forecasts and projsctions take account of
reasonably possibie changas in trading performance and a severs but
plausible downside scenario has been preparad, linked to our principal
risks. This scenario does not threaten the Group’s ability to operate
within the level of its current facilities. No mitigating actions have been
inchuded for any of the scenarios and, should it need to, the Group
could take action quickly to significantly reduce costs and cash
outflows as demonstrated during the course of the COVID-19
pandemic in 2020.

Having assessed the principal risks and the other matters discussed
in connection with the viability statement (ses page 81), the Directors
congiderad it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing its consolidated financial statements.
Further information on the Group's borrowings is given in note 21.

Basis of consgolidation

The consolidatad financial statements incorporate the financial
staternents of the Company and entitias controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries) mads up to 31 December each year. Control is
achieved when the Company;

* has the power over the Investes;

* is exposed, or has rights, 1o variable returns from its involvement
with the invastee; and

« has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Consoclidation of a subsidiary begins from the date the Company
obitains controt and ceases from the date the Company loses control.
Where necessary on obtaining contro), adjusiments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies
into line with those used by the Group.

The results of joint ventures are accounted for using equity accounting.

Non-gontrolling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group's equity therein, Subsequent to the date on which
the Company obtains control, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interasts is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus
the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactioris between members of the Group
are eliminated on consoclidation.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of

the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

* defarred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured in
accordance with 1AS 12 Income Taxes;

* liabilities or assets related to employee bensfit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with |AS 18 Employee
Benefits; and

+ assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete

by the end of the reporting period in which the combination ocours,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incormplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during a measurement period (see below), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognisad, to reflect new informaticn obtained about
tacts and circurmnstances that existed as of the acquisition date that,

if known, wauld have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

A maasurement period is the period from the date of acquisition

to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject
to a maximum of ane year.

If a business combination is achiaved in stages, the Group's previously
held interast in the acquired entity is remeasured to its acquisition dats
fair value and tha resulting gain or lkss, if any, is recognised in profit

or loss.

Synthomer pl¢
Annual Report 2021
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Group financial staterments

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued
Goodwill

Goadwill is measured as the excess of the consideration transterred
over the Group's interest in acquisition-date identifiable assets
acquired less liabilitias assumead.

Goodwill i3 not amortised but is reviewsd for impairment at least
annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash generating units expected o bansfit from
the synergies of the combination. Cash generating units are defined as
our reportable segments: Performance Elastomers, Functional
Solutions, industrial Speciaiities and Acryiate Monomers.

Cash generating units to which goodwill has been allccated are tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired., If the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
An impairmeant koss for goodwil is not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, associate or joint venture, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS
has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts subject to being
tested for impairment at that date. Goodwill written off to resarves
under UK GAAP prior to 1998 has not been reinstated and is not
included in determining any subsequent profit or 1oss on disposal,

Joint ventures

Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of
aceounting. Under the equity method, interests in joint ventures are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements
in other comprehensive income.

Revenue

General .

Synthornear manufactures and sells mainly water-based polymers
across a divarse range of end use applications. Our products are
pradominantly sold in liquid form, in bulk containers.

Revenus is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expecis to be entitied in a contract with a customer when
performance obligations are satisfied. Revenue is recognised

at the point in time when control of the product is transferred
from Synthomer to the customer,

The customaer is deemed to obtain control of the resultant asset in ling
with the Incoterms under which it is sold. The significant majority of
Synthomer's products are sotd under Carriage Paid To (CPTY and
Carriage and Insurance Paid (CIP) International Commercial Terms.
Under these terms, control of the product is transferred when the goods
reach their destination. At this point the risks of obsolescence and loss
have been transferred and there is no unfulfiled obligation that could
affect the customer's acceptance of the product. A receivable is
recognised at this point in time as consideration is unconditional and
only the passage of time is required _before payment is due.

Rebates

Synthomer may grant customers rebates if the goods purchased by
the customer exceed a contractually defined threshold within the
specified pericd. Rebates ara usually deducted from the amounts
payable by the customer. Depending on the terms of the underlying
contract, Synthomer uses either the expected value or the most likely
amcunt to astimate the variable consideration for expected future
rebates. Historical, current and farecast information is considered
when calcuiating rebates.

142 | R reponsonn

The maijaority of rebate programmes are aligned with the Group's
financial year end, providing certainty around how much should be
racognised in the financial statements.

Other

The Group does not have any contracts whare the period between
the transfer of promised goods to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group applies
the practical expedient in (FRS 15 and does nat adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies,
transactions in curréncies other than the entity's functional currency
are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of
the transactions, At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in forgign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities carnied at lair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of histerical cost in a Yoreign currency are

not retransiated.

Exchange differances are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arize except for:

* exchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain
foreign currency risks (see below under 'hedge accounting’), and

+ axchange differences on monatary items receivable or payable to
a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
t0 accur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming part of the nat
investrment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassifiad from equity 1o profit
or loss on disposal of the net investment.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's non-Sterling
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Income and expense items are transtated at the average
exchange ratss for the peried. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
a separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and transtated at the closing rate. The Group elacted to treat goodwill
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisitions before the date of
transition to IFRS as sterling-denominated assets and liabilities.

Qperating profit
Operating profit represents profit from continuing activities before
financing costs and taxation.

Taxation
The tax expense rapresents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax,

Current tax

The tax currently payable is bassed on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the income
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes itemns that
are never taxahle or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enactad by the balance sheet date.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax
detarmination is uncertain but it is considered probable that there

will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are
measured at best estimate of the amount expected to become payable.
The assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within
the Company supported by previous experience in respect of such
activitias and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice.



Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financlal statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the balance
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are ganarally recognisad
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets ars
recognised 1o tha extent that it is probable that taxable profits will

be available against which deductible temporary differences can

he utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments
in foreign operations where the Graup is able to control the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reversa in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets Is reviewed at each
balance sheet date and reduced to the extant that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be avaitable to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement,
excapt when it relates to items charged or credited directly to ather
cormprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt
with in other comprehensive income.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequances that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expeacts, at the end of the reporting peried, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when thereis a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and lhabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxabla entities where thers is an intention

to settle the balances on a net basis.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,

at inception of the contract. The lease term is determined from the
commencement date of the contract and covers the non-cancallable
term. If considered reasonably certain, extension or tarmination
options are included in the lgase term.

At the cornmencemant date, a lease liability is recognised, measured
at the present value of ths future Isase payments and dis¢counted
using the Group's incremental borrowing rate. Subsequently, the lease
liability is adjusted by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made and remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications.

At the commencement date, a right of use asset is recognised,
rmeasured at an amount equal to the lease liability plus any lease
payments made before the commencement date and any initial direct
costs, less any lease incentive payments. An estimate of costs to ba
incurred in restoring an asset, in accordance with the terms of the
leass, is atso included in the right of use asset at initial recognition.
Subsequently, right of use assets are measured in accordance with
the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment and are
depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and the ussful life
of the underlying asset. Any adjustments to the corresponding lease
liability are reflected in the corresponding right of use asset.

Short-term leases and low value leases are not recognised as lease
liabilities and right of use assets, but are recognised as an expense
straight-line over the lease term.

Property, plant and equipment

Proparty, plant and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. Cost comprises
original purchase price and the costs attributable to bringing the asset
to its working condition for its intended use, including, where
appropriate, capitafised finance costs.

Freshold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write-off the cost of assets less
their residual values ovar their useful lives, using the straight-line

method, on the following bases:
Freehold buildings - 50 years

- the lesser of 50 years and the
period of the lease

Leasehold land and buildings

Plant and equipment - between 3 and 15 years

Assets in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairmemt loss. Finance costs directly attributable to the
acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. Depreciation of these assets commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis,

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are initially.
racognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, which is regarded
as their cost. Where necessary the fair value of assets at acquisition and
their estimated useful lives are based on independent valuation reports.

Acquired intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
recognised on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives, on the
following bases:

Customer relationships - between 5 and 15 years

Other intangibles -upto 10 years

Assets with an indefinita life are not subject to amortisation.

Acqguired intangible assets are derecegnised upon reaching the end of
their useful lives.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are not acquired through a business
combination are initially measured at cost and armortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated usefut lives of up to ten years.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or
from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised only if
all of the following conditions have been demonstrated:

* tha technical feasibilty of cornpleting the asset;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

the ability to use or sell the assst once development has bean
completed;

the probability that the asset created will generate future economic
benefits;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development; and

the asset created can be separately identified and the development
cost can be measured reliably.

]

L}

Annﬁzr;:;:r:;g“:? ' 143

vodal ayBejeng

]
2
<
£
-
o
a
&
@
5
F
o
E
o

ungnuno;u{:emo

SIUBLLBIRIS [BPURWY AUBdWOD




Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 Decermnber 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

The amount initially recognised for intarnally generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Whera no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
developmenit expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period
in which it is incurred.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets excluding goodwill

At each balanca sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its plant, property and equipment and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determing
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not
genarata cash flows that are indepandeant from cther asssts, the
Group estimates tha recoverable amount of the cash generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and valua in use. In assessing valua in use, the estimated
tuture cash flows are discountad to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the tirme
value of monsay and the risks specific 10 the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not heen adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset {or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment 10ss is recognised in the incorme statement.

When an impairment loss subsequently reversas, the carrying amount
of the asset {or cash generating uni) is increased to the revised
astimate of its recoverable amount to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been racognised in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in the income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises dgirect materials and, where applicable, direct labour
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition, Cost is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and
costs to be incured in marketing, selling and distribution. Provision is
mads for cbsolete, slow-moving or defective itamns where appropriate.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomaes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Group classifies its financial instruments in the
following categories:

» financial assets and labilitiss at amortised cost [AC);

# financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
{FVTPLY; and

« financial assets and liabilities at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI).

Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value
including, where permitted, any directly attributable transaction costs.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on their classification.
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Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost
Financiaf assets rmeaasured at amortised cost inciude cash and
cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. Cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash held in bank accounts with no access
restrictions, bank term deposits repayable on demand or maturing
within three months of inception.

Al gach reporting date the Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses on financial assets measured at amortised
cost. In establishing the appropriate armount of foss allowance to

be recognised, the Group applies either the general approach or the
simplified approach, depending on the nature of the underlying class
of financial assets: .

s Under the ganeral approach, the Group recognises a loss allowance
for a financial asset at an amount egual to the 12 month axpectad
credit losses, unless the credit risk on the financial asset has
increased significantty since initial recognition, in which case a foss
allowance is recognised at an amount equal to the lifetime expected
creclit losses.

The simplified approach is applied to the impairment assessment

of trade and other recsivables. Under this approach, the Group
recognises expectad litetime losses upon initial recognition.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised ¢ost include trade and other
payables, leasa liabilities ang borrowings. Borrowings are measured at
amortised cost unless they form part of a fair value hedge relationship.
The difference between the initial carrying amount of borrowings and
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the
contractual terms using the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets and liabilities held at fair value

Financial assets and liabilities are measurad at fair value through
profit or 10ss when they do not meet the criteria to be measured at
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reperting period with fair value gains or josses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of 2
designated hedging relationship (see below).

Derivative financial instruments .

The Group enters into a variety of derivative finangial instruments to
manage its exposure to interest rata and forgign exchange rate rigk,
including foreign exchange forward contracts, interest rate swaps and
foreign currency options. Further detaits of derivative financial
instruments are set out in note 22.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative
contracts are entered into and are subseguently remeasured to their
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or
loss is recognised in the income statement immediately unless the
derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in the incoms statement
depends on tha nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

To mitigate foreign currency and interast rate risk, the Group
designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in fair value
hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign
operations as appropriate.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents

tha relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged

item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for
undertaking varicus hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether
the hedging instrument is effective in offsetling changes in fair value or
cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

On adoption of IFRS 9, the Group elected to continue to apply the
hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39 as permitted by the standard.



Fair value hedges
The Group only applies fair value hedge accounting for foreign
currency risk.

The fair value change on gualifying hedging instruments Is recognised
inthe income statement and is recognised in the same line as the
hedged item,

Cash fiow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprahsnsive income and accurlaled under the heading of cash
fiow hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair valus of
the hedged item from inception of tha hedge.

Gains or losses relating to an ineffactive portion are recognised
immediataly in the income statement,

Amounts previously recognised in other comprahensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified in the income statement in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line
as the recognised hedged.item. However, when the hedged forecast
transaction rasults in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a
non-financial liabiiity, the gains and losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income and accurnulated in aquity are removed
from equity and included in the initial measuremant of tha cost of the
non-financial asset or non-financial liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting,
Any gain or loss accumulated at that time in equity is recognised
when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss.
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to oceur, the
cumulative gain or loss in equity is recognised iImmediately in profit

or loss,

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of net investmants in foreign operations are accounted for
similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging
instrurment relating to the effactive portion of the hedge is recognised
in other comprehansive income in the foreign currency translation
reserve, The gain or loss felating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the income statement. .

Gains and losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective
portion of the hedge accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
foreign operation,

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed
retiremant benefit schemes are treated as payments to defined
contribution schemes where the Group's obligations under the schemes
are equivatent to those arising in a defined contribution scheme.

For defined benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is
calculated using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial
valuations carried out at the end of each reporting period.

Dsfined benelit costs are split into three categories, namely:

« service costs, which includes current service cost, past service cost
and gains and losses on curtailments and settlements;

« nat interast expense; and

* remeasuraments.

The Group presents service costs within cost of sales and
administrative expenses in its consolidated income statament.

Past service cost is recognised when the plan amendment or
curtaiiment occurs.

Net interest expense is recognised within finance costs and is calculated
by applying a discount rate tc the net defined benefit liability.

Remeasurement comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return
on schems assets (excluding interast) are recognised immediately in
the balance sheet with a charge or credit to the statement of cther
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur and are not
subsequently reclassified to profit and loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
{legal or constructive) as a result of a past evert, it is probable that the
Group will ba required to settle that cbligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured
as the bast estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation
at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where
the effect is material.

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised when the Group
has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring that has been
communicated 1o affected parties.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settied share-based payments to certain
employees. These are maasured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at grant date. The fair value excludes the effect of
non-market-based vesting conditions. The fair value determined

at the grant date of the squity-setiled share-based payments is
expensed on a straight-ling basis over the vesting period, based on
the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest.
At each balance sheat date, the Group revises its estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest as a resutt of the effect
of non-markst-based vasting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity reserves. The Group will on
occasion, at its own discration, sattls these share-based payments
in cash rather than equity.

For cash-settled shara-based payments, a liability is recognised for
the goods or services acquirgd, measured initially at the fair value of -
the liability. At each balance sheset date until the liabllity is settled, and
at the date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasurad,
with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Alternative Performance Measures
The Group has consistantly used two significant Alternative
Performance Measuras (APMs) since its adoption of IFRS in 2005:

= Underlying performance, which exciudes Special ltems from IFRS
profit measures; and

+ EBITDA, which excludes Special ferns, amortisation and
depreciation from IFRS operating profit.

The Board's view is that Underlying performance provides additional
clarity for the Group's investors and so it is the primary focus of tha
Group's narrative reporting. It is not intended to be a superior measure
to IFRS, however, these measures are used internally to manage

the business.

Further information and the recongiliation to the IFRS measures are
included in notes 4 and 5.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 Decembar 2021

2 Significant accounting policies continued

Critical agcounting judgements and estimates

in the application of the Group’s accounting policies, tha Direclors are
required to maka judgements (other than those involving estimations}
that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are raviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recagnised in
the period in which the sstimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assurnptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustmant to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed bslow.

The assumptions for each estimate are set out in the relevant note
referanced below.

= Defined benefit obligation (nota 26);

Caleulation of the Group's defined benefit obligation includes a
number of assumptions which impeact the carrying value of the
obligation.

Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets on acquisition:

In a business combination, intangible assets are identified and
recognised at fair value. The assumptions involved in valuing these
intangible assets require the use of estimates that may ditfer from
the actual outcome, These estimates cover future growth rates,
expected inflation rates and the discount rate used. Changing the
assumptions selected by management could significantly affect the
allacation of the purchase price paid batween goodwill and cther
acquired intangiblas.

Current tax liability and deferred tax (notes 10 and 11);

The Group annuaily incurs significant amounts of income taxes
payable to various jurisdictions around the world and it also
recognises significant changes in defarred tax assats and
deferred tax liabilities, all of which are based on management's
interpretations of applicable laws, reguiations and relevant

cowurt decisions,

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policles

During 2018, the European Commission {the Commission) initiated
an investigation into practices relating to the purchase of Styrene
monomer by companies, including Synthomer, operating in the
European Economic Arga. The Company has and will continue to
fully cooperate with the Cemmission during its investigation. In prior
years given the ongoing investigation and the inherent uncertainties
associated with it, it was not possible to determine whether or not a
tiability existed. Similarly, given the many variables in the Commission's
fining framework and accordingly the range of possibie cutcomes,
the Diraclors were not able to reliably estimate any potential possible
liability. Therefore a contingent liability was disclosed in each set of
financial staterments, Now based on the information availabie and the
resulting assessmeant of the expacted outcomae of the investigation

a provision of £57.2 million has been made in redation to this case.

There are no other critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (which are discussed above), that the Directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
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3 Adoption of new and revised standards
No new or revised accounting standards were adopted in the year.

In April 2021, the IFRS Interpretations Committee issued a new
interpretation in relation to accounting for customisation and
configuration costs of cloud computing arrangements. Following

a detailed review, it was confirmed that the new interpretation does
materially impact the accounting treatment for costs incurred on the
Group's Pathway programme.

There are a number ot other amendments and clarifications to IFRS,
effective in future years, which are not expected to significantly impact
tha Group's consoclidated results or financial position.

4 Special ltems

IFRS and Underlying performance

The IFRS profit measures show the performance of the Group

as a whaole and as such include all sources of income and expense,
inciuding both one-off items and those that do not relate to the
Group's ongoing businesses. To provide additional clarity on the
ongoing trading performance of the Group's businesses, management
uses 'Underlying’ performance as an Alternative Performance
Measure to plan for, control and assess the performance of the
segments. Underlying performance differs from the (FRS
measures as il excludes Special ltems.

Special tems
Special ltems are disclosed separately in order to provide a clearer
indication of the Group's Underlying performance.

Special tems are either irregular, and therefore including them in

the assessment of a segment’s performance would lead to a distortion
of trends, or are technical adjustments which ensure the Group's
financial statements ara in compliance with iIFRS but do not reflect the
operating performance of a segment in the year, or both. An example
of the latter is the amortisation of acquired intangibles, which
principally relates to acquired customer relationships. Tha Group
incurs costs, which are recognised as an expense in the incoma
staterment, in maintaining these customer relationships. The Group
considers that the exctusion of the amortisation charge on acquired
intangibles from Underlying pertormance avoids the potential double
counting of such costs and therefore excludes it as a Speciat tern
from Underlying performancs.

The following are congistantly disclosed separately as Speciai
Items in ordler to provide a clearer indication of the Group's
Underlying performance:

Restructuring and site closure costs;

Sale of a business or significant asset;

Acquisition costs;

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets;

Impairment of non-current assets;

Fair valye adjustments in respect of derivative financial instruments
whers hadge accounting is not applied;

ltems of income and expense that are considered material, eithar by
their size and/or nature;

Tax impact of above itams; and

« Settlement of prior period tax issues.




Special ltems comprise:

2021 2020
Note Em £m
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 15 (36.2) {30.9)
Restructuring and site closure costs {29.7) {42.5)
Acquisition costs and related gains {11.9) (146}
Sale of business (7.4) 6.6
Regulatory fine (57.2)
Impairmant charge - (36.6)
Total impact on operating loss (142.4) {131.2)
Finance costs
Fair value gain/floss) on unhedged interest rate derivatives 9 6.2 (3.6}
Loss on axtinguishmant of financing facilities g - 4.9
Total impact on profit before taxation (136.2) (139.9
Taxation Special ltems 10 8.8 (4.9)
Taxation on Spacial ltems 10 118 20.5
Total impact on profit for the year {115.8) {124.1)

Amortisation of acquired intangibles increased in 2021, reflecting the first full year charge since the acquisition of OMNOVA Solutions Inc on
1 April 2020, The fair value of the intangible assets arising on the acquisition of OMNCOVA amounting to £330.1 million are being amortised over
a period of 9-11 years mainly dependent on the characteristics of the customer relationships,

Restructuring and site closure costs in 2021 comprise:

* A £13.2 million charge in relation to the substantially completed integration of the OMNOVA acqmsmon nat of a £1.2 million pension curtailment
cradit in relation to the French business;

* A £11.6 million charge to demolish and rationalise assats at a small number of sites, to bring them into line with our ESG strategy; and

= A further £4.9 million for the completion of the rationalisation of the Group's European Performance Materials network.

Restructuring and site closure costs in 2020 comprised £19.5 million for integration of OMNOVA, £20.9 million for the raticnalisation of the

Group's European Parformance Materials network and £2.1 million to rationalise the Acrylate Monomers site.

Acquisition costs and relataed gains are for the acquisition of Eastrnan's Adhasive Resins business and comprise £15.0 million of costs, mainly
professional adviser fees, offset by a £3.1 million gain on a foreign exchangs derivative entered into in October 2021 to hedge the acquisition
prica. Acquisition costs in 2020 related to the acquisition of OMNOVA.

Sals of business mainly comprised a further £7.1 miliion loss on the onerous contract for the disposal of Synthomer’s European Tyre Cord
business as production is relocated 1o Caojing (China) to enable the Marl 3 asset (Germany) to be fully closed. This is incremental to the charge
taken in 2020.

During 2018, the European Commission initiated an investigation into practices relating to the purchase ot Styrene monomer by companies,
including Synthomer, operating in the European Economic Area. The Company has and will continue to fully cooperate with the Commission
during its Investigation. Based on the infermation available and the resulting assessment of the axpected outcome of the investigation a provision
of £57.2 million has been made in relation to this case.

In 2020, a £36.8 million impairment charge was booked relating to four sites,

In July 2018 the Group enterad inlo swap arrangements to fix Euro interest rates on the full value of the then €440 miilion committed unsacured
revolving cradit facllity. The fair value movement of the unhedged interest rate derivatives relates to the movement in the mark-to-market of the
swap at 31 Dacamber 2021 in excess of the Group's current borrowings.

Following the Group's successful refinancing in 2020, capitalised debt costs relating to the 2018 refinancing and the 2019 bridge 1o bond wera
written off, leading to a loss on extinguishment of £4.9 million.

Taxatlion Special ltems comprised the release of uncertain tax provisions in relation to historical tax issues in France and Malaysia.

Taxation an Special ltems is mainly deferred tax credits arising on the amortisation of acquired intangibles and restructuring and site
closure costs.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2021

5 Segmental analysis

The Group's Executive Committee, chaired by the Chief Executive Officer, examines the Group's performance.

The Group's reportable segments are as follows:
Performance Elastomers

Performance Elastomers is focused on healthcare, paper, carpet, Sompounds and foam markels through our Nitrile Butadisne Rubber latex
(Nitrile latex) and Styrene Butadiene Rubber latex and Elastomeric Modifiers businesses (Performance Materials).

Functional Solutions

Functional Solutions is focused on coatings, construction, adhesives and technical texties markets through our water-based acrylic and vinyiic

based dispersions products.
Industrial Specialities

Industrial Specialities is focused on speciality chamical additives and non-water-baseéd chemistry for a broad range of applications from polymer
additives, coated fabrics, and laminates and films to emerging materials and technologiss.

Acrylate Monomers

Acrylate Monamers is focused on the production ot acrylate monomaers which are sold to external customers in Eurcpean markets as well as our

European Functional Solutions dispersions business.

The Group's Executive Committea is the chief oparating decision maker and primarily uses a measure of earnings befare interast, tax,
depreciation and amortisation {EBITDA) to assess the performance of the operating segments. No information is provided to the Group's
Executive Committae at the segment level concerning interest income, interest expense, income tax ot other material non-cash items.

No single customer accounts for more than 10% of the Group's revenue.

A segmenital analysis of Underlying performance and Special tems is shown below.

2021

Par

El s p 3 Corparate Total
£m £m £m £m £m fm
Revenue
Total revenue 951.5 900.3 382.5 110.3 - 2,344.6
Inter-segmeantal revenue - - - {15.1) - {15.1)
851.5 900.3 3825 95.2 - 2,329.5
EBITDA 320.7 138,2 476 353 (20.6) 522.2
Depreciation and amortisation {25.8) {28.1) {13.7) {0.8) (2.9) {74.3)
Opuerating profit/{loss) before Special ltems 294.9 114 33.9 34.5 {23.5) 450.9
Special ltems (8.0} {41.3) {14.1) {5.2) (73.8) {142.4)
Operating profit/{loss) 286.9 69.8 19.8 29.3 {97.3) 3085
Finance costs ’ {24.6)
Profit before taxation 283.9
2020
Per Functional Inoustrial Acrylate
Elastomears Solutions Speclalhies Monomers Corporata Tote!
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
Total revenue 680.3 648.7 2649 64.4 - 1,656.3
Inter-segmental revenue - - - {12.1) - 2.1
680.3 646.7 264.9 52.3 - 1,644.2
EBITDA 142.5 85.6 41.2 2.4) (17.5) 250.4
Depreaciation and amaortisation (25.7) (26.5) (12.2) 3.2) 2.2) (69.8)
Operating profit/{foss) before Special tems 116.8 69.1 20.0 (5.6) {19.7) 189.6
Special ltems (36.0) (38.0) {10.2) (20.7) (26.3) {131.2)
Operating profit/loss) - IFRS 80.8 311 18.8 26.3} 46.0) 58.4
Finance costs ) {38.1)
Profit before taxation 20.3

Finance costs for the period include a £6.2 miltion gain in Spacial ltems (2020: £8.5 million loss) as set ocut in note 4.
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Geographical information

The Group's revenue from external customars and its non-current assets {excluding deferred tax) by geographical location are detailed below: %’
Revenue by destination Non-curreni assats ‘g
2021 2020 2021 2020 F
Em £m £m £m §
UK : 103.8 75.6 154.8 1406
Germany 257.2 183.2 189.4 1946
Italy 102.9 63.2 33.9 527 o
Netherlands 81.4 57.5 10.9 15.1 o
France 97.2 654.6 98.2 111.4 2
Belgium 49.2 358.0 62.3 70.2 g
Other Europe 389.6 203.4 75.8 788 |8
Malaysia 3924 304.5 170.5 162.7
China 145.9 93.3 223 223
Cther Asia 2055 144.2 22.5 303 -
USA 399.6 2546 497.5 514.1
Rest of World 105.0 74.1 7.6 6.6 o
23205 16442 1367 1394 B
6 Operating profit 5
2021 2020 B
Note £m £m I
Revenue . 23295 16442 [
Cost of sales . {1,620.3) (1,2069 BH
Gross profit ’ \ 708.2 4374 H
Sales and marketing costs (55.8) {53.9)
Administrative expenses (133.8) {125.3)
Share of joint ventures 18 -2.6 1.2
EBITDA 5222 259.4
Depreciation and amortisation — Underlying performance {71.3) {69.8)
Operating profit - Underlying performance 450.9 189.8
Special ltems {142.4) (3.2 —
Operating profit - IFRS , ‘ 308.5 58.4 g
2021 2020 8
Nots £m £m =
Operating profit is stated after charging the following: g
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 15 352 309 B
Amortisation of other intangibles 16 71 4.9 g
Depreciation of property, ptant and equipment 17 54.4 54.0 g
Depreciation of right of use assets 17 9.8 10.8 4
Research and development expenditure 28.9 258
Net loss/{gain) on foreign exchange 0.7 {1.0)
7 Auditors’ remuneration
2021 2020
£000 £'000
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for: —
audit of the Company's annual {financial statements and the consolidated annual financial statements 332 222
Fegs payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates for other services to the Group: g
audit of the Company's subsidiaries’ annual financial statemants 1,291 1,594 :;L
Total audit fees 1,623 1,816 g
Audit related assurance services 42 40 3
Other assurance services 1,582 567 3
Total non-audit fees N 1,624 607

Details of the Company's policy on the use of auditors for non-audit services, the reasons why the auditors ware used rather than another
supplier and how the auditors' independence and objectivity was safeguarded are set out in the Audit Committee section of the Corporate
Governance report on page 101. No services were provided pursuant to contingent fee arrangements.

kY
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Group financial statemants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021

8 Staff costs

2021 .2020
The average monthly numtier of employees during the year by segment was:
Performance Efastormers 944 893
Functional Solutions 1,826 1,656
Industrial Specialities 1,176 963
Acryiate Monomers 344 351
Corporate 324 321
4,614 4,184
| 2021 2020
[ £m £m
The aggregats remuneration of all Group employees comprised:
Wages and salaries 243.7 211.3
Social security costs 26.5 25.6
Other pension costs 13.9 140
Share-based payments 2.1 2.0
' 286.2 2529
Ditectors’ emolurnents are disciosed in the Directors' Remuneration report on pages 112 to 126.
9 Finance costs
2021 2020
. £m £m
Interast payable on bank loans and ovardrafts ) : ) 27.9 25.5
Less: interest receivable {1.0) {1.2)
Net interest expsnse on defined benefit obligations 2.4 3.7
Interest element of lease payments 1.5 1.5
Underlying financa costs 30.8 29.6
Fair value (gainy/loss on unhedged interast derivatives 7 {6.2} 38
Lass on extinguishment of financing facilitiss - 4.9
Finance costs ' 246 38.1
10 Taxation
2021 2020
£m £m
Current tax
UK corporation tax 03 -
Overseas tax 89.0 39.9
89.3 39.9
Detferred tax
Crigination and reversal of temporary differences . 5.2 (2.5)
94.5 37.4
Special tems
Current tax: )
Historical issues . (8.8} 49
Purchase and sale of business (0.2) ©.2)
Restructuring and site closure costs ; “4.2) 0.8
Daeferred tax:
Restructuring and site closure costs {6.1) (10.5)
Amortisation of acquired intangibles (6.9) 10.7)
Acquired tax attributes 5.6 -
Other deferred tax on acquisition of business { - 1.1
(20.6} (15.6}
Total tax on profit before taxation 73.9 21.8

UK corporation tax is calculated at 19.0% {2020: 19.0%} of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.
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Reconciliation of tax expense to profit before taxation
The differgncas betwesn the to1al tax charge shown abova and the amount calcutated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation 1ax to the
profit before tax is as follows.

2021 2020
£m £m
Profit before taxation ' 283.9 20.3
Tax on profit befora taxation at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19.0% {2020: 19.0%) 53.9 39
Effects of:
Fxprnses not deductible for tax purposss 16.7 5.8
Tax incantives and items not subject ta tax {0.6) (3.6)
Higher tax rates on overseas sarnings 16.6 6.0
Other deferred tax asset not recognised less amounts now recognised {7.6) 7.2
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods {7.5) 33
Effect of change of rate on delerred tax 2.4 {0.8)
Tax charge for year ) 739 21.8
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income
2021 2020
. . £m tm
Currant tax cradit in respect of actuarial losses 14 1.3
Doferred tax (charge)/credit in respect of actuarial movements {13.2) 2.2
Total tax {charge)/cradit in respect of actuarial movements . - {11.8) 3.5
Current tax liabilities
2021 2020
£m £m
Current tax liabilities {45.2) {58.5)

The expenses not deductible for tax purposes includes a disallowance of the £57.2 millicn in relation to the European Commission
Styrene investigation.

11 Deferred taxation
Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferrad tax assels to the
extent that it is probable that these assets will be recovered.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown below.

Deferred tax liabllities

2021 .
Accelerated
tax Acquired Right of
dapreciati intangib! $Sub-total Cftaet Total
. £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January (32.8} {81.6) {114.49) T4 {43.3)
(Charged)/cradited to income statement (1.2} 6.9 5.7
Exchange adjustment 0.8 1.2 2.0
At 31 December {33.2) (73.5) {106.7) 49.2 {57.5)
2020
Accelerated
tax Acqulred Righ of
depreclation Intangibles Qther Sub-total Ottsat Total
tm im £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 17.9) (11.8} {1.4) (30.8) ~ {30.8)
Purchase of business (10.0) (76.0} - (86.0)
{Charged)/cradited to income statement - {5.2) 10.7 11 6.6
Exchange adjustment 0.3 4.5) - {4.2)
At 31 Dacember (32.8) {81.6) - {114.4) 71.1 (43.3)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

No deferred tax liability has been recognised on temporary differences relating to unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries of £71.7 million
(2020; £30.5 million), as the Group is able to controt the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is not probable that the
diffarences will reverse in the foreseeable future. 4
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Group financial statements ~

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021

11 Deferred taxation continued \
Deferred tax assets
2021
Right of
Losses Pansion Restructuring Other Sub-tolal Or1set Totsl
. £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1.January . 29.0 37.2 10.5 18.2 94.9 7.1} 238
(Charged)/credited to income statement (3.1) {3.4) 6.1 3.1) (3.5)
Charged to statement of other comprehensive income - 13.2) - - {13.2)
Exchange adjustment 0.2 {0.6) o8 ° 1.1 0.2
At 31 December 26.1 20.0 16.1 16.2 78.4 {49.2) 29.2
2020
\ Right of
Losses Penslon  Resyructuring Other Sub-tota) OHiset Tota!
£m om £m £m £m Em £m
At 1 January 22 18.7 - 1.9 228 - 22.8
Purchase of business 26.5 18.9 -~ 101 55.5
Creditad/{charged) to income statament 2.9 (1.% 10.5 4.5 16.0
Cradited to statement of cther comprehensive incoma - 2.2 ~ - 2.2
Exchange adjustment (2.6) 0.7 ~ 1.7 {1.6)
At 31 December 29.0 37.2 10.5 18.2 94.9 (71.1) 23.8
Tax losses not recognised
The amounts of tax losseas for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised at the balance sheet dates are as follows:
202% 2020
£m £m
Tax losses 53.4 110.3
53.4 110.3
All of the unrecognised tax losses set out above can be carried forward indefinitely.
12 Dividends
2021 2020
Pence 2021 ~ Penca 2020
per shara £m par share m
Interim dividend 8.Tp 36.9 3.0p 12.8
Proposed final dividend 21.3p 59.5 8.6p 36.6
30.0p 136.4 11.6p 49.4

The proposed final dividend is subject 10 approval by shareholders at the AGM and has not been included as a liability in these financial
statements.

Dividends paid
2621 2020

£m Em

Interim dividend 36.9 128
Prior year finaf dividend 36.6 -
73.5 12.8

The proposed final 2019 dividend was suspended and subssquently cancelled to preserve cash, liquidity and balance sheet strength at the
onset of COVID-19 in March 2020. .

13 Earnings per share

2021 2020
Undartying Special Underlying Special

performance tems fFRS periormance ftems. IFRS
Earnings
Profit/{loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent £m 325.2 {116.5) 208.7 122.9 (119.8) .34
Number of shares
Woeighted average number of ordinary shares — basic ‘000 432,280 424,843
Effect ot dilutiva potential ordinary shares 000 1,654 2,505
Weighted average number of ordinary shares — diluted 000 433,944 427,348
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share pence 75.2 (26.9) 48.3 289 (28.2} - 0.7
Diluted eamings per share pence 74.9 {26.8) 48.1 28.8 (28.1) 0.7
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14 Goodwill

2021 2020
£m £m

Cost
At 1 January r 508.8 3385
Measuremnant pariod adjustment 21 -
Purchase of bysiness - 1802
Exchange adjustments ' {8.5) 9.9)
At 31 December 502.4 508.8
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 15.4 o144
Impairment Charge - 1.3
At 31 December - 15.4 15.4
Net book value
At 31 December 487.0 493.4

1 Goodwilt acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash genearating units (CGUs) that are expacted 1o benefit from
that business combination. '

In March 2021, a £2.1 million measurement period adjustment was recognised, relating to the acquisition of OMNOVA Solutions Inc.

The allocation of the carrying value of gocdwill is represented below:

Nat book Net book Net book

value at value at Measure- value at

1 January  Purchass of Exchange 31Decomber  ment petiod Exchange 31 December

2020 business. Impairment  adjusimenis 2020 adjustment adjustments 2021

Emn £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Performance Eiastomers . 119.0 - - 42 123.2 - {5.9) "M73
Functional Solutions 180.0 138.0 - {11.6) 306.4 1.9 {1.4) 306.9
Industrial Spacialities 241 422 - (2.5} 63.8 0.2 1.2) 628
Acrylate Monomers 1.3 - (1.3} - - - - -
Total 324.4 180.2 (1.3) ©9) 4934 2.1 8.5 4870

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts for CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are the
discount rate, profitability and growth rate. These assumptions have bsen ravised in the year in light of the current ecanomic environment.

Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that refiect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the Group. The discount rate is based on the Group's weighted average cost of capital adjusted, where appropriate, for the risk
premium attributable to a particular CGU's activities and geography of operation. A pre-tax discount rate of 10.2% has been used in the above
calculations for each CGU {2020: 9.7%).

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts for each CGU, derived from the most recent five-year business plans approved by the Board. The final
year cash flow Is then assumed to apply into perpetuity with estimated annual growth rates of 3.1%, 1.9% and 2.0% for Performance Elastomers,
Functional Solutions and Industrial Specialities respectively (2020: 1.7%. 1.6% and 1.6% for Performance Elastomers, Functional Solutions and
Industrial Spacialities respectively). These rates do not exceed average long-term growth rates for relevant markets.

A sensitivity analysis has been undertaken on these impairment tests, with scenarios covering increased cost of capital, the impact of potential
carbon taxes, reduced margins and reduction in customer demand. For each CGU, the Directors beligve that there is no reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverables amount is based that would cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of the CGU.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021

15 Acquired intangible assets

Other
Customear acquires
relationships  Intangibles Yotal
£ £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2021 373.2 21.8 394.8
Derecognition of fully amortised assets {31 - 13.1)
Exchange adjustments 8.4) (0.5) 8.9
At 31 Decamber 2021 361.7 219 3682.8
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 48.8 5.0 53.8
Amortisation charge for the year 341 21 36.2
Darecognition of fully amortised assets 3.7) - 13.1)
Exchange adjustments {1.3} {0.4) 1.7}
At 31 December 2021 78.5 6.7 85.2
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 283.2 14.4 297.6
. Other
. Qustorner acquired
] rafationships Intangitles Total
£m tm £m
Cost
At 1 January 2020 71.3 8.1 80.4
Purchase of business 3169 13.2 330.1
Darecognition of fully amortised assets 0.9 - 0.9
Exchange adjustments (14.1) 0.7) {14.8}
At 31 December 2020 373.2 216 394.8
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 20.8 28 23.8
Amortisation charge for the year 29.0 1.9 30.9
Impairment charge 04 - 0.1
Darecognition of fully amortised assets 09 - - 0.9
Exchangs adjustments (0.2} 0.3 Q.1
At 31 December 2020 488 50 53.8
Net book value
- At 31 December 2020 3244 16.6 3.0
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16 Other intangible assets

‘ tode, afielens

BIBUIBADE)

Other
intangible  Assels under
assets construction Total
£m £m Em
Cost
At 1 January 2021. 14.8 29.9 4.7
Additions 8.5 6.4 15.9
Transfers 36.1 {36.1) -
Exchange adjustments 14 (0.2) 1.2
At 31 December 2021 681.8 - 61.8
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 81 - 8.1
Amortisation charge for the year 71 - 71
Exchange adjustments 0.2 - 0.2
At 31 December 2021 15.4 - 154
Net book valuse
At 31 December 2021 46.4 - 48.4
Other
Intangible Assels undsr
assels construction Total
1 £m m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2020 a8z 17.9 26.1
Additions 1.4 12.4 13.8
Purchase of business 57 - 5.7
Transfer 02 0.2) -
Disposals 0.8 - 0.8)
Exchange adjustments Q.1 0.2) ©.1)
At 31 December 2020 14.8 29.9 44.7
Accumulatad amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 4.1 - 4.1
Amortisation charge for the year 4.9 - 49
Impairment 0.1 - 0.1
Disposals 0.8) - 0.8
Exchange adjustments 0.2) - 0.2)
At 31 December 2020 8.1 -~ 8.1
Nat book value
At 31 December 2020 6.7 29.9 36.6

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

As disclosed in note 2, there are various conditions required by IAS 38 for an internally generated intangible asset to be recognised.

During the year the Group invested a further £12.9 million in its Pathway programme (2020: £12.2 million). This programme is designed to deliver
a unified operating model on a single set of integrated systems to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the Group. The investment in this

programime was shown as an asset under construction until the daploymant phase bagan.

Synthomer plc
Annual Report 2021
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Group financial statsments

Notes 1o the consolidated financial statements continued

31 December 2021

17 Property, plant and equipment

Ownad assata RAight of use asasts
Freehold  Leusehold
land snd land and Plant and Assets under Land and Plant and
i building q canstructian bulidings  equipment Total
£m fm £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2021 1814 8.7 739.4 25.1 36.8 29.4 1,020.9
Additions 8.0 - 48.5 134 16 241 7186
Sale of business 13.6) - {3.6) - - - 7.2)
Disposals 1.1) - (9.9) - .n (8.0} (20.7)
Transfer from assets under ¢onstiuction 02 - 9.9 {10.1) - - -
Exchange adjustments 4.2) - (23.3) (0.5) {0.2) . [0.5) {28.7)
At 31 December 2021 178.7 8.7 761.0 27.9 36.6 23.0 1,035.9
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 59.0 5.1 1738 - 6.0 11.2 499.1
Depreciation charge for the year 16.6 0.1 377 - 3.6 6.2 64.2
Sale of business (2.4} - (3.6) - - - 6.0}
Disposals 0.7) - {9.6) - {0.9) (4.9) {16.1)
Exchange adjustments {1.9) - {12.8) - 0.7 0.2 (13.6)
At 31 December 2021 70.6 5.2 429.7 - 9.4 12,7 527.6
1}
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 108.1 3.5 331.3 27.9 27.2 10.3 508.3
Owned assels Right of use assets
Leasehold
Freshold land land and Plantand  Asséts under Land and Plant and
and bultdings buildings eguipmeént  construction buidings equipment Total
£m m £m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 January 2020 106.1 8.7 636.7 13.4 215 24.4 8108
Additions . 7.9 - 9.0 19.8 1.6 29 41.2
Purchase of business 68.2 - 87.2 8.2 15.0 58 184.5
Disposals 0.1} - (10.3) - 0.9 {4.5) {15.8)
Transfer from assets under construction 15 - 141 (15.6) - - -
Exchange adjustrments (2.2} - 2.7 0.7} 0.3) 0.7 0.2
At 31 December 2020 181.4 8.7 739.4 251 36.9 29.4 1,020.9
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2020 43.5 49 353.5 - 2.4 4.6 405.9
Depreciation charge for the year 7.7 0.2 48,1 - 4.5 6.4 B84.9
Impairment 9.7 - 23.1 - - 07 335
Disposals ©.1) - 9.1) - 0.9} 0.8 (10.9)
Exchange adjustments 1.2 - 42 - - 0.3 5.7
At 31 December 2020 58.0 5.1 417.8 - 60 - 11.2 4991
Net book valus
At 31 Decembar 2020 122.4 3.6 321.6 25.1 30.9 18.2 521.8

Freehold land is not depreciated and is held at historical cost. At 31 December 2021, the Group's freehold land was recognised at £50.4 million

{31 December 2020; £54.3 million).

At 31 December 2021 the Group had entered into contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment amounting to

£18.8 million {2020: £18.9 million).
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18 Investment in joint ventures @
Datails of the Group's jeint ventures are as follows: g
Prace of 3
Name of entity Incorporation Owneeshlp  Principal activity Segment §
Synthomer Middle East Company Lid  Saudi Arabia 49% Marufacture and sale of acrylic and vinyl resin emulsions Functional Solutions g
Synthomer Functional Solutions FZCO UAE 49% Trading in adhesives and oilfield chamicals Functional Solutions
Synthomer FZCO UAE 49% Sales and marketing support for Synthomer companigs  Functional Solutions
Super Sky Ltd UK 50% Non-trading Corporate
Jeint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in these financial statements. The ownership of entities has not changed since %’
the prior year. §
Summarised financial information in respect of the joint ventures is set cut below. This information represents amounts in the joint ventures’ §
financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.
Summarised balance sheet {100%)
2021 2020
£m £m
Non-current assets 6.4 46 o
S
Gash and cash equivalents 26 a2
Other currant assets 24.5 146 z
Total current assets 27.1 18.8 3_’
Cther current liabilities {18.5) 9.9) r;i
Total current liabilities {18.5) 9.9) =
Net assets 15.0 13.5
2021 2020
Group share: £m tm
Total assets 16.5 115
Total liabilities {9.1) 4.9)
Net assets 7.4 6.8
Summarised statement of comprehensive income (100%) g
2021 2020 §
£m £m
Revenue . 81.8 39.4 “-:-.
Operating profit 5.4 2.7 e
Taxation - 0.9) 2
Profit for the year 54 25 §
Exchange ditferences on tranglation 0.2 o4 |®
Total comprehansive income 5.6 21
Dividends paid {3.9) (3.8)
Movement in retained earnings 1.7 1.9
Group share: ¢
Profit for the year 28 12 ————
Exchange ditfsrences on translation 04 02 ———
Dividends paig {1.9) pneg |2
5.'
g

Synthomer plc
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Group financial Staternents

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 Decermber 2021 : )

18 Investment in joint ventures continued
The following table reconciles the summary information above to the carrying amount of the Group's interest in the joint venturas:

investment in joint ventures

2021 2020
£ £m
At 1 January 6.6 7.5
Profit from continuing operations 26 1.2
Exchange differences on translation 0.1 0.2)
Dividend paid . 1.9) (19 -
At 31 December 7.4 65
18 Inventories
2021 2020
£m Em
Raw materials and consumables 1204 78.9
Finished goods 133.3 1.4
253.7 170.3
Stock wiittan off during the year 5.9 0.5
Cost of inventory recognised as an expensa and included in cost of sales 1,338.4 926.2

The nature of the chemical reaction necessary to produce finished goods from raw materials is such that 'work in progress’ is not a material part
of tha Group's invantory at any given point of time.

20 Trade and other receivables

2021 2020

£m £m

Trade receivables 275.1 2283
Other recoivables 254 226
Prapaymeants 123 . 85
3128 262.4

~

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates 1o their fair value.

Before accapting a new customer, the Group uses appropriate proceduras to assess the potential customer’s credit quafity in order to set a
cradit limit.

The Group applies a simglified approach to measure the loss allowance for trade receivables classified at amortised cost, using the lifetima
expected loss provision. The expected cradit loss on trade receivables is estimated using a provision matrix by referance to past default
experience and credit rating, adjusted as appropriate for current observable data. The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk,
with expasure spread over a large number of customers, The foflowing table details the risk profile of trade receivables based on the Group's
provision matrix,

Trade recsivabilos - days past due

Not yot due <80 81-120 »> 120 Total

2021 €m £m £m £m £m
Gross carrying amount 249.3 253 0.3 1.7 2766
Expected credit Ioss rate 0.06%
Litetime expected credit l0ss ’ {1.5)
Total 275.1

Trade receivables - days past due

. Not yat due <60 81-120 »120 Totel

2020 £m £m £m £m £m
Gross carrying amount 214.1 181 03 1.7 2312
Expected credit loss rate G.12%
Lfetime expected cradit loss . {1.9)
Total ) 225.3
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The fallowing table shows the movement in the fitatime expacted credi loss that has been recognisad for trade raceivables in accordance with
the simplified approach set out in IFRS ©:

2021 2020
£m &m
At 1 January 1.9 0.9
Exchange adjustments (0.1) 0.1}
Acquisition of business - 14
Transfer {from)/to credit impaired ©.2) 0.1
Uncollectable amounts written off or recovered [0.1) 0.4)
At 31 Decembaer 1.5 1.9

21 Cash and borrowings Cash  Exch
a xchange

1 January infiows/ and other 31 December
202¢ joutflows} movements 2021
£m £m £m £m

Bank overdrafts ! (10.5) 10.5 - -
Currant borrowings (9.6) - 9.6 -
Current liabilitieg : {20.1) 10.5 0.6 -
Bark loans (186.2) - (1.7} (187.9)
€520m 3.875% senior unsecurad loan notes due 2025 ' (457.7) - 26.1 (431.6)
Non-current liabilities (643.9) - 24.4 (619.5)
Total borrowings (664.0) 10.5 34.0 (619.5)
Cash and cash equivatents 2018 202.9 0.6 505.3
Net debt R {462.2) 3134 34.6 (114.2)

Capitalised debt costs shown in the tables above, which have been racognised as a reduction in borrowings in the financial statements,
amountad to £9.9 milion at 31 December 2021 (31 Dacember 2020: £11.2 million).

Analysis of net debt by currency:

2021 2020
Cash and Cash and 2020
cash Total cash Total
agquivatents borrowings equivalants borrowings
£m £m £m Lt
Sterling 211.5 - 12.5 -
Euro 50.7 437.3 38.8 4847
US doliar 1248 1921 54.1 190.5
Malaysian ringgit 51.0 - 61.0 -
Other 67.3 - 35.4 -
Total 505.3 629.4 201.8 675.2

The principal featuras of the Group's borrowings are as follows:

The Group has committed unsecured borrowing facilities comprising a $260 million term loan, a €460 million revolving credit facility both of
which have terms anding July 2024. The Group also has a $300 million term loan with a term ending in Cctober 2024 and €520 miliion 3.875%
unsecured senior loan notes due in June 2025.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows are classified in the Group's consolidated cash fiow statement as cash
flows from financing activities.

Non cash changes
hd Financing Exchange
1 Janusry cash and other 31 Decembar
2021 A lons 1 2021
£m £m £m £m Em
Borrowings {653.5) - - 34.0 {619.5)
Lease liabilities (55.0) 9.7 - 1.8 {43.5)
Total {708.5) 9.7 - 35.8 {663.0)
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021 .

22 Financial instruments
The table below sets out the Group’s accounting classification of each ¢lass of financial assets and liabilities:

2024 2020
Carrying Carrying
Valuation amount amount within
categoryin Falr valus Carrying within scope Carrying scope of
accordence hisrarchy amaunt of IFRS 7 Fair value amount IFRS 7 Fair value
with IFRS 9* lovel £m £m £m £m £m £m
Trade receivables AC Level 2 275.1 275.1 2751 2293 229.3 2283
Other raceivables AC Level 2 25.4 15.0 15.0 23.6 13.9 13.9
Cash and cash squivalents AC Level 2 505.3 505.3 505.3 201.8 2018 2018
Derivatives — no hedge accounting FVTPL Level 2 3.2 3.2 3.2 1.4 14 1.4
Total assets 809.0 799.6 798.6 456.1 446.4 446.4
Bofrowings AC Level 2 {619.5) {619.5) . (629.4) {664.0) (664.0) 675.2)
Trade and other payables AC Level 2 (416.5) {404.8) {404.6) (337.8) (324.9) (324.9)
Derivatives — no hedge acgounting FVTPL Level 2 {10.1) {10.1) {10.1) (19.4) (13.4) 19.4)
Total Nabilities (1,046.4) (1.034.2) {1,044.1) {1.021.2) 1,008.3) (1.019.5)

Nota:
1. AC: amortised cosl; FVTPL: telr valus thrugh profit or loss; 8 more detallad descrption of the categories can be found in note 2.

The fair value of the Group's borrowings at 31 December 2021 was £629.4 million (31 December 2020: £675.2-million).

Financial risk management
The Group’s policies, approved by the Board, provide written principles on financial risk management and the use of financiai derivatives.
These risks include market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has a policy of hedging significant foreign exchange transactional exposure at operating company level. The Group regularly reviews
its net assets and borrowing currency exposures, borrowing in overseas currencies in order to hedge the net assets held in those currencies as
appropriate. The Group does not enter into or trade tinancial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.

Currency risk

The Group presents its consolidated financial statements in sterling and conducts business in many curréncies. As a result, it is subject to
foreign currency risk due to exchange rate movements, which will affect the Group's transactions and the translation of the results and underlying
net assets of its operations,

To manage the currency risk the Group uses foreign currency borrowings, forward contracts and currency swaps to hedge overseas net assets,
which are predominantly denominated In Eures, US dollars angd Malaysian ringgits. Profit translation exposures are not hedged.

The Group hedges currency transaction exposures at the point of confirmed ordér, using torward foreign exchange contracts. The Group's
policy is, where practicable, to hedge all exposuras on monetary assets and liabiiities. Consequently, there are no material currency exposures to
disclose (2020: none). .

Interest rate risk

The Group has an exposure 1o intarest rate risk, arising principally on changes in US dollar and Euro interest rates. To manage interest rate risk,
the Group managas its proportion of fixed to floating rate borrowings, and utilises interest rate swaps. These practices aim to minimise the
Group's net finance charges with acceptable year-on-year volatility.

At 31 Dacember 2021 the Group had in place swap arrangemants to fix interest ratas on €440 million of borrowings.,

The Grougp’s interest rate derivatives are designated as lair value hedges with fair value movement on the hedged portion recognised in equity.
Interest paid on these derivatives is recogrised in the income statement, within Underlying interest costs. Fair valug movement in the unhedged
portion I8 also recognised in profit and loss, as a Special item.

After taking account of interest rate swaps, the Group's currency and interest rata exposure as at 31 December 2021 was:

2021 2020
Floating rate Fixed rate Total Fioating rata Fixed rate Total
barr gs  bor gs Dorrowl borrowings  borrowings botrowlngs
£m £m £m m £m £m
Eure - 437.3 437.3 10.3 474.4 4B84.7
Us dollar 1924 - 1921 190.5 - 190.5
Total 192.1 437.3 629.4 200.8 474.4 675.2

1 60 Synthomer plc
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Market risk sensitivity analysls

The Group's main exposure to market risk is in the form of interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group uses a sensitivity analysis that
astimates the impacts on the consolidated income statement and other comprehensive incoma of either an instantaneous increase or decrease
of 1.0% in market interest ratas or a 10% strengthening or weakening in sterling against afl other currencies, from the rates applicable at

31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 with all other variables remaining constant. The sensitivity analysis excludes the impact of market
risks on the net post employment benefit iiabilities and assets, and corporate tax payable, This analysis is for illustrative purposcs only, aa
interest and foreign exchange rates rarely change in isolation.

There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured.

2021 2020

income Equity Incoma statement Equity
Undsriving IFRS IFRS Undertying IFRS IFRS
i+ £m «f+£m -f+ £ -/ €m -f+ £m i+ ©m

Intarest rate sensitivity analysis ,
UK interest rate +/- 1.0% 21 - - - - -
Euro interest rate +/- 1.0% 0.5 4.4 - 0.4 a.4 -
US interest rate +/- 1.0% 0.7 - - 1.4 - -

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

Sterling -+ 10% 19.9 19.9 23.0 3.4 34 33
Euro exchange rate -/+ 10% 1.0 1.0 100 2.8 2.8 7.8
US dollar exchange rate -/+ 10% 19.6 19.6 11.6 1.0 1.0 21.5
Malaysian ringgit exchange rate -/+ 10% 0.5 0.5 - - - -

uodas aiBeleng
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The interest rate sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to intarast rates for both derivative and non-derivative
instruments at the balance shest date. For floating rate liabitities, the analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of liability cutstanding at the
balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year.

For interest rate derivatives the mark-to-market adjustment, and amount recognised in equity as part of a hedging arrangement, is estimated
using the interast rate sensitivity against the narminal amount.

The foreign curren?:y sonsitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the pariod end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations
within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the functional currency of the lender or barrower.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. Credit risk arises
on cash balances, derivativa financial instruments and credit exposures to customers.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the Group's exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date as disclosed at the start of this
note. A financial asset is in default when the counterparty fails to pay its contractual obligations. Financial assets are written-off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Credit risk is managad separately for financial and business-related credit exposures,

Financial credit risk

Synthomer aims to minimise its financial credit risk through the application of risk management policies approved and menitored by the Board.
Counterparties are predominantly limited to major banks and financial institutions with a ¢credit rating of investment grade and the policy restricts
the exposure to any one counterparty by setting credit limits. The Group’s policy is designed to ensure that individual counterparty limits are
adhered to and that there are ne significant concentrations of credit risk. The Board also defines the types of financial instruments which may be
transacted, Synthomer annually reviews the credit limits applied and reguiarly monitors the counterparties’ credit quality, reflecting markst credit
conditions.

Business related credit risk :

Trade and other receivables exposures are managed locally in the operating units whare thay arise and active risk management is applied,
focusing on country risk, cradit limits, ongoing credit evaluation and monitoring procedures. There is no significant concentration of cradit risk
with respect to receivables as the Group has a large number of custormers which are internationally dispersed. Sse note 20 for information on
cradit risk with respect to trade and other receivables. -

Liquidity risk { .

Liguidity risk is the risk that Synthomer is unable to msat its payment obligations when due, or that it is unabie, on an ongoing basis, 1o borrow
funds at an acceptable price to fund actual or proposad commitments. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
banking facilities and raserve borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity
profiles of assets and fabilities.
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Group financial statemanis

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 Dacamber 2021

22 Financial instruments continued

The following tables provide an analysis of the anticipated undiscounted contractual cash flows including interest payabie for the Group's
financial iiabilites and derivative instrumants. The liquidity analysis for lease liabilitiss is included in note 23. Whara interest payments are
calculated at a floating rate, rates of each cash flow until maturity of the instruments are calculated based on the forward yield curve prevailing at
the respective yaar ends. Derivative contracts are presented on a net basis,

2021 2020
Amaunt due Amount che
betwoen between belwean  between
within 1and 2and within 1 and 2 and
1year 2years Syears 1 year 2years 3 years
. £m £m £m £m £m £m
Overdrafts - - - {10.5) - -
Financial fiabilities in trade and other payables (402.3) {1.5) 0.8) (321.2) (2.0) (1.7}
Bank loans - principal - ~  (1921) - - {190.2)
€520m 3.875% senior unsecured loan notes due 2025 - ~  {437.3) - -  (464.9)
Interest payments on borrowings {20.5) {(20.5) (27.5) 221) (22.0) (690
Total non-derlvative financial liabilities {422.8) (22.0) (B657.7) (353.8) (24.0y (716.8)
2021 2020
Amount dua ~ Amount dug
betwesn between between  betwaen
within tand 2and within 1and 2and
1 year 2 ysars Syears 1 yaar 2 years 5 yoarg
£m £ Em £m £m &m

Currency forwards 3.2 - - 14 ~ -
Total derivative financial asgets 3.2 - - 1.4 -~ -
Interast rate swaps (4.0} (4.0} (7.1} (4.2} 4.3} (11.5)
Currency forwards (1.2) - - {0.8) ~ -
Total derivative financial liabilities {5.2) {4.9) {7.1) 5.0} {4.3) {115

The financial covenant at 31 December 2021 for the RCF is that net debt must be less than 4.0 times EB(TDA. At 31 December 2021 the actuat
covenant for the net debt was 0.3 times EBITDA.

Any non-compliance with covenants undarlying Synthomer's financing arrangaments Could, if not waived, constitute an event of default with
respect to any such arrangements, and any non-compliance with covenants rmay, in particular circumstances, lead to an acceleration of maturity
on certain borrowings and the inability to access committed facilities. Synthormer was in full compliance with its financial covenants in respect of
its borrowings throughout each of the years presented.

At the year end, Synthomer had undrawn committed bank facilities as follows:

2021 2020

Expiring Explring

batwesan betwesan

2and5 2anas
Years Total years Total
£m £m £m £
Unsacured €460m multi-currancy RCF expiring 3 July 2024 3733 3733 397.0 3970
Unsecured $300m Term Loan Facility expiring 28 October 2024 2217 2217 - -

595.0 595.0 397.0 3970

Fair value measurement
Certain of the Group's financial instruments are held at fair value. The fair valug of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction batween market participants at the balance sheet date.

As prescribed by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, fair values are measured using a hierarchy where the inputs are as follows:

* Level 1 - quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
* Level 2 — not level 1 but are observable for that asset or liability either directly or indirectiy.
* Level 3 - not based on observable markat data.

Interest rate swaps and foreign currency forwards and swaps are valued using discounted cash flow techniquas. These techniques incorporate
inputs such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, which are used in a discounted cash flow caleulation incorporating the instrument’s
term, notional amount and discount rate, and taking credit risk into account. As significant inputs to the valuation are observabie in active
markets, all of the Group’s financial instruments are classified as level 2 financial instruments.

The fair valve of forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and currency swaps is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows using forward exchange rates, interest rates and prices at the balance sheet date.

There were no transfers of any financial instrument between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the current or prior year.
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Hedge relationshipg

The Group targets a one-to-one hedge ratio. Strengths of the economic relationship batween the hedged item and the hedging instrument is
analysed on an ongoing basis. IneHectiveness can arise from subssguent change in the forecast transactions as a result of timing, cash flows or
vailue except when the critical terms of the hedging instrument and hedged item are closely aligned. The change in the credit risk of the hadging
instruments or the hedged items is not expected to be the primary factor in the economic relationship. )

The notional amounts, contractual maturitios and rates of the hedging instruments designated in hedging relationships as of 31 December 2021
by the main risk categories are as follows:

wods. afeiens

Hedged risk Notional amount Maturity Rangs of hedged rates
2021
Cash flow hedyes g
Interest rate swap Interest rate  Up to €440m 28/08/2018 - 28/08/2025 0.517% to 0.535% fixed 8
Net investment hedges 8
Net investment Currency  Up to €560m 01/04/2020 - presant 1.11-1.20
Nel investment Currency  Up to $370m 01/04/2020 - presant 1.33-1.42
2020 _—
Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swap Interest rate  Up to €440m 28/08/2018 - 28/08/2025 0.517% to 0.535% fixed
Net investment hadges
Net invastment Currency  Up to €560m frorm 01/04/2020 108-1.15
Net investment Currency  Up to $370m from 01/04/2020 1.23 - 1.37

Where hedge accounting is applied, hedges are documented and tested for effectiveness on an ongoing basis.

The ratio for hedging instruments designated in both net investrment and cash flow hedge relationships was 1:1. Ineffectiveness could cecur on
either hedging relationship due to significant changes in counterparty credit risk or a reduction in the notional amount of the hedged item during
the designated hedging period. ¢

Cash flow hedges
The Group designated as a cash fiow hedgs the interest rate swaps used to manage interast rata risk on its Euro borrowings.

In 2021 a gain of £3.4 million {2020: £0.8 million loss) was recognised in tha cash flow hedge reserve in raspect of these derivatives.
At 31 Decembar 2021 the cash flow hedge reserve includes a cumulative loss of £10.0 million {2020: loss of £13.4 million), alt of which relates to
continuing cash flow hedges. The cash flows are expected to occur between 2022 and 2025,

In the year, the Group's borrowings fell below the total of the interest rate derivative contracts, leading to a reduction in the balance designated as
a cash fiow hedge. The change in fair value relating to the unhedged portion of the interest rate swaps was a gain of £6.2 million {2020: loss of
£3.6 million) which was recognised in tha income statement within finance costs as a Special ltem.

Capital management
The Board is committed to enhancing shareholder value in the long term, both by investing in the business so as to deliver continuad
improvemnent in the return from those investments and by managing the capital structure.

Synthomer manages its capital structure to achieve capital efficiency and to provida flexibility to invest through the economic cycle and give
sfficiant access to debt markets at attractive cost levels. This is achieved by targeting a net debt to EBITDA ratio betwaen 1.0 and 2.0, In order to
finance acquisitions, the Group may increase the ratio to 3.0, with deleveraging within 12-24 months.

As at 31 Dacember 2021 tha net dabt to EBITDA ratio was 0.3 times (2020: 1.8 times).

The Board maintains a dividand policy to 2.5 times earnings cover. Should excess capital not be deployed for acquisitions or capitat expenditure,
the Board will periodically consider ona-off capital returns to shareholders in order to maintain an efficiant balance sheet.

23 Lease liabilities
The Group has a portfolio of leases mainly comprising land and buildings, chemical storage tanks and vehicles. Further details are given in note 2.

Information in respect of right of use assets, including the carrying amount, additions and depreciation, are set out in note 17 to these financial
statements. Information in respect of tha carrying value is set out below and information in respect of interest arising on lease liabilities is set out
innote 9.

Synthomer also enters into short-term leases and low value leases which are not recognised as right of use assets and lease fiabilties.
The expense racognised in the year in relation to these leases is not material. Synthomer has no material exposure to variable lease payments,
extansion oplions or committed leases not yet commenced.

The total cash outflow for leases in the year was as follows:
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2021 : 2020

£m £m

Payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities 9.7 2.7
Payments for the interest portion of lease liabilities 1.5 1.6
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financia! statements continued
31 Decamber 2021 .

23 Lease liabilities continued
Leass liabilities included in the balance shéet are as follows:

31 Dacember 31 Decamber
20 2020
Em £m
Current 8.8 10.6
Non-current . 34.7 44.4
43.5 55.0
The following table details the maturity of contractual undiscounted cash flows for lease liabilities:
' 2021 2020
£m £m
Lass than ong year ‘ 8.4 1.2
Batwesn cne and two years 8.1 10.5
Between two and five years 113 17.1
More than five years 17.0 19.0
24 Trade and other payables .
2021 2020
£m £m
Amount due within one year :
Trade payables 264.0 204.6
Other payables 508 40.5
Accruals 99.4 89.0
414.2 334.1
Amount due alter one year
Accruals 2.3 3.7
2.3 3.7

Average trade payable days in 2021 was 60 (2020: 64), This figure reprasents trate payable days for all trading operations within the Group,

calculated as a weighted average based on cost of sales.

The Directars consider that the carrying amount of trade payables, other payables and accruais approximates to their fair vaiue.

25 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Restructuring Rogulatory
8 site closure fing Total
£m £m £m
At 1 January 2021 3.6 - .6
Charged to the income staternent 26.9 57.2 84.1
Ulilised during the year (10.5) - {10.5)
Exchangs adjustmsnts {2.0) - {2.0)
At 31 December 2021 48.0 57.2 103.2
Analysis of provisions
31 Decamber 31 December
2021 2020
£m £m
Non-current 18.0 59
Current 85.2 26.7
103.2 3186
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Analysis of charge to the income statement

2024 2020

£m &m

Underlying performance - -
Special ltems ) 84.1 27.0
84.1 270

The closing balance includes £57.2 million for the European Commission fine, £15.8 million and £1.0 million in relation to the rationalisation of the
Group's European Performance Materials network in Marl and QOulu respactively and £10.6 million in relation to the onerous coniract arising on
the disposal of the European Tyre Cord business. In the year, a £5.1 million provision was recognised for the closure of OMNOVA's administrative
and R&D site in Villejust (Francs). A £11.6 million provision was recognised to demolish and rationalise assets at a small number of sites, to bring
them into line with our ESG strategy.

26 Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a variaty of retirament benefit arrangements, covering both defined contribution and defined benesfit schemes.

Defined contribution schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contribution schemes for its employees. Costs recognised in respect of defined contribution pension
plans across the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 were £10.9 million (2020: £9.2 milfion).

The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependants of scheme members (widow and crphan bensfits) is re-insured with an external
insurance company.

Multi-employer schemes ,

The Group participates in several tariffs of the Pensionskasse Degussa in Germany, which is a multi-employer pension scheme.

Regular contributions are payable to the scheme by each participating employer for new benefits accruing. The assets of all participating
smployars are pooled, and contributions are calculated based on aggregated demographic experience. Therefore sufficient information is not
available to identify the Group's share of the assets on a consistent and reliable basls and the Group accounts for the scheme on a defined
contribution basis. The Group expects to make a regular contribution of £2.4 million to the scheme in 2022,

To the extent that there is underfunding in the scheme, deficit contributions are payable based on an actuarial assessment of each participating
smployer's share of the future benafit accrual. At 31 December 2021 there is no indication of any commitment for additional deficit contributions
in excess of regular contributions.

Defined benefit schemes

UK

The Group's UK defined benefit schema is administered by a fund that is legally separata from the Company. The trustees of the pension fund
are requirad by law to act in the interest of the fund and of all relevant stakeholders in the scheme. The trustees of the pension scheme are
responsible for the investment policy with ragard to the assets of the fund,

The schema was closed to future acerual in 2009 and all retirement benefits since that time are provided by way of a defined contrigution
scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the companies concerned. A triiennial actuarial vajuation of the scheme was
undertaken in 2021 and is in the process of being finalised by the trustees of the scheme and the Company.

USA ’

The Group's US defined benefit scheme was acquirad as part of the OMNOVA acquisition and is administered by a fund which is legally separate
from OMNOVA Solutions Inc. The fiduciary committes is required by law to act in tha interest of the fund and is responsible for the investment
policy with regard to the assets of the fund.

The scheme was closed to future accrual in 2011 and all retirement benefits since that time are provided by way of a defined contribution
schame. The assets of the scherme are held separately from those of the companies concerned and a formal valuation is undertaken on an
annual basis.

Germany

The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes in Germany. These schemes are closed to new members. In line with common
practice, these schemes are unfunded and %abilities are settied on a cash basis as they fall due. At each balance sheet date, obligations are
calculated by external actuaries.

Other . .

The Group operates a number of smallar ovarseas pension and retirement banefit schames. For the funded schemes, assets are held separately
from those of the Group. The aggregated pension disclasures for the other defined banefit schemes have been compiled from a number of
actuarial valuations at 31 December 2021%.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021

26 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Retirement benefit risks ,
Defined bengfit schemas expose the Group to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detaited below:

Asset return risk The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assels

undegrperform this yield, this will increase the deficit,

Interest rate risk A dacrease in corporate bond yietds will ingrease plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase

in the value of the plan assets in bond holdings.

Longevity risk The majority of the plans' obligations are to provida benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy

will result in an increase in the plans' liabilities.

Charges to the income statement in respect of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes are as follows: .

2021 2020 .
uK USA Germany Other Total UK USA  Gemmary Othar Toa!
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £ £m £m

Service cost 09 1.7 .04 - 30 1.6 1.6 0.6 1.0 4.8
Net interest expanse 06 1.0 0.6 0.2 24 10 1.4 1.0 0.3 37
1.5 2.7 1.0 0.2 54 26 3.0 1.6 1.3 8.5
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income are set out below:
i 2021 2020
uK USA Germany Other Total UK usAa Gemnary Other Totat
£m £m £m £m om £m Em £m Em £m
Return on plan assets
excluding amounts included
in interest expense 3.1) 19.5 - ©0.8) 15,6 32.0 33.1 C- 0.6 65.7
Gains/iosses) from changes in
assumptions 34.5 72 6.9 2.6 51.2 (43.3) (20.8) (7.6) {1.8) (73.3)
Actuarial gains/{losses) 314 26.7 6.9 1.8 £6.8 (11.3) 12.3 {7.6) (1.0} 7.6
Amounts included in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet arising from the Group's defined benefit schems obligations are:

2021 2020
UK USA Germany Other Total UK USA Germany Ciher Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m m £m £m

Present value of defined ) .
benefit obligations (410.1)  (206.2) 77.6) 24.9) {718.8) (4656.4)  (220.3) 91.0) {30.00 ([797.7)
Fair value of schemes' assets 405.5 178.5 2.9 2.5 596.4 404.1 158.5 3.2 10.5 576.3
Net liability arising from
defined benefit obligations {4.6} {21.7) {74.7) (15.4) {122.4) {52.3) {61.8) (87.8) {19.5) (221.4)
Fair value of the schemes’ assets are set out below:
2021 . 2020
UK USA Germany Other Tetal UK UsA  Germany Other Total
em £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 404.1 158.5 3.2 105 5763 366.5 - 31 8.0 3788
Interast income 5.7 24 - - 8.1 7.2 28 - - 10.0
Amounts recognised in income in
respect of defined benetit schemes 5.7 2.4 - - 8.1 7.2 28 - - 10.0
Remeasurement:

Return on plan assets excluding amounts

included in interest income 3.1) 19.5 - {0.8) 15.8 320 33.1 - 0.6 65.7
Amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income 3.1 18.5 - c8 156 32,0 33.1 - 0.6 65.7
Contributions:

Emplovers 169 ° 100 - 0.6 275 16.5 0.4 - 07 17.6
Payments from plans:

Benefit payments {18.1)  (13.9) - 0.2) (32.2) 18,1y {11.5) - {0.8) {30.4)
. {.2) 3.9} - 04 4.7) (e (1.1 - ©.1) (12.8}
Pian assets from acquired entities - - - - - - 14886 - 05 14841
Exchange adjustments - 2.0 {0.3) {0.8) 1.1 - {14.9) 0.1 0.5 {14.3)
At 31 December 4055 1785 2.9 9.5 5964 4041 158.5 3.2 105 5763
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Plan assets for the principal schemes comprisad:

2021 2020
UK USA Germany UK uUsa Germany
Em Em £m m £m &m
Hedge funds 17.5 - - 20.8 - -
Equities 96.5 91.2 1.5 107.2 888 1.6
Debt instruments 2701 56.8 1.4 258.3 49.1 1.6
Property 9.2 245 - 88 206 -
Annuity assets a1 - - 5.2 - -
Cash 9.1 - - 3.8 - -
Fair value of schemes’ assets 405.5 178.5 2.9 404.1 158.5 3.2
All investments in equities, bonds and property are quoted.
Present value of defined benefit obligations comprised:
2021 2020
UK USA Germany Other Total UK USA  Germary Other Total
£m £m Em £m £m £m £m £m tm om
At 1 January (456.4) (2203) (91.0) (30.0) ({797.7) (422.2) - (79.3) {17.1) (518.6)
Current service cost {0.9) {1.7) (0.4} {1.2) 4.2} 0.8 (1.6} 0.5) (1.0 3.9
Past service cost - - - 1.2 1.2 {0.8) - 0.1) - ©.9
Interest expensea {6.3) {3.4) {0.6) {0.2) (10.5) 8.2) (4.2} (1.Q) 0.3} (13.7)
Amounts recognised in income in
respect of defined benefit schemes 7.2) {6.1) (1.0) {0.2) (13.5) {9.8) (5.8) 1.6) - (1.3 (18.5)
Remeasurement gains/{losses) from: '
changes Iin financial assumptions 14.3 109 7.0 - 322 433 {19.6) 7.6) {1.8) (72.3)
changes in demographic assumptions 6.4 {0.3) - 1.1 7.2 - - - 0.3 0.3
experience adjustments 13.8 {3.4) {0.1) 1.6 1.8 - (1.2) - {0.1) {1.3)
Amounts recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income 34.5 7.2 8.9 2.6 51.2 (43.3) {20.8) 7.6) 1.6) (73.3)
Contributions:
Employers 0.9 - 22 0.6 3.7 0.8 20 2.1 0.3 5.2
Payments from plans:
Benefit payments 18.1 13.9 - 0.2 322 18.1 115 - 0.8 30.4
19.0 13.9 2.2 0.8 as5.g 18.9 13.5 21 1.1 356
Scheme liabilities from acquired entities - - - - - - (228.7) - (10.2) (238.9)
Disposals of subsidiary - - - 0.2 0.2 - - - - -
Exchange adjustments - {1.9) 53 1.7 51 - 21.5 {4.6) 0.9) 16.0
At 31 December {410.1) (208.2) (77.6) (24.9) (718.8) (456,4) (2203} (@1.00 (30.0) (F87.7)

The Group remains committed to funding the deficits for the UK and US defined benefit schemes.

Following the 2018 triennial valuation of the UK scheme, which completed in 2019, the Company committed ta paying contributions for the
period ta 5 April 2023, increasing from £16.4 million in the year commencing 6 April 2019 to £18.2 million for the year commencing 6 April 2022,
Contributions from the sponsering companies are expected to be £17.9 million in 2022. The 2021 triennial valuation will be complated in 2022,

The defined benefit obligation of the US scheme was £73.4 million on acquisition. This has reduced to £27.7 million at 31 December 2021.
The Group is currently contributing $6 million per annum to help reduce this deficit.

The Group's other defined benstit schemes are largely unfunded, with minimal plan assets. Liabilities from thesa schemes are settled on a cash

basis as they fall due.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 Decamber 2021

26 Retirement benefit obligations continued
Actuarial agsumptions
The major assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2021 2020
[11. Usa Germany Other UK USA Germany Other
% [ % % % % % %
Hate of increase in pensions in payment 3.20 0.00 1.00 2.00-3.40 2.80 Q.00 1.00 1.80-2.75
Rate of increase in pensions in deferment 2,90 0.00 2,50 2.00-3.40 2.20 0.00 2.50 1.50-2.75
Discount rate 1.80 2.66 1.20 0.27-2.48 1.40 2.19 0.70 {0.80)-1.94
Inflation assumption 3.40 0.00 1.75 1.20-2.00 2.90 0.00 1.75 1.00-2.00

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics. Mortality assumptions are based
on country-specific mortality tables and, where appropriate, includs an allowance for fulure improvements in life expectancy. In addition, where
cradible data exists, actual plan experience is taken into account. The Group's most substantial pension liabilities are in the UK, the US and
Garmany where, using the mortality tables adopted, the expected fifetime of average members currently at age 65 and average members at age
BS in 20 years’ time is as follows:

2021 . 2020
Retiring today Retiring in 20 yoars Retring today Astiring in 20 yaers
UK usA Germany Uk USA Germany UK USA  Germany UK USA  Germany
Male . 822 86.4 85.5 88.6 ar4 B88.2 B7.3 86.4 B5.3 88.9 873 88.1
Female 89.5 B7.5 88.9 90.9 88.5 91.1 §8.5 87.4 88.8B 91.4 B8.4 91.0

Tha weighted average duration of the benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period is 14.9 years for the UK scheme (2020: 16.2 ysars),
10.7 years for the US scheme {2020: 11.3 years) and 17.2 years for the German schemes (2020: 18.4 years).

Sensitivity analysis
Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the defined benefit obligation are discount rate and mortality. The sansitivity analysis
below has been determined based on reasonably pessibie changes of the assumptions oceurring at the end of the reparting perio‘d. assuming

that all other assumptions are held constant: ~ .
Increase in scheme llabillies
UK Usa Garmany
£m £m £m
Discount rate (decreass of 1%) 72 23 14
Futura mortality rate {one year inCrease in expectancy) 19 7 3

The above sensitivities are basad on a change of assumption whils holding all other assumptions constant. In practice this is unlikely to occur
and changes in soma of the assumptiong may have soma correlation. When calculating the sensitivity of the definad benefit obligation to
significant actuarial assumptions, the same methad (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit
method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised within the balance sheet.

27 Share capital and reserves
Share capital

2021 2020 ' 2021 2020
Numbat Number £m £m
Ordinary shares of 10 pence
Shares in issue at 1 January 424,850,961 424,850,961 42.5 42.5
Issued in year 42,485,080 - 4.2 -
Shares in issue at 31 December 467,336,041 424,850,961 46.7 42.5

Qrdinary shares carry no right to fixed income.
On 28 October 2021 the Group completed a shara placing, resulting in the issue of 42,485,080 ordinary shares at 485 pence per share.

Share premium

2021 2020

£m £m
Balance at 1 January 4211 421.1
Premium arising on issue of shares 201.7 -
Expenses of issue of shares (2.8) -
Balance at 31 December , 6200 421.1

The shareg premium account represents the difference between the issue price and the nominal value of shares issued.
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Retained earnings

2021 2020 %’
£m £m =
Balance at 1 January 1924 204.4 g
Dividends paid (73.9) (12.8) 3
Net profit for the year 208.7 31 3
Actuarial gains/{losses} recognised in other comprehensive income 66.8 (7.6
Tax relating to components cof other comprehensive income {(11.8} 3.5 —
Charge to equity for equity-settied share-based payments 1.2 1.8
Balance at 31 December 382.8 192 4 é’
Hedging and translation reserve §
Cash flow 8
hedging Translation
rasarva resorve Total
£m £m £m
Balance at 1 January 2021 {(13.4) (28.5) 41.9)
Exchange differences on translaticn of foreign operations - 28 28
Gains on net investment hedges taken to equity - 33 33 o
Gain recognised on cash flow hedges: £
Interast rate swaps 3.4 - 34 =
Reclassification to profit or loss: E
Exchange difference recycled on sale of business - 03 0.3 =
Batance at 31 December 2021 {10.0) {22.1) (32.1) ;:;
Balance at 1. January 2020 (12.6) 8.9 {19.5) %,
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations - (37.5) {37.5)
Gains on nat investment hedges taken to equity - 159 159
Loss recognised on cash flow hedges:
Interest rate swaps 0.8) — {0.8)
Balance at 31 December 2020 {13.4) (28.5) {41.9)

Cash flow hedging reserve
The hedging reserve represents the cumulative amount of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed effectiva in cash flow hedges.
The cumulative deferred gain or lass on the hedging instrument is recognised in profit or loss only when the hedged transaction impacts the

profit or loss, or is included as a basis adjustrent to the non-financial hedged item, consistent with the applicable accounting policy.

Translation reserve
Exchange differencas relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group's foreign operations, which relate to subsidiaries only, from thair
functional currency into the parent's functional currency. being sterling, are recognised directly in the translation reserve. Gains and losses on

hedging instruments that are designated as hedges of net investrments in foreign operations are included in the translation reserva.
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Group financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021
|

2B Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations

2021 2020
£m £m
Operating profit — continuing operations 308.5 584
Less: share of profits of joint vanturas {2.6) 1.2)
305.9 57.2
Adjustments for:

. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 54.4 54.0
Depreciation of right of use assets 8.8 10.8
Amortisation of other intangibles T 49 -
Share-based payments ’ 2.1 20
Special ltems 1424 1312

Cash impact of restructuring and site closure costs 7.8 (25.3)
Cash impact of acquisition costs and retated gains X (6.8} 7.4}
Pension funding in excess of service cost {27.0) (18.9)
Movamaent in working capital {82.8) 23.5
Cash generated from operations 3875 232.2
Reconciliation of movement in working capital

{Increasej/decrease in inventorias 87.7) 174
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (64.8) 191
Increase/decrease) in tracle and cther payables 69.7 {12.7)
Meavemeant in working capital (82.8) 23.5

29 Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consclidation and are not included
in this note, Transactions bstwegn the Company and iis subsidiarigs are disclosed in the Company's financial statements where appropriate,

The UK defined benefit scheme is a related party; ses note 26.

A summary of the key management compensation relates to the Directors and marmbers of the Executive Committas, is set out below:

2021 2020

Koy 'l P tlon £m £m
Short-term employee bansfits 8.3 8.1
Pension costs 0.5 0.4
Share-based payments ' 2.1 20
. 10.9 11.5

30 Contingent assets, contingent liabilities and guarantees
Guarantees and contingen liabilities of the Group amount to £2.5 million {2020: £2.7 milion) and relate to an environmental liability in France,

The Company and its subsidiaries have, in the normal course of business, entered into guarantges and counter-indemnities in respect
of pertormance bonds, relating to the Group's own contracts.
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31 Share-based payments

Performance Share Plan

The Group's Performance Share Plan is described in the Directors’ Remuneration report on pages 112 to 126, In addition to the two Exacutive
Directors, it i available 1o other senior management. Moverent in the options heid under the scheme are defined as follows:

Weighted av. ‘Waighted av.

oxercise exercise

QOptions price (£} Uptions price (£

2021 2021 2020 2020

numbor number . number number

Qutstanding at 1 January 2,551,622 - 1,936,998 -
Granted during the year 875,330 - 1,134,333 -
Exercised during the year {214,389) - {40,146) -
Lapsed during the year {821,270) - (479,563) -
Quistanding at 31 Dacember 2,391,293 - 2,551,622 -
Exercisable at 31 December - - 22,367 - 49,554 -

The cutstanding share options were all issued under the Performance Share Plan. As at 31 December 2021 the following options
were outstanding:

Number

Exercisable between 2016 and 2023 . 8,316
Exercisable between 2017 and 2024 . ' 6,945
Exercisable between 2018 and 2025 7,106
Exercisable between 2022 and 2029 729,704
Exercisable between 2023 and 2030 954,432
Exercisable between 2024 and 2031 . ) 684,790
2,391,263

The total exercise price for all the above grants is Cnil.

~
For options outstanding as at 31 Dacember 2021, the exercise price was £nil and the weighted average remaining contractual life was 4.95 years
{2020: 5.16 years).

The waighted average share price at the date of exercise was £4.64 (2020: £2.83).

The weighted average fair value of the options at the measurement date granted during the year was £3.60 (2020: £1.94). The valuation was
based on the following inputs and assumptions, using a Monte Cario simufation modsk:.

2021 2020
Weighted average share price (£) 4.68 2.59
Option price [£) - -
Value of optianality . nit nil
Vasting assumption 77% 75%

The vesting assumption is the estimate at the measurement date of the percentage of the options that will ultimately vest and is based on market
conditions and management’s assessment of the likefhood of achievement of the perforrmanca criteria.

The Group also operates a cash-settied share-based payment scheme for which there was an expense in the year of £1.8 million
{2020: £2.4 million) and for which thera was a liability at the year end of £4.0 million (2020: £2.9 million).

The Synthomer Employee Benefit Trust

The Company established a trust, formerly the Yule Catto Employee Benefit Trust, on 17 July 1996 1o distribute shares to employees enabling the
obligations under the Yuls Catto Longer-Term Parformance Share Plan and the Yule Catto Longer-Term Deferred Bonus Plan to be met.

The Trust is managed by the RBC Trustees (Guernsey) Limited, an independent company located in Guernsey.

At 31 December 2020, the Trust held 2,547 (2020: 8,939) ordinary shares in the Company with a market valus of £0.0 million (2020: £0.0 million).
The dividends dn these shares have baen walved. All of the shares are under option. Costs are amortised aver the life of the plans.

32 Share price information

The middle market value of the listed ordinary shares at 31 December 2021 was 399.6 pence (31 December 2020. 449.6 pence)
During the year, the market price ranged between 388.6 pence and 564.0 pence. The latest ordinary share price is available

on the Group's website, www,.synthomer.com

sorusireponoce | 1771

~

Jedes ofeieag

ROUBLIBAGLY

(2]
b4
=
=
@
a
&
«
o
o
3
&
o

SIUBLLIBIRIS |BIDUBUY AURGWOT)

UOPRLLIOU} JBI




Group financial statemeants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
31 December 2021

33 Audit exemptions ,

The foliowing subsidiaries have taken advantage of the exemption from an audit for the year ended 31 December 2021 available under S479a of
the Companies Act 2006, as the Company has given a statutory guarantse of all of the outstanding liabilities of these subsidiaries as at

31 December 2021.

: Comgpany
Company registration
Dimex Lirnited 01763128
Ecatto Limited ) 00978441
Harlow Chemical Company Limited 00778831
OMNOVA Performance Chemicats Limited 03734748
OMNOVA UK Holding Limited 07682224
PolymerLatex Limited 03438041
Revertex Limited (00873653
Super Sky Limited 02021871
Synthomer Overseas Limited 08349474
Tempte Fields 510 01415496
Tempte Fields 514 Limited 04541637
Temptle Fialds 515 Limited 00692510
Temple Fields 522 Limited "05516912
Tempie Fialds 523 Limited 05516913
Temple Fields 530 Limited Q0831113
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Synthomer is a global leading
supplier of Acrylonitrile Butadisne
Rubber {NBR latex} for glova dipping
and associated healthcare industries.
These products are designed to meet the highest
parformance requirements of medical and industrial
glove manufacturers, praviding high flexibility and
comfort as well as a high barrier protection for the
end user. Gloves manufactured from Synthomer's
speciality NBR latex ensure a combination of high
tensile strength, good elongation and relaxation
1o cater to the spacific needs of medical,
. exarnination, clean room, foed handling,
~ medical drug handling and chemical
laboratory applications
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Company financial statemants

Company statement of financial position

as at 31 December 2021

2021 2020

Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 4.4 5.6
Othaer intangible assets 5 a1.5 -
investment in subsidiarias and joint venturas 3 537.9 370.8
Deferred tax assets 1.8 -
Total non-current assets 585.6 376.4
Current assets
Other dabtors 6 1,279.7 1,445.6
Cash and cash equivalents 248.9 426
Derivative financial instruments 9 30 1.4
Total current assets 1,531.6 1,489.6
Current liabilities
Borrowings 8 {10.4) (44.0)
Other payables 7 (180.8) {164.8)
Provisions (57.2) -
Derivative financial instruments 9 (9.1} {18.8)
Leass liabilities {0.7) 0.7
Total current liabilities {258.2) {228.3)
Net current assets 1,273.4 1,261.3
Total assets less current liabilities 1,859.0 1,637.7
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 8 {619.5} (643.9)
Leass liabilities (1.7} 2.3)
Total non-current liabilities (621.2) " {646.2)
Net assets 1,237.8 991.5
Equity
Share capital 10 46.7 42.5
Share premium 10 620.0 4211
Revaluation raserve 0.8 08
Capital redemption reserve 09 09
Retained earnings 569.4 526.2
Total equity 1,231.8 991.5

As disclosed in note 2, the Company’s profit for the year was £112.1 milion {2020: £193.5 million).
The notes on pages 176 to 180 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements of Synthomer pli¢ {registered number 98381} on pages 174 to 180 were approved by the Board of Oirectors
F:(a heyised forissue on 3 March 2028 They are sign
M

% N
willome A/\ S G Ben

Director Director
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Company financial statements

Company statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2021

Capital w0
Share Shere P Retained Total E
capital premiym resorve resarve aarnings equity 53
£m m £rm £m £m £m 'g.
At 1 January 2021 42.5 4211 08 09 526.2 991.5 2
Profit for the year - - - - 1121 11214 §
Total comprehensive income for the year .- - - - 1121 1121
Issue of shares 4.2 198.9 - - - 203.1
Dividends - - - - (73.5) {73.9)
Share-based payments - - - - 12 12 %1
Fair value gain on hedged intarast rate derivatives - - - - 34 34 g
At 31 December 2021 46.7 §20.0 0.8 0.8 569.4 1,237.8 §
o«
Capitai
Share Share  Ravaluation  redemption Ratsined Total
capital premium reserve rgserve sarnings equlty
£m £m £m £m £m tm
At 1 January 2020 425 421.1 08 0.8 3446 8099
Profit for the year - - - - 193.5 193.5 o
Total comprehansive income for the year - - - - 183.5 193.5 g
Dividends - - - - (12.8} {12.8) E
Share-based payments - - - - 1.8 18 a
Fair value loss on hedged interest rate derivatives - - - - 0.9) {0.9) ;_g.
At 31 December 2020 42.5 4211 0.8 0.9 526.2 991.5 §‘
2
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O
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=
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements
31 December 2021

1 Significant accounting policies

The separata financial statemants of the Company are presentad as required by the Companies Act 2006. The Company meets the definition of
a qualifying entity under FRS 100 *Application of Financial Reporting Requirerments’ issved by the FRC. Accordingly, these financial siatements
waere preparad in accordance with FRS 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework’.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation to
share-based payments, financial instrurents, capital management, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet eftective and
certain related party transactions.

Where requirad, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial staternents.

The financial statements have been preparad on the historical cost basis except for the remeasurement of certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair valuas at the end of each reporting period.

The basis of accounting and the principal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out in note 2 to the consalidated financial
statements except as noted below.

Invastments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment. The carrying amounts of the

Company’s investments are reviewed at each reporting date to datermine whether thera is an ingdication of impairment. If such an indication

exists, then the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Losses are recognised in the income statement and reflected in an allowance against

the carrylng value. Whan a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment 10ss is reversed

through the income statement. :

intercompany balances are shown gross uniess a right of set-off exists. Balances are valued at fair value at inception and are repayabla on
demand. All intercompany toans are repayable on demand and the Company has the ability to refinance any of its subsidiaries using equity
allowing the subsidiary to repay any receivables owed to Synthomer plc. |

Dividand distributions to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Company’s financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders. .

There are no significant accounting judgements and estimates applied in preparing the Company's account except for the impairment testing of
amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings. When measuring the potential impairment of receivables from subsidiaries, forward-looking
information based on assumptions for the future movement of ditferent economic drivers are considered.

2 Profit for the year

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2008, no separate profit and ioss account or statement of comprehensive income is !
presentad for Synthomer plc. The Company reported a profit of £112.1 million for the year ended 31 Dacember 2021 (2020: profit of

£193.5 million).

Auditor remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Company had no employees during the current or prior ysar.

3 Investment in subsidiaries and joint ventures

2021 2020
Joint Jairt
Subsidiaries vantures Total Subsidiarles. veatures Totat
£m £m £m £m £m m
Cost .
At 1 January 370.5 0.5 374.0 264.3 05 264.8
Additions 1671 - 1671 106.2 - 106.2
At 31 December | 537.6 0.5 538.1 370.5 0.5 371.0
Provisions
At 1 and 31 December January - {0.2) {0.2) - 0.2) 0.2)
Net book value
At 31 December 537.6 0.3 5378 370.5 0.3 370.8 - ‘

Details of the Group's subsidiaries and joint ventures are included in note 12 on pages 179 and 180.
In March 2021 the Company capitalised a loan receivable from Temple Fields 514 Limited.
The Directors cansider the value of investments to be supported by underlying assets.
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is operational, costs have been transferred to the Company.

4 Property, plant and equipment 2021 a0z §
Freehold Q.
Right of use land and Plantand Right of use  Freehold land Plant and o
bullding i Total buildings and bulidings equipmant Total &
i:‘:n £m £m £m £m Lm tm £m %
GCost .
At 1 January 4.1 3.0 0.5 T.7 4.1 3.0 - 7.1
Additions - - 0.1 0.1 - - 06 11
Transfers to other intangible assets - - {0.6) (0.8) - - - — o
At 31 December 4.1 a.0 0.1 7.2 1.1 30 0.6 77 g
’ g
Aécumulated depreciation g
At 1 January 1.2 0.9 - 241 0.6 09 - 15
Chargsa for the yaar : 0.7 - - 0.7 0.6 - - 06
At 31 December 1.9 0.9 - 2.8 1.2 0.9 - 2.1 L
Net book value g
At 31 December 2.2 2.4 0.3 4.4 2.9 241 0.6 5.6 §.
Freehold land amounting to £1.8 million (2020: €1.8 million) has not been depreciatad. %
5 Other intangible assets : 18
2021 2020 z
£m £m §
Cost @
At 1 January - -
Additions \ 21 -
Transters from Group undertakings 40.9 . -
Transfers from property, plant and equipmaent 0.6 -
At 31 Degember ) 43.8 -
Accumulated depreciation -
At 1 January - - o
Charge for the year 21 - g
At 31 Decomber ) 21 - 5
Net book value 3
At 31 December 415 - o
The first phase of the Group's Pathway Programme systems transformation project was successfully deployed in May 2021, Now that the system ;:_
7

In April 2021, the IFRS Interpretations Committae issued a new interpretation in relation to accounting for customisation and configuration costs
of cloud computing arrangements. Following a detailed review, it was confirmed that the new interprstation does materially impact the
accounting treatment for costs incurred on the Group's Pathway programme,

6 Debtors
2021 2020
. £m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 1,275.0- 1,443.4
Other raceivables 0.6 1.1
Prepayments and accrued income 4.1 11

1,279.7 1,445.6

Amounts owed by Group underiakings are valued at fair vaiue at inception and are repayable on demand.

Of the Company's amounts owed by Group undertakings, £149.0 million is impaired (2020: £149.0 million). Future expected credit losses
on amounts receivable from subsidiaries are immaterial. I
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

31 Decamber 2021

7 Other creditors

2021 2020
£m £m
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 1425 148.2
Other creditors 3.5 4.2
Accruals and deferred income , 34.8 i24
180.8 164.8
Arnounts owed to Group undertakings are valued at fair value at inception and are repayable on demand.
8 Borrowings i
2021 2020
£m Lm
Current borrowings
Overdrafts 10.4 34.4
Current borrowings - 2.6
10.4 44.0
Non-current borrowings
Bank loans 187.9 186.2
€520m 3.875% senior unsecured loan notes due 1 July 2025 431.6 4577
619.5 643.9
Details of borrowings are provided in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.
9 Financial instruments
The fair value of the financial instruments disciosed in the Company’s statement of financial positian are as follows:
' 2021 2020
Carrying [
Veluation amount amount within
category in Fair value Camying within scope Carrying scope of IFRS
accordance hierarchy amount ot IFRS 7 Falr value amount 7 Fair valve
with IFRS §' level £m £fm £m £m f£m £m
Other receivables AC Level 2 1,219.7 1,275.6 1,27586 1,4458 1.445.6 1,445.6
Cash and cash equivalents AC Level 2 248.9 248.9 248.9 42.6 42,6 42.8
Derivatives — no hedge accaunting FVTPL Level 2 3.0 3.0 3.0 1.4 1.4 1.4
Total assets 1,531.6 1,527.5 1,527.5 1,480.6 1,4898.6 1,480.6
Borrowings AC Level 2 {629.9) {629.9) {639.8) (687.9) (687.9} {699.1)
Trade and other payables AC Level 2 {180.8) {180.6) (180.6) (164.8) (164.0) (1684.0)
Derivatives — no hedge accounting FVTPL Level 2 {9.1) {9.1) 19.1) (18.8) {18.8) (18.8)
Total liabilities {819.8) {819.6) {829.5) {871.5) {870.7) {881.9)

1. AC: emortiged cost; FYTOGI: falr velue through other comprehensive income; FYTPL: falr value through peofli or inss.

Further disclosures on financial instruments are included in note 22 of the consolidated financial statements.

10 Share capital and share premium

Details of the Company's share capital and shara premiurn are shown in note 27 of the consolidated financial statements.

11 Guarantees and other financial commitments

The Company has provided financial guarantees amounting to £20.1 million (2020: £31.9 million} in respect of bank and other facilities of

subsidiaries and joint ventures.
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12 Subsidiaries and joint ventures
Principa! Cwnership

Principai  Ownership
%

Couniry of incorporation and reglstered address activity Country of Incorporation and registered address acthity

United Kingdom Egypt

Central Road, Harlow, Essex, CM20 2BH Industriel Zone 1-B, 10th of Remadam City, Sharkiya

Dimex Limited ’ Holding Company 100 Synthomer SAE ‘Trading 6o
Ecatto Limited Holding Company 1007 Finland

Herlow Ghemical Company Limited Holding Gompany 1002 PO Box 175, Oulu, FI 80101

QOMNGVA Performanca Chemicals Limited Dormant 100 Synthomer Finland Oy Dortrant 100
OMNGVA UK Halding Limited Dormant 100 France

Polymert_atex Limited Holding Company 100 14 avenue des Tropiques, Z.A. de Courtaboout 2, Vilisjust, 91955
Revartex Limiteq Domant 1000 OMNOVA Solutions France Holding SAS Holding Company 100
S.A. {300) Limited Holding Company 1002 OMNOVA Solutions International SAS Holding Company 100
Star Pharma Limited Dormant 100 OMNOVA Solutions SAS Trading 100
Super Sky Limited Holding Company 502 | 704 rue Pierra ot Marie Curie, Ribécourt-Dreslincourt, 60170

Synthomer {UK) Limited Trading 100 Synthomer France SAS Trading 100
Synthomer Holdings Limited Holding Company 1000 6 Place de la Madelaine, Parls, 76008

Synthomer Overseas Limited Holding Company 1007 Yule Catto Internationat SA Non-Trading 100
Témple Fields 510 Dormant 100 Germany

Temple Fialds 514 Limited Holding Company 100° Warrastrasse 10, Mar), 45768

Temple Fields 515 Limited Holding Company 100 Synthomer Deutschland GmbH Trading 100
Templa Fields 522 Limitad Holding Company 1007 Temple Fields GmbH Non-Trading 100
Temple Fields 523 Limited Holding Company 100° Yule Catto Holdings GmbH”~ Holding Company 100
Templa Fields 530 Umited Holding Company 100 India

William Blythe Limited Trading 100 1001, Moadows, Sahar Plaza, Andherl-Kurla Road, Andhaeri East,

48 Pall Mal), London, SW1Y 5JG Mumbal 400059

Synthomer Trading Limited Trading 100 OMNOVA India Trading LLP Trading 100
44 Esplanade, St Halier, Jersey, JE4 SWG italy

Synthomer Jersey Limiled Dormant 100° Via delle Industrie 9, Fllago, BG, 24040

Australia Synthomer S.rl, Trading 100
58 Gipps Street, Colllngwood, Victotia, 3086 Via Morozzo 27, Sant'Albano Stura, CN, 12040

Synthomer Australia Pty Lirnited Trading 100 Synthomaer Speciatty Resins S.rl. Trading 100
Austria Piazza Cavour 3, Milano, MI, 20121

Industriepark, Pischelsdorf, 3435 UQUIFA Italia S.r.h Non-Trading 100
Synthomer Austria GrmbH Trading 100 | Malaysia

China Unit 16-2, Wisma Uca Damansara ll, 8 Changkat Semantan, Damansara
Building 53-55, 1000 Zhangheng Road, Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park, Helghts, Kuala Lumpur, 50490

Pudong, Shanghal, 201203 Desa Baldurt $dn Bhd Property Letting 70
Shanghai Synthormer Chemicals Co Ltd Trading 10g | Kind Action (M) Sdn Bhd Trading 70
8 Hua Jing Road, China {Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone, Shanghal, PolymerLatex Sdn Bhd Trading 100
20013% Quality Polymer Sdn Bhd Trading 70
OMNQVA Performance Chemicals Trading Revertex (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Trading 70
{Shanghai} Co Ltd Trading 100 Rexptas Sdn Bhd Dormant 70
210 Zhou Gong Road, Shanghai Chemical Industry Park, Shanghal Synthomer Sdn Bhd “rading 100
201507 . Terra Simfoni Sdn Bhd Holding Company 100
OMNOVA Shanghal Co Ltd Trading 100 Mauritius

908 Jiangbln Road, Xiaogang United Development Zans, Ningho /o Citco (Mauritius) Limited, Tower A, 1 Cybercity, Ebens

Economic & Technical Development Zane, Ningbo, 315803 OMNGVA Asia Pacific Corp Holding Gompany 100
OMNOVA Nh:b° Coltd Trading 100 Standard Charted Tower, 18 Cybercity, Ebene

:::'ial;i Road, China (Shanghal) Plict Free Trade Zone, 'Shanghal, OMNOVA Hotding Limited Holding Gompany 109
Elickern Trading (Shanghai) Co Ltd Trading 100

Czech Republic

Tovarnl 2093, Sokolov, 366 01

Synthomar AS Trading 100

¥V Celnicl 1031/4, Prague, 110 00

Synthomer Holdings (CZE) SRO Non-Trading 100

Synthomer plc
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Company financial statements

Notes to the Company financial statements continued

31 December 2021

12 Subsidiaries and joint ventures continued
Psncipal Ownership
%

Princlpal Ownership

Country of Ir and reg activity Country of incorporation and registered address activity %
Netheriands Thailand

lisselstraat 41, Oss, 5347 KG 111/7 Moo 2, Nikompattana District, Rayong, 21180

Synthomer BV Trading 100 OMNOVA Enginegred Surfaces (Thalland) Co

Yule Catio BY Nan-Trading 100 | d Tragiing 100
Yule Catto Nedertand Bv Non-Trading 100 | UAE

Spehdijk 15704Rj Helmond Bullding 2101, Office S10122A2, Jabel All Free Zane, Dubal

Xynira Invastments BV Non-Trading 33 | Synthemer Furctional Selutions FZCO Trading 48

Portugal
Rua Francisco Lyon de Castro, 28, 2725-387 Mem Martins

OMNQVA Solutions Portugal SA Trading 100
Lyon2zs - Imobiliario SA Non-Trading 100
Saud| Arabla

27 Street, 2nd Ind ial City, D , 31472

Synthomer Micidie East Cornpany Ltd Trading 49
Singapore

Ocean Financial Centre, 10 Collyer Quay, 049315

OMNOVA Performance Chemicals Singapore

Pte Lid Trading 100
Spaln

Camino de Sangroniz 8, Sondika, 48150

Synthomer Asua SL Trading 100
Paseo da la Castellana 177, Madrid, 28046

OMNOVA Solutions {Espana) SL. Non-Trading 100
Rambla da Catal 53, Barcel 08007

Yule Catto Spain SL Non-Trading 100
Sweden

Tostarpsvagen 11, Kavlinge, 244 32 ’

Synthomer Speciality Additives AB Trading 100

Synthomer pic
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East Wing 2, Office 201, Po Box 54645, Pubai Airport Frea Zone, Dubal

Synthomer F2CO Trading ag'
USA

1201 Peachtree Street NE, Atlanta, GA, 30361

Synthomer LLGC Trading 100
Yulg Catto Ing Non-Trading 100
160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, DE, 19904

Synthomer USALLC Trading 100
25435 Harvard Road, Beachwood, Ohio 44122-6201

Decorative Products Thailand Inc Holding Company 100
OMNOVA Qversess Inc Non-Trading 100
OMNOCVA Solutions Inc Trading 100
OMNOVA Wallcovaring (USA) Ing Holding Company 100
Synthemer NBR Solutions LLC Darmant 100
Vietnam

8, 6th Strest, Song Than Industrla! Park, Di An

Synthomer Vietnam Co Ltd Trading 60
Notes

1. Joint ventures.

2. Harlow Chemical Company Umited is incerporated in UK bt Is resident In Netherands,
3, Shares directly held by Synthomer ple.
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Synthomer’s Laminates & Fims
business provides decorative
laminates for residential and
commercial interior environments.
The products include innovative, durable —
surfaces lor a wide range of applications —
from kitchen to bathroom, retail to o
recreational vehicles, and performance §
films for luxury flooring, signage and 3
industrial applications. g
2
w
B
o
3
2

2
T
&
5
g
]
3
£
E
3

arraipeponzoer | 187



Other information

Environment performance summary'

2021 vs

2021 vs

2021 2020 2019 20204 2019™2
Energy consumption - metered {GJ)'
Total
Enlarged Group 5,662,464 5410,255 5,486,905 4.66% 3.58%
U only 338,554 340,477 329,741 -0.56% 2.67%
Energy consumption by source
Gas 2,574,818 2,422,543 2,479,253 6.29% 3.85%
Light and Heavy Qils 26,297 26,364 30,354 -0.26% -13.37%
Steam and hot water (metered) 892,030 838,485 933,895 6.39% -4.48%
Electricity (metered) 1,418,872 1426718 1,420,687 -0.56% -0.13%
Coal 750,448 606,145 602,716 7.80% 24.51%
Specific energy consumption (GJ/tonne production)
Enlarged Group 3.18 3.09 3.08 2.36% 267%
UK only 4.31 3.95 4.22 9.00% 2.13%
Refrigerant Rejeases - HCFC and others
Total refrigerant releases ftonne) ) 1,805 1,687 2,581 7.00%  -30.08%
Specific refrigerant releases (kg/tonne production) 0.0010 0.0010 0.0015 4.66% -30.68%
Greenhouse Gas emissions (tonne CO,e)* 343
Total Scope 1 emissions
Enlarged Group 211,205 200,856 198,786 5.15% 6.25%
UK oniy 12,721 12,867 12,429 -1.13% 2.35%
Total Scope 2 emissions = Hybrid approach
Enlarged Group 63,352 178017 213258 -64.M1% -70.20%
LK only . ~ 5,893 6,266 5,308 -5.96% 11.01%
Total Scope 2 emissions — Market Base )
Enlarged Group B 69,914 182,707 227,400 -61.73%  -69.26%
UK only 5,893 6,268 5,308 -5.96% 11.01%
Total Scope 2 emissions - Location Base
Enlarged Group 211,059 222,317 225,542 -5.06% -8.42%
UK only 7,826 8,785 8,367 -10.91% -6.46%
Total GHG emissions
Enlarged Group 274,557 378,873 412,044 -27.53% -33.37%
UK only 18,613 19,133 17,737 -2.72% 4.94%
Specific GHG emissions {tonne CO:e/tonne production)
Enlarged Group 0.153 .216 0.232 -26.12% -33.85%
UK only 0.237 0.222 0.227 6.64% 4.39%
Greenhouse Gas emissions by source {tonne CO:e)
From energy® 269,536 373,984 403,570 -27.93% -33.21%
From refrigerant relgases 5,021 4,887 8,474 272%  -40.76%
QOther emissions to air
Sulphur Dioxide {SO,) {tonhe) 122.202 132.312 126.322 -7.54% -3.26%
Kilos SO, /tonne production 0.068 0.076 0.071 -9.67% -4.11%
Nitrous Oxides (NO,) tonne)® 239.822 236.186  207.396 1.54% 15.63%
Kilos NO,/tonne production 0.134 0135 0.117 -0.69% 14.63%
Voiatile Organic Compounds {VOCs) {tonne) 595.286 504,932 515008 17.89% 15.59%
Kilos vOCs/tonne production 0.332 (.288 15.31% 14.58%

0.290
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202t vs 2021 vs

2021 2020 208 20200 2019
Water Usage
Total water withdrawal {m?) 7,862,459 7,241,228 7,177,835 8.58% 9.54%
Water usage by source {m?)
Public Potable Supply 1,712,967 1,683,337 1,811,502 1.76%  -5.44%
Raw Water from River 3,357,138 2978227 2,791,844 12.72%  20.25%
Raw Water from Borehole 1,358,196 1,172,020 1,200,902 15.89% 13.10%
Raw Water form Canal 115,771 106,553 107,642 8.65% 7.55%
Raw Water from Other - 1,318,387 1,301,001 1,265,856 1.33% 4.15%
Specific water withdrawal (m°tonne production)
Enlarged Group 4.39 413 4.04 6.20% 8.58%
Waste Management
Total Hazardous Waste (tonne) 24,110 22,118 23.809 9.01% 0.84%
Hazardous waste by source (tonne)
Recycled - energy recovery 2,931 3,244 3,777 -967% -22.41%
Recycled — separated - reprocessed 5,065 6,418 5959 -21.09% -15.00%
Incinerated - no snergy racovery 2,738 1,611 1,430 69.94% 91.47%
Disposed by Jandfill 3,235 2,276 1.643 42.16%  96.91%
Other 10,141 8,567 11,100 18.38% -8.64%
Specific hazardous waste (kg/tonne production) 13.46 12.63 13.47 6.62% -0.04%
Total Non-Hazardous Waste {tonne) . 17,126 16,783 24,310 2.04% -29.55%
Non-hazardous waste by source (tonne)
Recycled — energy recovery 4,278 4,475 8,176 -4.41%  -47.68%
Recycled - soparated — reprocessed 2,836 2,377 2,275 19.32%  24.66%
Incingrated — no energy recovery 22.31 17.03 186.0C 3097% -88.01%
Disposed by landfill 8,011 8,170 11,808 -1.95% -32.16%
Other — municipality 1,979 1,745 1,865 13.44% 6.11%
Specific non-hazardous waste {kg/tonne production) 9.56 9.58 13.70 -0.20% -30.17%
Total Waste (tonne) 41,235 38,900 48,219 6.00% -14.48%
Specific total waste (kg/tonne production) 23.03 22.21 27.16 3.68% -15.23%
Total waste to landfill {kg} 11,246 10,445 13,451 7.66% -16.39%
Specific waste to landfill {kg/tonne production) 6.28 5.96 7.58 5.30% -17.12%
Production volume (tonne) 1,790,719 1,751,406 1,775,092 2.24% 0.88%
Footnote:

1.
2,

3.
4.

5.
6.

Data ralates 1o slte usaga of all fuels, excluding transport of gonds to and from slie and the movement of thesa vehicles on site. Internal fransport on site ig included.

Emiasions {o alr have baen caiguiated from the usage of all fuels, excluding iransport fuel. They tharefore Include both direct emissions and indirect emigsions related to bought-in
slectricity, stesm, compressed alr, cooling water elc.. with the exception of transmission and distribution logses for electricity (these losses are In Scope 3, thig repenrt Is for Scope 1 and 2).
€Oq mguivalent smisslons inciude comributions from CH, and N0 associated with combustion.

Al direct energy production from fosail fusls has been eggregated on a Group-wide basls and converted 1¢ COze by using the appropriate emissions factors. No efowance has been made
for possible Souniry to couniry varlation In calorfic vatue or GOz emission lacters for primary fuels. Electrichty has been converted 1o COze on & country by country basis. Scope 2
smissions haveg bean calculated using three different approachas:

Market Base: uging markat-based emissions factors for eleciricity from suppliers of standarg grid fuel mix tarifés. tn case of supplisrs emissions faclors not avallable, 1he residual mix was
used ‘or the EY) shes and Location Base approach for non-EU siles.

Location Base: using emissions factors from DEFRA {dataset published n Juna 2021) ware usad for LK grid electricily and for overseas grid electrichy rom the relevant IEA (International
Energy Authority) "World GOz Emisslons from Fuel Combustion' databases. In ccordance with UK Gavermmant guidance, factors used for 2021 reporting are based on 2019 validated
data,

Hybrid Approach: using Locallon Base info excapt for sites within the Group that purchasa renewable energy attribute certificatas. Electricity for 1hege locations has baen given a COze
emisslons. tactor of zero In calculating ensrgy-related emiaslons totals.

The hybrid epproach I the approach that has been usad by the Group In previous yaars to establish the baseline and the targets. In ¢rder 10 be able 1o comparg historical performance
year to year, the total emissions (Scope 1 and 2) have bsan calculated using the hybrid approech.

The total ©O2g figure Is she total of the CO: equivalent from energy and tha refrigeram contribution.

NO, emissiont gra predaminantly thosa from combustion processes. The CO: equivatent Global Warming Potgntial contributlon irom ihese releases is already Included In the CO: from the
energy figure sbove.

7. 2020 deta has been modifled according to the detalls provided in the Emvironmant gaction.
8.
9. Our Stallingbarough site in the UK draws efactdcity om an adjacent waste Incinerator. But since the waste Is both renewable and non-renawable, the ste has some assoclated emlsslons.

Percentege changes are calculated from the base deta and may difier siightly from changes calculated from ihe data in tha tables bacausa of reunding.

In 2021, the emissions from this slectricity were 0.438kg CO:ze per Wh, based on our daterminalion of the factors used for the Cimate Change Agreement submlgsion,

10.Environmantal performance data covers all manufacturing operations and major office/technical centres. It excludes all non-trading end office/sales-relpted subsidiaries and joint ventures

llsted on pagesg 179 and 180 of this Report.
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Cther information

GRI Content Index

GRI Standard Digclosure Page
GENERAL DISCLOSURES
Organisational profile
GRI 10241 Name of the organisation ' front cover
GRI 102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services 3-7
GRI 102-3 Location of headquarters back cover
GRi 102-4 Location of operations 3. 26, 30, 34, 38
GRI 102-5 Qwnership and lagal form 127-128
GRI 102-6 Markets served 6-7
GRI 102-7 Scale of tha organisation 2-5
GRI 102-8 Information on employees and other workers onling data pack
GRI 102-9 Supply chain . 51-53
GRI 102-10 Significant changes to the organisation and its supply chain 9, 22
GRI 102-11 Precautionary principle or approach 69-80
GRI 102-12 External initiatives 3 44, 47, 54
GRI 102-13 . Membership of associations 45
Strategy
GRI 102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker 8-13
Ethics and integrity .
GRI 102-16 values, principles, standards, and norms of behaviour 62, 65-67
Governance
GRI 102-18 Governance structure 45, 84-93
Stakeholder engagement
GRI 102-40 List of stakeholder groups 46, 96-97
GRI 102-41 Coliective bargaining agreements 62
GRI 102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholdars 46, 96-97
GR1102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 46, 96-97
GRI 102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 46, 98-97
Reporting practice
GRI 102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial statamants 179-180, 183
GR} 102-48 Defining report content and topic Boundarias 179-180, 183
GRI 102-47 List of material topics 46
GRI 102-48 Restatamenrts of information 59, 61,183
GRI 102-48 Changes in raparting 59, 61,183
GRI 102-50 Reparting period 47
GRI 102-51 Date of most recent report a7
GRI 102-52 Reporting cycle 47
GR1 102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report 188
GRI 102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the GRI Standards 47
GRI 102-55 GRI content index 184-185
GRI 102-56 External assurance 47
SPECIFIC DISCLOSURES
Strategy and Business
GRI 103-1 Explanaticn of the material topic and its Boundary 44
GRI 103-2 The management approach and its components 44
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 44
Risk Management
GRI 102-18 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities 46, 62-80
Governance and Compliance '
GR! 103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 45, 66, 81
GRI 103-2 The management approach and its compenents | 45, 66, 92
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 45, 66
Responsible and involved management
GRI 102-20 Executiva-level responsibility for econemic, environmental, and social topics 45
Stakeholder involvement
GRI 102-21 Consulting stakeholders on economic, enviranmental, and soclal topics 46, 97
Compliance

66

GR) 205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures
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GRI Standard Disclosure Page w
Ethics and Integrity Ef
GRI 102-17 Mechanisms for advice and concerns about ethics 66 %
People %
GRI 103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 62-63 ot
GRI 103-2 The management approach and its components 62-63

GR! 103-3 Evaiuation of the management approach 62-64 “—
Employment conditions i —
GRI 4011 Naw employea hires and employae turnover 62 é’
Employees diversity and inclusion 3
GRI 405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employess 64 g
Employees development, training and education

GRI 4041 Average hours of training per year per employee onfine data pack

GRI 404-3 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and carees developmernt reviews onfina data pack
Communities support

GRI 4131 Operations with local community engagement, impact assessments, and development programs 67.68 o
Safety g
GARI 103-1 Explanation of the matenial topic and its Boundary 54 3
GRI 103-2 The managemsnt approach and its componants 54 8.
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the managemant approach 55-57 y
Occupational Health and Safety §’
GRI 4031 Occupational health and safety management system 57 g
GRi 403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident investigation 55-57 “
GRI 403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and communication on occupational health and safety 54-57

GHI 403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety 55-57

GRI 403-6 Promaotion of worker haalth 55

GRI 403-8 Workers covered by an occupational heaith and safety management system 54-67

GRI 403-9 Wark-related injuries 55

GRI 403-10 Work-related ill health 65
Environment

GRI 1031 Explanation ¢of the material topic and its Boundary 54, 58 o
GRI 103-2 The manageament approach and its components 58-59 5
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 58-61 5
Energy g
GRI 302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation 182 g
GRI302-3 Energy intensity 59, 182 2
GRI 302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 59-80, 182 g
Water %
GRI 303-3 Water withdrawal 60-61, 183

GRI 303-5 Water consumption 60-61
Emigsgions

GRI 305-1 Diract (Scope 1} GHG emissions 182

GRI 305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 182

GRI 305-4 GHG emissions intensity 60, 182

GRI 305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 60, 182

GRI 305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOJ, sulphur oxides {SO,), and other significant air emissions 182 c
GRI 306-2 Waste by type and disposal method 61, 183 Z
Sustainable Value Chain EX
GRI 103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary 51 g
GRI 103-2 The management approach and its componsants 51-53 g—
GRI 103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 51-53 2
Procurement

GRI 30841 Naw suppliers that were screened using environmental criteria 51

GRI 41441 New suppliers that were screened using social critoria 51
Product Safety

GRI 416-1 Assessment of the heatth and safety impacts of product and sarvice categories 50

GRI 416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety impacts of products and services 50

GRI 41741 Requirements for product and service information and labelling 50

GRI 417-2 Incidents of non-compliance concarning product and service information and labelling 50

GRI 417-3 Incidants of non-complianca concarning marketing communications

50
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Other information
Glossary of terms

AC Amortised Cost IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards
ACC Amaerican Chearical Coundil 1S Industrial Spacialities
AGM Annual Ganeral Meeting ISA intemational Standards of Auditing
AIMS Accident and Incident Management System KPis Key Performance indicators
AM Acrylate Monomers ktes Kilotonne or 1,000 tonnes {metric)
APMs Alternative Performance Measures LIBOR London inter-Bank Offer Rates
BAME Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic LMS Leaming Management Systam
C&cC Construction and Coatings LTA Lost Time Acgident
C&F Carpet and Foam LTIP Long-Term Incantive Plan
Capital Nat assets excluding third party net debt M&A Margers and Acquisitions
employed ManEx Manufacturing Excellence
CASE Coatings, Adhasives, Sealants and Elastomers MCO Movement Control Order
CDP Carbon Disclosure Project MOC Management of Change
cGu Cash Generating Unit MYR Malaysian Ringgits
CH, Methane N, 0 Nitrous Oxide
CHP Cornbined Heat and Power NBR Nitrile Butadiene Rubber
CIA Chemical industries Association NED Non-Executive Director
CO: Carbon Dioxide Net debt Cash and cash equivalents together with short- and
CO.0 Carbon Dioxide equivalent long-term borrowings
Constant Raflects current year results for existing business NOQ, Nitrogen Oxides
currency transiatad at the prior year's average exchange ratas, | OEM Qriginal Equipment Manufacturer
and includes the impact of acquisitions Operating Operating profit represents profit from continuing
CRM Customer Relationship Managemant system profit activities before finance costs and taxation
CSR Corporata Soclat Responsibility PBT Profit Before Tax
DEFRA Dapartmant for Erwironment, Food and Rural Affairs PE Parformance Elastomers
EBITDA EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before PHA Process Hazard Assessmant
depraciation, amortisation and Special tems PPE Property, Plant and Equipment
EGM Extraordinary General Meeting PSA Pressure Sensitive Adhesive
EPDLA European Polymer Disparsion and Latex Association | psg Process Safety Events
EPS Earnings Per Share PSP Parformance Share Plan
ERP Enterprise Resource Planning PTW Permit to Work
ESG Environmental, Social and Governance PVC Polyvinyl Chioride
EUUS Europe, Middle East, Africa and Americas R&D Research and Development
FEED Front End Engingering Design RC Responsible Care
FP Functional Polymers ROIC Return on Invested Capital is calculated as Group
FRC Financial Repoting Council Underlying operating profit as a percentage of Group
Free Cash The movernent in net debt before financing activities, capital employed
Flow foreign exchange and the cash impact of Special SBR Styrene Butadiene Rubber
llems, asset digposals and business combinations sD Sustainable Development
FRS Financial Reporting Standard SDG Sustainable Development Goals
FS Functional Solutions SEC Specific Energy Consumption
FVTOCI Fair Value Through QOther Comprehensive Income SHE Safety, Heatth and Environment
FVTPL Fair Value Through Profit or Loss SHEMS Safety, Health and Environment Managament
GDP Gross Domestic Product System
GDPR General Data Protection Regulation SOFR Securad Overnight Financing Rate
GHGs Greenhouse Gases SONIA Sterling Overnight Index Average
GJ Gigajoule STEM Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics
GR! Global Reporting Initiative TCFD Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
GTI Giobal Technology and Innovation The Code The UK Corporate Governance Code
GWP Globa! Warming Potential TSR Total Shareholder Raturn
H&P Health & Protection UK GAAP UK Generally Acceptad Accounting Practice
HR Human Resources Underlying Underlying performance represants the statutory
HSSER High Solids Styrene Butadiene Rubber performance performanca of the Group under IFRS, excluding
IAS international Accounting Standard Special ltems
IBORS Intar-Bank Offered Rates vOCs Volatite Organic Compounds
ICCA International Council of Chemical Associations
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Other information

'Historical financial summary

2021 2020 2018 2018 2017 20186 205 o
£m £m £m £m £m Em £m 3
Ravenue 2,329.5 1,644 .2 1,459.1 1.618.9 1,480.2 1,045.7 870.1 .é
Underlying performance (&) E]
EBITDA (b 522.2 259.4 177.9 181.0 176.2 160.1 1250 |%
Operating profit (c) 450.9 189.6 125.8 1421 138.0 130.2 1029
Finance costs ' {30.8) (29.6) [9.6) 7.0} (9.0) {8.0} (7.6)
Profit befare taxation 420.1 160.0 116.2 135.1 130.0 122.2 95.3
Basic earnings per share )] 75.2p 28.9p 25.3p 30.7p 28.7p 26.4p 20.1p o
Dividends per share {ty 30.0p 11.6p 4.0p4 12.2p 11.4p 10.5p 8.0p §
Dividend cover 2.5 2.5 6.3 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 ]
L
-]
IFRS '
QOperating profit {c) 308.5 58.4 1106 128.7 95.4 144.7 80.3
Finance costs {24.6) (38.1} {10.1) {8.4) 8.0 (8.0) 78 —
Profit before taxation 283.9 20.3 100.5 120.3 B86.4 136.7 725
Basic earnings per share {f} 48.3p 0.7p 21.5p 27.4p 20.3p 30.3p 16.6p g
Dividends per share n 30.0p 11.6p 4.0pw 12.2p 11.4p 10.5p 8.0p T
Dividend cover 16 0.1 5.4 2.2 18 2.9 21 %
. 1=
Nat dabt {d) {114.2) [(462.2) 20.7 (214.0) (180.5) {150.3} (80.1) E_
Capital expendityre {e) 82.2 53.8 89.1 75.7 80.3 45.6 22.8 E]
2
Notes: - v
{a} As prasented in the consoiidated incame statement on page 137,
(b} As deflned In the accounting policies note and reconclled In nota 5.
fe} As deflined In the aceounting policies note on page 142.
{d} As reconciled in notg 21,
{e) As presented on tha g 1 cash flow
{f) Dividends and earnings per share figures for 2018 and prior have been restaled to reflect 1he bonus tactor of 1.0713 arising from the rights issue which completed an 29 July 2016.
{9) The proposed final 2019 dividend was cancelled to presarve cash, liquidity and balance sheat sirangth at the onset of COVID-19 In March 2020.
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Other information

Advisers

Registered office
Synthomer plc

Temple Fields

Hariow

Essex

Ch20 2BH

Registersd number 98381

Company Secretary
Richard Atkinson

Bankers

Barclays Bank plc
Citibank
Commerzbank AG
HSBC Bank plc
Santander
Goldman Sachs,
SEB

Joint stockbrokers
Barclays Bank plc and Numis Securities Ltd
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Registrars

Computershare Invastor Services plc
Lochside House

7 Lochside Avenue

Edinburgh Park

Edinburgh

EH12 90U

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

Solicitors
Herbert Smith Freshills LLP
Squire Pation Boggs (UK) LLP .



